Distribution, Production and Biochemical Status of Dominant Macrophytes in Wular Lake, a Ramsar Site in Kashmir Himalaya

THESIS

SUBMITTED FOR THE AWARD OF DEGREE OF

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY (Ph.D) IN ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE

By Naseer Ahmad Dar

Under the Joint Supervision of

Prof. (Dr.) B.A. Ganai Co-supervisor Department of Environmental Science University of Kashmir Srinagar-190006

Prof. (Dr.) Ashok K. Pandit Supervisor Department of Environmental Science

University of Kashmir Srinagar-190006



P.G. DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE FACULTY OF PHYSICAL AND MATERIAL SCIENCES UNIVERSITY OF KASHMIR SRINAGAR-190006, J&K January-2015



Phone: office: 0194-2420078, 2420405; cell: 9419091424 Email: profakpandit@yahoo.co.in; Fax (University): 0194-2421357

P. G. Department of Environmental Science & Centre of Research for Development University of Kashmir

(NAAC ACCREDITED GRADE 'A') Hazratbal Srinagar -190006

Date: - January 01,

<u>2015</u>

<u>Certificate</u>

This is to certify that the Ph.D thesis entitled "Distribution, Production and Biochemical Status of Dominant Macrophytes in Wular Lake, a Ramsar Site in Kashmir Himalaya" is an original work of Mr. Naseer Ahmad Dar submitted for the award of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D) in Environmental Science from University of Kashmir. This study has been carried out under our supervision and the same or any part of this thesis has not been submitted for this or any other degree so far. The candidate worked under our supervision for the period required under statutes and he has put in the required attendance in the department.

We deem it fit for submission.

Prof. (Dr.) Bashir Ahmad Ganai Co-supervisor P.G. Department of Environmental Science University of Kashmir Srinagar-190006 **Prof. (Dr.) Ashok K. Pandit** Supervisor P.G. Department of Environmental Science University of Kashmir Srinagar-190006

Prof. (Dr.) Bashir Ahmad Ganai Head P.G. Department of Environmental Science University of Kashmir Srinagar-190006

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

All praise to **ALMIGHTY ALLAH**, the most compassionate, the most merciful, and the sustainer of the worlds who blessed me to complete my studies and humblest and deepest gratitude to the greatest educator of mankind, the Holy Prophet **MUHAMMAD** ^(S.A.W) (Peace be Upon Him).

In the first place I would like to record my deep gratitude to my Supervisor **Prof. Ashok K. Pandit,** former HOD P.G Department of Environmental Science/Director Centre of Research for Development, University of Kashmir for his constant keen guidance and timely advice from the very early stage of this research as well as giving me extraordinary experiences and support throughout the work. Above all and the most needed, he provided me unflinching encouragement and support in various ways. His truly scientific intuition has made him as a constant oasis of ideas and passions in science, which exceptionally have been inspiring and enriching my growth as a student and researcher.

I am also deeply grateful to my Co-supervisor, **Prof. Bashir Ahmad Ganai**, HOD P.G Department of Environmental Science/ Director Centre of Research for Development, University of Kashmir for his encouragement, constructive comments, constant guidance and support throughout this work.

I gratefully acknowledge **Prof. Azra N. Kamili**, former HOD P.G Department of Environmental Science/Director Centre of Research for Development, University of Kashmir for her moral support during my research tenure and also for providing laboratory facilities.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to **Prof. A.R Yousuf** (Expert member National Green Tribunal, New Delhi) and **Prof. G.A Bhat** P.G Department of Environmental Science/Centre of Research for Development, University of Kashmir for timely help, valuable suggestions and constant encouragement during the course of this work.

I am deeply indebted to **Dr. SamiUllah Bhat**, Assistant Professor P.G Department of Environmental Science, University of Kashmir, **Dr. Arshid Jahangir**, Assistant Professor P.G Department of Environmental Science, University of Kashmir, **Dr. Mudasir Ali**, **Dr. Qazi Ashiq Hussain**, **Dr.** **Aftab Ahmad Bhat** and **Dr. Aasimah Tanveer** for timely help, valuable suggestions and constant encouragement. I feel so privileged to know such wonderful teachers.

My heartiest thanks are due to **Dr. Ruqaya Nazir, Dr. MD. Niamat Ali, Mrs. Bilquess Qadri, Mrs. Shazia Bashir, Ms. Sumaira Tyub** and **Mr. Akhtar Hussain Malik** for their help in one way or other during this study.

I lack the appropriate words to express my obligation to **Mrs. Anita Pandit** (Aunty) for her constant encouragement that went a great way to keep me engrossed in the research work.

I would like to put on record my thanks to **Dr. A.M. Kak**, Islamia College of Science and Commerce, Srinagar for helping me in the identification of macrophytes and also for encouragement and valuable suggestions.

I also express my profound gratitude to technical and non-teaching staff members of CORD/Environmental Science, especially, **Dr. Bilal Ahmad Wani**, **Mr. Farooq Ahmad (Maulvi Sahab)**, , **Ms. Ruby Dar**, **Ms. Irfana Nabi Kangroo**, **Mr. Hashim Jalil Chisti**, **Mr. Javaid Ahmad Javaid**, **Mr. Ghulam Nabi Pindoo**, **Mr. Shabir Ahmad**, **Mr. Fida Hussain**, **Mr. Manzoor Ahmad**, **Mr. Khursheed Ahmad**, **Mr. Yasir**, **Mr. Ishfaq Ahmad**, **Mr. Sumeer Ahmad**, **Mr. Iqbal**, **Mrs. Ulfat Shah**, **Mrs. Rifat**, **Mrs. Tasleema**, **Ms. Bilqees** and **Ms. Asifi** for their cooperation, whole hearted support and timely help.

The field work would have been impossible without the untiring help extended by the research colleagues of Aquatic Ecology Laboratory, CORD **Mr**. **Javaid Ahmad Shah, Mrs. Aaliya Ismat Baba, Mr. Salim Aijaz Bhat, Mr. Sayar Yaseen,** and **Mr. Javaid Ahmad Dar.** They had to face lot of hardships during the collection of my samples. I am highly indebted to them for their priceless help.

I am so proud to be a member of the Aquatic Ecology research group. I offer my thanks to all the present members for providing me such a pleasant company while working together. I would like put on record my thanks to the scholars of CORD and Environmental Science namely Mr. Gulzar Ahmad Sheikh, Mr. Basharat Mushtaq, Mr. Sabzar Ahmad and Mr. Mansoor

Ahmad.

The successful completion of the research programme was possible only because of the active cooperation of my friends and colleagues. I am particularly indebted to Mr. Aadil Hamid, Mr. Arshid Hussain Shah, Mr. Javid Ahmad Najar, Mr. Showkat Ahmad Lone, Mr. Shabir Ahmad Khanday, Mr. Mohammad Irshad Rather, Dr. Umar Rashid Zargar, Mr. Sikander Ahmad Bhat, Mr. Aijaz Ahmad (Geologist, GSI), Mr. Touseef, Mr. Gh. Jeelani Sofi, and Mr. Touseef Ahmad Bhat. I am also thankful to Aadil Yaseen (Chotu) and Aaqib for their loving support and encouragement.

The kind cooperation of many female research scholars namely Dr. Dilafroza Jan, Mrs. Nuzhat Shafi, Ms. Rafia Rashid, Ms. Afeefa Qayoom, Ms. Saima Jan, Ms. Tabasum Yaseen, Ms. Sana Shafi, Ms. Syed Sana Mehraj, Mrs. Sakeena Jabeen, Ms. Nuzhat Shahi, Mrs. Khalida Hassan, Mrs. Irfana Jameel, Mrs. Musharraf Rehman, Ms. Habiba, Ms. Maryam, Ms. Abroo Ali and Ms. Masrat Jan is deeply acknowledged. The group offered a refreshing, helpful and memorable atmosphere.

I am also grateful to the students of M.Sc. Environmental Science, University of Kashmir, **Batch (2008-2010)** for their moral support, valuable suggestions, continuous encouragement and friendly behaviour. I feel so privileged to have such wonderful colleagues.

Thanks are due to the scholars of the Department of Geography and Regional Development and Department of Earth Sciences University of Kashmir namely **Dr. Zahoor-ul-Hassan** and **Mr. Gowhar Mehraj** for their timely help and sincere encouragement.

I am also grateful to the staff members of Chief Agriculture Officer, Pulwama for their cooperation, timely help and constant encouragement.

Above all, it gives me immense pleasure to acknowledge the immeasurable debt I owe to my affectionate and dear **parents** (Bashir Ahmad Dar and Hameda Banu) for providing timely encouragement, enthusiasm and financial support. Without their encouragement and understanding it would have not been possible for me to complete this work.

My special gratitude is due to my grandparents Mr. Gh. Mohd and Mr. Mohd Ramzan for their loving support and blessings. I also extend the sincere thanks to my brothers (Khurshid Ahmad, Hilal Ahmad, Aadil Bashir and Shahid Bashir), sisters (Nusrat Bashir and Ulfat Jan) for their loving support and best wishes.

I take this opportunity to record my deep sense of appreciation for my uncle, **Mr. Bashir Ahmad Malik** and Aunty, **Mrs. Jana Akhter** who were always a source of inspiration during the course of study.

It would not be fair, if I fail to acknowledge my late grandparents who have been constant source of love and affection for me during my childhood days. May **ALMIGHTY ALLAH** bring peace to their eternal soul.

NASEER AHMAD DAR

Dated: 01/01/2015

CONTENTS

Chapter		Page
No.		No.
1	INTRODUCTION	1-6
2	REVIEW OF LITERATURE	7-29
	2.1. General limnology and physico-chemical	
	characteristics of water	
	2.2.Nutrients and trophic status	
	2.3. Distribution of macrophytes	
	2.4. Productivity of macrophytes	
	2.5. Biochemical composition of macrophytes	
2	STUDY ADEA AND CUMATE	20.28
3	3.1 Conoral Description of Study Area	30-38
	3.1.1 Study Area	
	3.1.2. Study Alea	
	3.1.2. Study Sites	
	J.I.J. Climate	
4	MATERIALS AND METHODS	39-50
	4.1. Physico-chemical Characteristics of Water	
	4.1.1. Depth	
	4.1.2. Transparency	
	4.1.3. Air temperature	
	4.1.4. Water temperature	
	4.1.5. Total dissolved solids	
	4.1.6. Electrical conductivity	
	4.1.7. Free carbon dioxide	
	4.1.8. Dissolved oxygen	
	4.1.9. pH	
	4.1.10. Chloride	
	4.1.11. Total hardness	
	4.1.12.Calcium content (Ca ²⁺)	
	4.1.13. Magnesium content (Mg ²⁺)	
	4.1.14. Total alkalinity	

- 4.1.15. Dissolved silica
- 4.1.16. Ortho-phosphate phosphorus
- 4.1.17. Total phosphorus (TP)
- 4.1.18. Ammonical-nitrogen
- 4.1.19. Nitrate-nitrogen
- 4.1.20. Total iron
- 4.2. Vegetation
 - 4.2.1. Quantitative characteristics
 - 4.2.2. Diversity indices
 - 4.2.3. Distribution maps
 - 4.2.4. Net primary productivity
 - 4.2.5. Biochemical analysis
 - 4.2.5.1. Estimation of total proteins
 - 4.2.5.2. Estimation of total carbohydrate
 - 4.2.5.3. Estimation of total lipids
 - 4.2.5.4. Estimation of chlorophyll content
- 4.3. Statistical analysis
 - 4.3.1. ANOVA and correlations
 - 4.3.2. Cluster analysis

5. **RESULTS**

51-205

- 5.1. Physico-chemical characteristics of water
 - 5.1.1. Depth
 - 5.1.2. Transparency
 - 5.1.3. Air temperature
 - 5.1.4. Water temperature
 - 5.1.5. Total dissolved solids
 - 5.1.6. Electrical conductivity
 - 5.1.7. Free carbon dioxide
 - 5.1.8. Dissolved oxygen
 - 5.1.9 .pH
 - 5.1.10. Chloride
 - 5.1.11. Total hardness
 - 5.1.12.Calcium content
 - 5.1.13. Magnesium content
 - 5.1.14. Total alkalinity
 - 5.1.15. Dissolved silica
 - 5.1.16. Ortho-phosphate phosphorus

- 5.1.17. Total phosphorus (TP)
- 5.1.18. Ammonical-nitrogen
- 5.1.19. Nitrate-nitrogen
- 5.1.20. Total iron
- 5.1.21. Correlations between physico-chemical characteristics of water
- 5.1.22. Analysis of variance of various physicochemical characteristics of water
- 5.2. Vegetation
 - 5.2.1. Species composition
 - 5.2.2. Community features
 - 5.2.3. Distribution
 - 5.2.4. Zonation
 - 5.2.5.Relationships between physico-chemical characteristics of water and density of macrophytes
 - 5.2.6. Diversity Indices
 - 5.2.7. Cluster analysis
 - 5.2.8. Primary productivity
 - 5.2.9. Biochemical composition
 - 5.2.9.1. Protein content
 - 5.2.9.2. Carbohydrate content
 - 5.2.9.3. Lipid content
 - 5.2.9.4. Chlorophyll content
 - 5.2.10. Correlations between biomass and
 - biochemical constituents of macrophytes

6. DISCUSSION

206-233

- 6.1. Physico-chemical characteristics of water
- 6.2.Vegetation
 - 6.2.1. Species composition
 - 6.2.2. Community features
 - 6.2.3. Species richness
 - 6.2.4. Distribution and zonation
 - 6.2.5. Diversity indices and cluster analysis
 - 6.2.6. Primary productivity
 - 6.2.7. Biochemical composition
 - 6.2.7.1. Protein content

6.2.7.2. Carbohydrate conte	ent
-----------------------------	-----

6.2.7.3. Lipid content

6.2.7.4. Chlorophyll content

7.	7.1. SUMMARY	234-241
	7.2. CONCLUSIONS AND SUGGESTIONS	242-244
8.	REFERENCES	245-295

Fig No.	Description	Page No
2.1.1		110.
3.1.1	Location map of the study area	
3.1.2	Location map of the study area with sampling sites	
F 1 1	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in depth (m) recorded in Wular lake from Mar.	
5.1.1	2011 to Feb. 2012 Seasonal fluctuations (mean SD) in death (m) recorded in Wuley lake from Mar	
512	Seasonal fluctuations (mean \pm SD) in depth (m) recorded in what take from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013	
0.1.2	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in water transparency (m) recorded in Wular	
5.1.3	lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012	
	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in water transparency (m) recorded in Wular	
5.1.4	lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013	
5.1.5	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in air temperature (^o C) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012	
5.1.6	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in air temperature (⁰ C) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013	
5.1.7	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in water temperature (⁰ C) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012	
5.1.8	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in water temperature (⁰ C) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013	
	Seasonal fluctuations (mean \pm SD) in specific conductivity (μ S /cm) at 25 $^{\circ}C$	
5.1.9	recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012	
5.1.10	Seasonal fluctuations (mean \pm SD) in specific conductivity (μ S /cm) at 25 0 C recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013	
	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in total dissolved solids (mg/L) recorded in	
5.1.11	Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012	
5 1 10	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in total dissolved solids (mg/L) recorded in Wular	
5.1.12	lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2015	
5.1.13	Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012	
	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in free carbon dioxide (mg/L) recorded in Wular	
5.1.14	lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013	
	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in dissolved oxygen (mg/L) recorded in Wular	
5.1.15	lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012	
=	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in dissolved oxygen (mg/L) recorded in Wular	
5.1.16	lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013	
5117	Seasonal fluctuations (mean $\pm SD$) in pH recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Eq. 2012	
3.1.17	Seasonal fluctuations (mean+SD) in nH recorded in Wular lake from Mar 2012.	
5.1.18	to Feb. 2013	
	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in chloride (mg/L) recorded in Wular lake from	
5.1.19	Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012	
	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in chloride (mg/L) recorded in Wular lake from	
5.1.20	Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013	
5 1 21	Seasonal fluctuations (mean \pm SD) in total hardness (mg/L) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Eqb. 2012	
3.1.41	Seasonal fluctuations (mean+SD) in total hardness (mg/L) recorded in Wular lake	
5.1.22	from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013	

	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in calcium content (mg/L) recorded in Wular	
5.1.23	lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012	
	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in calcium content (mg/L) recorded in Wular	
5.1.24	lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013	
	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in magnesium content (mg/L) recorded in Wular	
5.1.25	lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012	
	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in magnesium content (mg/L) recorded in Wular	
5.1.26	lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013	
	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in bicarbonate alkalinity (mg/L) recorded in	
5.1.27	Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012	
	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in bicarbonate alkalinity (mg/L) recorded in	
5.1.28	Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013	
	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in dissolved silica (mg/L) recorded in Wular lake	
5.1.29	from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012	
	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in dissolved silica (mg/L) recorded in Wular lake	
5.1.30	from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013	
	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in orthophosphate-phosphorus (µg/L) recorded	
5.1.31	in Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012	
	Seasonal fluctuations (mean \pm SD) in orthophosphate-phosphorus (μ g/L) recorded	
5.1.32	in Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013	
	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in total phosphorus (µg/L) recorded in Wular	
5.1.33	lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012	
	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in total phosphorus (µg/L) recorded in Wular	
5.1.34	lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013	
	Seasonal fluctuations (mean \pm SD) in ammonical-nitrogen (μ g/L) recorded in Wular	
5.1.35	lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012	
F 1 2C	Seasonal fluctuations (mean \pm SD) in ammonical-nitrogen (μ g/L) recorded in Wular	
5.1.36	lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013	
5 1 27	Seasonal fluctuations (mean \pm SD) in nitrate-nitrogen (μ g/L) recorded in Wular	
5.1.37	lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012	
5 1 20	Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in nitrate-nitrogen ($\mu g/L$) recorded in wular lake	
5.1.38	from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013	
5 1 20	Seasonal fluctuations (mean \pm SD) in total iron ($\mu g/L$) recorded in while lake from More 2011 to Eq. 2012	
5.1.39	Wai, 2011 W FCU, 2012 Seesand fluctuations (mean_SD) in total inen (ug/I) recorded in Waley labor from	
5 1 40	Seasonal fuctuations (mean $\pm 5D$) in total from ($\mu g/L$) recorded in while lake from Mar 2012 to Eqb. 2013	
3.1.40.		
5.2.3.1	Distribution patterns of macrophytes in Wular lake	
	Site-wise variations in Shannon –Weiner index during the two years of study	
5.2.6.1	Period	
	Site-wise variations in Simpson diversity index during the two years of study	
5.2.6.2	Period	
5.2.7.1	Bray-Curtis cluster analysis of macrophytes at nine study sites	
	Percentage contribution of various life-form classes of macrophytes towards (i)	
5.2.8.1	production and (ii) net primary productivity in Wular lake during 2011	
	Percentage contribution of various life-form classes of macrophytes towards (i)	
5.2.8.2	production and (ii) net primary productivity in Wular lake during 2012	
	Average concentration of proteins (% on fresh wt. basis) in dominant macrophytic	
5.2.9.1a	species of Wular lake during 2011	

	Average concentration of proteins (% on fresh wt. basis) in dominant macrophytic	
5.2.9.1b	species of Wular lake during 2012	
	Average concentration of carbohydrates (% on fresh wt. basis) in dominant	
5.2.9.2a	macrophytic species of Wular lake during 2011	
	Average concentration of carbohydrates (% on fresh wt. basis) in dominant	
5.2.9.2b	macrophytic species of Wular lake during 2012	
	Average concentration of lipids (% on fresh wt. basis) in dominant macrophytic	
5.2.9.3a	species of Wular lake during 2011	
	Average concentration of lipids (% on fresh wt. basis) in dominant macrophytic	
5.2.9.3b	species of Wular lake during 2012	
	Average concentration of Chlorophyll-a (mg/g on fresh wt. basis) in dominant	
5.2.9.4a	macrophytic species of Wular lake during 2011	
	Average concentration of Chlorophyll-b (mg/g on fresh wt. basis) in dominant	
5.2.9.4b	macrophytic species of Wular lake during 2011	
	Average concentration of Total Chlorophyll (mg/g on fresh wt. basis) in dominant	
5.2.9.4c	macrophytic species of Wular lake during 2011	
	Average concentration of Chlorophyll-a (mg/g on fresh wt. basis) in dominant	
5.2.9.4d	macrophytic species of Wular lake during 2012	
	Average concentration of Chlorophyll-b (mg/g on fresh wt. basis) in dominant	
5.2.9.4e	macrophytic species of Wular lake during 2012	
	Average concentration of Total Chlorophyll (mg/g on fresh wt. basis) in dominant	
5.2.9.4f	macrophytic species of Wular lake during 2012	

taxa, harbour a very complex taxonomic makeup of the macrophytic community (Smith, 1980; Banerjee and Venu, 1994). Wetlands are recognized for their high species diversity and productivity (Williams, 1990; Mitsch and Gosselink, 2000). They maintain ecological balance by performing four fundamental functions *viz.* hydrological, physico-chemical, biological and socioeconomic (Williams, 1990).

Wetlands are often described as "*nature's kidneys*" for their ability to filter waste and pollutants, as well as "*nature's supermarket*" for their high productivity and ability to act as a source of food to many organisms (Mitsch and Gosselink, 2000, 2007). The ecological significant services provided by the wetlands include climate regulation, turnover of organic matter, biomass accumulation, as well as substrate for phytophilous organisms and a source of food for aquatic as well as terrestrial organisms (Winter, 1989; Gorham, 1991; Cox, 1993). These ecological services are often considered in anthropocentric terms, because of their ability to ameliorate floods, stabilize shoreline, prevent erosion, as well as removal of contaminants from the water (Cox, 1993). Wetlands also play significant role in the biogeochemical cycling of nutrients by acting as nutrient source, as well as sink of nutrients (Schlesinger, 1991).

Wetlands, representing the last stage of lake succession, are heavily infested with macrophytes particularly emergents acting as nutrient pumps (Pandit, 1984; Cronk and Fennessy, 2001). Macrophytic infestation in aquatic ecosystems, like littorals and shorelines of lakes, marshes etc., determines the structure and functioning of these ecosystems in terms of their community architecture and distribution (Pandit, 1984). It has been emphasized that the aquatic plants occupy great diversity of niches and display morphological plasticity. At the same they also occur in considerably wide range of forms and size though not as great as seen among the terrestrial plants (Pandit, 1984, 2008). It is true for our all aquatic ecosystems and more so for wetlands that all the three macrophyte types, representing different tiers: (a) submerged, floating leaf-types and free floating species, (b) low growing emergents and (c) tall emergents, are present influencing their physico-chemical environment as they form the basis of detritus food chains after their decay (Pandit, 1984, 2008).

Macrophytes, as a component of fresh water ecosystems, have diverse roles to play in the functioning of these ecosystems (Pandit, 1984; Wetzel, 2001). They are directly involved in modifying the nutrient chemistry within the water by acting as nutrient sinks as well as source of nutrients. (Carignan and Kalff, 1980; Pandit, 1984; Cronk and Fennessy, 2001). Besides, controlling the level of oxygen, macrophytes are also able to perform pivotal role in the biotic interactions of the littoral zone of shallow lakes and wetlands (Raspopov et al., 2002). The structural design of macrophytes within wetlands offers refuge for macroinvertebrate communities and periphyton (Pandit, 1984; Carpenter and Lodge, 1986; Cyr and Downing, 1988; Beckett et al., 1992). Herbivorous invertebrates such as crayfish obtain their food directly from aquatic plants (Lorman and Magnuson, 1978; Price et al., 1980; Rozas and Odum, 1988; Chambers et al., 1990; Hanson et al., 1990), and some fish (Pandit, 1984; Carpenter and Lodge, 1986). Macrophytes provide an efficient method for removing contaminants from the water, which has resulted in the successful implementation of treatment wetlands (Maine et al., 2006). Macrophytes offer significant regulating services through the stabilization of shoreline and at the same time prevent erosion with the help of root structure. Amelioration of flood effects by slowing incoming water flow, thereby acting as a sponge is also among the significant ecosystem services provided by macrophytes (Croft, 2007).

Macrophytes have pronounced impact on their abiotic environment (Kaul *et al.*, 1980; Pandit, 1980; Makela *et al.*, 2004). They slow down currents and thereby increase sedimentation (Spence, 1982; Carpenter and Lodge, 1986; James and Barko, 1990). The composition of the sediments beneath macrophyte beds differs considerably from other sediments. Sediments beneath the macrophytes are rich in nitrogen, phosphorus, calcium and organic compounds (James and Barko, 1990). The

sediments below macrophytes also have increased proportion of decaying material from the plant bed (Carpenter and Lodge, 1986). Macrophytes alter the quantity and quality of light under them. The reduction in the amount of light causes the water under the macrophytes to be cooler than the surrounding water (Carpenter and Lodge, 1986). Macrophytes are having profound influence on chemical characteristics of wetland waters. Respiration and photosynthesis processes carried out by macrophytes influence the oxygen and carbon dioxide levels in littorals than the limnetic zone. Organic and inorganic carbon levels in the water are increased by macrophytes while inorganic nutrient levels are generally reduced (Carpenter and Lodge, 1986). Recent studies also suggest that macrophytes play a central role in shallow lakes which can have two possible stable equilibria: (i) a clear-water state that is dominated by aquatic macrophytes, and (ii) a turbid-water state that is dominated by phytoplankton (Scheffer et al., 1993; Moss et al., 1994; Hakanson and Boulion, 2002). In addition to these ecosystem services, macrophytes acts as potential source of food and fodder for humans and bovine population, besides serving as a base of aquatic foodchain (Pandit, 1984; Tardío et al., 2005; Rahman et al., 2007; Hasan and Chakrabarti, 2009; Smith, 2011; Swapna et al., 2011). This realization of multiple ecological and socioeconomical importance of macrophytes has generated a great interest towards better understanding of their diversity and role in natural ecosystems, thus paving a way for scientific management of macrophytes dominated ecosystems-the wetlands (Pandit, 1999).

The shape of some macrophytes determines the environment that they may inhabit (Duarte and Roff, 1991). The aquatic macrophytes in the littoral zone of lakes are arranged in specific zones (Spence, 1982; Wetzel, 1983). Emergent macrophytes occur nearest the shore, the floating macrophytes occupy the intermediate zone, and the submersed macrophytes are farthest from shore towards the limnetic zone. The occurrence, density, distribution and growth of aquatic macrophytes depends on myriad of abiotic factors such as pH, water depth, transparency, bicarbonate alkalinity, dissolved organic matter, nitrate-nitrogen, phosphate etc. (Pip, 1979; Madsen *et al.*, 2006; Vis *et al.*, 2007; Dar *et al.*, 2014). Composition and properties of sediments also seem to have considerable effect on the diversity and distribution of certain macrophytic species (Dawson and Krysztof, 1999; Heegard *et al.*, 2001; Makela *et al.*, 2004; Tamire and Mengistou, 2012; Sossey-Alaoui and Rosillon,

2013). In addition to these factors the growth of macrophytes also depends on the number of growing days in the season (Wetzel,1988) and accordingly different macrophyte species may exhibit seasonally variable growth patterns (Wetzel, 2001). Macrophytes act as important bioindicators of environmental conditions and long-term ecological changes in water quality (Pandit, 1984, 92; Solimini *et al.*, 2006; Beck *et al.*, 2010; Sondergaard *et al.*, 2010). Because of their high rate of biomass production, macrophytes act as an important primary food resource for aquatic organisms (Pandit, 1980, 84). The complex tropic dynamics and primary productivity of wetlands is greatly influenced by the higher diversity and biomass of macrophytes (Kumar and Singh, 1987).

Phytoplankton and emergent, floating and submerged macrophytes which differ in terms of their productivity, consumption of different sources of nutrients and energy, are principal primary producers in shallow lakes and wetlands (Horne and Goldman, 1994; Nikolic et al., 2009). The abundance and productivity of macrophytes can vary within two orders of magnitude among lakes of different trophic levels. It has been well documented that maximum productivity of the biosphere occurs in the zone of emergent aquatic macrophytes and declines rapidly in case of submerged macrophytes (Westlake, 1963; Wetzel, 1990). Among macrophytes, emergents and rooted floating-leaf type are the most abundant and productive than submerged aquatic macrophytes and that are herbaceous perennial plants, developing highly dissected foliage and are not the rapidly growing surface canopy forming species under eutrophic conditions. The continuous turnover of organic matter with production of relatively resistant particulate organic matter in senescent tissues is mainly caused due to the continuous growth of perennial plants. However, annual plants do not exhibit such continuous growth and biomass turnover (Wetzel and Sondergaard, 1998). The productivity of perennials with thin, finely divided, reticulated foliage that increases surface area, enhances gas exchange and light harvesting is very much higher compared to productivity of rosette perennials such as the isoetids and of most annual submerged plants (Sculthorpe, 1971). The higher productivity of aquatic macrophytes may hasten the process of eutrophication at the time of their decomposition (Nikolic et al., 2007, 2009; Dar et al., 2012). Therefore, for protecting the ecological balance in freshwater ecosystems, it becomes imperative to monitor these ecosystems for growth and development of macrophytes with high biomass rates (Coops *et al.*, 2002; Nikolic *et al.*, 2009).

For the assessment of nutritional value and evaluation of food potential of aquatic plants, the knowledge of their ecological significance and chemical composition is essential (Chapman and Chapman, 1980; Hawkins and Hartnoll, 1983; Pandit, 1984, 1993; Pandit and Qadri, 1986; Abbott 1988). It is well known that seasonal variations in certain abiotic factors such as light, temperature, sediment composition and water chemistry can influence photosynthetic rates and biochemical composition of macrophytes (Koskimies and Nyberg, 1987; Roslin, 2001; Ordsuna-Rojas *et al.*, 2002; Rajasulochana *et al.*, 2002), thus necessitating the determination of their biochemical composition.

The biogeochemistry and trophic dynamics of wetlands is largely controlled by the distribution patterns of macrophytes and therefore, it becomes imperative to view wetlands as complex mosaic of habitats with distinct structural and functional attributies (Rose and Crompton, 1996).Considerable efforts have gone into the field studies to correlate the spatial distribution pattern of aquatic plants with major physico-chemical environment of their habitat. In India the studies on wetland ecosystems have attracted the attention of quite a few investigators in the last few decades (Gopal, 1968; Das and Gopal, 1969; Verma, 1979; Verma et al., 1982; Paliwal, 1984; Shardendu and Ambasht, 1991; Usha, 2002; Singh and Sharma, 2012) to mention a few, but most of them deal mainly with floristics composition, production and zonation in relation to water depth. There are only few reports regarding the distribution patterns and community characteristics of macrophytes including the studies pertaining to physiognomy of wetland vegetation in Kashmir (Handoo, 1978; Kak, 1978, 1981, 1990; Kumar and Pandit, 2005, 2008; Rather and Pandit, 2006; Mir, 2007; Mir and Pandit, 2008; Pandit, 2008; Kumar, 2009; Rather, 2009). Further, very little but preliminary published literature is available on Wular lake (Mir, 2007; Mir and Pandit, 2008) particularly on the very aspect of macrophytes. It is only very recently some work, yet to be published, has been conducted on the production and nutrient dynamics of macrophytes in Hokersar wetland (Kumar, 2009) which as such has remained untouched as far as the distribution patterns and biochemical composition of macrophytes is concerned. In this backdrop the present study on "Distribution, production and biochemical status of

dominant macrophytes in Wular lake, a Ramsar Site in Kashmir Himalaya" has been undertaken to work out a generalized relation between water and macro- vegetation distribution, production and biochemical composition. This study can latter on in future help in determining the pattern in which distribution, production and biochemical composition of macrophytes change as the water quality deteriorates. The present study thus aims at fulfilling the following objectives:

- 1. To study the community features of macrophytes.
- 2. To assess the complex physiognomy of macrophytes in terms of species composition and various diversity indices.
- 3. To work out the primary productivity of dominant macrophytes.
- 4. To prepare vegetation map depicting the zonation and current status of the macrophytic community in respect of the diversity and distribution.
- 5. To assess the seasonal variations in the biochemical status of dominant macrophytes (carbohydrate, lipid, protein and chlorophyll (a, b and total) contents).
- 6. To study the seasonal variations in the physico-chemical characteristics of lake waters.
- To study the relationship between macrophytes and physico-chemical characteristics of lake waters for determining the ecological distribution of macrophytes.

imnological studies of freshwater ecosystems are essential to understand their trophic dynamics and biological diversity and productivity. The literature pertaining to limnology of lakes and wetlands is quite vast and voluminous and dates back to the beginning of nineteenth century. Forel's (1901) monographic work on Lac Leman (Lake Geneva) is considered as a landmark limnological contribution. Different workers have made noteworthy contributions in the proposed field of lakes and wetlands. Some of them include works on different lakes like Lake Suraha (Swarup and Singh, 1979), Great Bear lake (Moore, 1980), Swiss lakes (Lachavanne, 1985), Jastericie lake (Hudee *et al.*, 1995), Great Lakes (Lougheed *et al.*, 2001), Lake Edku (Okbah and El-Gohary, 2002), Danish lakes (Sondergaard *et al.*, 2003b), Lake Hiidenvesi (Nurminen, 2003), Manchhar lake (Mahar, 2003), Moro lake (Mustapha and Omotosho, 2005), Yarseli lake (Tepe *et al.*, 2005), Mansar lake (Zuber, 2007) and Lake Ziway (Beneberu and Mengistou, 2010).

The pioneering work on limnology of Kashmir lakes with regard to general ecology, lake succession and morphometery dates back to Mukherjee (1932,34) besides, there are some ecologically important early research works (Edmondson and Hutchinson, 1934; Zutshi *et al.*, 1972, 1980; Zutshi and Vass, 1978; Zutshi and Wangneo, 1989; Kaul, 1977; Kaul *et al.*, 1978; Kaul and Handoo, 1980; Pandit, 1980, 1992, 1993, 1998; Qadri and Yousuf, 1980; Pandit and Kaul, 1982; Trisal, 1987; Kundangar and Sarwar, 1997; Kundangar and Abubakar, 2004; Zutshi and Yousuf, 2004) that could be used as the baseline for the current and future limnological research. However, due to availability of voluminous literature on various limnological aspects of lakes and wetlands, it is quite impossible to incorporate them all in the present thesis. Hence every effort has been made to include all the important

and relevant references from the last three to four decades in the present work under various headings.

2.1. General limnology and physico-chemical charactersistics of water

Physico-chemical parameters and quantity of nutrients in water play significant role in the distributional patterns and species composition of aquatic organisms (Mahar, 2003). In aquatic habitats, the environmental factors include various physical properties of water such as light penetration, temperature, density and solubility of gases and solids. The chemical factors such as pH, hardness, phosphates and nitrates are very essential for growth and development of aquatic organisms such as macrophytes, phytoplankton and zooplankton. The term "Water quality" refers for the physical, chemical and biological setup of water and all these characteristics directly or indirectly influences the growth and survival of aquatic species (Boyd, 1998).) The human factors are responsible for changing the physico-chemical and biological environment of the freshwater ecosystems (Yousuf, 1995). As water quality is an index of water pollution, assessing water quality parameters is baseline information for monitoring freshwater environments. Besides, having a profound impact on the distribution patterns and population density of both animals and plants (Odum, 1984), physico-chemical characteristics of water also regulate the productivity of lakes and wetlands (Mahboob et al., 1988).

Depth of a water body is determined by the hydrological factors like the amount of water brought in and sent out (Steward and Kantrud, 1971). There is no certain boundary for classification of lakes based on depth. According to Goldman and Horn (1983), lakes with a depth of more than 100 m are relatively deep and reasonably large with an area of more than 40-80 ha. Buraschi *et al.* (2005) characterized the lake levels as very shallow (mean depth < 3 m); shallow (mean depth 3-15 m) and deep (mean depth >15 m). Lower values of mean depth have been used as an important criterion to establish the trophic status of lakes (Hayes, 1957; Pandit, 2002). Depth and water volume are relative factors that influences temperature of a water body (Atobatele and Ugumba, 2008). According to Hutchinson (1957), thermal structure of a lake is dependent upon geographical position and depth.

The light in water is of paramount importance for its role in the photosynthetic processes of all chlorophyll bearing aquatic plants and thus for the primary production (Mahar, 2003). The extent to which light can penetrate depends on the transparency of

standing water column. In water, different wavelengths of light are differently absorbed depending upon the roughness of the water surface and the angle of the radiation (Mahar, 2003). Secchi disc transparency, being a function of the amount of light reflected from the surface of water, is influenced by the absorption characteristics of water and the amount of dissolved and particulate matter contained in the water (Wetzel and Likens, 2000). Natural waters are not pure and contain many substances, which further interfere with light penetration. It is often a limiting factor in the distribution of organisms in water particularly the plankton. Further, transparency of water is inversely proportional to turbidity, created by suspended inorganic and organic matter (Saxsena, 1987). The transparency of water is affected in various seasons due to algal blooms and suspended sediments (Horn and Goldman, 1994). In most of the studies, mean depth and transparency have been used as an important criterion to establish the trophic status of any waterbody. Margalef (1958), on the other hand, related depth and transparency to biotic factors rather than trophic basis. Mustapha and Omotosho (2005) reported that absence of high water velocity, run-offs and sedimentation were responsible for greater transparency in winter season.

Temperature plays an important role in rates of biological and chemical processes in shallow lakes and wetlands. It influences the oxygen contents of water quantity and quality of autotrophs, while affecting the rate of photosynthesis and also indirectly affecting the quantity and quality of heterotrophs (Barnabe, 1994). Studies have revealed that temperature in freshwater aquatic systems varies locally and over short time scales and water temperature of an aquatic body follows closely the air temperature (Joshi, 1996). Animals are stressed when temperature changes rapidly, because there is no enough time for physiological adaptation (Boyd, 1998). Mahboob and Sheri (2001) stated that temperature is significantly affected by the intensity of light and has corresponding effect on the primary productivity. All organisms including fish, possess limits of temperature tolerance. The seasonal fluctuation of temperature influences the feeding habits of the fish. All biological activities like ingestive variation, reproduction, movement, distribution and growth patterns of aquatic organisms are greatly influenced by water temperature (Baqai and Rehana, 1973; Iqbal et al., 1990). Decrease in temperature is also directly related to increase in dissolved oxygen (Boyd, 1998). Mahboob and Sheri (2001) stated that temperature is significantly affected by the intensity of light and has corresponding effect on the

primary productivity. High temperature intensifies the effect of toxic substances and speed up biological degradation process. A temperature of about 35°C is generally considered as maximum for survival of aquatic life (Mahar, 2003).

Conductance, being principally a function of ions and being an indicative of total salt concentration, can be used for assessing the trophic status of any water body (Berg et al., 1958). Rainfall patterns, incoming waters, evaporation rates, drainage type and nutrient status are the major factors that influence conductivity of a lake (Kinnear and Garnett, 1999). The level of conductivity in water gives a good indication of the amount of charged ions dissolved in it, such as phosphate, nitrate and nitrites (Mahar, 2003). Different ions vary in their ability to conduct the electricity. But generally conductivity of the natural water is directly proportional to the concentration of ions. According to Rhode (1949) the specific conductance of the common bicarbonate-type lake water is closely proportional to the concentrations of the major ions. Distilled water has a conductivity of about 1µmhos/cm, while natural water normally has conductivity of 20-1500 μ S/cm (Boyd, 1998). The conductivity of solutions depends upon the quantity of dissolved salts present (Boyd, 1998). Kumar and Pandit (2007), while studying the physico-chemical features of water in Hokersar wetland in Kashmir Himalaya, placed the wetland in β - mesotrophic type of Olson (1950) on the basis of specific conductance (200-250 µScm⁻¹). Otsuki and Wetzel (1974), observed strong correlation between Ca^{2+} and HCO_3^{-} with conductivity. Pandit (1999) attributed the winter high and summer low in the conductivity values to the uptake of ions by plants during the growing season. Similar observation has been reported by Mustapha and Omotosho (2005).

Total dissolved solids (TDS) indicate organic and inorganic matter in the sample. Total dissolved solids are very useful parameters describing chemical constituents of the water and can be, in general, related to the edaphic factor that contributes to the productivity within the water body (Goher, 2002). A high concentration of dissolved solids increases the density of water affecting osmoregulation of fresh water organisms, besides reducing solubility of gases and utility of water for drinking, irrigational and industrial purposes (Boyd, 1998). It has been considered that the growth and primary production of phytoplankton is influenced by the amount of dissolved solids in water. The presence of dissolved solids in water affects the amount of light available for the primary productivity

thereby influencing distribution and photosynthetic activity of aquatic organisms (Danilov and Ekelund, 2001). Shinde (2011) observed significant positive relationship between total dissolved solids and conductivity. Brion (1973) registered low dissolved solids in winter season while maximum value was obtained in monsoon due to the addition of solids from surface run-off. Khaliq (2012), on the other hand, registered maximum seasonal amounts of total dissolved solids during winter as against the minimum being recorded during summer.

The concentration of carbon dioxide is an important property of aquatic ecosystems reflecting both internal carbon dynamics and external biogeochemical processes in the terrestrial ecosystems (Richey et al., 1990). The high value of the free carbon dioxide content is an indication of high degree of pollution (Todda, 1970; Cole, 1979). An inverse relation of free carbon dioxide with pH is well documented (Zafar, 1964; Swarup and Singh, 1979 and Jhingran, 1982). Free carbon dioxide influences the concentration of carbonates, bicarbonates, pH and total hardness (Wetzel, 1973; Qadri and Yousuf, 1978).Water rich in CO₂ in the cooler months is generally less alkaline having smaller bicarbonates and hardness and no or very little carbonates, whereas water poor in this gas in warmer months is more alkaline having smaller bicarbonate and hadrness content and high carbonate content (Munawar, 1970; Qadri and Yousuf, 1978).Wetzel (1973) and Nassar and Dutta-Munshi (1975) held the direct influence of photosynthetic action of phytoplankton and macrophytes on free carbon dioxide responsible for comparatively higher pH during the summer. Similar observations were made by Kumar and Pandit (2007) in Hokersar wetland, Kashmir.

Dissolved oxygen (DO) is essential to all forms of aquatic life (Edmondson, 1959; Makhlough, 2008). Sources of dissolved oxygen in the aquatic environment include the atmospheric and photosynthesis and depend on its solubility while losses of oxygen include respiration, decay of aerobic bacteria and decomposition of dead decaying sediments (Gupta and Gupta, 2006). The quantity of dissolved salts and temperature greatly affects the ability of water to hold oxygen. The solubility of oxygen increases with decrease in temperature (Singh, 1990). Low dissolved oxygen retaining capacity of water due to increased organismal respiratory demand at high temperature may also cause these low values of dissolved oxygen (Rao, 1986). Increasing levels of dissolved oxygen in aquatic systems are usually associated with

eutrophic and productive water bodies (Egborge, 1994). Inverse relationship of dissolved oxygen and free carbon dioxide is well known (Bosserman, 1983; Horn and Goldman, 1994). Although there is usually inverse relationship between temperature and dissolved oxygen exceptions do exist (Oben, 2000). Lewis (2000) opined that oxygen conservation is an important management principle for tropical lakes. Vass *et al.* (1977) and Qadri *et al.* (1981) advocated that high dissolved oxygen concentration during winter can be attributed to low biological activity.

pH is principally a function of amounts of calcium, magnesium, carbonates and carbon dioxide in the water (Wetzel, 2001). The interaction of both the H⁺ generated by dissociation of H₂CO₃ and OH⁻ produced during the hydrolysis of HCO₃⁻ governs the pH of natural waters to a large extent (Wetzel, 2001). Optimal pH range for sustainable aquatic life is pH 6.5 - 8.2 (Boyd, 1998; Wetzel, 2000). Acidic pH (<6.5) is usually a feature of oligotrophic lakes, while as the neutral (6.5-7.5) and alkaline pH (>7.5) is mainly exhibited by eutrophic lakes (Whitemore, 1984). Large pH changes of one unit or more have been reported under a combination of low to moderate alkalinity and high algal or submerged macrophyte biomass resulting in large daytime CO₂ and HCO₃⁻ withdrawal (depletion), thereby increasing pH (Boyd, 1990). Wetzel (1973) and Nassar and Dutta-Munshi (1975) held photosynthetic action of phytoplankton and macrophytes responsible for comparatively higher pH values during summer months. On the other hand, pH declines in winter season due to increased decomposition under least water depth.

Chloride is one of the major inorganic anions in natural water. In potable water, the salty taste is produced by chloride ions. Its concentration is variable and dependent on the chemical composition of water. According to Chapman and Kimstach (1992) in pristine conditions chloride concentration of fresh water are often lower than 10 mg/L. Metabolic utilization of chloride does not cause significant variations in spatial and seasonal variations within a water body (Pandit, 1999). Bhat *et al.* (2001) opined that the high chloride content, an indicator of organic pollution, owes its origin to the sewage wastes carrying detergents and sewage from human settlement. While Munawar (1970) related high chloride content to high nitrate and ammonia levels, Thresh *et al.* (1944) and Kumar (2009) associated high chloride content of water to the organic pollution of animal origin. Kumar and Pandit (2007), while studying the physico-chemical features of water in Hokersar wetland in

Kashmir Himalaya reported that heavy rains and subsequent run-off from the catchment area were responsible for the higher levels of the chloride ion during spring season.

Hard water contains high concentrations of alkaline earth metals while soft water has low concentrations. Hardness usually includes only Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} ions expressed in the terms of equivalent CaCO₃ (Abbasi, 1998). Total hardness of 15 ppm or above are satisfactory for the growth of fish and do not require liming but water having hardness values less than 11 ppm require liming for higher production of fish. Water having hardness less than 5 ppm CaCO₃ equivalent cause low growth, distress and eventually death of fish (Rath, 1993). The type of minerals in the soil and watershed bedrock, and the amount of lake water coming into contact with these minerals are the major factors that influence hardness of a lake (Tepe *et al.*, 2005). Calcium is generally considered to be the dominant cation in Kashmir lakes on account of the predominance of lime rich bed rock in the catchment area (Zutshi *et al.*, 1980; Pandit, 1993). The changes in ionic (Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺) ratios in water, with Ca²⁺ values being higher than Mg²⁺, may result from base exchange or the replacement of Ca²⁺ by Na⁺, K⁺ and Mg²⁺ (Wetzel, 2001).

Alkalinity is mainly due to the presence of carbonates, bicarbonates and hydroxides of calcium and magnesium with calcium ions being the dominant cation (Das and Dhiman, 2003; Dallas and Day, 2004). In fresh water bodies there is predominance of bicarbonates and calcium over chloride and magnesium (Rodhe, 1949). Zutshi et al. (1980) reported that calcium is generally the dominant cation in Kashmir lakes on account of predominance of lime rich bed rock in the catchment area. In their study on Wular lake, Qadri et al. (1981) observed that two inlet streams of Wular lake, Erin and Madhumati, are alkaline due to carbonates and bicarbonates of calcium and magnesium. Weathering in the watershed is considered the primary process regulating the concentration of alkalinity, calcium and magnesium (Panday et al., 1999; Mosello et al., 2004). Alkalinity declines in winter season due to decomposition of organic matter (Parashar et al., 2006). On the other hand, summer fall in the alkalinity has been associated with relatively higher pH and temperature (Wetzel, 1973). Vass et al. (1977) opined that total alkalinity value of 60 mg/l or more indicates hard water. Reyaz and Yousuf (2005) while studying the ecology of macrozoobenthic community in the Wular lake observed high values of bicarbonates

of calcium and magnesium, total inorganic nitrogen and total phosphorus, thus giving it the status of typical hard water type. Tepe *et al.* (2005) while studying physicochemical characteristics of Yarseli lake, Hatay (Turkey) opined that groundwater from aquifers containing limestone minerals such as calcite (CaCO₃) and dolomite (CaMgCO₃) resulted in higher alkalinity and hardness values.

2.2. Nutrients and trophic status

Nutrients are essential elements for the primary productivity of any aquatic ecosystem and include mainly nitrogen and phosphorus (Wetzel, 1983). The nutrient dynamics are influenced by different factors such as the weather, geology and soil type, drainage pattern and weathering processes. Nutrients occur in various sources and forms. Within the aquatic ecosystems, phosphorus and nitrogen roles can vary (McCarthy, 1981; Howarth 1980). Nitrogen occurs in numerous forms such as dissolved molecular nitrogen and a large number of organic compounds such as amino acids, amines, proteins, nitrates, nitrite and ammonium (Wetzel, 1983). Sources of nitrogen include precipitation falling directly from onto the lake surface, nitrogen fixation in the water and sediments, input from the surface and ground water recharge. Nitrogen inversely fluctuates with water temperature (Munawar, 1970). It well known that plants prefentially take up the reduced NH_4^+ rather than oxidized NO_3^- , so that lower levels of ammonia occur in water (Kalff, 2002). Xie et al. (2004), Shilla et al. (2006) and Bhat (2010) reported that the decrease in the concentration of ammonical and nitrate nitrogen during the vegetation period is related to uptake by autotrophs i.e., phytoplankton and macrophytes. On the other hand, relatively higher levels of ammonical nitrogen in winter may be due to low microbial activity which converts ammonia into nitrites and nitrates (Shah and Pandit, 2013). Nandan and Patel (1992) stated that due to blooms of *Microcystis* in summer months, the values of nitrogen and nitrates were low in comparison to those of other seasons.

Phosphorus is a least abundant element and often-limiting factor for the biological productivity (phosphorus promotes excessive aquatic plant growth). In freshwater systems total phosphorus levels have often shown the strongest correlations with levels of chlorophyll *a* (Pridmore and McBride 1984). It occurs in organic and inorganic (polyphosphate, orthophosphate) forms. Only phosphate-phosphorus (PO_4^{-3} -P) can be used by phytoplankton and macrophyte for growth. The dissolved inorganic phosphate phosphorus values are in generally low as compared to

total phosphate phosphorus (Khan and Zutshi, 1980; Kundagar et al., 1996; Shah and Pandit, 2012). Phosphorus load in Dal lake (Kashmir) as observed by Ishaq and Kaul (1989) revealed that 99% of the total phosphorus is locked up within the sediments whereas remaining 1% is distributed in and is being utilized by aquatic organisms. The release of orthophosphate usually takes place when the concentration of nitrate is low, but when the concentration of nitrogen becomes highest the concentration of phosphates begins to decline (Anderson, 1982). Phosphate ion is reported to coprecipitate with carbonate under the influence of increased pH associated with high temperature and higher alkalinity (Otsuki and Wetzel, 1972; Kaul et al., 1978; Pandit, 1999). Thornton and Nduku (1982) suggested the values of dissolved inorganic phosphorus $>30\mu g/L$ as indicative of eutrophic status in temperate lakes. Kaul *et al.* (1985) obtained a positive correlation between flushing rate of water and phosphorus loading and negative correlation between flushing rate and retention coefficient of phosphorus indicating high flushing rate to be a great check on nutrient accumulation in the lake ecosystems in general and wetlands in particular. While Dittrich et al. (2004) reported lower concentration of total phosphorus in lake waters in summer, Mahar (2003) and Kumar and Pandit (2007) reported that the uptake and turnover rate of phosphorus are extremely rapid in summer.

Nutrient enrichment from anthropogenic sources is one of the major stresses affecting aquatic ecosystems (Bishop *et al.*, 2006) and total inorganic nitrogen and total phosphorus are the primary macro-nutrients that enrich freshwaters (Pandit and Yousuf 2002). Nitrogen plays an important role in the eutrophication of water along with phosphates (Singh *et al.*, 1990). While Harris (1986) observed that the constant addition of even low levels of nitrogen and phosphorus to an aquatic environment could greatly stimulate algal growth, Wetzel (1975) observed that inorganic phosphate and soluble orthophosphate plays dynamic role in aquatic ecosystems even in small quantity.

Silicon is an essential nutrient for diatoms which form important component of the phytoplankton community in most of the water bodies of the world (Hutchinson, 1967; Okbah and El-Gohary, 2002). Silicon occurs in two major forms: silicon dioxide and silica (Wetzel, 1983). The major source of dissolved silica is from the degradation of the aluminum silicate minerals (Mustapha and Omotosho, 2005). Talling and Talling (1965) documented that in African lakes the river input plays a big role in silica supply and concentration in lakes. Silicate solubility is known to increase at higher pH values and higher temperatures (Willen, 1991). Willen (1991) showed that small, shallow water bodies tend to experience higher epilimnetic silica concentrations than deep, large lakes worldwide. Mwaitega (2003), reported that the increase of nitrogen and phosphorus accompanied with decrease of silica can result into change of the whole algae community of these lakes. Further, Wetzel (1983) reported that the changes in silica concentration could have strong influence on the overall pattern of algal succession and the productivity of a lake. Werner and Roth (1983) opined that the availability of silicate is important for the control of the diatom population.

Iron is an important micronutrient of microflora, plants and animals as it plays an important role in many enzymatic transformations. The quantity of total iron in oxygenated surface waters of neutral or alkaline lakes ranges from about 50-200 μ g/L and much higher levels may occur in certain alkaline and closed lakes rich in organic matter. Iron along with other cations such as manganese is known to affect the hardness of water (Mahar, 2003). Mwaitega (2003) observed that once living organisms die, they sink to the bottom and the phosphorus becomes unavailable as it combine with iron or other locking element changes to insoluble forms (Fe₃PO₄⁻³). Kumar and Pandit (2007), while studying the physico-chemical features of water in Hokersar wetland in Kashmir Himalaya, reported higher concentration of total iron content in wetland waters during winter season. Similar observations were made by Ramesh and Selvanayagam (2013) in Kolavoi lake, India. Akram (1992) related higher iron content in lake waters to agricultural activities and increased diffusion of ferrous ion from the sediment at lower oxygen concentration near the sediment surface.

2.3. Distribution of macrophytes

Macrophytes play significant role in the structure and functioning of shallow lakes and wetlands (Pandit, 1984, 1992; Tamire and Mengistou, 2012; Sossey-Alaoui and Rosillon, 2013). The function of macrophytes in these ecosystems is related to their structural attributes like species composition, distribution, abundance and diversity which in turn relies on various environmental factors such as light, water temperature, substrate composition, epiphyte loading, fluctuations in water level, quality of the lake water, sediment nutrients and competitive interactions, (Kaul *et*

al., 1978; Pandit, 1984, 1992; Barko and Smart, 1986; Duarte *et al.*, 1986; Cronk and Fennessey, 2001; Wetzel, 2001; Pankhurst, 2005; Jaikumar *et al.*, 2011; Siraj *et al.*, 2011; Feldmann, 2012; Tamire and Mengistou, 2012). In addition to these factors composition and properties of sediments also have significant effect on the presence of certain macrophytic species in aquatic environments (Dawson and Krysztof, 1999; Heegard *et al.*, 2001; Makela *et al.*, 2004; Madsen *et al.*, 2006). Some aquatic macrophytes become cosmopolitan in distribution due to their efficient reproduction strategies and good dispersal capabilities (Sculthorpe, 1967; Barrat-Segretain, 1996; Santamaria, 2002). Vegetative and clonal reproduction is considered to be the most important mechanism involved in the growth and dispersal of macrophytes because sexual reproduction and genetic recombination are often considered as subordinate strategies (Wetzel, 2001).

The distribution pattern of macrophytes is largely controlled by water clarity and the amount of light that reaches the plant. A number of studies have found these to be the most significant factors governing the abundance, composition and distribution of macrophytes (Bini et al., 1999; Lougheed et al., 2001; Pandit et al., 2002). It is well documented that underwater light plays a significant role in determining the depth distribution of different life-form classes of macrophytes (Sculthorpe, 1971; Chambers and Kalff, 1985; Hrivnak et al., 2006). It has been emphasized that water level is closely related to light transmission, with deeper water hindering the processes of scattering and absorption (Wetzel, 1988; Sand-Jensen and Borum, 1991). A number of studies indicate that certain species of aquatic macrophytes mostly submerged ones usually extend into the depths in order to maximize their absorption of the light and CO₂ needed for photosynthesis; for example, Hydrilla sp. is very effective in elongating its shoots (Barko and Smart, 1981; Maberly and Madsen, 2002). Chambers and Kalff (1985) noted that submerged macrophytes grow to a depth of two to three times the Secchi depth. Chambers and Kalff (1985) and Dennison et al. (1993) obtained a positive relationship between secchi depth and rhizophytes. They found that this relationship is probably related to light availability-dependent habitat heterogeneity for submerged species. On the other hand, Duarte and Kalff (1987) found that climatic differences associated with geographic latitude seems to have a strong impact on the relationship between transparency and depth distribution of submerged plants.

Lot of research has been done from time to time to evaluate the effects of water quality, sediment characteristics and geological formations on aquatic macrophyte distribution (Kaul, 1971; Chambers, 1987; Gopal, 1987; Barko *et al.*, 1991; Lougheed *et al.*, 2001; Mir *et al.*, 2009; Alahuhta, 2011; Gecheva *et al.*, 2011; Tamire and Mengistou, 2012; Sossey-Alaoui and Rosillon, 2013). Sediment related factors affecting the distribution of macrophytes are the high organic matter content that may have a toxic influence on macrophytes due to the accumulation of phytotoxins, poor oxygen availability that may disturb the metabolic processes in roots, nutrient limitation due to complex formation and granulometric composition (Drew and Lynch, 1980; Sikora and Keeney, 1983; Lachavanne, 1985; Barko and Smart, 1986; James and Barko, 1990; Barko *et al.*, 1991; Sand-Jensen, 1998; Armstrong *et al.*, 1999; Boedeltje *et al.*, 2001).

The distribution and growth of aquatic macrophytes is associated with nutrient rich environments particularly nitrate and phosphate which have been noted to favour macrophytes growth (Frankouich *et al.*, 2006). Several studies have established that the nutrient enrichment can cause significant changes in the density and species richness of vegetation in lakes (Lougheed *et al.*, 2001; Rosset *et al.*, 2010; Alahuhta 2011). Nutrient enrichment of waters due to clay soils seems to have positive influence on the relationship between helophyte vegetation distribution and finer grained soils and less acidic bedrocks. In boreal catchments, clay soils can promote littoral overgrowth both at the lake and habitat levels (Partanen *et al.*, 2009). Recently, Shah and Reshi (2014) linked the distribution of invasive aquatic flora in different aquatic ecosystems of Kashmir Himalaya to their trophic status.

Riis *et al.* (2000) while examining the relationship between environmental factors such as water depth, soil type, light attenuation, water velocity and land use and aquatic plant composition in Danish streams found that alkalinity was the most important factor in predicting plant distribution. On the other hand, Day *et al.* (1988) found that water depth, the effects of spring flooding in removing litter and the fertility gradient produced by flowing water are the three main factors affecting the distribution patterns of aquatic plants. Sossey-Alaoui and Rosillon (2013) linked the distribution of macrophytes in some selected natural and impacted water-courses in Belgium to the nature of the geological formations and to the degree and nature of the pressure exerted on these environments.

Hydrologic and hydrodynamic conditions affect the distribution patterns of macrophytes mainly in two ways: (i) by fluctuating water level (Spence, 1982; Coops et al., 1996; Schwarz and Hawes, 1997; Fernández-Aláez et al., 1999; Kors et al., 2012), and (ii) by mechanical stress caused by waves and water flow (Spence, 1982; Idestam-Almquist and Kautsky, 1995; Rea et al., 1998). Several studies have found that the variations in water depth leads to variations in species zonation, distribution, biomass and richness (Khedr, 1997; Fernandez-Alaez, 1999; Arts, 2002; Lacoul and Freedman 2006). The turbidity of water also determines the extent of colonization of submerged aquatic plants (Kaul et al., 1978; Kaul, 1982; Pandit, 1992, 2008; Scheffer et al., 1992). The higher turbidity and fluctuations in water level limits the distribution of macrophytes to mainly turbidity tolerant species, for example rooted floating-leaf types and emergents (Nurminen, 2003). Low water levels may have a greater impact on the submerged vegetation in comparison to the lower lakes, due to the steeper shorelines (Pankhurst, 2005). Kumar and Pandit (2008) investigated effect of water level fluctuations on distribution of emergent vegetation in Hokersar wetland (Kashmir) and reported that water depth play significant role in the distribution and diversity of the emergent species.

The exposure to wind and waves largely influences the distribution of aquatic plants in shallow waters (Chambers, 1987; Vermaat and De Bruyne, 1993; Pankhurst, 2005). Hudon (2000) found that the biomass and distribution of submerged macrophytes to be influenced by site exposure and differences in species distribution attributable to growth form. Sand-Jensen (1989) held decrease in water depth responsible for increase in the wave-induced turbulent forces on the bottom. The helophyte zone and, especially, the zone of floating-leaved plants decrease with the increasing lake area due to wind stress related to the height and strength of waves (Spence, 1982). There exists a greater correlation between species diversity and lake area (Capers *et al.*, 2010). A few studies have indicated that this relationship may be due to the habitat heterogeneity, as larger lakes encompass more microhabitats more species are able to find a suitable habitat with increasing area (Roslett, 1991; Jones *et al.*, 2003; Heegaard, 2004; Capers *et al.*, 2010).

Competitive interactions among wetland species may also influence aquatic macrophyte distribution and abundance. Several studies have found that competitive interactions between naturally occurring species may play a larger role in shaping macrophyte distribution and community structure (Chambers and Prepas, 1990; Pankhurst, 2005; Kors *et al.*, 2012). The temporal changes in macrophytes distribution are mainly temperature-driven (Heikkinen *et al.*, 2009; Alahuhta, 2011; Kors *et al.*, 2012). Recent studies have indicated that the temperature driven distribution patterns of macrophytes can be influenced by the increased nutrient concentrations (Jylha *et al.*, 2004; Rosset *et al.*, 2010).

Apart from these, factors such as latitudinal and altitudinal pattern, dispersal, soil, bedrock and land use and land cover (LULC) are known to play an important role in the distribution of macrophytes and richness between lake catchments (Sand-Jensen *et al.*, 2000; Jones *et al.*, 2003; Heegaard, 2004; Edvardsen and Okland, 2006; Partanen *et al.*, 2009; Capers *et al.*, 2010). Further, Luoto *et al.* (2007), Heino and Toivonen (2008) and Alahuhta (2011) reported that land use patterns generally have a strong influence on the distribution of macrophytes at finer extents.

2.4. Productivity of macrophytes

Macrophytes, the photosynthetic organisms, play essential role in the structure and functioning of shallow lakes and wetlands, the most basic being primary production (Wetzel, 2001; Peters and Lodge, 2009; Nikolic *et al.*, 2009; Jones *et al.*, 2010). Phytoplankton and emergent, floating and submerged macrophytes which differ in terms of their productivity, consumption of different sources of nutrients and energy, are principal primary producers in shallow lakes and wetlands (Horne and Goldman, 1994; Nikolic *et al.*, 2009). The abundance and productivity of macrophytes (Nikolic *et al.*, 2009).

Primary productivity can be estimated by the summation of positive increments in biomass (Milner and Hyges, 1968; Purohit and Singh, 1987). A few studies have indicated that the productivity in terms of annual biomass in wetlands is about 3.5 times more than that of terrestrial ecosystems (Turner, 1982; Larson and Golet, 1982). The ratio of Below Ground (BG) and Above Ground (AB) biomass could be used for the estimation of BG biomass assuming that the ratio does not change considerably and a fixed production of total organic matter by plants is always invested in the below-ground tissues (Westlake, 1965). The below-ground organs contribute only 30-40% and 41% of the total standing crop for *Phragmites australis* and *Sparganium ramosum* respectively (Westlake, 1975; Handoo and Kaul, 1982).

While for *Typha* species this value was estimated at about 50-60% by Dykyjova (1971) and Kvet (1971).

Primary productivity is closely related with the mineral cycling of plant communities (Mark and Graham, 1976). Khan and Shah (2010) obtained direct correlation between nutrient concentration and biomass changes in macrophytes. Pandit (1999) while estimating the primary production rates and standing crop (biomass) of various macrophytes in different aquatic ecosystems of Kashmir, observed that among various nutrients locked up by the macrophytes in Dal lake (Kashmir), the maximum quantity was that of N followed by Ca, K, Mg, Na and P and emergents locked up maximum nutrients. Rien and Hannie (1994) studied nitrogen use efficiency of *Carex* species in relation to nitrogen supply. The authors recognised that among the three species differing in maximum growth rates, *Carex acutiformis* was recorded to be dominant in more productive eutrophic fens, where as *Carex diandra* and *Carex rostrata* were dominant in less productive mesotrophic fens.

There is evidence that seasonal variations in the productivity of macrophytes in tropical ecosystems are strongly associated with water level fluctuations, light levels, temperature and nutrient availability (Froend and McComb, 1994, Neue et al., 1997; Penha et al., 1999, Santos and Esteves, 2004; Gustavo et al., 2012). However, the variations in the seasonal productivity of macrophytes are very apparent in temperate ecosystems (Kaul, 1971; Fernández-Alaez et al., 2002, Fox et al., 2008). The variations in the productivity of emergent aquatic macrophytes are related to the amount of maximum mineral content in their above-ground tissues (Hwang et al., 1996). Net primary productivity of macrophytes depends on the life-form of the macrophytes and on the trophic status of their habitats (Kvet et al., 2008). Moreover, relatively higher carbon fixation occurs in emergent and semi-emergent macrophytes in eutrophic biotopes and in floating-leaved rooted and submerged macrophytes in mesotrophic biotopes. Ambasht (1971), while working on the total community production in wetland habitats, reported that *Eleocharis* sp. dominated the emergent plant community with the highest biomass production. Whittaker and Likens (1973) gave a comprehensive account of mean net primary productivity of wetlands and other ecosystems. Ravinder et al. (2007), while studying the primary productivity of macrophytes in Hokersar wetland, a Ramsar Site in Kashmir Himalaya, reported that plant habitat, shoot density, spatial leaf arrangement, the growing season and plant height are the major factors affecting the standing crop of macrophytes.

It has been well documented that maximum productivity of the biosphere occurs in the zone of emergent aquatic macrophytes and declines rapidly in case of submerged macrophytes (Westlake, 1963; Wetzel, 1990). Among macrophytes, emergents and rooted floating-leaf type are the most abundant and productive than submerged aquatic macrophytes and that are herbaceous perennial plants, developing highly dissected foliage and are not the rapidly growing surface canopy forming species under eutrophic conditions. Emergent macrophytes occupy lesser areas as compared to rooted- floating leaf types and submergeds; they are unique in utilizing the available space and light with maximum efficiency and great economy because they are capable of regulating spatial patterns, particularly in leaf density and leaf inclinations (Wetzel, 2001). Besides, emergent macrophytes contain structural tissue whose cell walls are heavily thickened with cellulose, which is relatively refractory to rapid microbial decomposition (Atkinson and Cairns, 2001). Standing crop of emergents like *Typha angustata* in pure stands is very much higher compared to the standing crop in mixed stands (Sharma and Pradhan, 1983).

The productivity of perennials with thin, finely divided, reticulated foliage that increases surface area, enhances gas exchange and light harvesting is very much higher compared to productivity of rosette perennials such as the Isoetids and of most annual submerged plants (Sculthorpe, 1971). Rooted floating-leaf type plants like Nelumbo accumulated the most photosynthetic biomass in the tissues lying over the water surface but in other rooted floating-leaf type species like Vallisneria, most photosynthetic biomass remained in the lowest stratum. (Ambasht and Ram, 1976). In shallow lakes, submerged aquatic macrophytes contribute significantly to the overall primary productivity (Margalef, 1983). The productivity as well as species composition of submerged macrophytes is largely influenced by the availability of light and temperature (Barko et al., 1986; Chambers, 1982; Hopson and Zimba, 2003; Nekrasova et al., 2003; Ronzhina et al., 2004). Kual (1982) and Pandit (2008) held low water depth, high water turbidity and thick cover of floating leaf species of macrophytes responsible for the poor growth and low productivity of submerged macrophytes in shallow lakes and wetlands of Kashmir, Himalaya. The standing crop estimates for Lemna and Salvinia was worked out by Kaul and Bakaya (1976) while working on the interspecific competition affecting the distribution of aquatic macrophytes. The Kaul and Handoo (1993), while investigating various wetlands of Kashmir in terms of species diversity recorded an annual increment of 502 g m⁻² primary production in general.

The loss of biomass production and species diversity can have significant impact on biogeochemical cycles, faunal habitats and food webs (Carpenter and Lodge, 1986). Certain studies indicate that severe eutrophication is responsible for the marked decline in the area occupied by and the biomass of submerged macrophytes in temperate aquatic ecosystems (Bini *et al.*, 1999; Magee *et al.*, 1999). Stanley *et al.* (2000) reported that species richness showed a significant quadratic response to increased annual primary productivity (¹⁴C estimate, g C·m⁻²·yr⁻¹) when lake area is taken into account. Lindholm *et al.* (2008) pointed out that high productivity of certain aquatic plants such as *Myriophyllum sibiricum* can modify the sediment texture. The higher productivity of aquatic macrophytes may hasten the process of eutrophication at the time of their decomposition (Nikolic *et al.*, 2007, 2009; Dar *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, for protecting the ecological balance in freshwater ecosystems, it becomes imperative to monitor these ecosystems for growth and development of macrophytes with high biomass rates (Coops *et al.*, 2002; Nikolic *et al.*, 2009).

2.5. Biochemical composition of macrophytes

Aquatic macrophytes, photosynthetic organisms of freshwater habitats, play significant role in the structure and functioning of these ecosystems (Wetzel, 2001; Jones *et al.*, 2010). Macrophytes also act as important bioindicators of environmental conditions and long-term ecological changes in water quality (Lacoul and Freedman, 2006). Macrophytes act as potential source of food and fodder for humans and bovine population, besides serving as a base of aquatic food chain (Smith *et al.*, 2011; Swapna *et al.*, 2011). For the assessment of nutritional value and evaluation of food potential of aquatic plants, the knowledge of their ecological significance and chemical composition is essential. (Chapman and Chapman, 1980; Hawkins and Hartnoll, 1983; Pandit, 1984; Pandit and Qadri, 1986; Abbott, 1988; Pandit, 1993). It is well known that seasonal variations in certain abiotic factors such as light, temperature, sediment composition and water chemistry can influence photosynthetic rates and biochemical composition of macrophytes (Koskimies and Nyberg, 1987;
Roslin, 2001; Ordsuna-Rojas *et al.*, 2002; Rajasulochana *et al.*, 2002), thus necessitating the determination of their biochemical composition.

The chemical composition of the macrophytes serves as a base and an effective tool to define the most profitable use of their biomass (Rabemanolontsoa, and Saka, 2012). Numerous authors have emphasized that the various biochemical constituents of macrophytes are primarily influenced by the environmental factors such as temperature, light available for photosynthesis, nutrient concentration in the ambient waters as well as the development stage of the macrophytes (Haroon *et al.*, 2000; Kalesh, 2003; Ortiz *et al.*, 2006). Chemical and textural nature of the sediments can also have a major influence on the biochemical composition of aquatic plants (Prasannakumari, 2006).

2.5.1. Protein content of macrophytes

Proteins are considered to be the major biochemical components of aquatic plants (Brown and Jeffrey, 1992; Wikfors *et al.*, 1992). Certain studies indicate that rapidly growing cells are characterized by high protein content (Henderson and Sargent, 1989; Zhu *et al.*, 1997). Gangadevi (1997) and Prasannakumari and Gangadevi (2012) attributed the presence of large number of meristematic tissues during the juvenile and growing stage to the higher concentration of proteins in aquatic plants. The differential nutrient uptake potential of macrophytes especially that of nitrogen which in turn is influenced by various environmental and biological factors such as the type of tissue, the age of the plant part, its nutrient past history, interplant variability etc. is responsible for the interclass and interspecies variations in the protein content of macrophytes (Lobban and Harrison, 1997; Kalesh, 2003). Prasannakumari and Gangadevi (2012) opined that the differential potential in the protein accumulation patterns of different aquatic plants may be due to variation in the accumulation efficiency in terms of their phenology.

Numerous studies indicate that free floating-type macrophytes such as *Azolla* sp., *Lemna minor* and *Salvinia natans* contained more amounts of protein than other life-form classes (NAS, 1984; Meyers, 1977; Edwards, 1980; Pandit, 1984; Pandit and Qadri, 1986; Banerjee and Matai, 1990; Dewanji *et al.*, 1997). Due to the presence of higher protein to energy (P/E) ratio, certain species of aquatic plants such as *Ipomoea reptans* and *Lemna minor* can prove as a potential source of supplementary feed in commercial fish feed (Kalita *et al.*, 2007). The recommended

concentration of leaf protein for human consumption is 55-65% (Bray, 1977), while for animal feeding, the value is reported to be 55% (Fiorentini, and Galloppini, 1983). Dewanji et al. (1997) reported that the concentration of leaf protein was more than 50% in 06 species of aquatic plants with Allmania nodiflora having the highest concentration (62.7%). The authors further reported that leaf proteins of the eight aquatic plant species had a digestibility above 54% with Allmania nodiflora and Pistia stratiotes having the highest. Shah et al. (2010) On the other hand, reported that rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes such as Nymphaea and Nymphoides contained crude protein contents of 20% higher than those in Berseem hay. The accumulation and subsequent conversion of nitrogen into protein building in the mature tissues during the metabolic process is at its maximum during the peak growth of macrophytes, thus resulting in higher concentration of proteins (Sahyun, 2008; Ahmad et al., 2011). Authors like Lapointe (1981), Dawes (1998) and Banerjee et al. (2009) also reported the concentration of proteins in aquatic plants depends upon the availability of nitrogen. Jayasankar (1999), on the other hand, reported lower concentration of proteins in certain plants of south-eastern coast of India during summer. Edwards (1980) advocated that the protein content increases as the nutrient content of the water in which the plant is grown increases.

2.5.2. Carbohydrate content of macrophytes

The patterns of carbohydrate allocation differ considerably among different species of aquatic plants, which reflects the differences in their adaptation strategies (Hwang *et al.*, 1996). Variations that occur in carbohydrate content among different groups of macrophytes are influenced by the accumulation efficiency of macrophytes in terms of their phenology. A number of studies have found this to be the most significant factor governing the carbohydrate content of macrophytes (Mini, 2003; Arathy, 2004; Prasannakumari and Gangadevi, 2012). Brown and Jeffrey (1992) reported that the changes in carbohydrate content in aquatic plants are influenced by the differences in growth medium, especially nutrient levels. Macrophytes exhibit distinct seasonality in their carbohydrate content. The nature of synthetic efficiency as well as the certain environmental factors such as temperature, nutrients etc. influence the seasonal carbohydrate dynamics of macrophytes (Kalesh, 2003; Prasannakumari and Gangadevi, 2012). It is believed that the vegetative growth as well as development also influence the fluctuations in the carbohydrate concentration of

macrophytes (Prasannakumari and Gangadevi, 2012). Jayasankar (1999) attributed the summer high and winter low values of carbohydrate in macrophytes to the increase in the growth rate of macrophytes resulting from the favourable environmental conditions. The positive impact of temperature on the carbohydrate metabolism of aquatic plants has been supported by various authors (Rosenberg and Ramus, 1982; Rotem *et al.*, 1986; Banerjee *et al.*, 2009). There exists a positive correlation of carbohydrate concentration with biomass and growth of certain aquatic plants (Jayasankar, 1999). Banerjee *et al.* (2009) observed significant positive relationship between carbohydrate synthesis and surface water temperature,

The state of physiological stress in a plant can be well judged by the ratio of energy content to that of soluble sugars (Sauter and Kloth, 1987; Larcher and Thomaser-Thin, 1988). In aquatic plants physiological stresses have been used as control points to suppress growth and eradicate target aquatic weeds (Luu and Getsinger, 1990). The stems of submerged macrophytes are characterized by higher concentration of soluble carbohydrates than in roots and leaves (El-Sarraf, 1995). Hwang et al. (1996) reported that the below-ground tissues of certain emergent macrophytes contain variable carbohydrate content depending on the seasons, ranging from 10-45%. The authors further opined that the higher proportion of carbohydrate content in the below-ground tissues relative to above-ground tissues after the peak growth season of macrophytes suggests an allocation of metabolites from aboveground to below-ground tissues for the growth of new stems in the next season. In aquatic plants, during the periods of low photosynthetic production, the growth and development of other plant parts is supported by the stored carbon content of belowground tissues (Dawes and Lawrence, 1980; Durako and Moffler, 1985; Dawes and Guiry, 1992). While deriving estimates of whole plant carbon balance, it becomes imperative to consider the stored carbon content of belowground parts (Fourqurean and Zieman, 1991; Kraemer and Alberte, 1993). Several studies pointed out that the rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes contained higher levels of carbohydrates (Wikfort et al., 1992). An earlier study on the biochemical composition of aquatic plants of Dal lake in Kashmir Himalaya revealed carbohydrates including fibre making 46.41 – 85.74% on dry weight basis (Pandit and Qadri, 1986).

2.5.3. Lipid content of macrophytes

Lipids, which constitute a major source of energy in the aquatic environment with a high recycling rate, are utilized by many aquatic organisms for their growth and development (Stable, 1977). There is evidence for temporal variability in the lipid characteristics of aquatic plants, including seasonal differences in the lipid content of macrophytes under the influence of variable environmental conditions (Cherepanov, 1981; Koskimies and Nyberg, 1987; Stefanov, 1988; Roslin, 2001; Nelson et al., 2002; Rajasulochana et al., 2002). While studies indicated that the variability in the lipid content of macrophytes depends upon the differences in the species, season and location (Annon, 1984). Prasannakumari and Gangadevi (2012) reported that fluctuations in the concentration of lipid in different genera may be due to the changes in the environmental factors that might have influenced the vegetative growth and development including availability of nutrients, allochthonous materials as well as variation in the efficiency of lipid accumulation among the plants. Macrophytes are reported to contain higher levels of lipids in their tissues during their peak growth season (Esteves and Suzuki, 2010; Dar et al., 2013). As lipids are the end products of metabolic reactions in mature and aged tissues, they are naturally higher at this stage (Akingbade et al., 2001; Sahyun, 2008; Ahmad et al., 2011). The variations that occur in the lipid content of macrophytes indicate an acceleration of productive metabolic activity during their peak growth period and/ or higher consumption of this organic compound during other seasons (Dar et al., 2013). The significant increases in the lipid content (about 5 times) have been reported for Ceratophyllum demersum in the rainy season (Esteves and Suzuki, 2010). The authors attributed increase in the total lipid content of submerged macrophytes in rainy season to the decrease in conductivity values and alkalinity as a consequence of the largest inflow and accumulation of fresh water from catchment. The authors also suggested that the tendency to accumulate higher concentration of total lipids in the tissues of submerged macrophytes presents better conditions to the development of these macrophytes. Haroon et al. (2000) and Nelson et al. (2002) stated that due to the reduction in the levels of proteins and carbohydrates in rainy season, the concentration of lipids was higher in aquatic plants compared to those of other seasons. Mini (2003) and Arathy (2004) also registered significant differences in the lipid content of various aquatic as well as riparian vegetations with a distinct pattern

between the seasons. Physico-chemical parameters of water are known to have profound influence on the lipid content of aquatic plants (Banerjee *et al.*, 2009).

According to the reported values in the literature, most aquatic plants contained lipid content in the range of 1.18 to 5.42% (Boyd, 1968). An earlier study on the biochemical composition of aquatic plants of Dal lake in Kashmir Himalaya revealed higher concentration of lipids in *Trapa natans* on dry weight basis (Pandit and Qadri, 1986). Banerjee and Matai (1990) and Rozentsvet *et al.* (1995), on the other hand, reported higher lipid content in emergent aquatic plants. Goncharova (2004), while studying the impact of seasonal variations in temperature on the lipid content of aquatic plants revealed some peculiarities of their functional role and the capacity of these aquatic plants to adapt to the environmental changes.

2.5.4. Chlorophyll content of macrophytes

Macrophytes and their parts are vertically stratified in different positions in the water body. The productive structures i.e. parts rich in chlorophyll in different plants are concentrated at different levels. The chlorophyll content per unit weight of plant parts is higher in leaf lamina than other green parts. Increased chlorophyll concentration acts as an indicator of enhanced photosynthetic capacity (Keeley and Sandquist, 1991). Light and temperature act together in affecting growth, morphology, photosynthesis, chlorophyll composition and reproduction of macrophytes (Barko et al., 1982, 1986: Chambers, 1982; Nekrasova et al., 2003; Ronzhina et al., 2004; Robledo and Freile-pelegrin, 2005). Barko et al. (1986) advocated that within individual plants, total chlorophyll can vary significantly in response to light, with greatest chlorophyll concentration at the basal (darkest) portion of the plant. Temperature is considered to be the single environmental variable profoundly influencing the photosynthetic rates of aquatic plants over the whole range of their occurrence (Gorham, 1974; Pilon and Santamaria, 2002). The positive impact of temperature on the photosynthetic rates of macrophytes has been supported by various authors (Hopson and Zimba, 1993; Vis et al., 2007; Shilla and Dativa, 2008). A number of reports indicate that under high-temperature regimes, the activity of certain enzymes such as 5- aminolevulinate dehydratase (ALAD) involved in the mechanism of chlorophyll biosynthesis decreases, thus resulting in the inhibition of chlorophyll biosynthesis (Mohanty et al., 2006; Dutta et al., 2009; Reda and Mandoura, 2011; Ashraf and Harris, 2013). The biological functions such as

photosynthesis, physiology, etc. in macrophytes are dependent on chlorophyll a (chl a), a key photosynthetic pigment. Consequently, changes in chl a can indicate plant growth (Raven *et al.*, 1992) or disturbances from stressors (Blackburn, 2007). The value of chlorophyll-decreases when the light transmission increases (Atici and Alas, 2012). In contrast to this under low light transmission, the concentration of Chlorophyll-b is favourable for growth based on the fact that Chlorophyll-b absorbs shortwave light more efficiently than Chlorophyll-a (Yokohama, 1983; Robledo and Freile-Pelegrin, 2005). It is believed that the adaptation of macrophytes to light conditions in water stratum is ensured by the distinct variation in pigment content as well as specific features of their pigment complex (Terrados and Ros, 1992; Ronzhina *et al.*, 2004; Robledo and Freile-pelegrin, 2005).

It has been emphasiszed that macrophytes, as a whole, are characterized by low chlorophyll pigment content (on % fresh weight basis) in comparison to the terrestrial plants (Popova *et al.*, 1984; Ronzhina *et al.*, 2004). It is well known that different groups of macrophytes with different degree of leaf submergence (emergent, rooted floating, free floating and submerged) exhibit appreciable variations with distinct profile in their seasonal pigment content (Ronzhina *et al.*, 2004; Dar *et al.*, 2013). The highly productive emergent and rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes contain lower chlorophyll pigment compared to other life-form classes (Dar *et al.*, 2013). Vertical orientation of leaves and presence of special features in the pigment complex enable submerged macrophytes to accumulate higher chlorophyll pigment levels (Ronzhina *et al.*, 2004). Nikolic *et al.* (2009) also reported that submerged aquatic plants contain higher concentration of chlorophyll pigment.

3.1. General Description of Study Area

3.1.1. Study Area

ashmir valley, an intermonate, oval shaped basin about 135 km long and 45 km wide and being the northern most State of India, is an all round interesting geomorphic entity. It is a longitudinal depression in the great northwestern complex of the Himalayan ranges and constitutes an important relief feature of geographic significance. Carved tectonically, the valley has a strong relationship with the Himalayan complex, which exercises an all pervading influence on its geographic personality (Raza et al., 1978). Originally formed as a tectonic valley and subsequently filled with a lake which was gradually drained out during the last interglacial epochs. This event as well as the glacial and fluviatile activity, which it has undergone, has added a complex character to the landscape ecology of the valley. It is bound by an almost unbroken ring of mountains which give it the character of an enclosed Vale. The Pir Panjal range bounds it on the south and west separating it from Jammu region and the Greater Himalayan range (Zanaskar range) encloses it on the east-northeast and north-northwest. By its geomorphic characteristics, Kashmir valley is almost unique in the entire Himalayan region. Valley spreads over a latitudinal extent of approximately $33^0 25'$ N to $34^0 45'$ N and a longitudinal extent of approximately 73^0 55' E to 75^0 35' E. It comprises an area of about 12,450 square kilometers and ranges in elevation from 1577 metres (lank in the Wular lake) to about 5423 meters (Kolahoi peak) in the Pahalgam area.

The valley of Kashmir abounds in numerous lovely lakes, swamps, springs and streams. The valley is drained by River Jhelum which originates from Verinag spring and in its course is joined by about 18 tributaries. Among the fresh water bodies of the valley Wular lake enjoys special status of being the largest freshwater body within

Indian sub-continent and plays a significant role in the hydrological regime of the Kashmir valley by acting as a huge absorption basin for floodwaters of Jhelum floodplain. Wular lake and its associated wetlands act as an important habitat for migratory water birds within Central Asian Flyway and supports rich biodiversity. Besides, generating revenue to the state government through fisheries and auctioning of *Trapa natans*, fodder and other economically important species, it also supports a large population living along its fringes owing to its huge fishery potential. The catchment of the lake is comprised of slopping hills of the Zanaskar ranges of the western Himalaya on the north eastern side and arable land around used for agriculture purposes. Recognizing the importance of the wetland for its biodiversity and socio economic values, the Wular lake was designated as Ramsar Site under Ramsar Convention in 1990.

Geographically the lake is situated at an altitude of 1580 m (a.m.s.l) lying between 34°16′24.67″ - 34° 20′26.26″ N latitudes and 74° 33′41.42″ - 74° 44′02.90″E longitudes of Kashmir Valley. The ox- bow type lake is mono- basined, elliptical in shape and is of fluviatile in origin, formed by the meandering of River Jhelum. Its depth on average is 3.6 m throughout length, reaching 5.8 m at its deepest point (Pandit, 2002). The average area has been estimated as 48-54 km² which declines to 18-24 km² during the lean period and increases 75 km² during summer months. Bandipora district and Sopore Town are the two main townships situated on the banks of the lake. Various rivers and streams which drain into the Wular lake are River Jhelum, Erin Nallah, Madhumati Nallah, Ferozepur Nallah, Sukhnag Nallah, Ningal Nallah, Ajus Nallah, etc. and the only exit (outlet) of the lake is River Jhelum.

The Directory of Wetlands of India (MoEF, 1990) indicates the area of the lake to be only 189 sq km. On the other hand, Stein (1961) reported that the lake during ancient part was about 202 km², which has got reduced to 24 km² of open water area at present. According to the recent revenue records the lake area has been described as 130 km² of which 3.70 km² are under paddy cultivation and other dry crops, 0.15 km² under human habitation and 60.5 km² under plantation. The main reasons for the shrinking of the lake area are siltation, human settlements and huge willow plantation. The weed infestation and large scale encroachment have threatened the very existence of this wetland which offers a permanent winter habitat for the water fowl species besides sustenance to thousands of people living around the lake

The macrophyte dominant lake has a well developed littoral zone. Extended littorals in general, are dominated by (i) emergents like *Phragmites australis, Typha angustata* and *Sparganium ramosum*, (ii) rooted floating-leaf types like *Nymphoides peltatum, Trapa natans* and *Nymphaea mexicana*, and (iii) free-floating types dominated by *Salvinia natans, Azolla* sp. and *Lemna minor*, all growing together intermixed and forming a complex physiognomy. The slightly deeper zone has abundant growth of submergeds like *Ceratophyllum demersum, Potamogeton crispus* and *Potamogeton lucens* forming meadows at various places. The littorals towards the north-eastern side are densely populated with *Salix* plantation which is eating the vitals of the lake. The location map of the study area is depicted in figure 3.1.1.



Fig. 3.1.1. Location map of the study area

3.1.2 Study Sites

For the present study, nine sampling sites were selected on the basis of location, water depth, vegetation, and other related characteristics (Fig. 3.1.2). The location and description of nine sampling sites is given as under.

Site I: This site is situated towards the eastern side of the lake near the village Saderkote. It lies between geographical coordinates of $34^0 \ 39' \ 19''$ N latitude and $74^0 \ 47' \ 8.8''$ E longitude. Agriculture land under paddy cultivation and washing of clothes by the local people are the main activities in the close catchment of this site. This site is heavily infested with emergent macrophytes among which *Phragmites australis*, *Typha angustata, Myriophyllum verticillatum and Sparganium ramosum* are the dominant ones. The maximum water depth at this site 0.9 m was recorded in spring against the minimum 0.3 m in winter.

Site II: It is located towards the eastern side of the lake at the foot of Vintage Park in district Bandipora, between geographical coordinates of $34^0 \ 21' \ 56.9''$ N latitude and $74^0 \ 39' \ 42.0''$ E longitude. This site is under the direct influence of human settlements. The vegetation here is dominated by rooted floating, followed by emergents and submergeds. *Nymphoides peltatum, Trapa natans, Hydrocharis dubia, Typha angustata* and *Ceratophyllum demersum* are the dominant macrophytes of this site. *Salix* plantation is also found along the margins, contributing litter to the lake periphery. The average water depth at this site ranges from 0.8 m in winter to 3 m in summer.

Site III: The site is located near village Kulhama opposite to site I at the entry of Erin nallah between geographical coordinates of $34^0 22' 53.1''$ N and $74^0 39' 11.5''$ E. This site is characterized by dense growth of rooted floating type macrophytes such as *Nymphoides peltatum*, *Trapa natans*, *Nymphaea alba* and *Hydrocharis dubia* and also sparse growth of emergents such as *Typha angustata* and *Phragmites australis* along its periphery. Here the average water depth ranges between 0.7 m in winter and about 2.6 m in summer.

Site IV: Geographically this site lies between 34^o 23' 47.4" N and 74^o 35' 9.1" E near Laharwalpora in District Bandipora .The site is under the direct influence of sand extraction, being carried by local people .There is sparse growth of macrophytes such as *Marselia quadrifolia, Trapa natans, Salvinia natans, Azolla* sp., *Hydrilla verticillata* and *Potamogetan crispus* .The maximum water depth at this site (1.9 m)

was recorded during spring and summer seasons against the minimum (0.4 m) in winter months.

Site V: located near Ashtung village (latitude 34⁰ 24' 14.8" N and longitude 74⁰ 32' 34.9" E) on the north western side of the lake, and is characterized by having abundant growth of macrophytes such as *Trapa natans, Nymphoides peltatum, Salvinia natans, Azolla* sp., Lemnids, *Ceratophyllum demersum* and *Potamogetan natans* towards the limnetic zone and sparse growth of *Myriophyllum verticillatum, Polygonum hydropiper, Polygonum amphibium, Marselia quadrifolia, Typha angustata, Phragmites australis* and *Nelumbo nucifera* along its periphery. This site can be called the open water site. Here the average depth ranges between 0.8 m in winter and about 3.1 m in summer.

Site VI: It is located adjacent to site V between geographical coordinates of $34^0 23'$ 0.3" N and $74^0 32' 0.8"$ E on the north western side of the Wular lake. The site is heavily infested with emergent and rooted floating leaf type macrophytes such as *Typha angustata, Phragmites australis, Polygonum hydropiper, Polygonum amphibium, Myriophyllum verticillatum, Trapa natans, Nymphaea* mexicana, and *Potamogetan natans* along the periphery and the growth of submerged macrophytes such *Ceratophyllum demersum* is sparse .This site is under the direct influence of agriculture land .The average water depth ranges from 0.4 m in winter to 1.2 m in spring.

Site VII: Located near the Watlab Ghat at the foothills of shrine of Baba Shukruddin^{RA} (latitude $34^0 11' 29.4''$ N and longitude $74^0 31' 48.2''$ E) on the western side of the lake, has profuse growth of macrophytes such as *Nymphoides peltatum*, *Trapa natans*, *Myriophyllum verticillatum*, *Hydrocharis dubia*, *Ceratophyllum demersum*, *Potamogetan crispus*, *Polygonum hydropiper* and *Salvinia natans*. This is the deepest point of the lake and here the average water depth ranges between 2 m in winter and about 4.5 m in spring.

Site VIII: This site is located near the outlet channel (Ningal) towards Sopore town (latitude $34^0 \ 17' \ 74.31''$ N and longitude $74^0 \ 31' \ 29.8''$ E). Along the periphery of this site there is sparse growth of free floating and submerged macrophytes such as *Ceratophyllum demersum*, *Potamogetan crispus*, *Salvinia natans* and *Azolla* sp. Its depth ranges from 1.6 m in winter to 3.9 m in spring.

Site IX: It is located towards the north- eastern side of the lake near the inlet River Jehlum falling in the lake between geographical coordinates of $34^0 \ 20' \ 39$. 2" N and $74^0 \ 34' \ 52.2"$ E. This site is dominated by emergents, rooted floating leaf type and free floating macrophytes such as *Phragmites australis*, *Typha angustata*, *Myriophyllum verticillatum*, *Nymphoides peltatum*, *Trapa natans*, *Salvinia natans* and *Azolla* sp. towads the littorals besides the sparse growth of submergeds such as *Ceratophyllum demersum* and *Potamogetan crispus* towards the limetic zone .The maximum water depth at this site (1.3 m) was recorded in spring and summer seasons against the minimum (0.5 m) in winter months.



Fig. 3.1.2. Location map of the study area with sampling sites

Site	Code	Latitude	Longitude
Saderkote	Ι	34 ⁰ 39 [′] 19″ N	74 ⁰ 47 [′] 8.8″ E
Vintage	II	34 [°] 21 [′] 56.9″ N	74 [°] 39 [′] 42.0″ E
Kulhama	III	34 [°] 22 [′] 53.0″ N	74 [°] 39 [′] 11.5″ E
Laherwalpora	IV	34 [°] 23 [′] 47.4″ N	74 [°] 35 [′] 9.1″ E
Ashtung	V	34 [°] 24 [′] 3.8″ N	74 ⁰ 32 [′] 41.7″ E
Kuinus	VI	34 ⁰ 23'0.3" N	74 ⁰ 32' 0.8" N
Watlab	VII	34 ⁰ 21′ 29.4″ N	74 [°] 31′ 48.2″ N
Ningal	VIII	34 ⁰ 17' 74.31" N	74 [°] 31′ 29.8″N
Makhdomyari	IX	34 ⁰ 20' 39. 2''N	74 [°] 34′ 52.2 ″N

Table 3.1. General geographical features of nine sampling sites.

3.1.3. Climate

Climate of a particular place is the net result of the combination of several factors like latitude, altitude, terrain, distance from the sea and prevailing winds. Latitudinally the Kashmir valley lies in the sub-tropics (33°22' N to 34°43' N) but in reality it experiences a different type of climate which is almost temperate, the modification being introduced primarily by altitude which is of the order of 1577-5425 metres above mean sea level.

Terrain is important as it with mountain ring which girdles Kashmir valley acts as a climatic barrier. It checks the onward movement of moisture laden winds from Arabian Sea. The Pir Panjal range is the first high barrier, particularly with regard to south-west monsoon. It prevents the monsoon winds from entering the valley of Kashmir. The great Himalayan range forms the second high barrier. However, it is very favourable climatic barrier for Kashmir valley as it does not allow the "Western Disturbance" in winter to cross over easily. As a result, the valley of Kashmir gets substantial precipitation during winter from western disturbances which are extra-tropical disturbances having their origin near about the Mediterranean. These disturbances travel from west to east and enter India through Iran, Afghanistan and Pakistan. The great Himalayan range also shields the Kashmir valley from the frost bitten winds of the north. Kashmir valley lies far away from the sea in the interior of the continent. It is characterized by extremes of temperature (continentality). Mean temperature of the hottest month that is July is 24.6°C and that of the coldest month that is January it is 1°C (Kaul, 1987). The daily range of temperature is also high. Kashmir valley has thus continental type of climate, characterized by marked seasonality. In general the valley has a fairly long winter. For five months a year (i.e., from November to March) the mean monthly temperature in Srinagar is below 10°C. Sub-zero temperature is common in winter which results in frost.

The Kashmir valley receives precipitation both in the form of rain and snow. It has been noted that the rainfall pattern exhibit peculiar distribution patterns throughout the year, being greatly concentrated in the winter and spring months across the valley. The share of the winter and spring rainfall is, however, only about one- third of the total annual rainfall in the central and south eastern parts, while it is more than three – fourth in the North- western region of the valley. The Annual rainfall recorded in the Vale is about 750 mm. It shows a regular increasing trend in all directions from Budgam and Srinagar and fluctuates over a wide range, recording its minima of 579 mm at Budgam to maxima of 1195 mm at Dooru. The most notable feature of the rainfall in Kashmir valley is its low intensity per rainy day. A perusal of data on the rainfall intensity of the valley over a period of fifty years (1950 - 2001)revealed that the average rainfall intensity varies from a minimum of 5.08 mm to a maximum of 26.27 mm (Ahmed and Ahmed, 2013). During monsoon period (June -August), a significant decrease in the intensity of sunlight occurs over the whole India except Jammu and Kashmir where the maximum insolation occurs in the months of June and July respectively, and minimum in January due to its particular geographical location. In the state of Jammu and Kashmir, humidity values fluctuates over a narrow range recording its minimum value of 71% in the month of May and maximum value of 80%, being recorded in the month of December (Raina, 2002).

On meso level the year in Kashmir is divisible into four seasons. There is one hot and one cold season and in between these, are two warm seasons. The winter season is of four months i.e., from mid-November to mid-March. The summer also lasts for four months i.e., from mid-May to mid-September. There is one transitional season (spring) of two months between winter and summer and another transitional season (autumn) of two months between summer and winter. However, a common practice in Kashmir is to recognize six seasons in a year (two months each) (Hussain, 2000; Dar *et al.*, 2002).

- (i) Spring (Sonth) from mid-March to mid-May
- (ii) Summer (Grishm) from mid-May to mid-July
- (iii) Rainy season (Wahrat) from mid-July to mid-September
- (iv) Autumn (Harud) from mid-September to mid-November
- (v) Winter (Wand) from mid-November to mid-January
- (vi) Severe winter (Sheshur) from mid-January to mid-March.



Site I - Saderkote



Site II – Vintage



Site III – Kulhama PLATE - I

Department of Environmental Science



Site IV - Laharwalpora



Site V – Ashtung



Site VI- Kuinus
PLATE - II



Site VII- Watlab



Site VIII – Ningal



Site IX - Makhdomyari

PLATE - III

4.1. PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF WATER

n order to assess the water quality of Wular lake, a detailed characterization of the physico-chemical characteristics of the water was carried out for a period of two years from March 2011 to February 2013 on monthly basis. The surface water samples were collected between 10.00 and 14.00 hours from each of the sampling sites in one litre polythene bottles and were brought to the laboratory for analysis. The parameters including depth, transparency, temperature, pH and conductivity were determined on spot, whereas the rest of the parameters were determined in the laboratory within 24 hours of sampling. The analysis was done as per standard methods given by APHA (1998) and Wetzel and Likens (2000).

4.1.1. Depth

Method: Standard Lead Weight

The water depth was recorded by sounding the wetland bottom, at all the sampling sites, with a standard lead weight (1 kg), tied to a marked rope and the results were expressed in meters.

4.1.2. Transparency

Method: Secchi Disc

Transparency or light penetration in water was measured with Secchi disc. It was dipped into the water on a calibrated line until it disappeared. The depth at which it disappeared and also the depth at which it reappeared when rose was recorded. The average of these two readings is called Secchi disc reading.

Calculation

Secchi disc reading (cm) = $\frac{A+B}{2}$

Where:

A = Depth at which Secchi disc disappears

B = Depth at which Secchi disc reappears

2 = Standard value of equation

4.1.3. Air temperature

Method: Mercury Thermometer

The air temperature was recorded by using graduated mercury Celsius thermometer. The thermometer was placed in shade for at least two minutes for obtaining the air temperature. The results were expressed in °C.

4.1.4. Water temperature

Method: Mercury Thermometer

The temperature of surface water was recorded by using graduated mercury Celsius thermometer. The bulb of the thermometer was dipped in water for at least two minutes for obtaining the water temperature. The results were expressed in °C.

4.1.5. Electrical conductivity

Method: Conductivity Cell Potentiometric

The conductivity of water samples was measured with the help of a digital conductivity meter. The conductivity meter was calibrated before use with standard potassium chloride solution (0.01M). The results were expressed in μ Scm⁻¹ at 25°C.

4.1.6. Total dissolved solids (TDS)

Method: Gravimetric after Filtration

250 mL of filtered sample was evaporated to dryness in a pre-weighed evaporating dish in an Oven at 104°C for at least 1 hour. The evaporating dish containing the dry residual sample was cooled and weighed again. The concentration of total dissolved solids was determined using the following formula:

Total Solids (mg /L) =
$$\left(\frac{A - B}{ml \text{ of sample}}\right) \times 1000$$

Where:

A = weight of dish + residue, (mg)

B = weight of dish, (mg)

Conductivity measurements were converted to TDS values by factor 0.65 to check the accuracy of TDS measurements.

4.1.7. Free carbon dioxide

Method: Titrimetric

To 50 mL of water sample, two drops of phenolphthalein indicator were added and titrated against 0.02 N NaOH. The results obtained were expressed as mg/L.

$$CO_2 \text{ mg/L}= \left(\frac{\text{Titrant used (mL)}}{\text{Volume of sample}}\right) \text{ X 1000}$$

Factors for calculating carbon dioxide concentrations in water with known pH, temperature and alkalinity measurements were used for accuracy (Tucker, 1984). Factors should be multiplied by total alkalinity (mg/L) to get carbon dioxide (mg/L).

4.1.8. Dissolved oxygen

Method: Iodometric Method

The dissolved oxygen content was determined by Iodometric method. The initial fixation of the dissolved oxygen was done on spot by collecting the liquid in the 300 mL BOD bottle, to which 1 ml of each alkali-iodide reagent and manganous sulphate was added. The bottle was tightly stoppered to exclude air bubbles and was inverted for few times to mix the reagents thoroughly. The floc formed was allowed to settle approximately half of the bottle. The precipitate was dissolved by addition of 2 ml of concentrated sulphuric acid by inverting it several times until dissolution was complete. 50 mL of the sample was then taken and titrated against 0.025N sodium thiosulphate using starch as indicator. The D.O. concentration was calculated from the given formula and the results were expressed in mg L^{-1} .

Dissolved oxygen (mgL⁻¹) = $\left(\frac{V1 \times N \times Eq.wt.}{V2}\right) X 1000$

 $V_1 =$ Volume of sodium thiosulphate used

 $V_2 = Volume of the sample taken for titration$

N = Normality o f sodium thiosulphate

Eq. wt. = Equivalent weight of oxygen

4.1.9. pH

Method: Potentiometric

The pH of water samples was determined by means of a digital pH meter (Systronics-MKVI). Before measuring the pH of water samples, the pH meter was standardized against buffer solutions of pH 4.0, 7.0 and 9.2.

4.1.10. Chloride

Method: Argentometric Titration

100 mL of sample was titrated against 0.0141N silver nitrate solution using potassium chromate as indicator solution, till brick red colour end point was attained. Concentration in mg L^{-1} was determined by using the following formula:

Chloride (mgL⁻¹) =
$$\left(\frac{V_1 - V_2 \times N \times Eq.wt.}{V_3}\right) \times 1000$$

 V_1 = Volume of silver nitrate used for sample (mL)

 V_2 = Volume of silver nitrate used for blank (mL)

 V_3 = Volume of the sample taken for titration (mL)

N = Normality of silver nitrate solution.

Eq. wt. = Equivalent weight of chlorine

4.1.11. Total hardness

Method: EDTA Titrimetric

To 50 mL of water sample, 1-2 mL of buffer solution (NH₄- NH₄OH) and a pinch of EBT indicator was added and was then titrated against 0.01M EDTA within 5 minutes after buffer addition till wine red colour changed to blue. The concentration (mg L⁻¹) was determined by using the following formula:

Total hardness as CaCO₃ (mgL⁻¹) = $\left(\frac{V_1 - V_2}{V_3}\right) X 1000$

 V_1 = Volume of EDTA used for the sample (mL)

 V_2 = Volume of EDTA used for the blank (mL)

 V_3 = Volume of the sample taken for titration (mL)

4.1.12. Calcium content (Ca²⁺)

Method: EDTA Titrimetric

To 50 mL of water sample, 2 mL of 1N sodium hydroxide and a pinch of murexide indicator was added and then titrated against 0.01N EDTA till colour changes from pink to purple. The concentration (mgL⁻¹) was determined by using the following formula:

Calcium content (mgL⁻¹) =
$$\left(\frac{V_1 - V_2}{V_3}\right) \times 400 \times 1.05$$

 V_1 = Volume of EDTA used for the sample (mL)

 V_2 = Volume of EDTA used for the blank (mL)

 V_3 = Volume of the sample taken for titration (mL)

4.1.13. Magnesium content (Mg²⁺)

Method: Calculation from total hardness and calcium content

Magnesium content was obtained from the total hardness and calcium content by using the following formula:

Magnesium content (mgL⁻¹) = {Total hardness (mgL⁻¹) – Calcium content (mgL⁻¹)} $\times 0.243$

4.1.14. Bicarbonate alkalinity

Method: Titrimetric (Methyl orange)

100 ml of water sample was titrated against $0.02N H_2SO_4$ using methyl orange as indicator. The results were expressed in mg L⁻¹ after using the following formula:

Total alkalinity as CaCO₃ (mgL⁻¹) = $\left(\frac{V_1 - V_2 \times N}{V_3}\right) \times 1000 \times 50$

 $V_1 = V$ olume of titrant used for the sample

 V_2 = Volume of titrant used for the blank (mL)

 V_3 = Volume of the sample taken for titration (mL)

 $N = Normality of H_2SO_4$

4.1.15. Dissolved silica

Method: Ammonium Molybdate

To 10 mL of water sample, 5 mL (0.25 N HCl), 5 mL (5%) ammonium molybedate and 5 mL (1%) disodium EDTA were added. After 5 minutes, 10 mL of 17% sodium sulphite was added and the sample allowed for 30 minutes for colour development. The absorbance of samples was then measured at 700 nm and the results obtained were expressed in mg/L. Standard was prepared from sodium silicate pentahydrate.

4.1.16. Ortho-phosphate phosphorus

Method: Stannous Chloride

The orthophosphate phosphorus concentration was estimated by molybdenum blue method. To 50 mL of water sample 4 mL of ammonium molybedate and 0.5 mL of stannous chloride was added. The intensity of blue colour developed was measured after 10 but before 20 minutes at 690 nm spectrophotometrically. Potassium dihydrogen phosphate was used for making various standards. The results were expressed in μ g L⁻¹.

4.1.17. Total phosphorus

Method: Stannous Chloride Method

The total phosphorus concentration was estimated by stannous chloride method. 50 ml sample was digested with 1 ml sulphuric acid and 5 ml nitric acid on hot plate to a volume of 1ml.The sample was then cooled and diluted with 20ml distilled water. Then sample was titrated against 1N sodium hydroxide solution with phenolphthalein as indicator, till faint pink colour appeared. Strong acid solution was used to discharge the colour. The final volume was again raised to 50ml with distilled water. Then 4ml molybdate reagent and 10 drops of stannous chloride were added to sample with continuous stirring.. The intensity of blue colour developed was measured at 690 nm spectrophotomerically between 10-20 minutes. The various standards were made from potassium dihydrogen phosphate and the results were expressed in $\mu g L^{-1}$.

4.1.18. Ammonical-nitrogen

Method: Phenate Spectrophotometric

To 25 mL of water sample, 1 mL phenol, 1 mL sodium nitroprusside solution and 2.5 mL of oxidizing solution were added and kept at room temperature for about one hour till the colour develops fully and light exposure was suitably avoided. The intensity of colour developed was measured at 640nm. Ammonium chloride was used for making various standards. The results were expressed in μ g L⁻¹.

4.1.19. Nitrate - nitrogen

Method: Salicylate Method

To 100 mL of water sample, 1 mL of sodium salicylate was added and evaporated to dryness on water bath. The residue was treated with 1 mL of concentrated sulphuric acid and after 5-10 minutes 6 mL of distilled water and 7 mL of 30% NaOH solution was added. After development of yellow colour, the intensity was measured at 410nm and the results were expressed in μ gL⁻¹. Standards were prepared from potassium nitrate.

4.1.20. Total iron

Method: Phenanthroline Method

To 50 mL of sample 2 mL of conc. HCl and 1 mL NH₂OH. HCl solution was added. A few glass beads were added and heated to boiling till the volume is reduced to 15-20 mL, cooled, and transferred to a 50 mL volumetric flask. After cooling, 10 mL NH₄C₂H₃O₂ buffer solution and 4 mL phenanthroline solution were added, diluted to 50 ml with distilled water. Mixed and allowed to stand for 10-15 min. for colour development. Absorbance was measured at 510nm and the results were expressed in μ gL⁻¹. Standards were prepared from ferrous ammonium sulphate.

4.2. VEGETATION

The community features of macrophytes were worked out on seasonal basis for a period of two years, using the Random Quadrat Method (Misra, 1968; Gupta, 1999). 5-10 Quadrats of 1 m² sizes were laid randomly at all the selected sites. The macrophytes falling in each quadrat were sorted species-wise and the numbers of individuals of each species were counted for working out various phytosociological features (Misra, 1968). Ekman dredge was used to collect the submerged species falling in each quadrat. The identification was carried using standard taxonomic works of Kak (1978), Cook (1996), Fasset (1998) and Kumar (2009). For *Nymphoides peltatum* three leaves were taken as one individual while for *Nymphaea mexicana* one leaf was taken as one individual. In case of *Ceratophyllum demersum* (submerged species) one meter length of the plant along with all its branches was taken as a unit to represent one individual.

4.2.1. Quantitative characteristics

The quantitative community characteristics of macrophytes like density, abundance, frequency and importance value index (IVI) were determined by the following formulae:

Donsity -	Total no.of individuals of a species in all the sampling units
Density –	Total no.of sampling units studied
Relative density	$= \frac{\text{Density of a species}}{\text{Total densit y of all the species}} \times 100$
Abundance	= Total no.of individuals of a species in all the sampling units No.of sampling units in which species occurred

Relative abundance = $\frac{\text{Abundance of a species}}{\text{Total abundance of all the species}} \times 100$

Frequency
$$\%$$
age = $\frac{\text{No.of sampling units in which the species occurred}}{\text{Total no.of sampling units}} \times 100$

Relative frequency = $\frac{\text{Frequency of a species}}{\text{Total frequencies of all the species}} \times 100$

Importance Value Index (IVI) = Relative Density + Relative Frequency + Relative Abundance

Rank abundance was worked out by taking log10 values of IVI in the peak month of growth (in August) and then arranging these values in descending order.

4.2.2. Diversity Indices

Diversity indices were determined by the following formula:

(a) Shannon diversity index (H')

Species diversity was determined after Shannon (1949) as:

$$\mathbf{H}' = -\sum_{i=1}^{i=s} \left(\frac{ni}{N}\right) \log_e\left(\frac{ni}{N}\right)$$

H' = Index of species diversity

 $n_i = Density of one species$

N = Density of all the species

e = Base of natural logarithm
$$\log_e\left(\frac{ni}{N}\right) = 2.303 \log_{10}\left(\frac{ni}{N}\right)$$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{i=s}$$
 = Addition of the expression for values of *i* from *i* = 1 to *i* = S

(b) Simpson's diversity index (D)

Diversity within the macrophytic community was described using the Simpson's diversity index ("D"), which was calculated as:

$$D = 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{s} (pi)^{2}$$

Where, "pi" is the proportion of individuals in the "ith" taxon of the community

and "s" is the total number of taxa in the community (Simpson, 1949).

(c) Similarity index

$$S = \frac{2C}{A+B} \times 100$$
 (after Sorenson, 1948)

Where A and B represent the number of species at sites A and B respectively, C is the number of species common to both the sites.

4.2.3. General Distribution Pattern

General vegetation map depicting distribution pattern of macrophytes was prepared based on field observations at the time of optimum growth of macrophytes i.e., July- September using Arc View-GIS 3.2a. Area occupied by different life-form classes of macrophytes was estimated based on a 4-degree scale (10-25% = sparse, >25-50% = moderate, >50-75% = dense, >75-100% = very dense) according to EPA (2007).

4.2.4. Net Primary Productivity

An estimation of net primary productivity was done by harvesting the macrophytes at the selected sites on monthly basis from March 2011 to February 2013 using quadrat method (Misra, 1968; Gupta, 1999). Five quadrats of standard size $(1m^2)$ were laid at each site. Macrophytes falling in each quadrat were collected, stored in separate plastic bags and taken to laboratory for analysis. Dry weight biomass was obtained by oven drying the samples at $105^{\circ}C$ for 24 hours (Misra, 1968; Gupta, 1999). For primary production, the measurements were made for each species according to the procedures described by Milner and Huges (1968) using the formula:

Total annual production in g m⁻² = $\sum n (B_{n-1})$)

Where:

 $B_n = Standing crop of nth sampling period$

 $B_{n-1} =$ Standing crop of previous sampling period

Before drying, the plants of each species were counted to work out the production in plant, besides the values in g m^{-2} .

4.2.5. Biochemical Analysis of Macrophytes

The quantitative estimations of various biochemical constituents viz. chlorophyll content, total carbohydrates, total lipids and total proteins for dominant macrophytes were worked out on seasonal basis for a period of two years. After harvesting the macrophytes in the quadrats, they were placed in polybags and transported to the laboratory where they were incised to include only leaves and shoots. The plant material was then washed thoroughly to render free of mud, periphytic growth, encrustaceans, etc. and moisture was drained before being analysed for various biochemical parameters. The analysis was done as per standard methods given by Lowry *et al.* (1951), Dubious *et al.* (1956), Knight *et al.* (1972), Bames and Blackstock (1973), Strain *et al.* (1971) and Lichtentaler and Wellburn (1983).

4.2.5.1. Estimation of total proteins

Total protein content of macrophytes was determined colourimetrically by the method of Lowry *et al.* (1951) after the extraction of proteins with buffer solution of pH-7. 1 g fresh weight of plant material was homogenized by grinding with buffer solution of pH-7 using pestle mortar. 0.2 ml and 0.4 ml of the extract were pipetted into separate test tubes and the volume made 1 ml with distilled water followed by addition of 5 ml of freshly prepared alkaline copper tartrate reagent. The samples were then incubated for 10 minutes followed by addition of 1ml of IN Folin - Ciocalteu reagent. The contents of each test tube were immediately vortexed and subsequently incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature for colour development. The absorbance was then read at 700 nm against a reagent blank using visible spectrophotometer. Bovine serum albumin was used as standard and the amount of protein was calculated from the standard curve. The results were expressed as percentage of % age fresh weight of macrophytes.

4.2.5.2. Estimation of total carbohydrate

Total carbohydrate of determined content macrophytes was colourimetrically by phenol - H₂SO₄ method after extraction into buffer solution of pH-7(Dubois et al., 1956). 1 g of fresh weight of plant material was homogenized with buffer solution of pH-7 using pestle mortar. 0.5 ml and 1 ml of the extract were pipetted into separate test tubes and the volume made 1ml with distilled water followed by rapid addition of 5 ml of concentrated sulphuric acid. The contents were shaken thoroughly and subsequently incubated for 40 minutes at room temperature for colour development. After incubation, 1ml of 5% phenol was added to the test sample. The absorbance was then measured at 490 nm against a reagent blank using visible spectrophotometer. Glucose was used as standard and the amount of carbohydrates was calculated from the standard curve. The results were expressed as percentage of fresh weight of macrophytes.

4.2.5.3. Estimation of total lipids

Total lipid content of macrophytes was determined colourimetrically by Sulphophosphovanillin method after extraction in buffer solution of pH-7 (Knight *et al.*, 1972; Bames and Blackstock, 1973). 1 gm of fresh weight of plant material was homogenized with buffer solution of pH-7 using pestle mortar. 0.1 ml of the extract was pipetted in a separate test tube and digested with 2 ml of conc. H_2SO_4 . After cooling the test tube, 5 ml of phosphovanillin reagent was added and the sample was subsequently incubated for 40 minutes at room temperature for colour development. The absorbance was then measured at 520 nm against a reagent blank using visible spectrophotometer. Olive oil was used as standard and the concentration of total lipids was calculated by using following formula.

$$(A_{T}-A_{B})/(A_{S}-A_{B}) \times 500$$

Where:

 A_{T} = Absorbance of test sample

 $A_B = Absorbance of blank$

 $A_{S} = Absorbance of standard$

The results were expressed as percentage of fresh weight of macrophytes.

4.2.5.4. Estimation of chlorophyll content

Chlorophyll content (Chl a, Chl b and Total Chlorophyll) was determined Spectrophoto-metrically, in acetone extracts prepared from fresh samples (Strain *et al.*, 1971; Lichtentaler and Wellburn, 1983). Acetone extract of the macrophytes was prepared by macerating 1 gm fresh weight of plant leaves with 80% aqueous acetone using a mortar and pestle. The decanted suspension was centrifuged for 3 minutes at 1320 rpm. After centrifugation, the upper green clear solution was decanted from the colorless residue and then made upto 10ml with 80% acetone in 10 ml test tubes. The solution was then subjected to centrifugation at 10000 rpm for 10 minutes. The absorbance of the solution was determined using a spectrophotometer at wavelengths of 665 and 649 nm respectively. The results were expressed as mg/g fresh wt. basis.

Chlorophyll 'a' (mg/g) = 11.63 (A₆₆₅)-2.39 (A₆₄₉) Chlorophyll 'b' (mg/g) = 20.11 (A₆₄₉)-5.18 (A₆₆₅) Total Chlorophyll (mg/g) = 6.45 (A₆₆₅) +17.72 (A₆₄₉)

4.3. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The statistical analysis was performed using SPSS package (10th version) and Minitab (11th version).

4.3.1. ANOVA and correlations

The data was analysed for correlations and analysis of variance (ANOVA).

4.3.2. Cluster Analysis

Cluster analysis is a powerful tool for analyzing data and classifies objects, so that each object is similar to others in the cluster with respect to a pre-determined selection criterion (Reeve *et al.*, 1996). In clustering, the objects are grouped such that the similar objects fall into the same classes (Danielsson *et al.*, 1999). In cluster analysis, a dendrogram (tree like diagram) is produced, which summarises the process of clustering. Similar cases are joined by links whose position in the diagram is determined by the level of similarity between these cases (Aldenderfer and Blashfield, 1984).

5.1. PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF WATER

he ecological studies in fresh water involve a choice between two types of approaches, one connected with knowledge of the dynamics of aquatic species in a given area and the other relating to knowledge of water body and its physical and chemical characteristics.

In order to define a particular freshwater body, it is important to analyze accurately as many physical and chemical characteristics of water as possible before initiating the biological studies. The measurements of these characteristics provide valuable information about the aquatic environment. In this perspective some of the important physico-chemical characteristics of the Wular lake have been analyzed.

5.1.1. Depth

Wular lake, the ox- bow type lake, is mono- basined, elliptical in shape and is of fluviatile in origin, formed by the meandering of River Jhelum. Its mean maximum depth was 4.6 m (at Site VII) during spring 2011 as against the mean minimum depth of 0.3 m (at Site I), being recorded during winter 2012. Irrespective of the sites, the greatest depth was recorded during spring and the least during winter (Fig.5.1.1 and 5.1.2).

While analyzing the data on the basis of monthly values, it was noted that during the year 2011 the maximum depth of 5.8 m was recorded at Site VII in May compared to the minimum value of 0.3 m being recorded at Site I during January (Table 5.1.1).During 2012 the highest depth of 4.3 m was registered at Site VII during April as against the lowest of 0.2 m being recorded at Site VI during January (Table 5.1.2).Thus, Site VII, the open water site located towards the centre of the lake, was the deepest site and Site I was the shallowest site althrough the study period.

5.1.2. Transparency

During the entire study period, Wular waters were found to be least turbid for most of the time period. In general, the greater water transparency was recorded during winter, followed by autumn, summer and decreasing to the lowest during spring each year (Fig.5.1.3 and 5.1.4). The maximum seasonal mean transparency of 1.9m was recorded at Site VII during winter 2011 as against the minimum transparency of 0.1m being recorded at Site I during spring 2012. During 2011 the lowest seasonal mean transparency of 0.2 ± 0.1 m was recorded at Site I in spring as against the highest seasonal mean record of 1.9 ± 0.2 m at Site VII, being registered during winter (Table 5.1.3). During 2012 the minimum seasonal mean transparency of 0.1 ± 0.1 m was again recorded at Site I during spring compared to the maximum of 1.7 ± 0.1 m at Site VII during winter (Table 5.1.4). In general, significant temporal variations in water transparency, ranging between a high of 2.1m (Site VII) in December 2011 and a low of 0.1m (Site I) during May 2011 and April, May and January 2012 were recorded during both the years of study.

5.1.3. Air temperature

The air temperature fluctuated over a wide range, recording its lowest of $3.2 \,^{0}$ C at Site V in January 2012 and a highest of $33.2 \,^{0}$ C at Site IX in August, 2011.Seasonally, summer recorded the highest mean temperature while winter recorded the lowest mean air temperature at all the study sites. Seasonal mean temperatures, however, fluctuated between $32.3\pm0.6 \,^{0}$ C at Site VI during summer 2011 and $5.1\pm1.2 \,^{0}$ C at Site VIII during winter 2012.There was hardly any spatial variation in air temperature of the lake (Fig. 5.1.5 and 5.1.6) though slightly overall a decreasing trend in air temperature of two successive years was evinced. Thus, during 2011 maximum air temperature of $33.2 \,^{0}$ C was recorded during August at Site IX as against the minimum of $3.9 \,^{0}$ C, being recorded during January at the Site VII (Table 5.1.5). In the year 2012 slightly decreased values of air temperature were obtained and during this year the highest air temperature of $3.2 \,^{0}$ C recorded at Site V during January (Table 5.1.6).

5.1.4. Water temperature

Water temperature in Wular lake was in accordance with the prevailing annual thermal cycle and was in close proximity with air temperature, recording its highest

values during summers and lowest values during winters at all the sites. Seasonal mean temperatures, however, fluctuated between 26.4 ± 0.4 ^oC at Site VI during summer 2011 and 4.2 ± 1.2 ^oC at the Site VIII during winter 2012. There was hardly any spatial variation in water temperature of the lake (Fig. 5.1.7 and 5.1.8). During 2011 maximum water temperature of 26.7 ^oC was recorded during August at Site VI as against the minimum of 3.0 ^oC, being recorded during January at the Site VIII (Table 5.1.7). Despite 2012 being comparatively a colder year, a highest water temperature of 26.8 ^oC was recorded during July at Site V as against the lowest temperature of 2.6 ^oC being registered at Site IX during January (Table 5.1.8).

5.1.5. Specific conductivity

Specific conductivity, being the indirect estimate of total ions present in water, depicted greater spatial as well as temporal variations. Thus, the highest specific conductivity was registered during winter, followed by autumn, spring and summer (Tables 5.1.9 and 5.1.10). The maximum seasonal mean conductivity of 508.7 ± 17.0 μ Scm⁻¹ at 25 0 C was maintained at Site I during winter 2011 as against the minimum conductivity of $115\pm10.0 \mu$ Scm⁻¹ at 25 0 C at Site III during summer the same year.

While analyzing the data on the monthly basis, it was noted that during the year 2011 the maximum conductivity of 525μ Scm⁻¹ was obtained at Site I in February compared to the minimum value of 90 μ Scm⁻¹ being recorded at Site III during September (Fig. 5.1.9). Further, during 2012 the highest conductivity of 489 μ Scm⁻¹ was registered at Site I during January as against the lowest of 100 μ Scm⁻¹ recorded at Site V during May (Fig. 5.1.10).

5.1.6. Total dissolved solids

Total dissolved solids followed the same trend as that of specific conductivity, witnessing its peak amount during winter and then following a decline to reach the lowest value during summer where after an increasing trend was evinced towards the autumn (Fig.5.1.11 and 5.1.12).On seasonal basis, the maximum seasonal mean value of total dissolved solids (308.3 ± 10.4 mg/L) was obtained during winter 2012 at Site I against the minimum seasonal mean value of 69.7 ± 5.5 mg/L, being recorded during summer 2011 at Site III (Table 5.1.11 and 5.1.12).Monthly values, however, fluctuated between a high of 320 mg/L (Site I in January 2012) and a low of 64 mg/L (Site III in August 2011).

5.1.7. Free carbon dioxide

Wetland waters, during both the years of study, recorded very noticeable temporal variations in the amount of free carbon dioxide. A perusal of the data revealed that there was a summer fall in free carbon dioxide concentrations in Wular water (Table 5.1.13 and 5.1.14, Fig. 5.1.13 and 5.1.14). The spring and autumn season registered almost equal but modest amounts of free carbon dioxide and the values peaked during winter. Thus, the seasonal mean values of free carbon dioxide reached its high of 24.3 ± 3.5 mg/L at Site VI during winter 2011 as against the low of 5.7 ± 0.6 mg/L at Site IV during summer 2011. However, the monthly values fluctuated from a maximum of 28 mg/L in December 2011 at Site VI to a minimum of 5 mg/L in August 2011 at Site IV.

5.1.8. Dissolved oxygen

Dissolved oxygen, depicting an inverse relationship with the water temperature, recorded its highest during winters and lowest during summers at all the sites. Thus, the maximum seasonal mean amounts of dissolved oxygen $(9.6\pm 0.2 \text{ mg/L})$ were registered during winter 2012 at Site VII as against the minimum of $6.7\pm0.4 \text{ mg/L}$, being recorded during summer 2011 at Site I (Table 5.1.15 and 5.1.16). During 2011 the highest amount of dissolved oxygen (9.8 mg/L) was noted at Site VIII during February while the lowest dissolved oxygen of 6.4 mg/L was evinced at Sites I, II and VI during July, August and September respectively (Fig.5.1.15). However, in the year 2012, the maximum amounts of dissolved oxygen (11 mg/L) was recorded at Site VIII during November as against the lowest of 6.6 mg/L, being registered at Site VI during July (Fig. 5.1.16).Overall, there were little variations in the dissolved oxygen values during the two years of study although the two year study showed comparatively elevated levels of dissolved oxygen during the first year (2011).

5.1.9. pH

The waters of Wular were alkaline throughout the study period although there were spatial as well as temporal variations in the pH values of the lake water, ranging between 7.1(December 2011 at Site VI and December, February 2012 at Site I) and 8.5 (June 2011 at Site VII).However, comparatively more spatial variations were recorded during the second year of study (Fig. 5.1.17 and 5.1.18).On seasonal basis, in general, more alkaline water was recorded during summer and least during winter.

During 2011 the lowest seasonal mean pH of 7.3 ± 0.0 was recorded at Site VIII in winter as against the highest seasonal mean of 8.3 ± 0.0 , being recorded at sites III and IV during summer (Table 5.1.17). During 2012 the minimum seasonal mean pH of 7.1 ± 0.1 was maintained at Site I during winter compared to the maximum of 8.2 ± 0.2 at Site IV during summer (Table 5.1.18).

5.1.10. Chloride

Lake waters, during both the years of study, recorded very noticeable seasonal trend in the amounts of chloride, registering its highest during spring and lowest during winter at all the sites. Seasonal mean values of chloride content, however, fluctuated between 22.7 ± 4.2 mg/L at Site IX during spring 2011 and 7.3 ± 1.5 mg/L at Site III during winter 2011 and Site IV during winter 2012 (Tables 5.1.19 and 5.1.20). There were, however, more monthly variations in chloride content in Wular waters and as such during 2011 maximum chloride content of 28.0 mg/L was recorded during April at Site V as against the minimum of 6.0 mg/L, being recorded during December at Site III (Fig.5.1.19). However, in the year 2012 slightly decreased levels of chloride content were obtained as evinced by a record of minimum chloride content (6.0 mg/L) at sites III and IV during February compared to its maximum amounts (26.5 mg/L) at Site VIII during April (Fig.5.1.20).

5.1.11. Total hardness

Wular waters, during both the years of study, recorded very noticeable temporal variations in the amount of total hardness. Greater amounts were recorded during winters and least during summers. In 2011 the highest seasonal mean amounts of total hardness (276.7 \pm 12.6 mg/L) were maintained during winter at Site I as against the lowest mean values of 61.7 \pm 7.6 mg/L at Site III during summer (Table 5.1.21). Further, in the year 2012 the maximum seasonal mean values of total hardness (251.7 \pm 17.6 mg/L) were again registered at Site I during winter against the minimum amounts (68.3 \pm 10.4 mg/L) being recorded at Site III during spring (Table 5.1.22).Overall, during the entire study period, the highest amount of total hardness (290 mg/L) was recorded in February 2011 at Site I as against the lowest of 55 mg/L being recorded at Site III during Site IV during September of the same year (Fig.5.1.21 and 5.1.22).

5.1.12. Calcium content

A perusal of data on calcium content in Wular waters reveals that winter and spring waters are comparatively harder as compared to summers, having lesser amounts of calcium, hence less hard.

A comparison of two year data shows that during 2011 the seasonal mean values of calcium content ranged between a high of 106.4 ± 1.2 mg/L at Site I during winter and a low of 38.5 ± 1.2 mg/L at Site III during summer while in the year 2012 the maximum seasonal mean of 93.5 ± 8.6 mg/L was again registered at Site I during winter as against the minimum of 34.6 ± 4.9 mg/L recorded at Site IV during summer (Fig.5.1.23 and 5.1.24). There were slight monthly but very marginal spatial variations in the calcium content in the lake. Thus, Site I recorded the highest amounts of calcium (107.1 mg/L) during January and February 2011 as against the lowest amounts of 37.6 mg/L, being recorded at Site III during July 2011 (Table 5.1.23).For the year 2012 the maximum calcium content (100.8 mg/L) was registered at Site I during July (Table 5.1.24).

5.1.13. Magnesium content

Magnesium content almost followed the same trend as witnessed for calcium content, depicting its peak values in winter and the lowest values in summer months. On seasonal basis the maximum seasonal mean amount of magnesium (43.1 \pm 1.9 mg/L) was recorded at Site I during winter and the minimum seasonal amount of 5.9 \pm 1.4 mg/L) was obtained at Site III during summer in the year 2011 (Fig. 5.1.25). However, during 2012 the maximum seasonal mean magnesium content of 39.1 \pm 9.2 mg/L was noted at Site II during winter as against the lowest seasonal mean of 6.0 \pm 2.4 mg/L), being recorded at Site III in spring (Fig. 5.1.26).In general, there were significant monthly variations in magnesium content which ranged between a high of 47.0 mg/L (Site II) in February 2012 and a low of 4.6 mg/L at Site III during August 2011 (Table 5.1.25 and 5.1.26).

5.1.14. Bicarbonate alkalinity

In Wular, the alkalinity of water was absolutely due to bicarbonates only as the carbonates were not recorded at any of the sites throughout the study. During the first year of investigation (2011), the maximum seasonal mean bicarbonate alkalinity (218.3 \pm 27.5 mg/L) was obtained at Site VI during winter compared to the minimum
seasonal amounts (63.3 ± 2.9 mg/L) being recorded at Site III during summer (Fig.5.1.27). During 2012, the maximum bicarbonate alkalinity of 200 ± 20.0 mg/L was registered again at Site VI during winter as against the minimum of 61.7 ± 7.6 mg/L, being registered again at Site III during summer (Fig. 5.1.28).Greater spatial variations in bicarbonate alkalinity were, however, witnessed during 2011 as compared 2012.Besides, significant temporal fluctuations were observed during both the years of study. Thus, the highest value of bicarbonate alkalinity (245 mg/L) was recorded at Site VI during January 2011 against the lowest value of 55 mg/L at Site III during August 2012 (Table 5.1.27 and 5.1.28).

5.1.15. Dissolved silica

Lake waters, during both the years of study, recorded noticeable temporal variations in the amount of dissolved silica. The amounts of dissolved silica were maximum during spring, followed by summer and autumn and decreased to the minimum during the winter. In 2011 the highest seasonal mean amounts of dissolved silica ($16.6\pm1.1 \text{ mg/L}$) were registered during spring at Site VII as against the lowest seasonal mean values of $6.0\pm1.6 \text{ mg/L}$ at Site II during winter (Fig. 5.1.29). In the year 2012 the maximum seasonal mean amounts of dissolved silica ($16.5\pm1.8 \text{ mg/L}$) were again registered at Site VII during spring against the minimum amounts ($6.3\pm1.2 \text{ mg/L}$), being recorded at Site III during winter (Fig. 5.1.30).During the entire study period, the highest amount of dissolved silica (18.4 mg/L) was recorded in April 2012 at Site VII as against the lowest values of 3.8 mg/L, being recorded at Site VIII during January 2011 (Table 5.1.29 and 5.1.30).

5.1.16. Orthophosphate-phosphorus

A perusal of data shows that amounts of orthophosphate-phosphorus were low during summers which gradually rose to moderate levels in autumn and then peaked in winter; thereafter a decline in the concentrations of the ion followed (Fig. 5.1.31 and 5.1.32).The data further clearly reveals that the temporal variations in orthophosphate-phosphorus evinced a wide range with the greatest value (118 μ g/L) being recorded at Site VI during January 2011 against the lowest (9 μ g/L) being recorded at Site IV during June of the same year.

During 2011 the maximum seasonal mean orthophosphate-phosphorus concentration of $100.3\pm 19.1 \ \mu g/L$ was observed during winter at Site VI as against the minimum one (11.3±1.5 $\mu g/L$), being registered during spring at the Site VIII (Table 5.1.31). In

2012 the highest seasonal mean amounts of orthophosphate-phosphorus (89.0 \pm 5.0 μ g/L) were recorded during winter at Site I as against the lowest mean values of 13.3 \pm 3.1 μ g/L at Site IV during summer (Table 5.1.32).

5.1.17. Total phosphorus

Total phosphorus followed the same trend as witnessed for orthophosphate phosphorus, depicting its peak values in winter and the lowest values in summer months. Very little fluctuations were observed in the amounts of total phosphorus in the lake waters although temporally the values fluctuated significantly (Table 5.1.33 and 5.1.34, Fig.5.1.33 and 5.1.34). The ranges of total phosphorus over the whole period of investigation were much wider and thus fluctuated from the lowest value (60 μ g/L) at Site VIII during September 2011 to the highest values (393 μ g/L) at Site V during February of the same year. However, the maximum seasonal mean value of 350.3± 35.9 μ g/L was recorded at Site VI during winter 2011 as against the minimum value of 73.3± 10.4 μ g/L, being registered at Site VIII during summer 2011.

5.1.18. Ammonical-nitrogen (NH₄-N)

Ammonical-nitrogen followed the same trend as that of total phosphorus, with its peak amounts recorded during winters and the least amounts during summers (Fig.5.1.35 and 5.1.36). Like that of phosphate phosphorus, ammonical-nitrogen also evinced a wide range with the greatest value (330 µg/L) being recorded at Sites VII and IX during December 2011 as against the lowest (35 µg/L), being recorded at Site VIII during September the same year. On seasonal basis, the highest seasonal mean value of 290.0 \pm 20.0 µg/L was obtained during winter 2011 at Site I as against the lowest mean values of 48.5 \pm 9.2 µg/L, being recorded at Site III during summer (Fig. 5.1.35). However, for the year 2012 the maximum seasonal mean of 268.0 \pm 14.7 µg/L was recorded at Site I during winter as against the minimum of 50.3 \pm 11.7 µg/L, being recorded at Site VIII during summer (Fig. 5.1.36).In general, more temporal fluctuations were recorded during 2011 as compared to the year 2012 (Tables 5.1.35) and 5.1.36).

5.1.19. Nitrate-nitrogen (NO₃-N)

Nitrate- nitrogen followed the same trend as that of ammonical-nitrogen, witnessing its peak amount during winter and then following a decline to reach the lowest value during summer where after an increasing trend was evinced towards the autumn (Fig. 5.1.37 and 5.1.38).On seasonal basis, the maximum seasonal mean value

of nitrate- nitrogen (1416.7±336.1 μ g/L) was obtained during winter 2011 at Site VI against the minimum seasonal mean value of 178.7±22.7 μ g/L, being recorded during summer 2012 at Site VIII. Monthly values, however, fluctuated between a high of 1710 μ g/L at Site VI in February 2011 and a low of 120 μ g/L at Site IV in August 2012 (Table 5.1.37 and 5.1.38).

5.1.20. Total iron

A perusal of the data revealed that there was a summer fall in total iron content in the lake waters (Fig. 5.1.39 and 5.1.40). The autumn and spring season registered modest amounts of total iron and the values peaked during winter. Thus, the seasonal mean values reached its high of $389.0\pm 21.2 \ \mu g/L$ at Site VII during winter 2011 as against the low of $216.0\pm18.3 \ \mu g/L$ at Site VIII during summer 2012 (Fig.5.1.39 and 5.1.40). However, on monthly basis total iron also evinced a wide range with the greatest value (413 $\mu g/L$) being recorded at Site VII during February 2011 against the lowest (189 $\mu g/L$), being recorded at Site VIII during August of the same year (Table 5.1.39 and 5.1.40).

5.1.21. Correlations between various physico-chemical parameters of water in Wular lake

Correlation coefficients worked out for all the physico-chemical parameters of water depicted both significant and non-significant positive as well negative correlations between the various parameters (Table 5.1.41).

There was a strong positive correlation between air temperature and water temperature (p<0.01, r = 0.896) as was highlighted in the observations recording a fall in the values of both during winter. Highest values for air temperature as well as water temperature were also corresponding to each other. Water temperature was also found to be strongly correlated with dissolved oxygen (p<0.05, r = -0.781). pH showed negative correlation with almost all the parameters except total iron. The parameters depicting strong correlation with pH were total dissolved solids (p<0.01, r = -0.875), conductivity (p<0.01, r = -0.858), free carbon dioxide (p<0.05, r = -0.754), alkalinity (p<0.01, r = -0.799), total hardness (p<0.01, r = -0.907), calcium content (p<0.01, r = -0.907), magnesium content (p<0.01, r = -0.888) and total iron (p<0.05, r = 0.697). Water transparency did not show strong correlation with any of the parameters except dissolved oxygen (p<0.05, r = 0.788).

The strong inverse relationship between conductivity and pH was evident from the results which was proved statistically (p<0.01, r = -0.858).Conductivity also revealed highly significant positive correlation with free carbon dioxide (p<0.01, r =0.874), alkalinity (p<0.01, r = 0.953), total hardness (p<0.01, r = 0.978), calcium content (p<0.01, r = 0.964), magnesium content (p<0.01, r = 0.980) and orthophosphate-phosphorus (p<0.01, r = 0.857).Conductivity, however, depicted highly significant perfect positive correlation with total dissolved solids (p<0.01, r =0.999).All these parameters depicted a summer fall and winter peak in their concentrations in water. Chloride was the only exception which could not depict strong correlation with any of the parameters.

All those parameters which depicted significant positive correlations with conductivity were again positively and significantly correlated to total dissolved solids (free carbon dioxide: p<0.01, r = 0.877; alkalinity: p<0.01, r = 0.953; total hardness: p<0.01, r = 0.981; calcium content: p<0.01, r = 0.969; magnesium content: p<0.01, r = 0.982; orthophosphate phosphorus: p<0.01, r = 0.848). Total dissolved

solids, however, showed highly significant negative correlation with pH (p<0.01, r = -0.875).

The most significant positive correlation of calcium content was recorded with total hardness (p<0.01, r = 0.991) and magnesium content (p<0.01, r = 0.975) and its most significant negative correlation (p<0.01, r = -0.907) was noted with pH. Magnesium content depicted strong positive correlations with alkalinity (p<0.01, r = 0.939) and orthophosphate-phosphorus (p<0.01, r = 0.807), besides total dissolved solids, conductivity, and free carbon dioxide discussed earlier. Alkalinity depicted a trend similar to that of magnesium content in terms of correlation co-efficient. However, alkalinity also depicted strong positive correlation with total phosphorus (p<0.05, r = 0.720) which was not revealed by magnesium content. Both magnesium content and alkalinity had significant negative correlations with pH (p<0.01, r = -0.888 for magnesium content and p<0.01, r = -0.799 for alkalinity respectively).

Dissolved silica maintained significant positive correlations with ammonicalnitrogen (p<0.01, r = 0.807) and nitrate-nitrogen (p<0.05, r = 0.726).Dissolved silica, however, did not show any significant negative correlations with any of the parameters.

In addition to all these, there were some more significant positive correlations (between orthophosphate phosphorus and total phosphorus: p<0.05, r = 0.792; orthophosphate-phosphorus and nitrate-nitrogen: p<0.05, r = 0.722; total phosphorus and ammonical-nitrogen: p<0.01, r = 0.893; total phosphorus and nitrate-nitrogen: p<0.01, r = 0.942 and free carbon dioxide and orthophosphate-phosphorus: p<0.05, r = 0.795).

5.1.22. Analysis of variance (ANOVA)

The balanced analysis of variance worked out between different physicochemical parameters of water during the study period depicted highly significant spatial as well as temporal variations (P <0.05) for most of the parameters (Tables 5.1.42 and 5.1.43). However, calcium content and water transparency depicted slight insignificant variations.

Site	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	0.8	1	0.9	0.9±0.1	0.8	0.6	0.7	0.7±0.1	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.5±0.1	0.4	0.3	0.5	0.4±0.1
Site II	1.77	2.1	2.9	2.3±0.6	3.3	2.9	2.7	3.0±0.3	2.9	2.4	1.7	2.3±0.6	1.3	1	0.8	1.0±0.3
Site III	1.7	2.1	2.8	2.2±0.6	2.3	1.8	1.5	1.9±0.4	1.7	1.3	1.1	1.4±0.3	0.9	0.7	0.8	0.8±0.1
Site IV	1.4	1.8	2.4	1.9±0.5	2.1	1.7	1.3	1.7±0.4	1.5	1	0.8	1.1±0.4	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.5±0.1
Site V	1.8	2.3	3.1	2.4±0.7	4.1	3.3	2.9	3.4±0.6	3.1	2.6	1.9	2.5±0.6	1.7	1.2	0.8	1.2±0.5
Site VI	1.2	1.1	1.4	1.2±0.2	1.2	1	0.8	1±0.2	0.9	0.7	0.5	0.7±0.2	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.4±0.1
Site VII	3.6	4.4	5.8	4.6±1.1	5	4.2	3.8	4.3±0.6	4.2	3.9	3.2	3.8±0.5	2.4	2.1	1.8	2.1±0.3
Site VIII	3	3.9	4.9	3.9±1.0	4	3.4	3.6	3.7±0.3	4	3.6	3	3.5±0.5	2.1	1.4	1.6	1.7±0.4
Site IX	1	1.3	1.7	1.3±0.4	1.5	1.3	1.1	1.3±0.2	1.3	0.9	0.7	1.0±0.3	0.6	0.4	0.7	0.6±0.2

Table 5.1.1 Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in depth (m) of Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012



Fig. 5.1.1. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in depth (m) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012

Results

Site	Mar	April	May	Mean±S.D	June	July	Aug	Mean±S.D	Sept.	Oct	Nov.	Mean±S.D	Dec.	Jan.	Feb.	Mean±S.D
Site I	0.6	0.7	0.5	0.6±0.2	0.6	0.8	0.7	0.7±0.1	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.4±0.2	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.4±0.2
Site II	3	2.4	2.2	2.5±0.8	1.7	1.9	2.1	1.9±0.2	1.8	1.6	1.5	1.6±0.7	1	0.8	0.6	0.8±0.8
Site III	2.2	2	1.8	2.0±0.6	1.4	1.5	2.2	1.7±0.4	1.6	1.3	1.2	1.4±0.6	0.9	0.7	0.6	0.7±0.6
Site IV	1.6	1.4	1	1.3±0.5	1.2	1.6	1.9	1.6±0.3	1.2	0.7	0.5	0.8±0.5	0.4	0.3	0.5	0.4±0.5
Site V	2.4	2.4	2.3	2.4±0.7	1.5	2.3	2.5	2.1±0.4	1.8	1.4	0.9	1.4±0.7	0.9	0.7	0.9	0.8±0.7
Site VI	1	0.9	0.7	0.9±0.3	1	1.2	1.1	1.1±0.1	0.8	0.6	0.5	0.6±0.3	0.4	0.2	0.3	0.3±0.2
Site VII	4	4.3	3.8	4.0±1.2	2.9	3.6	4.2	3.6±0.5	3.7	3	2.8	3.2±1.1	2.3	2	1.8	2.0±1.1
Site VIII	3.3	3.1	2.5	3.0±0.9	2.41	3.25	3.5	3.1±0.5	3.2	2.2	1.8	2.4±0.9	1.5	1.5	1.8	1.6±0.9
Site IX	1.3	1.4	0.9	1.2±0.4	0.9	1.6	1.4	1.3±0.3	1.6	0.9	0.6	1.0±0.4	0.5	0.4	0.6	0.5±0.4

Table 5.1.2. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in depth (m) of Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013



Fig. 5.1.2. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in depth (m) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013

Site	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	0.2	0.3	0.1	0.2±0.1	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.3±0.1	0.2	0.4	0.3	0.3±0.1	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.4±0.1
Site II	0.6	0.7	0.8	0.7±0.1	0.8	0.9	1.1	0.9±0.2	0.9	1.2	1.2	1.1±0.2	1.3	1	0.8	1.0±0.3
Site III	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.6±0.1	0.7	0.8	0.7	0.7±0.1	0.8	0.8	0.9	0.8±0.1	1.1	0.9	0.8	0.9±0.2
Site IV	0.3	0.4	0.3	0.3±0.1	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.5±0.1	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.6±0.1	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.5±0.1
Site V	0.5	0.7	0.6	0.6±0.1	0.6	0.9	1	0.8±0.2	0.9	1.2	1.2	1.1±0.2	1	1.2	0.8	1.0±0.2
Site VI	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.3±0.1	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.4±0.1	0.3	0.5	0.4	0.4±0.1	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.4±0.1
Site VII	1.1	0.6	1.2	1.0±0.3	1.2	1.4	1.5	1.4±0.2	1.5	1.9	1.8	1.7±0.2	2.1	2	1.7	1.9±0.2
Site VIII	0.8	0.4	0.8	0.7±0.2	0.9	1	1.1	1.0±0.1	1.2	1.3	1.6	1.4±0.2	1.8	1.4	1.4	1.5±0.2
Site IX	0.4	0.2	0.3	0.3±0.1	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.4±0.1	0.3	0.6	0.5	0.5±0.2	0.6	0.4	0.7	0.6±0.2

Table 5.1.3. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in water transparency (m) of Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012



Fig. 5.1.3. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in water transparency (m) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012

Site	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sept	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb.	Mean±SD
Site I	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1±0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2±0.0	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.3±0.1	0.3	0.1	0.4	0.3±0.2
Site II	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.2±0.1	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.3±0.1	0.9	0.5	0.4	0.5±0.3	0.6	0.7	0.6	0.6±0.1
Site III	0.3	0.4	0.3	0.3±0.1	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.5±0.1	0.5	0.5	0.7	0.6±0.1	0.8	0.6	0.6	0.7±0.1
Site IV	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.3±0.1	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.4±0.1	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.4±0.1	0.3	0.3	0.5	0.4±0.1
Site V	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.3±0.1	0.5	0.6	0.3	0.5±0.2	0.6	0.6	0.7	0.6±0.1	0.8	0.6	0.8	0.7±0.1
Site VI	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.3±0.1	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.3±0.1	0.3	0.5	0.4	0.4±0.1	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.4±0.1
Site VII	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.6±0.1	0.7	0.8	1.1	0.9±0.2	1.3	1.2	1.4	1.6±0.1	1.8	1.7	1.7	1.7±0.1
Site VIII	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.4±0.1	0.4	0.6	0.8	0.6±0.2	0.9	1	1.2	1.0±0.2	1.3	1.4	1.3	1.3±0.1
Site IX	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.2±0.1	0.4	0.2	0.3	0.3±0.1	0.3	0.3	0.5	0.4±0.1	0.5	0.4	0.6	0.5±0.1

Table 5.1.4. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in water transparency (m) of Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013



Fig. 5.1.4. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in water transparency (m) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013

Site	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	16	18.5	24	20±4.1	29.5	30.6	31.5	30.5±1.0	22	18	13	17.7±4.5	8	7.6	8	7.9±0.2
Site II	14	17	22.9	18±4.5	29	30	31	30±1.0	23	17	11	17±6.0	6	5.7	8.2	6.6±1.4
Site III	15.3	18	24	19±4.5	28	29	30.6	29.2±1.3	24	15	12.5	17.2±6.0	6.4	4.8	8.6	6.6±1.9
Site IV	15.5	19	25	20±4.8	27.5	29.3	31	29.3±1.8	26	16	10.9	17.6±7.7	5.4	4.9	7.4	5.9±1.3
Site V	16	17	25	19±4.9	30	32.1	33	31.7±1.5	25	18	15	19.3±5.1	4.7	4.3	7.5	5.5±1.7
Site VI	17	19	26	21±4.7	32	33	32	32.3±0.6	27	19	16	20.7±5.7	6.6	5	8	6.5±1.5
Site VII	15	16	25	19±5.5	29.5	31	32	30.8±1.3	24	15	12	17.0±6.3	6	3.9	7.6	5.8±1.9
Site VIII	13	13.5	22	16±5.1	27	29.3	31	29.1±2.0	21	12	9	14±6.2	5	4.6	7	5.5±1.3
Site IX	16	18	26	20±5.3	31	32	33.2	32.0±1.1	26	19	16.1	20.3±5.1	6.5	6.7	7.7	7.0±0.6

Table 5.1.5. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in air temperature (⁰C) of Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012



Fig. 5.1.5. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in air temperature (⁰C) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012

	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	14	15.8	20.4	16.7±3.3	23.4	29.6	30.2	27.7±3.8	24.2	18.4	12.6	18.4±5.8	8.4	4.9	7.6	7.0±1.8
Site II	13	16.1	19.7	16.3±3.4	22.7	28.2	26.7	25.9±2.8	22.3	15.2	10.8	16.1±5.8	7.3	5.3	7.5	6.7±1.2
Site III	14.2	16.3	21.3	17.3±3.6	23.6	29.4	27.2	26.7±2.9	22.6	14.1	10.5	15.7±6.2	6.8	4.6	7.3	6.2±1.4
Site IV	13.4	16.5	22.2	17.4±4.5	23.8	30.2	28.6	27.5±3.3	23.8	13.4	10.3	15.8±7.1	5.9	4.5	6.8	5.7±1.2
Site V	14.3	15.8	19.8	16.6±2.8	22.9	27.9	26.5	25.8±2.6	24.3	13.8	11.8	16.6±6.7	5.4	3.2	6.9	5.2±1.9
Site VI	14.5	16.7	21.4	17.5±3.5	23.5	29.8	27.9	27.1±3.2	22.8	14.3	12.2	16.4±5.6	5.8	4	7.4	5.7±1.7
Site VII	13.9	14.7	21.9	16.8±4.4	24.8	30.4	28.3	27.8±2.8	25.6	14.7	11.4	17.2±7.4	5.5	4.1	7.2	5.6±1.6
Site VIII	12.6	13.2	18.6	14.8±3.3	21.7	28.7	26.7	25.7±3.6	23.4	13.8	9.5	15.6±7.1	5.2	3.9	6.2	5.1±1.2
Site IX	14.4	16.2	22.6	17.7±4.3	22.6	30.1	27.4	26.7±3.8	22.8	17.7	12.5	17.7±5.2	6.2	3.8	7.3	5.8±1.8

Table 5.1.6. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in air temperature (⁰C) of Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013



Fig. 5.1.6. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in air temperature (⁰C) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013

	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	14	15.5	21.7	17.1±4.1	23.5	25.6	25.2	24.8±1.1	18	15	10.3	14.4±3.9	6	6.4	7.6	6.7±0.8
Site II	11	14.3	19	14.8±4.0	24	25.5	25.3	24.9±0.8	20	14	8	14.0±6.0	5.5	4	7.5	5.7±1.8
Site III	12	14.5	20.7	15.7±4.5	25	25.7	25.3	25.3±0.4	21	12	9.5	14.0±5.8	5.9	4.5	7	5.8±1.3
Site IV	12.5	15	21	16.2±4.4	25.4	26	26.3	25.9±0.5	23	13.2	9.4	15.2±7.0	5.2	4.3	6.9	5.5±1.3
Site V	12	14	20	15.3±4.2	25.8	26.3	26.6	26.2±0.4	22	12.9	10	15.0±6.3	4.2	3.4	6	4.5±1.3
Site VI	12.3	14.6	21	16.0±4.5	26	26.5	26.7	26.4±0.4	23	13.2	11	15.7±6.4	5	4.7	7.3	5.7±1.4
Site VII	11.6	12.5	21	15.0±5.2	24	26	24	24.7±1.2	22	12.3	9	14.6±7.0	5.1	3.5	6.7	5.1±1.6
Site VIII	8	8.9	17.8	11.6±5.4	24	25.1	25.2	24.8±0.7	19	10	8	12.2±5.6	4.7	3	5.5	4.4±1.3
Site IX	12.5	14.5	21.3	16.1±4.6	24.7	25.2	25.6	25.2±0.5	21	12.9	11	15.0±5.3	6	5.5	7	6.2±0.8

Table 5.1.7. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in water temperature (⁰C) of Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012



Fig. 5.1.7. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in water temperature (⁰C) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012

	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	12.9	14.2	18.7	15.3±3.0	21.5	26.3	24.8	24.2±2.5	20.1	14.2	11	15.1±4.6	7.6	4.5	7.1	6.4±1.7
Site II	9	12.1	17.2	12.8±4.1	20.2	27.1	23.9	23.7±3.5	19.2	13.5	9	13.9±5.1	6.3	4.4	7.2	6.0±1.4
Site III	10	12.3	18.3	13.5±4.3	21.5	25.4	24	23.6±2.0	20.3	11	8.6	13.3±6.2	6	4	6.5	5.5±1.3
Site IV	11	12.7	19.5	14.4±4.5	22.6	26.7	24.6	24.6±2.1	21.4	11.3	7.9	13.5±7.0	5.1	4.1	5.9	5.0±0.9
Site V	10	11.5	17.9	13.1±4.2	20.8	26.8	24.8	24.1±3.1	22.1	11.5	8.8	14.1±7.0	4.5	2.7	6	4.4±1.7
Site VI	10.5	12.1	18.3	13.6±4.1	21.7	27.2	24.9	24.6±2.8	20.6	12.1	9.8	14.2±5.7	4.6	3.6	6.7	5.0±1.6
Site VII	9.8	10.8	18.8	13.1±4.9	22.1	27.4	25	24.8±2.7	22.5	11.6	7.9	14.0±7.6	4.8	2.9	6.5	4.7±1.8
Site VIII	8.5	10.3	15.4	11.4±3.6	18.6	25.8	24.1	22.8±3.8	20.1	9.8	8.1	12.7±6.5	4.5	2.8	5.2	4.2±1.2
Site IX	10.5	12.7	17.6	13.6±3.6	20.9	26.3	24	23.7±2.7	19.9	11.7	10.3	14.0±5.2	5.7	2.6	6.5	4.9±2.1

Table 5.1.8. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in water temperature (⁰C) of Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013



Fig. 5.1.8. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in water temperature (⁰C) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013

	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	385	355	342	360.7±22.1	324	300	325	316.3±14.2	300	430	470	400.0±88.9	491	510	525	508.7±17.0
Site II	350	310	301	320.3±26.1	260	270	230	253.3±20.8	250	360	390	333.3±73.7	420	452	470	447.3±25.3
Site III	180	155	130	155±25.0	125	105	115	115.0±10.0	90	160	175	141.7±45.4	205	210	220	211.7±7.6
Site IV	209	180	165	184.7±22.4	150	130	118	132.7±16.2	95	170	200	155.0±54.1	215	240	255	236.7±20.2
Site V	215	182	170	189±23.3	115	130	150	131.7±17.6	100	170	210	160.0±55.7	245	270	284	266.3±19.8
Site VI	370	340	330	346.7±20.8	310	270	320	300.0±26.5	300	380	420	366.7±61.1	460	485	505	483.3±22.5
Site VII	280	242	230	250.7±26.1	180	170	200	183.3±15.3	160	250	264	224.7±56.4	290	325	310	308.3±17.6
Site VIII	325	292	260	292.3±32.5	237	212	180	209.7±28.6	150	210	265	208.3±57.5	295	320	310	308.3±12.6
Site IX	330	310	280	306.7±25.2	210	170	235	205.0±32.8	145	220	280	215.0±67.6	325	350	385	353.3±30.1

Table 5.1.9. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in specific conductivity (μS /cm) at 25 ⁰C of Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012



Fig. 5.1.9. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in specific conductivity (µS /cm) at 25 ⁰C recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012

	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	362	341	326	343.0±18.1	298	312	290	300.0±11.1	322	363	410	365.0±44.0	461	489	472	474.0±14.1
Site II	330	321	292	314.3±19.9	245	231	211	229.0±17.1	265	311	363	313.0±49.0	390	411	387	396.0±13.1
Site III	192	150	136	159.3±29.1	130	110	121	120.3±10.0	110	142	163	138.3±26.7	220	191	233	214.7±21.5
Site IV	210	190	183	194.3±14.0	135	120	139	131.3±10.0	110	160	220	163.3±55.1	210	251	240	233.7±21.2
Site V	256	221	100	192.3±81.9	137	205	226	189.3±46.5	277	235	350	287.3±58.2	289	356	361	335.3±40.2
Site VI	313	290	333	312.0±21.5	287	283	301	290.3±9.5	342	363	390	365.0±24.1	433	452	387	424.0±33.4
Site VII	292	234	211	245.7±41.7	154	197	204	185.0±27.1	281	234	360	291.7±63.7	308	311	257	292.0±30.3
Site VIII	278	265	197	246.7±43.5	167	210	214	197.0±26.1	267	210	345	274.0±67.8	297	351	307	318.3±28.7
Site IX	311	253	210	258.0±50.7	221	200	234	218.3±17.2	276	240	354	290.0±58.3	324	342	338	334.7±9.5

Table 5.1.10. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in specific conductivity (µS /cm) at 25 ⁰C of Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013



Fig. 5.1.10. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in specific conductivity (µS /cm) at 25 ⁰C recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013

	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	230	213	210	217.7±10.8	190	180	195	188.3±7.6	250	258	280	262.7±15.5	295	305	315	305.0±10.0
Site II	208	190	181	193.0±13.7	155	135	160	150.0±13.2	195	215	234	214.7±19.5	252	270	282	268.0±15.1
Site III	110	95	85	96.7±12.6	75	70	64	69.7±5.5	75	95	106	92.0±15.7	123	125	132	126.7±4.7
Site IV	126	110	100	112.0±13.1	90	78	70	79.3±10.1	75	100	118	97.7±21.6	130	145	154	143.0±12.1
Site V	130	110	104	114.7±13.6	90	77	68	78.3±11.1	96	115	125	112.0±14.7	147	162	170	159.7±11.7
Site VI	222	205	215	214.0±8.5	186	160	192	179.3±17.0	230	240	252	240.7±11.0	276	290	305	290.3±14.5
Site VII	168	145	135	149.3±16.9	120	102	107	109.7±9.3	125	151	159	145.0±17.8	174	195	187	185.3±10.6
Site VIII	195	175	156	175.3±19.5	142	125	108	125.0±17.0	125	140	172	145.7±24.0	190	217	220	209.0±16.5
Site IX	200	187	170	185.7±15.0	140	125	102	122.3±19.1	130	155	175	153.3±22.5	196	210	230	212.0±17.1

Table 5.1.11. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in total dissolved solids (mg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012



Fig. 5.1.11. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in total dissolved solids (mg/L) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012

	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	240	220	210	223.3±15.3	190	200	185	191.7±7.6	205	180	260	215.0±40.9	300	320	305	308.3±10.4
Site II	215	210	190	205.0±13.2	160	148	140	149.3±10.1	170	205	230	201.7±30.1	250	265	252	255.7±8.1
Site III	120	100	85	101.7±17.6	85	76	79	80.0±4.6	76	91	104	90.3±14.0	140	120	152	137.3±16.2
Site IV	135	125	119	126.3±8.1	88	78	89	85.0±6.1	72	105	141	106.0±34.5	137	164	155	152.0±13.7
Site V	165	144	71	126.7±49.3	92	130	147	123.0±28.2	173	151	222	182.0±36.3	189	230	237	218.7±25.9
Site VI	198	185	210	197.7±12.5	184	181	193	186.0±6.2	220	237	251	236.0±15.5	280	295	251	275.3±22.4
Site VII	191	153	135	159.7±28.6	100	125	134	119.7±17.6	180	150	235	188.3±43.1	197	203	168	189.3±18.7
Site VIII	175	170	126	157.0±27.0	111	137	141	129.7±16.3	174	137	220	177.0±41.6	194	230	201	208.3±19.1
Site IX	205	160	137	167.3±34.6	144	130	153	142.3±11.6	180	157	231	189.3±37.9	211	223	225	219.7±7.6

Table 5.1.12. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in total dissolved solids (mg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013





	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	21	17	12	16.7± 4.5	11	10	8	9.7 ±1.5	9	18	21	16.0± 6.2	26	22	19	22.3 ±3.5
Site II	18	16	11	15± 3.6	10	12	11	11.0 ±1.0	10	15	20	15.0± 5.0	24	21	18	21.0± 3.0
Site III	13	13	8	11.3± 2.9	7	6	6	6.3± 0.6	7	12	15	11.3± 4.0	18	17	13	16.0± 2.6
Site IV	12	11	8	10.3± 2.1	6	6	5	5.7± 0.6	7	10	12	9.7± 2.5	15	14	12	13.7±1.5
Site V	14	15	9	12.7± 3.2	7	6	7	6.7± 0.6	8	14	18	13.3± 5.0	21	19	15	18.3± 3.1
Site VI	22	19	14	18.3± 4.0	13	11	10	11.3±1.5	12	20	23	18.3± 5.7	28	24	21	24.3 ±3.5
Site VII	18	17	12	15.7± 3.2	10	9	8	9.0 ±1.0	9	17	21	15.7± 6.1	25	22	19	22.0± 3.0
Site VIII	19	16	10	15± 4.6	14	12	17	14.3±2.5	12	16	20	16.0 ±4.0	24	20	18	20.7± 3.1
Site IX	14	12	11	12.3 ±1.5	10	8	7	8.3 ±1.5	9	19	21	16.3± 6.4	20	17	16	17.7± 2.1

Table 5.1.13. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in free carbon dioxide (mg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012



Fig. 5.1.13. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in free carbon dioxide (mg/L) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012

	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	16.4	15.4	11.2	14.3±2.8	9	8.2	7.4	8.2±0.8	8.2	13	17.4	12.9±4.6	21	19.4	18.2	19.5±1.4
Site II	15	12.2	10.6	12.6±2.2	7.2	11	8.4	8.9±1.9	11	13.4	16	13.5±2.5	19.4	22.6	14.6	18.9±4.0
Site III	14	11	8.8	11.3±2.6	6.4	7.4	8.2	7.3±0.9	9.2	12.4	14	11.9±2.4	16.8	19	13	16.3±3.0
Site IV	9	7.8	7.2	8.0±0.9	6.8	8.6	7	7.5±1.0	8.6	11.6	13	11.1±2.2	15	14	12	13.7±1.5
Site V	13	8.9	8.4	10.1±2.5	6	9	7.2	7.4±1.5	6	9.6	10.2	8.6±2.3	13	10.4	11	11.5±1.4
Site VI	17	13	10	13.3±3.5	9.4	10	12	10.5±1.4	11	17	19	15.7±4.2	19.4	23	17.6	20.0±2.7
Site VII	11	9.9	9.3	10.1±0.9	8.4	5.8	6.6	6.9±1.3	7	10	11	9.3±2.1	13	11	14	12.7±1.5
Site VIII	16	9.5	9.2	11.6±3.8	8.9	8	8	8.3±0.5	9	12	14	11.7±2.5	10.8	17	12	13.3±3.3
Site IX	10	11.3	8.7	10.0±1.3	8.7	7.2	5.6	7.2±1.6	9.6	8.5	11.3	9.8±1.4	11	9.5	13.6	11.4±2.1

Table 5.1.14. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in free carbon dioxide (mg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013



Fig. 5.1.14. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in free carbon dioxide (mg/L) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013

	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	8	7.6	7.2	7.6±0.4	7.2	6.4	6.6	6.7±0.4	6.8	7.2	7.6	7.2±0.4	8	8.4	7.3	7.9±0.6
Site II	8.8	8.4	7.2	8.1±0.8	7.8	6.8	6.4	7.0±0.7	8.8	8.4	8.8	8.7±0.2	9.2	9.6	9.2	9.3±0.2
Site III	8.4	8	7.6	8.0±0.4	7.8	7.4	7	7.4±0.4	7.6	8	8.4	8.0±0.4	9.2	9.4	9.2	9.3±0.1
Site IV	8	7.6	7.2	7.6±0.4	7.2	7	6.6	6.9±0.3	7.2	7.6	8.2	7.7±0.5	8.6	9.2	9.6	9.1±0.5
Site V	8.8	8.8	8.2	8.6±0.3	8.2	7.8	7.6	7.9±0.3	7.6	8.4	8.8	8.3±0.6	8.8	9.2	8.4	8.8±0.4
Site VI	7.6	7.2	7.6	7.5±0.2	7.2	6.8	6.6	6.9±0.3	6.4	7.2	7.6	7.1±0.6	8.2	8.2	7.6	8.0±0.3
Site VII	9.5	8.8	7.6	8.6±1.0	7.4	6.8	6.6	6.9±0.4	7.6	8.2	8.4	8.1±0.4	8.6	9.2	9.4	9.1±0.4
Site VIII	9.2	7.6	7.6	8.1±0.9	7.2	7	7	7.1±0.1	7.6	9.2	9.6	8.8±1.1	9.2	9.4	9.8	9.5±0.3
Site IX	8	7.6	7.2	7.6±0.4	7.4	7	7.2	7.2±0.2	7.2	8.4	8.4	8.0±0.7	9.2	9.6	8.8	9.2±0.4

Table 5.1.15. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in dissolved oxygen (mg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012



Fig. 5.1.15. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in dissolved oxygen (mg/L) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012

	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	7.6	8.2	7.4	7.7±0.4	6.8	7	7.2	7.0±0.2	7.6	8	7.8	7.8±0.2	8.2	8.6	7.6	8.1±0.5
Site II	9	8.2	7.4	8.2±0.8	8.2	7.2	6.8	7.4±0.7	8.4	8.8	8.2	8.5±0.3	8.8	9.2	8.6	8.9±0.3
Site III	8	8.6	7.8	8.1±0.4	7.2	7.8	7.4	7.5±0.3	8	8.6	7.8	8.1±0.4	8.8	9	8.8	8.9±0.1
Site IV	8.4	7.8	8	8.1±0.3	7.6	7.4	7	7.3±0.3	7.6	7.8	8.4	7.9±0.4	9.2	8.6	8.2	8.7±0.5
Site V	9.4	9.2	9	9.2±0.2	8.4	7.3	7.5	7.7±0.6	7.9	8.2	8.8	8.3±0.5	9.2	8.8	9.6	9.2±0.4
Site VI	7	7.4	7.8	7.4±0.4	7.2	6.6	7	6.9±0.3	7.4	8	8.4	7.9±0.5	8.8	8.6	9	8.8±0.2
Site VII	9.8	8.7	9.8	9.4±0.6	8	7.6	7.3	7.6±0.4	7.6	8.3	9.6	8.5±1.0	9.4	9.8	9.6	9.6±0.2
Site VIII	8.9	8.6	8.3	8.6±0.3	8.1	7.9	8.2	8.1±0.2	8	8.8	11	9.3±1.6	9.7	9	9.8	9.5±0.4
Site IX	8.6	8	8.7	8.4±0.4	8.3	8.1	7	7.8±0.7	8.1	9.2	8.8	8.7±0.6	7.8	8.6	9	8.5±0.6

Table 5.1.16. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in dissolved oxygen (mg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013





	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	7.8	8	8.1	8.0±0.1	7.8	8.0	8	7.9±0.1	8.1	7.4	7.3	7.6±0.4	7.2	7.4	7.6	7.4±0.2
Site II	7.4	7.8	8.1	7.8±0.4	8	8.0	7.9	8.0±0.0	8	7.8	7.4	7.7±0.3	7.2	7.4	7.8	7.5±0.3
Site III	8	8.1	8.2	8.1±0.1	8.3	8.2	8.3	8.3±0.1	8.3	7.9	7.7	8.0±0.3	7.6	7.5	7.3	7.5±0.2
Site IV	8.1	8.2	8.2	8.2±0.1	8.3	8.2	8.4	8.3±0.1	8.2	7.9	7.8	8.0±0.2	7.5	7.6	7.7	7.6±0.1
Site V	7.7	7.6	7.9	7.7±0.2	8.1	8.2	8.4	8.2±0.1	8.2	7.9	7.7	7.9±0.2	7.3	7.5	7.8	7.5±0.3
Site VI	7.7	7.8	7.9	7.8±0.1	7.6	7.9	8	7.8±0.2	8.1	7.6	7.5	7.7±0.3	7.1	7.6	7.7	7.5±0.3
Site VII	7.6	7.7	8	7.8±0.2	8.5	8.2	8.3	8.1±0.2	8.3	7.7	7.4	7.8±0.5	7.3	7.4	7.7	7.5±0.2
Site VIII	7.6	7.8	8.1	7.8±0.3	8	8.2	7.8	8.0±0.2	8.1	7.5	7.4	7.7±0.4	7.2	7.3	7.3	7.3±0.0
Site IX	7.8	7.9	7.9	7.8±0.1	8.	7.9	8	8.0±0.0	8	7.5	7.4	7.6±0.3	7.4	7.6	7.7	7.6±0.2

Table 5.1.17. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in pH of Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012





	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	7.4	7.6	7.8	7.6±0.2	7.9	8.3	8.1	8.1±0.2	7.7	8.1	8.2	8.0±0.3	7.1	7.2	7.1	7.1±0.1
Site II	8.2	7.2	7.8	7.7±0.5	8	7.8	7.6	7.8±0.2	7.8	7.3	7.2	7.4±0.3	7.6	7.3	7.4	7.4±0.2
Site III	8.4	7.4	8	7.9±0.5	8.3	7.9	7.7	8.0±0.3	8.1	7.6	7.4	7.7±0.4	7.8	7.5	7.4	7.6±0.2
Site IV	7.9	8	7.8	7.9±0.1	8.3	8.2	8	8.2±0.2	7.7	7.5	7.6	7.6±0.1	7.3	7.2	7.5	7.3±0.2
Site V	8.3	7.3	8.1	7.9±0.5	7.5	8	7.5	7.7±0.3	8	7.5	7.6	7.7±0.3	7.7	7.35	8.5	7.9±0.6
Site VI	7.8	7.6	7.4	7.6±0.2	7.7	8.1	7.9	7.9±0.2	7.5	7.8	7.3	7.5±0.3	7.6	7.2	7.3	7.4±0.2
Site VII	7.2	7.6	7.8	7.5±0.3	7.8	8.1	7.8	7.9±0.2	7.8	7.5	8.1	7.8±0.3	7.6	7.33	8.7	7.9±0.7
Site VIII	7.8	7.2	8.2	7.7±0.5	8.1	7.6	7.9	7.9±0.3	7.8	7.6	7.7	7.7±0.1	7.5	7.5	7.36	7.5±0.1
Site IX	7.2	7.4	7.6	7.4±0.2	7.7	8.4	7.5	7.9±0.5	7.9	7.9	8.2	8.0±0.2	7.8	7.43	7.6	7.6±0.2

Table 5.1.18. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in pH of Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013



Fig. 5.1.18. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in pH recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013

	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	16	18	14	16.0±2.0	11	13	14	12.7±1.5	9	13	13	11.7±2.3	8	7	11	8.7±2.1
Site II	20	22	17	19.7±2.5	12	14	21	15.7±4.7	10	15	15	13.3±2.9	10	9	12	10.3±1.5
Site III	21	14	19	18.0±3.6	9	10	19	12.7±5.5	8	8	10	8.7±1.2	6	7	9	7.3±1.5
Site IV	15	16	13	14.7±1.5	12	19	12	14.3±4.0	10	12	13	11.7±1.5	8	10	8	8.7±1.2
Site V	20	28	17	21.7±5.7	13	13	21	15.7±4.6	11	14	12	12.3±1.5	9	9	12	10±1.7
Site VI	22	24	19	21.7±2.5	14	17	20	17.0±3.0	12	17	17	15.3±2.9	11	11	15	12.3±2.3
Site VII	20	21	20	20.3±0.6	11	11	18	13.3±4.0	8	12	12	10.7±2.3	7	9	7	7.7±1.2
Site VIII	17	19	18	18.0±1.0	12	12	10	11.3±1.2	10	14	13	12.3±2.1	9	11	9	9.7±1.2
Site IX	18	26	24	22.7±4.2	17	16	18	17.0±1.0	13	15	15	14.3±1.2	12	11	13	12±1.0

Table 5.1.19. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in chloride (mg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012



Fig. 5.1.19. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in chloride (mg/L) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012

	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	12	15	11	12.7±2.1	10	12	15	12.3±2.5	12	9	8	9.7±2.1	9	11	7	9.0±2.0
Site II	19	17	20	18.7±1.5	17	12	16	15.0±2.6	12	11	13	12.0±1.0	11	12	14	12.3±1.5
Site III	17	12	15	14.7±2.5	8	12	15	11.7±3.5	9	8	12	9.7±2.1	7	10	6	7.7±2.1
Site IV	12	18	13	14.3±3.2	10	13	17	13.3±3.5	11	9	11	10.3±1.2	9	7	6	7.3±1.5
Site V	17.5	23	19.8	20.1±2.8	12	15.5	18.3	15.3±3.2	8.1	10	8.8	9.0±1.0	8	7.8	7	7.6±0.5
Site VI	19	21	17	19.0±2.0	12	14	17	14.3±2.5	13	15	11	13.0±2.0	9	7	13	9.7±3.1
Site VII	13.3	21.5	15	16.6±4.3	11	8	14.2	11.1±3.1	7	13	10	10.0±3.0	10.2	9.6	9.3	9.7±0.5
Site VIII	18.5	26.5	18	21.0±4.8	12.7	10	9	10.6±1.9	10.2	12	10	10.7±1.1	12.3	8.7	7.9	9.6±2.3
Site IX	17.5	25.5	15	19.3±5.5	12.5	14.5	16.4	14.5±2.0	10	9	12	10.3±1.5	11	10	12	11.0±1.0

Table 5.1.20. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in chloride (mg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013



Fig. 5.1.20. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in chloride (mg/L) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013

	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	220	200	190	203.3±15.3	180	170	195	181.7±12.6	170	230	240	213.3±37.9	265	275	290	276.7±12.6
Site II	205	180	170	185.0±18.0	155	140	162	152.3±11.2	150	210	225	195.0±39.7	240	265	270	258.3±16.1
Site III	95	80	70	81.7±12.6	70	60	55	61.7±7.6	55	85	95	78.3±20.8	110	115	125	116.7±7.6
Site IV	110	95	80	95.0±15.0	75	65	60	66.7±7.6	55	90	105	83.3±25.7	115	130	135	126.7±10.4
Site V	125	110	95	110.0±15.0	85	70	65	73.3±10.4	60	110	120	96.7±32.1	130	145	150	141.7±10.4
Site VI	210	190	185	195.0±13.2	170	160	150	160.0±10.0	150	225	245	206.7±50.1	255	270	280	268.3±12.6
Site VII	160	140	135	145.0±13.2	120	110	95	108.3±12.6	85	150	155	130.0±39.1	170	190	180	180.0±10.0
Site VIII	170	165	150	161.7±10.4	140	120	100	120.0 ± 20.0	130	140	170	146.7±20.8	185	210	205	200.0±13.2
Site IX	195	180	165	180.0±15.0	140	125	100	121.7±20.2	90	160	180	143.3±47.3	200	225	235	220.0±18.0

Table 5.1.21. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in total hardness (mg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012



Fig. 5.1.21. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in total hardness (mg/L) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012

	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	180	165	140	161.7±20.2	120	110	140	123.3±15.3	155	190	210	185.0 ± 27.8	235	250	270	251.7±17.6
Site II	195	175	145	171.7±25.2	125	105	125	118.3±11.5	140	180	195	171.7±28.4	215	260	280	251.7±33.3
Site III	80	65	60	68.3±10.4	70	75	90	78.3±10.4	105	120	100	108.3±10.4	120	110	115	115.0±5.0
Site IV	100	80	70	83.3±15.3	60	80	105	81.7±22.5	100	110	125	111.7±12.6	120	125	130	125.0 ± 5.0
Site V	115	105	80	100.0±18.0	65	60	85	70.0±13.2	120	140	130	130.0±10.0	115	130	145	130.0±15.0
Site VI	200	160	150	170.0±26.5	135	120	175	143.3±28.4	180	230	220	210.0±26.5	140	220	255	205.0±58.9
Site VII	145	120	110	125.0±18.0	90	95	115	100.0±13.2	140	145	135	140.0 ± 5.0	155	170	160	161.7±7.6
Site VIII	150	130	115	131.7±17.6	105	90	125	106.7±17.6	155	150	155	153.3±2.9	170	190	210	190.0±20.0
Site IX	180	145	120	148.3±30.1	110	100	140	116.7±20.8	160	145	165	156.7±10.4	185	210	220	205.0±18.0

Table 5.1.22. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in total hardness (mg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013



Fig. 5.1.22. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in total hardness (mg/L) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013

	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	96.6	92.4	86.1	91.7±5.3	84	79.8	86.1	83.3±3.2	99	101	102.9	100.8±2.1	105	107	107	106.4±1.2
Site II	92.4	88.2	86.1	88.9±3.2	81.9	77.7	81.9	80.5±2.4	84	86.1	88.2	86.1±2.1	90.3	94.5	96.6	93.8±3.2
Site III	48.3	44.1	42	44.8±3.2	39.9	37.6	37.8	38.5±1.3	40	46.2	48.3	44.8±4.4	50.4	50.4	52.5	51.1±1.2
Site IV	52.5	48.3	44.1	48.3±4.2	42	39.9	39.9	40.6±1.2	42	44.1	46.1	44.1±2.1	50.4	48.3	50.4	49.7±1.2
Site V	56.7	52.7	44.1	51.2±6.4	48.3	44.1	42	44.8±3.2	44	48.3	52.7	48.5±4.2	56.7	60.9	60.9	59.5±2.4
Site VI	94.5	92.4	88.2	91.7±3.2	84	88.2	92.4	88.2±4.2	95	94.5	96.6	95.2±1.2	94.5	98.7	98.7	97.3±2.4
Site VII	63	60.9	56.7	60.2±3.2	52.5	52.5	48.3	51.1±2.4	53	56.7	58.8	56.0±3.2	60.9	63	65.1	63.0±2.1
Site VIII	73.5	71.4	67.2	70.7±3.2	65.1	63	60.9	63.0±2.1	63	65.1	67.2	65.1±2.1	71.4	75.6	75.6	74.2±2.4
Site IX	86.1	84	81.9	84±2.1	77.7	73.5	67.5	72.9±5.1	76	77.7	79.8	77.7±2.1	84	86.1	90.3	86.8±3.2

Table 5.1.23. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in calcium content (mg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012



Fig. 5.1.23. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in calcium content (mg/L) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012

	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	86.5	82.3	75.6	81.5±5.5	68.8	63.84	67.2	66.6±2.5	77.2	80.64	91.56	83.1±7.5	100.8	95.76	84	93.5±8.6
Site II	82.32	72.24	73.92	76.2±5.4	67.2	62.16	65.52	65.0±2.6	87.36	82.32	77.2	82.3±5.1	95.8	90.3	86.5	90.9±4.7
Site III	43.68	47	40.32	43.7±3.3	34.44	38.6	46.1	39.7±5.9	48.3	44.4	40.32	44.3±4.0	48.3	56.7	50.4	51.8±4.4
Site IV	39.9	42	46.1	42.7±3.2	33.6	30.24	39.9	34.6±4.9	38.6	39.9	40.32	39.6±0.9	47	50.4	43.68	47.0±3.4
Site V	44.1	48.3	42	44.8±3.2	33.6	31.92	43.68	36.4±6.4	42	45.36	48.3	45.2±3.2	58.8	67.2	57.12	61.0±5.4
Site VI	91.6	87.36	75.6	84.9±8.3	68.8	77.2	97.44	81.1±14.7	91.6	100.8	84	92.1±8.4	52.7	95.8	90.3	79.6±23.5
Site VII	67.2	63.8	62.16	64.4±2.6	56.7	50.4	45.36	50.8±5.7	50.4	47	52.7	50.0±2.9	56.7	62.16	67.2	62.0±5.3
Site VIII	74.7	70.56	63.84	69.7±5.5	58.8	56.28	59.64	58.2±1.7	67.2	65.52	62.16	65.0±2.6	75.6	77.28	80.64	77.8±2.6
Site IX	77.2	82.32	77.2	78.9±3.0	67.5	62.16	65.52	65.1±2.7	63.84	57.12	67.2	62.7±5.1	75.6	72.24	78.12	75.3±2.9

Table 5.1.24. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in calcium content (mg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013



Fig. 5.1.24. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in calcium content (mg/L) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013

	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	29.9	25.6	25.2	26.9±2.6	23.3	21.9	23.3	22.8±0.8	32	34.1	39.14	35.2±3.6	41.1	43.2	44.9	43.1±1.9
Site II	27.3	22.7	20.3	23.4±3.6	17.5	14.4	19.4	17.1±2.5	26	30.1	33.2	29.7±3.8	36.8	41.4	42.1	40.1±2.9
Site III	11.3	8.9	7.04	9.1±2.1	7.3	5.8	4.6	5.9±1.4	6.3	9.1	11.3	8.9±2.5	13.5	15.6	16.8	15.3±1.7
Site IV	13.9	11.1	9.4	11.5±2.3	8.2	6.8	4.8	6.6±1.7	7.7	11.1	14.3	11.0±3.3	15.6	19.3	20.5	18.5±2.6
Site V	16.5	13.9	12.3	14.2±2.1	8.9	7.2	5.5	7.2±1.7	5.1	14.9	16.1	12.0±6.1	17.8	20.4	21.6	19.9±1.9
Site VI	28.1	23.9	23.5	25.2±2.5	21.3	18.6	23.7	21.2±2.6	29	31.7	36.06	32.1±3.8	39.7	41.6	44.2	41.8±2.3
Site VII	24.0	19.2	19	20.7±2.8	16.4	13.97	11.34	13.9±2.5	18	21.9	23.3	20.9±3.0	26.9	31.3	28.4	28.9±2.2
Site VIII	26.3	22.7	21.3	23.4±2.6	16.2	13.3	9.5	13.0±3.4	17	20.3	24.7	20.6±4.0	27.8	32.6	33.8	31.4±3.2
Site IX	26.2	22.8	19.9	23.0±3.2	15.1	12.5	8.38	12.0±3.4	15	20.9	23.8	19.9±4.4	27.7	33	34.9	31.9±3.7

Table 5.1.25. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in magnesium content (mg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012





	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	22.72	20.09	15.64	19.5±3.6	12.44	11.22	17.69	13.8±3.4	18.9	26.58	28.77	24.8±5.2	32.6	35.47	45.19	37.8±6.6
Site II	27.38	24.97	17.27	23.2±5.3	14.04	10.4	14.45	13.0 ± 2.2	12.79	26.16	28.62	22.5±8.5	28.96	41.23	47.02	39.1±9.2
Site III	8.8	4.37	4.78	6.0±2.4	8.84	10.87	12.17	10.6±1.7	13.77	18.37	14.5	15.5±2.5	17.42	12.95	15.69	15.4±2.3
Site IV	14.6	9.23	5.8	9.9±4.4	6.21	10.06	14.31	10.2 ± 4.1	14.92	17.03	20.57	17.5±2.9	17.73	18.12	20.97	18.9±1.8
Site V	17.22	13.77	9.23	13.4±4.0	7.63	6.82	10.04	8.2±1.7	18.95	22.99	19.85	20.6±2.1	13.65	15.26	21.35	16.8±4.1
Site VI	26.34	17.65	18.07	20.7±4.9	16.08	10.4	18.84	15.1±4.3	21.48	31.39	33.04	28.6±6.3	21.21	30.18	40.02	30.5±9.4
Site VII	18.9	13.65	11.62	14.7±3.8	8.09	10.83	16.92	11.9±4.5	21.77	23.81	19.99	21.9±1.9	23.88	26.2	22.55	24.2±1.8
Site VIII	18.29	14.44	12.43	15.1±3.0	11.22	8.19	15.88	11.8±3.9	21.33	20.52	22.56	21.5±1.0	22.9	27.39	31.43	27.2±4.3
Site IX	24.98	15.23	10.4	16.9±7.4	10.32	9.19	18.09	12.5±4.8	23.36	21.35	23.76	22.8±1.3	26.58	33.47	34.47	31.5±4.3

Table 5.1.26. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in magnesium content (mg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013



Fig. 5.1.26. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in magnesium content (mg/L) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013

	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	192	182	135	169.7±30.4	146	125	132	134.3±10.7	125	170	195	163.3±35.5	210	230	180	206.7±25.2
Site II	145	115	120	126.7±16.1	100	92	88	93.3±6.1	85	140	165	130.0±40.9	190	210	175	191.7±17.6
Site III	98	80	76	84.7±11.7	65	60	65	63.3±2.9	70	105	110	95.0±21.8	140	105	90	111.7±25.7
Site IV	105	95	90	96.7±7.6	85	74	82	80.3±5.7	80	90	95	88.3±7.6	90	120	125	111.7±18.9
Site V	110	95	84	96.3±13.1	80	85	75	80.0±5.0	70	85	110	88.3±20.2	140	130	165	145.0±18.0
Site VI	210	195	148	184.3±32.3	138	130	136	134.7±4.2	120	175	200	165.0±40.9	220	245	190	218.3±27.5
Site VII	156	130	120	135.3±18.6	110	95	80	95.0±15.0	75	90	120	95.0±22.9	190	182	175	182.3±7.5
Site VIII	165	160	110	145±30.4	86	74	62	74.0±12.0	60	120	150	110.0±45.8	180	170	164	171.3±8.1
Site IX	163	160	130	151±18.2	120	105	100	108.3±10.4	90	115	144	116.3±27.0	182	172	180	178.0±5.3

Table 5.1.27. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in bicarbonate alkalinity (mg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012





	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	155	145	130	143.3±12.6	125	110	120	118.3±7.6	130	145	175	150.0±22.9	170	185	190	181.7±10.4
Site II	140	110	100	116.7±20.8	95	110	115	106.7±10.4	90	120	150	120.0±30.0	160	180	190	176.7±15.3
Site III	120	100	80	100.0 ± 20.0	60	70	55	61.7±7.6	110	120	135	121.7±12.6	120	140	145	135.0±13.2
Site IV	110	90	95	98.3±10.4	80	65	70	71.7±7.6	90	75	70	78.3±10.4	95	105	110	103.3±7.6
Site V	120	80	90	96.7±20.8	60	75	70	68.3±7.6	90	80	100	90.0±10.0	125	140	135	133.3±7.6
Site VI	200	180	160	180.0±20.0	120	110	100	110.0±10.0	130	145	180	151.7±25.7	200	180	220	200.0±20.0
Site VII	160	135	110	135.0±25.0	115	80	90	95.0±18.0	80	110	100	96.7±15.3	140	160	180	160.0±20.0
Site VIII	130	120	130	126.7±5.8	90	80	95	88.3±7.6	80	100	115	98.3±17.6	130	155	140	141.7±12.6
Site IX	120	140	100	120.0±20.0	110	90	105	101.7±10.4	110	120	130	120.0±10.0	160	135	140	145.0±13.2

Table 5.1.28. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in bicarbonate alkalinity (mg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013





	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	13.4	15.3	14.8	14.5±1.0	12.9	11.5	10.4	11.6±1.3	9.8	9.2	8	9.0±0.9	7	6.8	9.3	7.7±1.4
Site II	12.4	14.2	13.6	13.4±0.9	11.3	9.6	8.4	9.8±1.5	7.9	7.3	6.3	7.2±0.8	5.1	5	7.9	6.0±1.6
Site III	12.8	13.7	13.3	13.3±0.5	11.5	9.5	8.3	9.8±1.6	7.9	7.4	6.4	7.2±0.8	5.3	5.1	8.1	6.2±1.7
Site IV	12	13	12.7	12.6±0.5	10.6	9.6	8.4	9.5±1.1	8	7.4	6.5	7.3±0.8	5.6	5.3	8	6.3±1.5
Site V	15	16.5	16	15.8±0.8	14.1	12.2	11	12.4±1.6	10	9.8	8.6	9.6±0.9	7.5	7.2	9.9	8.2±1.5
Site VI	13.6	15.4	14.9	14.6±0.9	12.7	11	9.9	11.2±1.4	9.5	9	7.8	8.8±0.9	6.7	6.4	9	7.4±1.4
Site VII	15.4	17.6	16.9	16.6±1.1	15	13.3	11.6	13.3±1.7	11	10.4	9.1	10.2±1.0	7.9	7.6	10.4	8.6±1.5
Site VIII	10	11.9	11.5	11.1±1.0	9.7	7.9	6.5	8.0±1.6	6.1	5.6	4.6	5.4±0.8	4	3.8	6.4	4.7±1.4
Site IX	13	14.9	14.4	14.1±1.0	12.4	10.5	9.3	10.7±1.6	8.9	8.3	7	8.1±1.0	6	5.9	8.4	6.8±1.4

Table 5.1.29. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in dissolved silica (mg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012



Fig. 5.1.29. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in dissolved silica (mg/L) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012

	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	13.6	15.7	14.4	14.6±1.1	11.3	10.6	9.2	10.4±1.1	8.2	9	7.8	8.3±0.6	6.9	7.2	8.4	7.5±0.8
Site II	11.4	12.6	12.4	12.1±0.6	10.4	10.8	7.4	9.5±1.9	6.2	6.5	7.6	6.8±0.7	6.2	5.8	7.4	6.5±0.8
Site III	11	11.8	13.6	12.1±1.3	9.6	8.2	8.8	8.9±0.7	7.5	8.1	5.9	7.2±1.1	5.2	6	7.6	6.3±1.2
Site IV	12.4	13.2	13.2	12.9±0.5	11.9	12.3	7.4	10.5±2.7	8.3	7.8	7	7.7±0.7	7.2	5.8	6.8	6.6±0.7
Site V	13.7	14.3	15.2	14.4±0.8	13.8	12.8	10.4	12.3±1.7	11.2	8.8	8	9.3±1.7	7	6.7	8.3	7.3±0.9
Site VI	12.4	13.1	12.8	12.8±0.4	11.6	10.9	8.6	10.4±1.6	9.1	8.7	8.2	8.7±0.5	7.2	6.8	8.5	7.5±0.9
Site VII	16.2	18.4	14.9	16.5±1.8	16.2	12.1	10.3	12.9±3.0	10.6	9.3	8.5	9.5±1.1	7.4	7.1	9.2	7.9±1.1
Site VIII	11.2	12.3	10.8	11.4±0.8	10.4	8.2	7.6	8.7±1.5	7.2	6.8	5.3	6.4±1.0	6.2	6.7	7.2	6.7±0.5
Site IX	12.6	14.2	15.2	14.0±1.3	11.6	9.8	10.6	10.7±0.9	9.4	7.9	6.8	8.0±1.3	8.3	6.4	7.6	7.4±1.0

Table 5.1.30. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in dissolved silica (mg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013





	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	42	32	24	32.7±9.0	20	26	22	22.7±3.1	35	49	61	48.3±13.0	81	95	105	93.7±12.1
Site II	46	34	27	35.7±9.6	23	29	31	27.7±4.2	47	56	74	59.0±13.7	110	98	86	98.0±12.0
Site III	17	16	11	14.7±3.2	10	13	18	13.7±4.0	25	23	45	31.0±12.2	43	63	51	52.3±10.1
Site IV	15	13	10	12.7±2.5	9	15	19	14.3±5.0	32	24	37	31.0±6.6	41	58	49	49.3±8.5
Site V	37	36	21	31.3±9.0	15	19	22	18.7±3.5	39	27	54	40.0±13.5	58	65	51	58.0±7.0
Site VI	54	41	32	42.3±11.1	28	36	29	31.0±4.4	54	68	88	70.0±17.1	103	118	80	100.3±19.1
Site VII	30	30	19	26.3±6.4	16	19	29	21.3±6.8	35	30	48	37.7±9.3	58	65	55	59.3±5.1
Site VIII	13	11	10	11.3±1.5	10	12	29	17.0±10.4	22	39	35	32.0±8.9	42	30	25	32.3±8.7
Site IX	27	26	17	23.3±5.5	13	18	32	21.0±9.8	38	46	55	46.3±8.5	50	57	47	51.3±5.1

Table 5.1.31. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in orthophosphate-phosphorus (µg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012




	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	44	30	28	34.0±8.7	24	20	28	24.0±4.0	32	43	56	43.7±12.0	84	89	94	89.0±5.0
Site II	42	38	30	36.7±6.1	26	22	28	25.3±3.1	45	51	66	54.0±10.8	102	86	74	87.3±14.0
Site III	22	19	16	19.0±3.0	14	18	12	14.7±3.1	28	26	50	34.7±13.3	36	50	42	42.7±7.0
Site IV	20	16	14	16.7±3.1	14	10	16	13.3±3.1	24	28	34	28.7±5.0	38	46	42	42.0±4.0
Site V	47	34	22	34.3±12.5	17	22	17	18.7±2.9	27	37	53	39.0±13.1	41	68	53	54.0±13.5
Site VI	50	42	38	43.3±6.1	22	30	24	25.3±4.2	42	50	68	53.3±13.3	78	96	84	86.0±9.2
Site VII	32	31	23	28.7±4.9	16	20	15	17.0±2.6	37	32	42	37.0±5.0	41	64	45	50.0±12.3
Site VIII	22	29	19	23.3±5.1	15	22	16	17.7±3.8	29	27	40	32.0±7.0	52	45	37	44.7±7.5
Site IX	37	25	19	27.0±9.2	16	19	14	16.3±2.5	32	29	57	39.3±15.4	39	56	42	45.7±9.1

Table 5.1.32. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in orthophosphate-phosphorus (µg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013





	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean SD
Site I	205	175	192	190.7±15.0	155	110	150	138.3±24.7	185	210	290	228.3±54.8	305	320	325	316.7±10.4
Site II	195	170	205	190.0±18.0	150	120	155	141.7±18.9	170	205	275	216.7±53.5	295	310	315	306.7±10.4
Site III	155	140	145	146.7±7.6	135	90	110	111.7±22.5	135	155	230	173.3±50.1	255	285	290	276.7±18.9
Site IV	125	105	130	120.0±13.2	95	75	100	90.0±13.2	95	110	180	128.3±45.4	200	220	235	218.3±17.6
Site V	185	175	185	181.7±5.8	155	110	145	136.7±23.6	165	190	285	213.3±63.3	315	325	393	344.3±42.4
Site VI	260	205	275	246.7±36.9	185	130	215	176.7±43.1	220	250	310	260.0±45.8	320	341	390	350.3±35.9
Site VII	205	195	195	198.3±5.8	145	95	132	124.0±25.9	165	215	301	227.0±68.8	309	335	291	311.7±22.1
Site VIII	95	85	110	96.7±12.6	70	65	85	73.3±10.4	60	75	105	80.0±22.9	110	120	115	115.0±5.0
Site IX	207	155	215	192.3±32.6	135	95	140	123.3±24.7	165	195	295	218.3±68.1	305	335	300	313.3±18.9

Table 5.1.33. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in total phosphorus (µg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012





	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	220	190	164	191.3±28.0	145	130	163	146.0±16.5	190	202	245	212.3±28.9	287	310	296	297.7±11.6
Site II	200	160	151	170.3±26.1	111	134	128	124.3±11.9	160	183	221	188.0±30.8	280	320	274	291.3±25.0
Site III	160	135	141	145.3±13.1	151	132	143	142.0±9.5	160	190	172	174.0±15.1	220	239	272	243.7±26.3
Site IV	110	125	133	122.7±11.7	90	105	83	92.7±11.2	100	121	163	128.0±32.1	210	200	239	216.3±20.3
Site V	175	135	166	158.7±21.0	130	100	120	116.7±15.3	150	165	220	178.3±36.9	300	340	283	307.7±29.3
Site VI	205	183	170	186.0±17.7	160	122	181	154.3±29.9	192	215	291	232.7±51.8	330	305	357	330.7±26.0
Site VII	185	136	155	158.7±24.7	135	130	145	136.7±7.6	205	163	292	220.0±65.8	310	320	281	303.7±20.3
Site VIII	203	117	173	164.3±43.7	133	110	145	129.3±17.8	200	181	231	204.0±25.2	257	291	267	271.7±17.5
Site IX	205	145	165	171.7±30.6	145	173	155	157.7±14.2	185	174	256	205.0±44.5	302	345	293	313.3±27.8

Table 5.1.34. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in total phosphorus (µg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013



Fig. 5.1.34. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in total phosphorus (µg/L) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013

	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	190	110	95	131.7±51.1	80	90	104	91.3±12.1	69	111	200	126.7±66.9	290	310	270	290.0±20.0
Site II	130	65	55	83.3±40.7	48	55	77	60.0±15.1	59	95	160	104.7±51.2	250	280	245	258.3±18.9
Site III	`120	55	42	48.5±9.2	52	60	85	65.7±17.2	55	80	145	93.3±46.5	220	240	215	225.0±13.2
Site IV	115	50	44	69.7±39.4	40	46	76	54.0±19.3	50	75	140	88.3±46.5	190	215	200	201.7±12.6
Site V	170	100	98	122.7±41.0	77	102	97	92.0±13.2	79	142	270	163.7±97.3	300	275	289	288.0±12.5
Site VI	200	120	106	142±50.7	90	76	91	85.7±8.4	79	125	180	128.0±50.6	240	280	260	260.0±20.0
Site VII	150	84	76	103.3±40.6	64	47	60	57.0±8.9	50	155	260	155.0±105.0	330	253	233	272.0±51.2
Site VIII	95	60	55	70±21.8	50	45	52	49.0±3.6	35	75	110	73.3±37.5	140	170	220	176.7±40.4
Site IX	180	95	85	120±52.2	75	54	69	66.0±10.8	55	160	310	175.0±128.2	330	287	225	280.7±52.8

Table 5.1.35. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in ammonical-nitrogen (µg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012





	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	205	100	85	130.0±65.4	65	76	100	80.3±17.9	82	98	165	115.0 ± 44.0	284	265	255	268.0±14.7
Site II	135	70	60	88.3±40.7	55	67	73	65.0±9.2	75	105	135	105.0±30.0	215	234	221	223.3±9.7
Site III	130	72	55	85.7±39.3	50	64	73	62.3±11.6	66	85	127	92.7±31.2	180	215	200	198.3±17.6
Site IV	122	63	50	78.3±38.4	46	52	61	53.0±7.5	73	87	121	93.7±24.7	165	205	190	186.7±20.2
Site V	95	120	88	101.0±16.8	87	51	86	74.7±20.5	134	88	240	154.0±77.9	250	265	280	265.0±15.0
Site VI	180	130	110	140.0±36.1	95	70	92	85.7±13.7	105	117	152	124.7±24.4	215	290	245	250.0±37.7
Site VII	140	82	86	102.7±32.4	60	42	66	56.0±12.5	92	140	241	157.7±76.1	210	263	213	228.7±29.8
Site VIII	87	67	50	68.0±18.5	63	48	40	50.3±11.7	60	70	125	85.0±35.0	122	148	182	150.7±30.1
Site IX	190	93	75	119.3±61.9	72	64	80	72.0±8.0	211	38	179	142.7±92.0	240	277	235	250.7±22.9

Table 5.1.36. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in ammonical-nitrogen (µg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013





	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	880	470	240	530.0±324.2	215	270	400	295.0±95.0	310	405	630	448.0±164.3	810	1030	1140	993.3±168.0
Site II	990	500	270	586.7±367.7	240	290	410	313.3±87.4	330	420	700	483.0±193.0	920	1110	1230	1086.7±156.3
Site III	570	350	195	371.7±188.4	170	205	315	230.0±75.7	220	280	470	323.0±130.5	660	860	920	813.3±136.1
Site IV	490	300	170	320.0±160.9	130	170	270	190.0±72.1	185	235	410	277.0±118.1	590	780	830	733.3±126.6
Site V	870	470	330	556.7±280.2	206	360	535	367.0±164.6	354	460	790	535.0±227.4	1010	1410	1430	1283.3±236.9
Site VI	930	610	350	630.0±290.5	330	390	530	416.7±102.6	430	520	790	580.0±187.3	1050	1490	1710	1416.7±336.1
Site VII	900	500	250	550.0±327.9	228	280	534	347.3±163.7	325	410	710	482.0±202.3	1030	1390	1300	1240.0±187.3
Site VIII	320	210	190	240.0±70.0	180	185	215	193.3±18.9	190	230	290	237.0±50.3	350	450	510	436.6±80.8
Site IX	970	380	325	558.3±357.6	325	290	430	348.3±72.9	421	465	680	522.0±138.6	930	1230	1360	1173.3±220.5

Table 5.1.37. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in nitrate-nitrogen (µg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012





	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	790	510	300	533.3±245.8	200	260	365	275.0±83.5	380	415	525	440.0±75.7	755	955	1015	908.3±136.1
Site II	910	480	310	566.7±309.2	220	265	395	293.3±90.9	410	445	565	473.3±81.3	880	1042	1170	1030.7±145.3
Site III	550	380	180	370.0±185.2	155	210	310	225.0±78.6	245	265	362	290.7±62.6	590	765	834	729.7±125.8
Site IV	510	330	135	325.0±187.5	240	180	120	180.0±60.0	250	220	335	268.3±59.7	540	755	805	700.0±140.8
Site V	810	430	323	521.0±255.9	212	336	364	304.0±80.9	483	318	680	493.7±181.2	810	1255	1310	1125.0±274.2
Site VI	850	450	340	546.7±268.4	300	345	515	386.7±113.4	530	455	690	558.3±120.0	965	1520	1180	1221.7±279.8
Site VII	830	450	225	501.7±305.8	217	240	315	257.3±51.2	470	289	510	423.0±117.8	885	1210	1270	1121.7±207.1
Site VIII	340	200	175	238.3±88.9	160	172	204	178.7±22.7	220	240	255	238.3±17.6	310	390	500	400.0±95.4
Site IX	870	440	315	541.7±291.1	300	275	355	310.0±40.9	445	420	590	485.0±91.8	855	1165	1330	1116.7±241.2

Table 5.1.38. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in nitrate-nitrogen (µg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013





	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	310	298	322	310.0±12.0	271.0	257	243	257.0±14.0	255.0	271.0	309	278.3±27.7	317	298.0	346.0	320.3±24.2
Site II	321	305	287	304.3±17.0	276.0	235	261	257.3±20.7	276.0	297.0	316	296.3±20.0	291	338.0	362.0	330.3±36.1
Site III	335	291	307	311.0±22.3	284.0	258	243	261.7±20.7	271.0	312.0	333	305.3±31.5	352	341.0	381.0	358.0±20.7
Site IV	345	309	289	314.3±28.4	319.0	267	252	279.3±35.2	268.0	319.0	346	311.0±39.6	357	369.0	393.0	373.0±18.3
Site V	316	286	267	289.7±24.7	251.0	285	231	255.7±27.3	243.0	257.0	278	259.3±17.6	326	337.0	353.0	338.7±13.6
Site VI	295	290	243	276.0±28.7	232.0	251	210	231.0±20.5	233.0	246.0	261	246.7±14.0	311	328.0	341.0	326.7±15.0
Site VII	360	322	303	328.3±29.0	286.0	261	276	274.3±12.6	289.0	332.0	363	328.0±37.2	373	381.0	413.0	389.0±21.2
Site VIII	272	251	233	252.0±19.5	246.0	214	189	216.3±28.6	235.0	216.0	201	217.3±17.0	256	277.0	294.0	275.7±19.0
Site IX	281	263	239	261.0±21.1	249.0	196	223	222.7±26.5	238.0	251.0	257	248.7±9.7	328	309.0	289.0	308.7±19.5

Table 5.1.39. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in total iron (µg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012



Fig. 5.1.39. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in total iron (µg/L) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2011 to Feb. 2012

	Mar	Apr	May	Mean±SD	Jun	Jul	Aug	Mean±SD	Sep	Oct	Nov	Mean±SD	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mean±SD
Site I	321	303	328	317.3±12.9	283	262	251	265.3±16.3	249	276	316	280.3±33.7	324	308	357	329.7±25.0
Site II	313	310	293	305.3±10.8	281	222	239	247.3±30.4	247	263	305	271.7±30.0	316	317	347	326.7±17.6
Site III	343	284	315	314.0±29.5	293	243	232	256.0±32.5	276	346	296	306.0±36.1	358	346	375	359.7±14.6
Site IV	341	272	332	315.0±37.5	302	273	256	277.0±23.3	265	302	323	296.7±29.4	329	345	405	359.7±40.1
Site V	322	294	275	297.0±23.6	259	292	243	264.7±25.0	248	263	287	266.0±19.7	333	346	359	346.0±13.0
Site VI	306	252	288	282.0±27.5	243	259	222	241.3±18.6	242	268	252	254.0±13.1	322	334	328	328.0±6.0
Site VII	345	239	310	298.0±54.0	259	290	271	273.3±15.6	281	310	336	309.0±27.5	372	351	401	374.7±25.1
Site VIII	283	240	237	253.3±25.7	232	196	220	216.0±18.3	221	190	205	205.3±15.5	243	264	306	271.0±32.1
Site IX	265	279	246	263.3±16.6	206	238	217	220.3±16.3	221	263	245	243.0±21.1	339	272	305	305.3±33.5

Table 5.1.40. Monthly fluctuations (with seasonal mean±SD) in total iron (µg/L) of Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013



Fig. 5.1.40. Seasonal fluctuations (mean±SD) in total iron (µg/L) recorded in Wular lake from Mar. 2012 to Feb. 2013

	AT	WT	TR	DE	TDS	SC	pН	FC	BA	DO	TH	CC	MC	CL	AN	NN	TP	OP	DS	TI
WT	.896(**)	1																		
TR	-0.598	670(*)	1																	
DE	670(*)	722(*)	.990(**)	1																
TDS	0.363	0.274	-0.253	-0.319	1															ĺ
SC	0.379	0.302	-0.263	-0.33	.999(**)	1														
pН	-0.104	0.118	0.059	0.094	875(**)	858(**)	1													
FC	0.117	0.04	-0.049	-0.134	.877(**)	.874(**)	754(*)	1												
BA	0.466	0.321	-0.245	-0.338	.953(**)	.953(**)	799(**)	.903(**)	1											
DO	-0.664	781(*)	.788(*)	.838(**)	-0.507	-0.525	0.121	-0.401	-0.573	1										
TH	0.299	0.186	-0.213	-0.276	.981(**)	.978(**)	907(**)	.873(**)	.940(**)	-0.441	1									
CC	0.331	0.198	-0.292	-0.356	.969(**)	.964(**)	907(**)	.870(**)	.941(**)	-0.47	.991(**)	1								
MC	0.29	0.193	-0.164	-0.229	.982(**)	.980(**)	888(**)	.874(**)	.939(**)	-0.436	.996(**)	.975(**)	1							
CL	0.286	-0.018	-0.124	-0.137	0.446	0.428	-0.623	0.345	0.424	0.063	0.482	0.513	0.446	1						
AN	.816(**)	0.635	-0.261	-0.332	0.491	0.498	-0.358	0.236	0.514	-0.321	0.392	0.398	0.392	0.042	1					
NN	.759(*)	0.572	-0.158	-0.237	0.496	0.503	-0.363	0.331	0.533	-0.243	0.438	0.437	0.44	0.641	.903(**)	1				
TP	.752(*)	0.553	-0.18	-0.286	0.647	0.654	-0.487	0.545	.720(*)	-0.358	0.591	0.603	0.588	0.546	.893(**)	.942(**)	1			
OP	0.494	0.472	-0.302	-0.379	.848(**)	.857(**)	-0.616	.795(*)	.818(**)	-0.52	.806(**)	.802(**)	.807(**)	0.524	0.576	.722(*)	.792(*)	1		
DS	0.609	0.514	0.158	0.095	0.138	0.152	0.034	-0.041	0.192	-0.075	0.027	-0.025	0.073	0.1	.807(**)	.726(*)	0.65	0.257	1	
TI	0.253	0.527	0.076	0.05	-0.355	-0.323	.697(*)	-0.356	-0.318	-0.149	-0.413	-0.468	-0.359	-0.359	0.072	0.123	0.03	-0.038	0.452	1

Table 5.1.41. Correlation coefficients between various physico-chemical parameters of water in Wular lake

The marked correlations are significant at P=<0.05 (1- tailed) and P=<0.01 (2-tailed).

AT - Air temperature, WT- Water temperature, De - Depth, TDS - Total dissolved solids, Sc - Specific conductivity, pH - pH, FC - Free carbon dioxide, BA - Bicarbonate alkalinity, DO - Dissolved oxygen, TH - Total hardness, CC - Calcium content, MC- Magnesium content, CL - Chloride, AN - Ammonical-nitrogen, NN - Nitrate-nitrogen, TP - Total phosphorus, OP - Ortho-phosphate phosphorus, DS - Dissolved silica, TI - Total iron.

		Sum of	df	Mean	F	Sig.
	Detween Crowns		2	200.224	25 61	000
Air	Within Crowns	898.003	20	299.334	55.04	.000
temperature	Within Groups	208.747	32	8.398		
_		1166.75	35	224 477	45 47	000
Water	Between Groups	6/3.432	3	224.477	45.47	.000
temperature	Within Groups	157.973	32	4.937		
-		831.406	35	22145 77	2.072	0.000
Specific	Between Groups	96437.31	3	32145.77	3.973	0.000
conductivity	Within Groups	258885.018	32	8090.157		
	Total	333322.328	35	0.520	22.06	000
TT	Between Groups	1.586	3	0.529	23.06	.000
рн	Within Groups	0.733	32	0.023		
	1 otal	2.319	35	1(2,022	10.40	000
Free carbon	Between Groups	488.798	3	162.933	19.49	.000
dioxide	Within Groups	267.502	32	8.359		
	1 otal	/50.3	35	9442 (95	0.012	000
Bicarbonate	Between Groups	25328.056	3	8442.685	8.013	.000
alkalinity	Within Groups	50042,000	32	1053.592		
	1 otal	59043.009	35	2 227	11 54	000
Dissolved	Between Groups	9.71	3	3.237	11.54	.000
oxygen	Within Groups	8.978	32	0.281		
		18.688	35	1 47 770	22.05	000
<u> </u>	Between Groups	443.316	3	147.772	32.05	.000
Chloride	Within Groups	147.531	32	4.61		
	Total	590.848	35	2.647	2 00 6	0.000
	Between Groups	10.94	3	3.647	2.896	0.000
Depth	Within Groups	40.3	32	1.259		
	Total	51.24	35	265.260	0.600	0.600
Calcium	Between Groups	/95.803	3	265.268	0.628	0.602
content	Within Groups	13517.084	32	422.409		
	Total	14312.887	35	121.207	< 1.7.1	0.000
Magnesium	Between Groups	1293.892	3	431.297	6.171	0.002
content	Within Groups	2236.351	32	69.886		
	Total	3530.243	35	00.500	20. (1	000
Dissolved	Between Groups	268.766	3	89.589	39.61	.000
silica	Within Groups	72.384	32	2.262		
	l otal	341.15	35	902420 297	10 55	000
Nitrate-	Between Groups	2407291.162	3	802430.387	18.55	.000
nitrogen	Within Groups	1384220.353	32	43256.886		
		3/91511.516	35	57246254	54.05	000
Ammonical-	Between Groups	1/1/38./63	3	57246.254	54.05	.000
nitrogen	Within Groups	33894.504	32	1059.203		
		205633.268	35	2407.240	10.00	000
Ortho-	Between Groups	7492.047	3	2497.349	10.66	.000
phosphate	Within Groups	7500.462	32	234.389		
phosphorus	Total	14992.51	35	20 (22 (22	6.006	0.000
Total	Between Groups	61897.899	3	20632.633	6.396	0.002
phosphorus	Within Groups	103231.64	32	3225.989		
	I otal	165129.539	35	11000.071	2.024	0.017
Total	Between Groups	35471.912	3	11823.971	3.924	0.017
dissolved	Within Groups	96432.424	32	3013.513		
solids	Total	131904.336	35			

 Table 5.1.42.Analysis of variance of various physico-chemical characteristics of water during 2011

Results

Table 5.1.42 Cont.....

T . (. 1	Between Groups	31809.403	3	10603.134	4.062	0.015
l otal	Within Groups	83536	32	2610.5		
naruness	Total	115345.403	35			
	Between Groups	34398.34	3	11466.113	12.51	.000
Total iron	Within Groups	29337.269	32	916.79		
Total iron	Total	63735.609	35			
Water	Between Groups	0.86	3	0.287	1.659	0.195
Water	Within Groups	5.529	32	0.173		
transparency	Total	6.389	35			

		Sum of	df	Mean	F	Sig.
Ain	Detrucer Crowns	Squares	2	Square	022 592	000
All	Within Croups	1902.830	20	034.283	955.582	.000
temperature	Within Groups	22.427	32 25	.701		
Watar	Total	1985.285	35	529.022	954960	000
water	Within Crowns	1014.099	22	538.055	834.809	.000
temperature	Within Groups	20.140	32	.029		
Creasifie	Total	1034.239	35	26092 275	4.040	006
Specific	Within Groups	169060 229	20 20	20082.275	4.940	.000
conductivity	Within Groups	108900.238	32	5280.007		
	Total	247207.062	35	257	6 159	002
рн	Between Groups	.//0	3	.257	6.158	.002
	Within Groups	1.333	32	.042		
T 1	lotal	2.103	35	70,700	14.047	000
Free carbon	Between Groups	236.394	3	/8./98	14.247	.000
dioxide	Within Groups	176.989	32	5.531		
D. I.	Total	413.383	35	5000 156	0.005	000
Bicarbonate	Between Groups	17646.528	3	5882.176	8.885	.000
alkalinity	Within Groups	21185.851	32	662.058		
<u> </u>	Total	38832.379	35	0.1.1.1	10.051	
Dissolved	Between Groups	9.433	3	3.144	12.351	.000
oxygen	Within Groups	8.147	32	.255		
	Total	17.580	35			
Chloride	Between Groups	343.441	3	114.480	28.913	.000
	Within Groups	126.702	32	3.959		
	Total	470.143	35			
Depth	Between Groups	7.599	3	2.533	3.139	.000
	Within Groups	25.824	32	.807		
	Total	33.423	35			
Calcium	Between Groups	1144.903	3	381.634	1.274	.300
content	Within Groups	9585.464	32	299.546		
	Total	10730.367	35			
Magnesium	Between Groups	1183.109	3	394.370	12.766	.000
content	Within Groups	988.587	32	30.893		
	Total	2171.696	35			
Dissolved	Between Groups	218.312	3	72.771	48.518	.000
silica	Within Groups	47.996	32	1.500		
	Total	266.308	35			
Nitrate-	Between Groups	2215429.159	3	738476.386	28.484	.000
nitrogen	Within Groups	829618.211	32	25925.569		
	Total	3045047.370	35			
Ammonical-	Between Groups	124994.503	3	41664.834	54.653	.000
nitrogen	Within Groups	24395.247	32	762.351		
_	Total	149389.750	35			
Ortho-	Between Groups	8329.833	3	2776.611	18.324	.000
phosphate	Within Groups	4849.009	32	151.532		
phosphorus	Total	13178.842	35			

Table 5.1.43. Analysis of variance of various physico-chemical characteristics of water during 2012

Results

				Таыс	5.1.45 Com	•••••
Total	Between Groups	118249.999	3	39416.666	50.351	.000
phosphorus	Within Groups	25050.764	32	782.836		
	Total	143300.763	35			
Total	Between Groups	33130.540	3	11043.513	5.187	.005
dissolved	Within Groups	68126.882	32	2128.965		
solids	Total	101257.422	35			
Total	Between Groups	29408.088	3	9802.696	6.686	.001
hardness	Within Groups	46920.269	32	1466.258		
	Total	76328.356	35			
Total iron	Between Groups	33863.218	3	11287.739	14.455	.000
	Within Groups	24989.142	32	780.911		
	Total	58852.360	35			
Water	Between Groups	1.032	3	.344	3.037	.043
transparency	Within Groups	3.624	32	.113		
	Total	4.656	35			

5.2. VEGETATION

5.2.1. Species Composition

In the present study a total of 55 species of macrophytes belonging to 38 genera spread over 27 families were found to inhabit Wular lake (Table 5.2.1.1). The families with highest number of species were Cyperaceae and Potamogetonaceae, being represented by five species each. Family Cyperaceae was represented by four genera namely *Carex* (*Carex* sp.), *Cyperus* (*Cyperus serotinus*), *Eleocharis* (*Eleocharis palustris*) and *Scirpus* (*S. lacustris* and *S. palustris*), while five species of *Potamogeton* (*P. crispus*, *P. lucens*, *P. natans*, *P. pectinatus* and *P. perfoliatus*) represented the family Potamogetonaceae. These were followed by families Lemnaceae and Ranunculaceae, being represented by four species each. Family Lemnaceae was represented by four species belonging to two different genera (*Lemna major*, *Lemna minor*, *Lemna trisulca* and *Spirodela polyrhiza*), while Ranunculus muricatus and *Ranunculus sceleratus*.

Alternanthera philoxeroides was the single representative of the family Amaranthaceae. Family Alismataceae was represented by three species belonging to two different genera (*Alisma lanceolatum*, *Alisma plantago-aquatica* and *Sagittaria sagittifolia*), while the families Apiaceae, Asteraceae, Azollacea, Butomaceae and Brassicaceae were represented by single species each - *Sium latijugum*, *Bidens cernua*, *Azolla* sp., *Butomus umbellatus* and *Nasturtium officinalis* respectively.

Ceratophyllum demersum was the single representative of the family Ceratophyllaceae. The three species of *Myriophyllum (M. aquaticum, M. spicatum* and *M. verticillatum)* represented the family Haloragaeae. A species of *Hippuris vulgaris* belonging to the family Hippuridaceae and two species (*Hydrocharis dubia* and *Hydrilla verticillata*) belonging to the family Hydrocharitaceae were recorded from the lake. Further, the family Juncaceae was monospecific having a single species (*Juncus bufonius*), as compared to Lamiaceae being represented by two different taxa (*Lycopus europaeus* and *Mentha arvensis*). *Marsilea quadrifolia* was the distinctive member of family Marsiliaceae. *Menyanthes trifoliata* and *Nymphoides peltatum* represented the family Menyanthaceae. *Najas graminea* and *Nelumbo nucifera* were the sole representatives of the families Najadaceae and Nelumbonaceae respectively. Family Nymphaeaceae was represented by a single genus having three species (*Nymphaea* alba, N. mexicana and N. pygmea). Two species belonging to two different genera (*Echinocloa cruss-galli* and *Phragmites australis*) represented the family Poaceae.

Family Polygonaceae was represented by a single genus with two species (*Polygonum amphibium* and *P.hydropiper*) while Salviniaceae and Sparganaceae were represented by single species each (*Salvinia natans and Sparganium ramosum*) respectively. Family Trapaceae was represented by a single genus having two species (*Trapa bispinosa* and *T. natans*) and the two species of *Typha* (*T. angustata* and *T. latifolia*) were identified in the family Typhaceae.

The macrophytic community of the lake was represented by 30 species of emergents, 10 species of rooted-floating leaf type, 09 submergeds and 06 free-floating species. The representatives of emergent class in the lake were Alisma lanceolatum, Alisma plantigo-aquatica, Alternanthera philoxeroides, Bidens cernua, Butomus umbellatus, Carex sp., Cyperus serotinus, Echinocloa crus-galli, Eleocharis palustris, Hippurus vulgaris, Juncus buffonius, Lycopus europaeus, Mentha arvensis, *Menyanthes* trifoliata, Myriophyllum aquaticum, Myriophyllum verticillatum, Nasturtium officinalis, Phragmites australis, Polygonum amphibium, Polygonum hydropiper, Ranunculus lingua, Ranunuculus muricatus, Ranunculus sceleratus, Sagittaria sagittifolia, Scirpus lacustris, Scirpus palustris, Sium latijugum, Sparganium ramosum, Typha angustata and Typha latifolia. The members of the rooted-floating leaf type community included Hydrocharis dubia, Marsilea quadrifolia, Nelumbo nucifera, Nymphaea alba, Nymphaea mexicana, Nymphaea pygmea, Nymphoides peltatum, Potamogetan natans, Trapa bispinosa and Trapa natans while as the submergeds were represented by Batrachium trichophyllum, Ceratophyllum demersum, Hydrilla verticillata, Najas gramineum, Myriophyllum spicatum, Potamogeton crispis, P. lucens, P. pectinatus and P. perfoliatus. Azolla sp., L. major, Lemna minor, L. trisulca, Spirodela polyrhiza and Salvinia natans were the representatives of freefloating class.

S.No	Life Form Class	Family	Species name					
1		Alismataceae	Alisma lanceolatum With.					
2		Alismataceae	Alisma plantago-aquatica L.					
3		Amaranthaceae	Alternanthera philoxeroides (Mart.) Griseb.					
4		Asteraceae	Bidens cernua L.					
5		Butomaceae	Butomus umbellatus L.					
6		Cyperaceae	<i>Carex</i> sp.					
7		Cyperaceae	Cyperus serotinus Rottb.					
8		Poaceae	Echinocloa crus-galli (L.) Beauv.					
9		Cyperaceae	Eleocharis palustris (L.) R.Br.					
10		Hippuridaceae	Hippuris vulgaris L.					
11		Juncaceae	Juncus buffonius L.					
12		Lamiaceae	Lycopus europaeus L.					
13		Lamiaceae	Mentha arvensis L.					
14	Emergents	Menyanthaceae	Menyanthes trifoliata L.					
15		Haloragaceae	Myriophyllum aquaticum L.					
16		Haloragaceae	Myriophyllum verticillatum L.					
17		Brassicaceae	Nasturtium officinalis (L.) R.Br.					
18		Poaceae	Phragmites australis Trin.					
19		Polygonaceae	Polygonum amphibium L.					
20		Polygonaceae	Polygonum hydropiper L.					
21		Ranunculaceae	Ranunculus lingua L.					
22		Ranunculaceae	Ranunculus muricatus L.					
23		Ranunculaceae	Ranunculus sceleratus L.					
24		Alismataceae	Sagittaria sagittifolia L.					
25		Cyperaceae	Scirpus lacustris L.					
26		Cyperaceae	Scirpus palustris L.					
27		Apiaceae	Sium latijugam Clarke					
28		Sparganaceae	Sparganium ramosum Huds.					
29		Typhaceae	Typha angustata Bory & Chaub.					
30		Typhaceae	Typha latifolia Edgew.					
31		Hydrocharitaceae	Hydrocharis dubia (Blame) Bacquer.					
32		Marsiliaceae	Marsilea quadrifolia L.					
33		Nelumbonaceae	Nelumbo nucifera Gaertn.					
34		Nymphacaceae	Nymphaea alba L.					
35	Rooted-floating	Nymphacaceae	Nymphaea mexicana L.					
36	leaf type	Nymphacaceae	Nymphaea pygmea L.					
37		Menyanthaceae	Nymphoides peltatum Kuntze					
38		Potamogetonaceae	Potamogeton natans L.					
39		Trapaceae	Trapa bispinosa L.					
40		Trapaceae	Trapa natans L.					
41		Azollaceae	Azolla sp. R. Br.					
42		Lemnaceae	Lemna major L.					
43	Free-floating type	Lemnaceae	Lemna minor L.					
44	i ice noating type	Lemnaceae	Lemna trisulca L.					
45		Lemnaceae	Spirodela polyrhiza (L.) Schleid.					
46		Salviniaceae	Salvinia natans L.					
47	Submergeds	Ranunculaceae	Batrachium trichophyllum v.d.Borsche					
48	Submergeus	Ceratophyllaceae	Ceratophyllum demersum L.					

Table 5.2.1.1. List of macrophytes species recorded during the present study

Table 5.	2.1.1	Cont
----------	-------	------

49	Hydrocharitaceae	Hydrilla verticillata (L.f.) Royle
50	Najadaceae	Najas graminea Del.
51	Haloragaceae	Myriophyllum spicatum L.
52	Potamogetonaceae	Potamogeton crispus L.
53	Potamogetonaceae	Potamogeton lucens L.
54	Potamogetonaceae	Potamogeton pectinatus L.
55	Potamogetonaceae	Potamogeton perfoliatus L.

5.2.2. Community Features of Macrophytes

The macrophytes of Wular lake under study exhibited different patterns of community architecture and showed marked variations at different sites, being governed by hydrological regime during different periods of the year.

Site I

A total of 35 species of macrophytes with 25 species of emergents, 06 species of rooted floating-leaf type, 01 species of submergeds and 03 species of free-floating type were recorded at Site I in Wular lake (Table 5.2.2.1-4). The minimum number of 12 species was recorded in spring, 2012 as against the maximum number of 32 species, being registered during summer, 2011. Nymphoides peltatum recorded the highest mean frequency (53.3±5.8 %) at this Site, followed by Myriophyllum verticillatum (50.0±17.3 %), Azolla sp. (46.7±20.8 %) and Polygonum hydropiper (43.3±5.8 %) while as lowest value was obtained for *Scirpus lacustris* (3.3±5.8 %). As against this, the highest value for density was recorded for *Lemna minor* (7.8 ind. $/m^2$) in summer 2011. In general, annual mean density (ind. $/m^2$) at Site I ranged between 0.1±0.1 (each for Scirpus lacustris and Scirpus palustris) and 7.3±0.4 (Lemna minor). Azolla sp. and salvinia natans with mean density values (ind. $/m^2$) of 4.5 ± 1.1 and 4.3 ± 1.4 respectively were the other noticeable species in terms of density. Lemna minor was the most abundant species at Site I, recording an abundance of 19.9±4.9 during 2012, followed by Azolla sp. (9.8 ±2.3), Salvinia natans (8.5±2.8) and Nymphoides peltatum (4.5±1.4), being recorded during the year 2011. Out of the 35 species recorded at Site I, the highest Importance Value Index of 45.2±13.9 was registered for Salvinia natans, followed by Lemna minor (44.8±6.3) and Ceratophyllum demersum (20.8±2.2). However, the least IVI of 0.3±0.6 was registered for Scirpus palustris. Site I recorded greater number of emergent macrophytic species compared to other sites.

Site II

Out of 30 species of macrophytes recorded at Site I, 14 species belonged to emergents, 06 to rooted floating-leaf type, 04 to submergeds and 06 to free-floating class (Table 5.2.2.5 - 8). The minimum number of 18 species was recorded during spring, 2012 and maximum number of 28 species in summer, 2011. At Site II, *Nymphoides peltatum* emerged as the most frequent species with a frequency of 66.7 \pm 7.6 % and was followed by *Azolla* sp. (48.3 \pm 2.9 %) and *Salvinia natans* (46.7 \pm 12.6

%). Highest density (7.7 \pm 1.0 ind. /m²) and highest abundance (22.0 \pm 2.7) at this site was noted for *Lemna minor*. In density (ind. /m²), it was followed by *Lemna major* (7.1 \pm 10.4), *Azolla* sp. (5.2 \pm 0.7) and *Nymphoides peltatum* (4.8 \pm 0.4) and as for as abundance is concerned, *Azolla* sp. (12.4 \pm 2.7) and *Salvinia natans* (11.6 \pm 1.4) followed *Lemna minor*. Among a total of 30 species recorded at Site II, the maximum IVI of 174.0 \pm 68.6 was recorded for *Nymphoides peltatum*, followed by *Ceratophyllum demersum* (142.6 \pm 68.7) and *Lemna minor* (131.9 \pm 37.9). The least IVI of 1.0 \pm 1.7 was recorded for *Eleocharis palustris*.

Site III

Site III in Wular lake registered a total of 21 species of macrophytes of which 07 species belonged to emergents, 09 to rooted floating-leaf type, 02 to submergeds and 03 to free-floating community. The maximum number of 20 species was recorded in summer, 2011 as against the minimum number of 15 species in spring, 2012 (Table 5.2.2.9-12). The site recorded maximum mean frequency value for Nymphoides peltatum (53.3±15.3 %), followed by Myriophylllum verticillatum and Phragmites australis with 43.3±5.8 % each and Azolla sp. (36.7±5.8 %) in a decreasing order. In contrast, the minimum mean frequency value of 3.3±5.8 % was registered for Typha *latifolia*. The mean density (ind. $/m^2$) on the other hand, recorded highest value for Lemna minor (6.3 \pm 0.9), followed by Azolla sp. (4.6 \pm 0.5), Salvinia natans (3.3 \pm 0.5) and Nymphoides peltatum (3.2 ± 0.2) while as the abundance varied between a mean value of 0.4±0.8 each for *Eleocharis palustris* and *Trapa bispinosa* and 23.9±3.2 for Lemna minor, with other notable contributions from Azolla sp. (19.3 \pm 3.1), Salvinia natans (14.0 \pm 1.7) and Ceratophyllum demersum (6.5 \pm 0.5). The species which depicted significant mean values for IVI were Salvinia natans (55.5±2.5), Lemna minor (40.6±1.4), Ceratophyllum demersum (29.9±1.2), Potamogeton natans (27.4 ± 0.2) and *Potamogeton crispus* (20.8 ± 1.8) . The noteworthy features of the site were (i) presence of Nymphaea pygmea and (ii) appreciable contribution by Potamogeton natans (27.4 ± 0.2) and Potamogeton crispus (20.8 ± 1.8) to overall IVI. Site IV

As compared to other sites, Site IV in Wular lake recorded lesser number of macrophytic species as only 18 species including 04 emergents, 05 rooted floating-leaf type, 04 submergeds and 05 free-floating type, were recorded at this site. The minimum number of 13 species was recorded in spring 2012 and maximum number

of 17 species during summer and autumn 2011 and summer 2012 (Table 5.2.2.13-16). *Nymphoides peltatum, Ceratophyllum demersum, Potamogeton crispus* and *Potamogeton natans* covering significant areas at Site IV, recording mean frequency values of 53.3 ± 5.8 %, 46.7 ± 5.8 %, 36.7 ± 5.8 % and 33.3 ± 5.8 % respectively. The mean density (ind. /m²) at Site IV was highest for *Azolla* sp. (5.4 ± 1.3), followed by *Lemna minor* (5.3 ± 0.6), *Ceratophyllum demersum* (2.9 ± 0.4), *Nymphoides peltatum* (2.7 ± 0.6) and *Salvinia natans* (2.3 ± 0.5) in a decreasing order. *Lemna minor*, *Azolla* sp., *Salvinia natans, Ceratophyllum demersum* and *Nymphoides peltatum* depicted higher values for abundance with mean values of 23.7 ± 3.8 , 12.6 ± 11.1 , 7.0 ± 1.0 , 6.7 ± 0.2 and 5.0 ± 0.7 respectively. *Lemna minor* revealed highest mean values for IVI (54.8 ± 12.1) at Site IV followed by *Azolla* sp. (42.5 ± 3.2), *Ceratophyllum demersum* (28.2 ± 8.5), *Nymphoides peltatum* (26.2 ± 1.9) and *Salvinia natans* (23.3 ± 1.7) in a decreasing order.

Site V

At Site V, a total of 29 species of macrophytes including 13 species of emergents, 09 species of rooted floating-leaf type, 02 species of submergeds and 05 species of free-floating type were recorded throughout the study period. The number of species varied from 17 (spring 2012) to 28 (summer 2011) (Table 5.2.2.17-20). Nymphoides peltatum recorded the highest mean frequency (53.3±5.8 %) at this site, followed by Ceratophyllum demersum (46.7±5.8 %), Azolla sp. and Potamogeton natans each recording mean frequency values of 40.0±10.0 % while as lowest value was obtained for *Bidens cernua* $(3.3\pm5.8 \text{ \%})$. The mean density values (ind. /m²) at Site V ranged between 0.1±0.1 for Bidens cernua and 7.8±1.2 for Lemna minor. The other species recording appreciable values for mean density (ind. $/m^2$) were Azolla sp. $(5.5\pm1.0),$ Salvinia natans (4.1 ± 0.8) , Ceratophyllum demersum (2.8 ± 0.5) , Nymphoides peltatum (2.8 \pm 0.3) and Myriophyllum verticillatum (1.3 \pm 0.3). On the basis of abundance, Lemna minor was most abundant species with the mean abundance value of (24.2±6.9), followed by Azolla sp. (21.0±4.6), Salvinia natans (14.6 ± 4.7) , Ceratophyllum demersum (7.4 ± 0.9) , Nymphoides peltatum (6.3 ± 0.3) and Lemna major (3.9 ± 6.7) in a decreasing order. The species which registered maximum mean values for IVI was Lemna minor (264.0±373.7). Species such as Azolla sp. $(220.8 \pm 311.2),$ Salvinia natans $(175.5\pm250.7),$ Ceratophyllum demersum (116.0±161.4), Nymphoides peltatum (109.2±147.7) and Potamogeton crispus

(44.9±56.9) were the other significant contributors to IVI. The most notable features of Site V were (i) appreciable coverage of *Trapa natans* compared to other sites and (ii) restricted distribution of *Nelumbo nucifera* and *Juncus buffonius* to this site only. **Site VI**

Site VI in Wular lake supported 29 species of macrophytes with emergents comprising of 19 species, rooted floating-leaf type 06, submergeds 01 and freefloating 03 species (Table 5.2.2.21-24). The number of species varied from 14 (spring 2012) to 27 (summer 2011). The frequency at Site VI varied between a mean value of 1.7±2.9 %, being obtained for Sium latijugam and 53.3±5.8 % obtained for Nymphoides peltatum. The other significant contributions being made by Myriophyllum verticillatum (50.0±10.0 %), Phragmites australis (45.0±5.0 %), Polygonum hydropiper (43.3±5.8 %) and Azolla sp. (36.7±5.8 %). The density (ind. $/m^2$) at Site VI recorded significant mean values for Lemna minor (5.2±1.1), Azolla sp. (4.5±0.3), Nymphoides peltatum (2.8±0.5), Ceratophyllum demersum (2.0±0.3) and Myriophyllum verticillatum (1.8±0.3). On the other hand, maximum mean values for abundance was recorded for Lemna minor (20.4 ± 2.9) and minimum value of 0.5±0.9 each for Echinocloa crusgalli and Rununculus lingua. Azolla sp., Ceratophyllum demersum, Salvinia natans, Nymphoides peltatum and Myriophyllum verticillatum also registered appreciable mean values of 11.2±1.3, 6.7±0.9, 5.7±5.1, 4.9 ± 0.4 and 3.9 ± 0.4 respectively for abundance. Like density, the maximum mean value for IVI at the site was registered for Lemna minor (57.8±2.7), followed by Azolla sp. (40.8±1.7), Nymphoides peltatum (26.6±4.5) and Ceratophyllum demersum (19.7 ± 1.7) with minimum value of 1.4 ± 2.4 , being obtained for *Sium latijugam*.

Site VII

In all 35 species of macrophytes were recorded at Site VII in Lake Wular spreading over 15 species of emergents, 06 rooted floating-leaf type, 08 submergeds and 06 free-floating types. The minimum number of 21 species was recorded in spring 2012 and maximum number of 33 species in summer 2011 (Table 5.2.2.25-28). *Nymphoides peltatum, Ceratophyllum demersum, Potamogeton natans, Azolla* sp. and *Myriophyllum verticillatum* with mean frequency values of 68.3 ± 7.6 %, 45.0 ± 5.0 %, 41.7 ± 7.6 %, 40.0 ± 5.0 % and 38.3 ± 2.0 % respectively were the species having maximum coverage at Site VII. The maximum value for mean density (ind. /m²) at Site VII was obtained for *Lemna minor* (6.2±0.5). The other significant contributions

being made by Azolla sp. (5.3±0.7), Nymphoides peltatum (4.4±0.4), Salvinia natans (3.4±0.5) and Ceratophyllum demersum (3.3±0.6). Abundance of macrophytes at Site VII in Wular lake varied between a mean value of 0.8 ± 1.4 each for Menyanthes trifoliata and Sagittaria sagittifolia and 24.0±5.5 for Lemna minor. Azolla sp., Salvinia natans and Ceratophyllum demersum were other notable species in terms of mean abundance values of 19.4±5.2, 12.4±2.2 and 7.9±1.8 respectively. Lemna minor recorded highest mean values of 35.4±6.7 for IVI at this site followed by Azolla sp. (33.4±5.9), Salvinia natans (20.3±3.3), Nymphoides peltatum (18.0±1.4) and Ceratophyllum demersum (17.8±3.7) with lowest value of 0.9 ± 1.5 , being obtained for Menyanthes trifoliata.

Site VIII

Site VIII in Wular lake registered a total of 22 species of macrophytes of which 04 species belonged to emergent, 04 to rooted floating-leaf type, 09 to submerged and 05 to free-floating community. The maximum number of 19 species was recorded in summer 2011 as against the minimum number of 16 species during spring 2012 (Table 5.2.2.29-32). In general, mean frequency values at Site VIII ranged between 5.0±8.7 % for Potamogeton perfoliatus and 50.0±5.0 % for Nymphoides peltatum. The other species with appreciable mean frequency values were Ceratophyllum demersum (45.0 \pm 5.0 %) and Myriophyllum verticillatum (35.0 ± 5.0 %). On the other hand, the mean density (ind. /m²) at Site VIII fluctuated from a value of 0.1±0.2 for Myriophyllum spicatum to 6.0±0.5 for Lemna minor. While as the abundance varied between 0.5±1.4 for Potamogeton perfoliatus and 21.2±1.8 for Lemna minor. The overall IVI recorded its highest mean value for Lemna minor (57.8 ± 3.9). The other species which recorded significant values for IVI were *Azolla* sp. (39.3 ± 4.9) , Salvinia natans (35.1 ± 1.6) , Ceratophyllum demersum (26.9 ± 2.8) and Nymphoides peltatum (24.4 \pm 2.3). In general, submergeds recorded lower values for IVI than emergents, rooted floating-leaf type and free-floating species. The most notable feature of Site VIII was the presence of greater number of submerged macrophytes compared to other sites.

Site IX

Site IX in Wular lake recorded a total of 21 species of macrophytes which included 10 species of emergents, 05 species of rooted floating-leaf type, 03 species of submergeds and 03 species of free-floating type. The maximum number of 20

species was recorded in summer 2011 against the minimum of 15 species in spring 2012 (Table 5.2.2.33-36). The mean frequency at Site IX ranged from a minimum of 5.0 ± 8.7 % for *Carex* sp. to a maximum of 41.7 ± 7.6 % for *Ceratophyllum demersum*. The highest value for mean density (ind. $/m^2$) at this site was obtained for Lemna minor (6.0 \pm 1.0), followed by Azolla sp. (5.1 \pm 0.9), Salvinia natans (3.9 \pm 1.0), Ceratophyllum demersum (2.9 ±0.5) and decreasing to a lowest of 0.1 ± 0.1 for Echinocloa crus-galli. Lemna minor depicted maximum value of abundance (23.0 \pm 5.6), followed by Azolla sp. (16.2 \pm 4.4), Salvinia natans (11.5 \pm 0.9), Ceratophyllum demersum (7.7 \pm 1.0) and Nymphoides peltatum (6.7 \pm 0.8) in a decreasing order. Like that of density, the lowest value of abundance was, however, obtained for Echinocloa crus-galli (0.3 \pm 0.6). The overall mean value for IVI ranged between 2.0 \pm 3.5 for Echinocloa crus-galli to 49.2 ± 6.9 for Lemna minor. The other notable contributions to overall mean IVI were due to Azolla sp. (42.4 \pm 5.3), Salvinia natans (32.8 \pm 2.4), Ceratophyllum demersum (31.5 \pm 4.1), Nymphoides peltatum (31.1 \pm 2.8) and Marsilea *quadrifolia* (19.9 ±3.3).

Table 5.2.2.1.	Seasonal variations in frequency (%) of macrophytic species at Site I $% \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{T}}$
	during the study period

	Crossian		2	2011			,	2012	
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD
				Emerg	gents				
1	Alisma lanceolatum	0.0	30.0	0.0	10.0±17.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
2	Alisma plantago-aquatica	0.0	40.0	30.0	23.3±20.8	0.0	30.0	20.0	16.7±15.3
3	Bidens cernua	0.0	10.0	20.0	10.0±10.0	0.0	10.0	10.0	6.7±5.8
4	Butomus umbellatus	0.0	20.0	20.0	13.3±11.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
5	Carex sp.	0.0	20.0	10.0	10.0±10.0	0.0	20.0	10.0	10.0 ± 10.0
6	Cyperus serotinus	0.0	30.0	30.0	20.0±17.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
7	Echinocloa crus-galli	0.0	40.0	0.0	13.3±23.1	0.0	20.0	0.0	6.7±11.5
8	Eleocharis palustris	0.0	30.0	20.0	16.7±15.3	0.0	20.0	10.0	10.0 ± 10.0
9	Hippuris vulgaris	40.0	0.0	40.0	26.7±23.1	30.0	30.0	20.0	26.7±5.8
10	Lycopus europaeus	10.0	0.0	20.0	10.0 ± 10.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
11	Mentha arvensis	30.0	0.0	30.0	20.0±17.3	20.0	30.0	20.0	23.3±5.8
12	Myriophyllum aquaticum	30.0	50.0	40.0	40.0±10.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
13	Myriophyllum verticillatum	40.0	70.0	40.0	50.0±17.3	30.0	50.0	40.0	40.0±10.0
14	Nasturtium officinalis	20.0	40.0	0.0	20.0 ± 20.0	0.0	20.0	40.0	$20.0{\pm}20.0$
15	Phragmites australis	30.0	40.0	40.0	36.7±5.8	30.0	40.0	30.0	33.3±5.8
16	Polygonum hydropiper	40.0	50.0	40.0	43.3±5.8	20.0	40.0	20.0	26.7±11.5
17	Ranunculus muricatus	0.0	20.0	20.0	13.3±11.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
18	Ranunculus sceleratus	20.0	30.0	20.0	23.3±5.8	0.0	20.0	10.0	10.0 ± 10.0
19	Sagittaria sagittifolia	0.0	40.0	30.0	23.3±20.8	0.0	30.0	0.0	10.0±17.3
20	Scirpus lacustris	0.0	10.0	0.0	3.3±5.8	0.0	10.0	0.0	3.3±5.8
21	Scirpus palustris	0.0	20.0	0.0	6.7±11.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
22	Sium latijugam	20.0	30.0	0.0	16.7±15.3	0.0	20.0	0.0	6.7±11.5
23	Sparganium ramosum	30.0	40.0	30.0	33.3±5.8	0.0	30.0	20.0	16.7±15.3
24	Typha angustata	30.0	40.0	20.0	30.0±10.0	20.0	40.0	30.0	30.0±10.0
25	Typha latifolia	30.0	40.0	30.0	33.3±5.8	0.0	20.0	0.0	6.7±11.5
			R	ooted floati	ng-leaf type	[
26	Hydrocharis dubia	20.0	30.0	30.0	26.7±5.8	20.0	30.0	20.0	23.3±5.8
27	Marsilea quadrifolia	20.0	30.0	30.0	26.7±5.8	30.0	40.0	20.0	30.0±10.0
28	Nymphaea mexicana	20.0	30.0	20.0	23.3±5.8	0.0	20.0	20.0	13.3±11.5
29	Nymphoides peltatum	50.0	60.0	50.0	53.3±5.8	30.0	50.0	40.0	40.0±10.0
30	Potamogeton natans	30.0	40.0	30.0	33.3±5.8	20.0	20.0	30.0	23.3±5.8
31	Trapa natans	20.0	30.0	40.0	30.0±10.0	0.0	20.0	20.0	13.3±11.5
		20.0	40.0	Free-flo	oating	0.0	20.0	F C 0	
32	Azolla sp.	30.0	40.0	70.0	46.7±20.8	0.0	30.0	50.0	26.7±25.2
33	Lemna minor	20.0	40.0	60.0	40.0±20.0	30.0	20.0	30.0	26.7±5.8
34	Salvinia natans	40.0	50.0	50.0	46.7±5.8	10.0	30.0	20.0	20.0±10.0
25		40.0	20.0	Subme	rgeds	0.0	20.0	40.0	20.0.20.0
35	Ceratophyllum demersum	40.0	20.0	30.0	30.0±10.0	0.0	20.0	40.0	20.0 ± 20.0

	G			2011			2012			
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	
		1	1	Eme	rgents	1	1			
1	Alisma lanceolatum	0.0	1.2	0.0	0.4±0.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
2	Alisma plantago-aquatica	0.0	1.2	0.6	0.6±0.6	0.0	0.6	0.4	0.3±0.3	
3	Bidens cernua	0.0	0.3	0.4	0.2±0.2	0.0	0.2	0.1	0.1±0.1	
4	Butomus umbellatus	0.0	0.4	0.3	0.2±0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
5	<i>Carex</i> sp.	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.2±0.2	0.0	0.2	0.1	0.1±0.1	
6	Cyperus serotinus	0.0	0.4	0.5	0.3±0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
7	Echinocloa crus-galli	0.0	0.8	0.0	0.3±0.5	0.0	0.5	0.0	0.2±0.3	
8	Eleocharis palustris	0.0	0.4	0.3	0.2 ± 0.2	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.2 ± 0.2	
9	Hippuris vulgaris	0.7	0.0	0.9	0.5±0.5	0.5	0.7	0.6	0.6±0.1	
10	Lycopus europaeus	0.2	0.0	0.4	0.2 ± 0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
11	Mentha arvensis	0.5	0.0	0.7	0.4±0.4	0.3	0.5	0.4	0.4±0.1	
12	Myriophyllum aquaticum	0.7	1.1	0.9	0.9±0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
13	Myriophyllum verticillatum	1.3	2.2	1.6	1.7±0.5	0.8	1.5	1.2	1.2 ± 0.4	
14	Nasturtium officinalis	0.3	0.9	0.0	0.4±0.5	0.0	0.7	0.4	0.4±0.4	
15	Phragmites australis	1.1	1.5	1.3	1.3±0.2	0.7	1.0	0.8	0.8±0.2	
16	Polygonum hydropiper	0.8	1.3	1.0	1.0±0.3	0.6	0.9	0.7	0.7±0.2	
17	Ranunculus muricatus	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.2±0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
18	Ranunculus sceleratus	0.3	0.5	0.4	0.4±0.1	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.2±0.2	
19	Sagittaria sagittifolia	0.0	1.1	0.8	0.6±0.6	0.0	0.7	0.0	0.2±0.4	
20	Scirpus lacustris	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.1±0.1	0.0	0.3	0.0	0.1±0.2	
21	Scirpus palustris	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.1±0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
22	Sium latijugam	0.2	0.5	0.0	0.2±0.3	0.0	0.4	0.0	0.1±0.2	
23	Sparganium ramosum	0.4	0.9	0.6	0.6±0.3	0.0	0.6	0.4	0.3±0.3	
24	Typha angustata	0.8	1.0	0.6	0.8±0.2	0.6	0.8	0.7	0.7±0.1	
25	Typha latifolia	0.4	0.6	0.5	0.5±0.1	0.0	0.4	0.0	0.1±0.2	
				Rooted floa	ting-leaf type					
26	Hydrocharis dubia	0.5	0.9	0.7	0.7±0.2	0.4	0.7	0.5	0.5±0.2	
27	Marsilea quadrifolia	0.5	0.8	0.6	0.6±0.2	0.4	0.6	0.5	0.5±0.1	
28	Nymphaea mexicana	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.3±0.1	0.0	0.5	0.4	0.3±0.3	
29	Nymphoides peltatum	1.6	3.6	2.1	2.4±1.0	1.3	1.6	1.4	1.4 ± 0.2	
30	Potamogeton natans	0.8	1.4	1.0	1.1±0.3	0.4	0.6	0.7	0.6±0.2	
31	Trapa natans	0.6	1.0	0.7	0.8±0.2	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.2±0.2	
				Free-f	loating					
32	Azolla sp.	3.6	5.8	4.2	4.5±1.1	0.0	5.6	4.0	3.2±2.9	
33	Lemna minor	7.0	7.8	7.2	7.3±0.4	4.6	5.8	5.0	5.1±0.6	
34	Salvinia natans	3.0	5.8	4.0	4.3±1.4	2.0	2.6	2.2	2.3±0.3	
		1		Subm	ergeds					
35	Ceratophyllum demersum	1.4	1.7	1.5	1.5±0.2	0	1.1	1.0	0.7±0.6	

Table 5.2.2.2. Seasonal variations in density (individuals/m²) of macrophytic species at Site I during the study period

	Species			2011		2012			
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD
				Emerg	ents				
1	Alisma lanceolatum	0.0	3.0	0.0	1.0±1.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
2	Alisma plantago-aquatica	0.0	3.0	2.0	1.7±1.5	0.0	2.0	2.0	1.3 ± 1.2
3	Bidens cernua	0.0	3.0	2.0	1.7±1.5	0.0	2.0	1.0	1.0 ± 1.0
4	Butomus umbellatus	0.0	2.0	1.5	1.2 ± 1.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
5	Carex sp.	0.0	1.5	2.0	1.2 ± 1.0	0.0	1.0	1.0	0.7±0.6
6	Cyperus serotinus	0.0	1.3	1.7	1.0±0.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
7	Echinocloa crus-galli	0.0	2.0	0.0	0.7±1.2	0.0	2.5	0.0	0.8±1.4
8	Eleocharis palustris	0.0	1.3	1.5	0.9±0.8	0.0	1.5	1.0	0.8±0.8
9	Hippuris vulgaris	1.8	0.0	2.3	1.3±1.2	1.7	2.3	2.0	2.0±0.3
10	Lycopus europaeus	2.0	0.0	2.0	1.3±1.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
11	Mentha arvensis	1.7	0.0	2.3	1.3±1.2	1.5	1.7	2.0	1.7±0.3
12	Myriophyllum aquaticum	2.3	2.2	2.3	2.3±0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
13	Myriophyllum verticillatum	3.3	3.1	4.0	3.5±0.5	2.7	3.0	3.0	2.9±0.2
14	Nasturtium officinalis	1.5	2.3	0.0	1.3±1.1	0.0	2.3	1.3	1.2 ± 1.2
15	Phragmites australis	3.7	3.8	3.3	3.6±0.3	2.3	3.3	2.7	2.8±0.5
16	Polygonum hydropiper	2.0	2.6	2.5	2.4±0.3	3.0	3.0	2.3	2.8±0.4
17	Ranunculus muricatus	0.0	1.5	1.0	0.8±0.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
18	Ranunculus sceleratus	1.5	1.7	2.0	1.7±0.3	0.0	1.5	2.0	1.2 ± 1.0
19	Sagittaria sagittifolia	0.0	2.8	2.7	1.8±1.6	0.0	2.3	0.0	0.8±1.3
20	Scirpus lacustris	0.0	2.0	0.0	0.7±1.2	0.0	3.0	0.0	1.0±1.7
21	Scirpus palustris	0.0	1.0	0.0	0.3±0.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
22	Sium latijugam	1.0	1.7	0.0	0.9±0.8	0.0	2.0	0.0	0.7±1.2
23	Sparganium ramosum	1.3	2.3	2.0	1.9±0.5	0.0	2.0	2.0	1.3±1.2
24	Typha angustata	2.7	3.3	2.0	2.7±0.7	2.0	2.7	2.3	2.3±0.3
25	Typha latifolia	1.3	1.5	1.7	1.5 ± 0.2	0.0	2.0	0.0	0.7±1.2
		1	R	ooted floati	ng-leaf type	1		1	
26	Hydrocharis dubia	2.5	3.0	2.3	2.6±0.3	2.0	2.3	2.5	2.3±0.3
27	Marsilea quadrifolia	2.5	2.7	2.0	2.4±0.3	1.3	2.0	2.5	1.9±0.6
28	Nymphaea mexicana	1.5	2.0	1.0	1.5±0.5	0.0	2.5	2.0	1.5±1.3
29	Nymphoides peltatum	3.2	6.0	4.2	4.5±1.4	3.3	4.0	3.5	3.6±0.4
30	Potamogeton natans	2.7	3.5	3.3	3.2±0.4	2.0	2.0	2.3	2.1 ± 0.2
31	Trapa natans	2.0	3.3	2.3	2.6±0.7	0.0	1.5	1.0	0.8±0.8
			11.0	Free-flo	ating	0.0	14.0	10.0	00 - 0
32	Azolla sp.	7.2	11.6	10.5	9.8±2.3	0.0	14.0	10.0	8.0±7.2
33	Lemna minor	17.5	19.5	18.0	18.3±1.0	15.3	19.3	25.0	19.9±4.9
34	Salvinia natans	6.0	11.6	8.0 Solution	8.5±2.8	10.0	13.0	11.0	11.3±1.5
25	Counter to the time of an an	47	57	Subme	rgeas	0.0	27	2.2	<u>)</u> 2+20
35	Ceratophyllum demersum	4./	5.7	5.0	5.1±0.5	0.0	5./	5.5	2.3±2.0

 Table 5.2.2.3. Seasonal variations in abundance of macrophytic species at Site I during the study period

	Species		2	2011			2	2012	
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD
		-	-	Emerg	ents	-			
1	Alisma lanceolatum	0.0	7.8	0.0	2.6±4.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
2	Alisma plantago-aquatica	0.0	8.7	5.2	4.7±4.4	0.0	5.9	5.8	3.9±3.4
3	Bidens cernua	0.0	6.0	5.9	4.0±3.5	0.0	5.2	4.7	3.3±2.9
4	Butomus umbellatus	0.0	4.1	4.8	3.0±2.6	0.0	0.7	0.5	0.4±0.3
5	<i>Carex</i> sp.	0.0	3.9	4.0	2.6±2.3	0.0	3.6	2.9	2.2±1.9
6	Cyperus serotinus	0.0	4.5	5.5	3.3±2.9	0.0	0.7	0.5	0.4±0.3
7	Echinocloa crus-galli	0.0	6.2	1.5	2.5±3.2	0.0	5.0	0.0	1.7±2.9
8	Eleocharis palustris	0.0	5.6	3.7	3.1±2.8	0.0	5.7	2.9	2.9±2.9
9	Hippuris vulgaris	8.4	0.9	7.4	5.6±4.1	13.9	7.2	6.7	9.2±4.0
10	Lycopus europaeus	6.7	0.0	6.8	4.5±3.9	4.0	2.3	2.7	3.0±0.9
11	Mentha arvensis	7.5	0.0	6.7	4.7±4.1	10.1	5.5	5.8	7.1±2.6
12	Myriophyllum aquaticum	9.5	6.4	8.6	8.2±1.6	2.4	1.7	1.8	2.0±0.4
13	Myriophyllum verticillatum	12.9	11.3	11.0	11.8±1.0	16.0	9.4	10.4	12.0±3.5
14	Nasturtium officinalis	9.8	10.2	4.7	8.2±3.1	6.3	9.9	14.0	10.1±3.8
15	Phragmites australis	10.5	8.7	7.6	8.9±1.5	15.3	10.8	10.1	12.1±2.8
16	Polygonum hydropiper	12.8	9.9	10.6	11.1±1.5	18.8	11.5	9.8	13.4±4.8
17	Ranunculus muricatus	3.0	5.9	6.1	5.0±1.7	4.8	3.0	3.2	3.6±1.0
18	Ranunculus sceleratus	5.0	4.8	4.8	4.8±0.1	0.0	4.1	4.0	2.7±2.3
19	Sagittaria sagittifolia	1.1	7.0	7.1	5.1±3.4	0.0	7.2	0.9	2.7±3.9
20	Scirpus lacustris	0.0	5.0	2.3	2.4±2.5	0.0	6.5	0.0	2.2±3.8
21	Scirpus palustris	0.0	3.1	0.0	1.0±1.8	0.0	1.0	0.0	0.3±0.6
22	Sium latijugam	4.4	4.5	0.0	3.0±2.6	0.0	4.5	0.0	1.5±2.6
23	Sparganium ramosum	7.0	6.6	5.2	6.3±0.9	0.0	7.2	5.8	4.3±3.8
24	Typha angustata	9.5	8.4	5.9	7.9±1.8	11.1	9.8	9.7	10.2±0.8
25	Typha latifolia	9.3	7.0	6.6	7.6±1.4	4.8	7.2	3.2	5.0±2.0
			Ro	oted floatir	ng-leaf type				
26	Hydrocharis dubia	7.8	6.5	7.0	7.1±0.6	11.1	7.5	6.4	8.3±2.5
27	Marsilea quadrifolia	8.2	6.9	7.3	7.5±0.7	16.3	9.5	8.6	11.5±4.2
28	Nymphaea mexicana	6.9	6.1	4.9	6.0±1.0	3.2	7.0	8.0	6.1±2.6
29	Nymphoides peltatum	12.9	11.4	10.2	11.5±1.4	17.2	12.1	12.8	14.0±2.8
30	Potamogeton natans	14.0	14.3	12.7	13.7±0.8	21.5	9.9	14.3	15.2±5.8
31	Trapa natans	8.6	8.5	9.6	8.9±0.6	3.2	6.1	7.8	5.7±2.3
				Free-flo	ating	r		1	1
32	Azolla sp.	16.3	15.6	20.3	17.4±2.5	0.0	18.3	21.1	13.1±11.5
33	Lemna minor	39.5	32.7	37.1	36.4±3.5	42.9	39.8	51.8	44.8±6.3
34	Salvinia natans	39.9	31.1	34.5	35.2±4.4	61.2	35.7	38.7	45.2±13.9
		1	1	Submer	geds	1		1	r
35	Ceratophyllum demersum	23.3	19.1	20.0	20.8 ± 2.2	15.9	14.8	20.8	17.1±3.2

Table 5.2.2.4. Seasonal variations in IVI of macrophytic species at Site I during the study period

	(manian)			2011			2	012	
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD
				Emerge	ents		•	•	•
1	Alternanthera philoxeroides	0.0	20.0	20.0	13.3±11.5	0.0	25.0	0.0	8.3±0.0
2	Eleocharis palustris	0.0	10.0	0.0	3.3±5.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
3	Myriophyllum aquaticum	40.0	50.0	40.0	43.3±5.8	15.0	25.0	0.0	13.3±12.6
4	Myriophyllum verticillatum	45.0	50.0	40.0	45.0±5.0	35.0	45.0	30.0	36.7±7.6
5	Nasturtium officinalis	30.0	30.0	0.0	20.0±17.3	0.0	25.0	20.0	15.0±13.2
6	Phragmites australis	25.0	40.0	40.0	35.0±8.7	25.0	30.0	30.0	28.3±2.9
7	Polygonum amphibium	35.0	45.0	40.0	40.0±5.0	25.0	30.0	30.0	28.3±2.9
8	Polygonum hydropiper	30.0	40.0	30.0	33.3±5.8	25.0	35.0	40.0	33.3±7.6
9	Ranunculus muricatus	0.0	20.0	10.0	10.0±10.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
10	Ranunculus sceleratus	30.0	0.0	20.0	16.7±15.3	0.0	15.0	10.0	8.3±7.6
11	Sium latijugam	0.0	20.0	20.0	13.3±11.5	0.0	15.0	30.0	15.0±15.0
12	Sparganium ramosum	30.0	0.0	20.0	16.7±15.3	0.0	15.0	20.0	11.7±10.4
13	Typha angustata	30.0	35.0	30.0	31.7±2.9	15.0	25.0	30.0	23.3±7.6
14	Typha latifolia	0.0	30.0	0.0	10.0±17.3	0.0	15.0	0.0	5.0±8.7
			Ro	oted-floatin	g leaf type				
15	Hydrocharis dubia	30.0	20.0	30.0	26.7±5.8	15.0	30.0	30.0	25.0±8.7
16	Marsilea quadrifolia	20.0	30.0	40.0	30.0±10.0	15.0	25.0	30.0	23.3±7.6
17	Nymphaea mexicana	20.0	20.0	30.0	23.3±5.8	15.0	25.0	10.0	16.7±7.6
18	Nymphoides peltatum	65.0	75.0	60.0	66.7±7.6	55.0	50.0	45.0	50.0±5.0
19	Potamogeton natans	30.0	40.0	30.0	33.3±5.8	25.0	30.0	30.0	28.3±2.9
20	Trapa natans	20.0	35.0	30.0	28.3±7.6	25.0	30.0	35.0	30.0±5.0
				Free-floati	ng type				
21	Azolla sp.	50.0	45.0	50.0	48.3±2.9	25.0	30.0	35.0	30.0±5.0
22	Lemna major	0.0	20.0	20.0	13.3±11.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
23	Lemna minor	45.0	30.0	40.0	38.3±7.6	25.0	25.0	30.0	26.7±2.9
24	Lemna trisulca	20.0	30.0	0.0	16.7±15.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
25	Spirodela polyrhiza	30.0	30.0	0.0	20.0±17.3	0.0	25.0	20.0	15.0±13.2
26	Salvinia natans	60.0	35.0	45.0	46.7±12.6	25.0	30.0	35.0	30.0±5.0
				Submer	geds				
27	Ceratophyllum demersum	40.0	50.0	50.0	46.7±5.8	45.00	30.00	40.00	38.3±7.6
28	Myriophyllum spicatum	0.0	20.0	30.0	16.7±15.3	0.00	20.00	0.00	6.7±11.5
29	Potamogeton crispus	30.0	20.0	30.0	26.7±5.8	25.00	30.00	20.00	25.0±5.0
30	Potamogeton lucens	30.0	20.0	20.0	23.3±5.8	25.00	20.00	30.00	25.0±5.0

Table 5.2.2.5. Seasonal variations in frequency (%) of macrophytic species at SiteII during the study period

	Spagios		2	2011				2012	
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD
				Emerge	nts				
1	Alternanthera philoxeroides	0.0	0.9	0.7	0.5±0.5	0.0	0.5	0.0	0.2±0.3
2	Eleocharis palustris	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.1±0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
3	Myriophyllum aquaticum	0.8	1	0.9	0.9±0.1	0.4	0.8	0.0	0.4±0.4
4	Myriophyllum verticillatum	1.5	1.9	1.7	1.7±0.2	1.2	1.3	1.1	1.2 ± 0.1
5	Nasturtium officinalis	0.5	0.7	0.0	0.4±0.4	0.0	0.5	0.3	0.3±0.3
6	Phragmites australis	1.0	1.2	1.1	1.1±0.1	0.6	0.8	0.6	0.7±0.1
7	Polygonum amphibium	0.8	1.1	1.0	1.0 ± 0.2	0.5	0.7	0.5	0.6±0.1
8	Polygonum hydropiper	0.7	1.2	1.0	1.0±0.3	0.6	0.9	0.7	0.7±0.2
9	Ranunculus muricatus	0.0	0.4	0.2	0.2±0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
10	Ranunculus sceleratus	0.4	0.0	0.4	0.3±0.2	0.0	0.4	0.2	0.2±0.2
11	Sium latijugam	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.2±0.2	0.0	0.2	0.4	0.2±0.2
12	Sparganium ramosum	0.4	0.0	0.3	0.2±0.2	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.2±0.2
13	Typha angustata	0.8	1.1	0.9	0.9±0.2	0.5	0.7	0.5	0.6±0.1
14	Typha latifolia	0.0	0.5	0.0	0.2±0.3	0.0	0.3	0.0	0.1±0.2
			Roo	ted-floating	g leaf type				
15	Hydrocharis dubia	0.5	0.8	0.6	0.6±0.2	0.4	0.8	0.6	0.6±0.2
16	Marsilea quadrifolia	0.4	0.8	0.9	0.7±0.3	0.3	0.6	0.5	0.5±0.2
17	Nymphaea mexicana	0.5	0.7	0.6	0.6±0.1	0.3	0.5	0.2	0.3±0.2
18	Nymphoides peltatum	4.8	5.2	4.5	4.8±0.4	2.4	3.0	2.5	2.6±0.3
19	Potamogeton natans	1.2	1.5	1.1	1.3±0.2	0.7	0.9	0.6	0.7±0.2
20	Trapa natans	0.8	1.1	0.9	0.9±0.2	0.6	0.7	0.5	0.6±0.1
]	Free-floatin	g type				
21	Azolla sp.	4.4	5.8	5.4	5.2±0.7	3.0	4.6	3.6	3.7±0.8
22	Lemna major	0.0	2.2	19.0	7.1±10.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
23	Lemna minor	8.0	6.6	8.6	7.7±1.0	5.8	7.4	6.6	6.6±0.8
24	Lemna trisulca	1.0	1.3	0.0	0.8±0.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
25	Spirodela polyrhiza	0.9	1.3	0.0	0.7±0.7	0.0	1.2	1.0	0.7±0.6
26	Salvinia natans	4.0	4.6	4.2	4.3±0.3	3.0	3.8	3.6	3.5±0.4
				Submerg	eds				
27	Ceratophyllum demersum	2.9	3.5	3.1	3.2±0.3	2.5	2.6	2.3	2.5±0.2
28	Myriophyllum spicatum	0.0	0.5	0.4	0.3±0.3	0.0	0.4	0.0	0.1±0.2
29	Potamogeton crispus	0.8	1.1	1.2	1.0 ± 0.2	0.9	1.0	0.7	0.9±0.2
30	Potamogeton lucens	0.4	0.6	0.5	0.5±0.1	0.6	0.8	0.6	0.7±0.1

Table 5.2.2.6. Seasonal variations in density (individuals/m²) of macrophytic species at Site II during the study period

	Species			2011		2012				
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	
				Emerge	nts					
1	Alternanthera philoxeroides	0.0	4.5	3.5	2.7±2.4	0.0	2.5	0.0	0.8±1.4	
2	Eleocharis palustris	0.0	2.0	0.0	0.7±1.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
3	Myriophyllum aquaticum	2.0	2.0	2.3	2.1±0.1	2.0	2.7	0.0	1.6±1.4	
4	Myriophyllum verticillatum	3.0	3.8	4.3	3.7±0.6	3.0	3.3	3.7	3.3±0.3	
5	Nasturtium officinalis	1.7	2.3	0.0	1.3±1.2	0.0	1.7	1.5	1.1±0.9	
6	Phragmites australis	2.5	3.0	2.8	2.8±0.3	2.0	2.7	2.0	2.2±0.4	
7	Polygonum amphibium	2.0	2.8	2.5	2.4±0.4	1.7	2.3	1.7	1.9±0.4	
8	Polygonum hydropiper	2.3	3.0	3.3	2.9±0.5	2.0	3.0	1.8	2.3±0.7	
9	Ranunculus muricatus	0.0	2.0	2.0	1.3±1.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
10	Ranunculus sceleratus	1.3	0.0	2.0	1.1±1.0	0.0	2.0	2.0	1.3±1.2	
11	Sium latijugam	0.0	1.5	1.0	0.8±0.8	0.0	1.0	1.3	0.8±0.7	
12	Sparganium ramosum	1.3	0.0	1.5	0.9±0.8	0.0	1.5	1.0	0.8 ± 0.8	
13	Typha angustata	2.7	3.7	3.0	3.1±0.5	2.5	2.3	1.7	2.2 ± 0.4	
14	Typha latifolia	0.0	1.7	0.0	0.6±1.0	0.0	1.5	0.0	0.5±0.9	
			R	ooted-floating	g leaf type					
15	Hydrocharis dubia	1.7	4.0	2.0	2.6±1.3	2.0	2.7	2.0	$2.2{\pm}0.4$	
16	Marsilea quadrifolia	2.0	2.7	2.3	2.3±0.3	1.5	2.0	1.7	1.7±0.3	
17	Nymphaea mexicana	2.5	3.5	2.0	2.7±0.8	1.5	1.7	2.0	1.7±0.3	
18	Nymphoides peltatum	6.9	7.4	7.5	7.3±0.4	4.0	6.0	5.0	5.0±1.0	
19	Potamogeton natans	4.0	3.8	3.7	3.8±0.2	2.3	3.0	2.0	2.4±0.5	
20	Trapa natans	2.7	3.7	3.0	3.1±0.5	2.0	2.3	1.7	2.0±0.3	
				Free-floatir	ng type		1	1		
21	Azolla sp.	8.8	11.6	10.8	10.4±1.4	10.0	15.3	12.0	12.4±2.7	
22	Lemna major	0.0	11.0	9.5	6.8±6.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
23	Lemna minor	20.0	22.0	21.5	21.2±1.0	19.3	24.7	22.0	22.0 ± 2.7	
24	Lemna trisulca	5.0	4.3	0.0	3.1±2.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
25	Spirodela polyrhiza	3.0	4.3	0.0	2.4±2.2	0.0	3.0	5.0	2.7 ± 2.5	
26	Salvinia natans	8.0	9.2	10.5	9.2±1.3	10.0	12.7	12.0	11.6±1.4	
				Submerg	geds		r			
27	Ceratophyllum demersum	7.3	7.0	6.2	6.8±0.5	5.0	6.5	5.8	5.8±0.8	
28	Myriophyllum spicatum	0.0	2.5	1.3	1.3±1.3	0.0	2.0	0.0	0.7±1.2	
29	Potamogeton crispus	2.7	5.5	4.0	4.1±1.4	3.0	3.3	3.5	3.3±0.3	
30	Potamogeton lucens	1.3	3.0	2.5	2.3±0.9	2.0	4.0	2.0	2.7±1.2	

 Table 5.2.2.7. Seasonal variations in abundance of macrophytic species at Site II during the study period

	Species			2011		2012					
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD		
	Emergents										
1	Alternanthera philoxeroides	0.0	7.5	6.8	4.8±4.1	0.0	48.9	0.0	16.3±28.2		
2	Eleocharis palustris	0.0	3.0	0.0	1.0±1.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
3	Myriophyllum aquaticum	9.3	9.5	8.6	9.2±0.5	66.0	50.2	0.0	38.7±34.5		
4	Myriophyllum verticillatum	12.9	12.4	11.6	12.3±0.6	152.9	88.1	115.8	118.9±32.5		
5	Nasturtium officinalis	6.9	6.5	0.0	4.5±3.9	0.0	48.2	74.6	40.9±37.8		
6	Phragmites australis	8.5	9.2	9.3	9.0±0.4	108.0	59.0	112.2	93.1±29.6		
7	Polygonum amphibium	8.7	9.3	8.9	9.0±0.3	107.1	58.4	111.5	92.3±29.5		
8	Polygonum hydropiper	8.2	9.2	8.4	8.6±0.5	108.0	68.6	148.3	108.3±39.8		
9	Ranunculus muricatus	0.0	4.5	3.4	2.6±2.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
10	Ranunculus sceleratus	6.3	0.0	4.9	3.7±3.3	0.0	30.1	38.8	23.0±20.4		
11	Sium latijugam	0.0	4.0	3.7	2.6±2.2	0.0	28.6	110.8	46.5±57.5		
12	Sparganium ramosum	6.3	0.0	4.3	3.5±3.2	0.0	29.4	73.7	34.4±37.1		
13	Typha angustata	8.8	8.9	7.9	8.5±0.5	67.1	49.3	111.5	76.0±32.0		
14	Typha latifolia	0.0	5.6	0.0	1.9±3.2	0.0	29.4	0.0	9.8±16.9		
			Re	oted-floati	ng leaf type						
15	Hydrocharis dubia	6.9	6.9	6.5	6.8±0.2	66.0	59.0	112.2	79.1±28.9		
16	Marsilea quadrifolia	5.7	7.0	8.5	7.1±1.4	64.9	48.8	111.5	75.1±32.6		
17	Nymphaea mexicana	6.5	6.3	6.5	6.4±0.1	64.9	48.2	38.8	50.7±13.2		
18	Nymphoides peltatum	28.3	24.8	21.8	25.0±3.3	241.5	104.4	176.2	174.0±68.6		
19	Potamogeton natans	11.3	10.4	8.8	10.2±1.2	108.8	59.6	112.2	93.5±29.5		
20	Trapa natans	7.5	8.9	7.9	8.1±0.7	108.0	58.4	129.5	98.6±36.5		
				Free-float	ing type						
21	Azolla sp.	27.4	25.9	25.0	26.1±1.2	128.4	81.0	151.7	120.4±36.1		
22	Lemna major	0.0	15.1	43.4	19.5±22.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
23	Lemna minor	48.2	33.8	38.9	40.3±7.3	152.3	88.1	155.3	131.9±37.9		
24	Lemna trisulca	10.5	9.3	0.0	6.6±5.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
25	Spirodela polyrhiza	9.4	9.3	0.0	6.2±5.4	0.0	51.4	80.9	44.1±40.9		
26	Salvinia natans	26.8	20.5	22.1	23.1±3.3	128.4	76.3	151.7	118.8±38.6		
				Submer	geds						
27	Ceratophyllum demersum	20.5	18.2	17.0	18.6±1.8	202.1	67.5	158.3	142.6±68.7		
28	Myriophyllum spicatum	0.0	5.1	5.6	3.6±3.1	0.0	39.1	0.0	13.0±22.6		
29	Potamogeton crispus	8.8	8.7	9.3	8.9±0.4	110.5	60.1	78.2	83.0±25.5		
30	Potamogeton lucens	6.3	5.7	5.6	5.9±0.4	108.0	42.0	112.2	87.4±39.4		

 Table 5.2.2.8. Seasonal variations in IVI of macrophytic species at Site II during the study period

Table 5.2.2.9. Seasonal variations in frequency (%) of macrophytic species at Site

III during th	ie study	period
---------------	----------	--------

	Species			2011		2012				
S.No	species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	
	Emergents									
1	Eleocharis palustris	0.0	0.0	30.0	10.0±17.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
2	Myriophyllum verticillatum	40.0	50.0	40.0	43.3±5.8	40.0	40.0	30.0	36.7±5.8	
3	Phragmites australis	40.0	50.0	40.0	43.3±5.8	30.0	40.0	30.0	33.3±5.8	
4	Polygonum amphibium	30.0	30.0	40.0	33.3±5.8	20.0	30.0	20.0	23.3±5.8	
5	Polygonum hydropiper	30.0	30.0	40.0	33.3±5.8	20.0	30.0	20.0	23.3±5.8	
6	Typha angustata	20.0	30.0	40.0	30.0±10.0	20.0	30.0	20.0	23.3±5.8	
7	Typha latifolia	0.0	10.0	0.0	3.3±5.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
			Re	ooted-floati	ng leaf type					
8	Hydrocharis dubia	20.0	40.0	40.0	33.3±11.5	20.0	40.0	20.0	26.7±11.5	
9	Marsilea quadrifolia	20.0	30.0	50.0	33.3±15.3	30.0	20.0	40.0	30.0±10.0	
10	Nymphaea alba	20.0	30.0	20.0	23.3±5.8	0.0	20.0	20.0	13.3±11.5	
11	Nymphaea mexicana	30.0	40.0	30.0	33.3±5.8	20.0	30.0	20.0	23.3±5.8	
12	Nymphaea pygmea	0.0	30.0	0.0	10.0±17.3	0.0	30.0	30.0	20.0±17.3	
13	Nymphoides peltatum	40.0	70.0	50.0	53.3±15.3	50.0	60.0	40.0	50.0±10.0	
14	Potamogeton natans	30.0	40.0	30.0	33.3±5.8	30.0	30.0	20.0	26.7±5.8	
15	Trapa bispinosa	0.0	30.0	0.0	10.0±17.3	0.0	20.0	0.0	6.7±11.5	
16	Trapa natans	30.0	50.0	30.0	36.7±11.5	20.0	40.0	20.0	26.7±11.5	
				Free-float	ing type					
17	Azolla sp.	40.0	40.0	30.0	36.7±5.8	30.0	20.0	20.0	23.3±5.8	
18	Lemna minor	40.0	20.0	30.0	30.0±10.0	20.0	40.0	20.0	26.7±11.5	
19	Salvinia natans	30.0	40.0	30.0	33.3±5.8	10.0	30.0	20.0	20.0±10.0	
	Submergeds									
20	Ceratophyllum demersum	40.0	30.0	30.0	33.3±5.8	40.0	20.0	30.0	30.0±10.0	
21	Potamogeton crispus	20.0	30.0	40.0	30.0±10.0	20.0	30.0	20.0	23.3±5.8	

	Encolog	2011				2012				
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	
	Emergents									
1	Eleocharis palustris	0	0.0	0.4	0.1±0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
2	Myriophyllum verticillatum	1.2	1.5	1.3	1.3±0.2	1.0	1.4	1.2	1.2 ± 0.2	
3	Phragmites australis	0.9	1.2	0.9	1.0 ± 0.2	0.7	0.9	0.6	0.7±0.2	
4	Polygonum amphibium	0.8	1.0	0.7	0.8±0.2	0.4	0.6	0.3	0.4±0.2	
5	Polygonum hydropiper	0.5	0.8	0.6	0.6±0.2	0.3	0.6	0.4	0.4±0.2	
6	Typha angustata	0.5	0.9	0.7	0.7±0.2	0.3	0.5	0.3	0.4±0.1	
7	Typha latifolia	0	0.3	0.0	0.1±0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
			R	ooted-floati	ng leaf type					
8	Hydrocharis dubia	0.6	0.8	0.6	0.7±0.1	0.5	0.7	0.5	0.6±0.1	
9	Marsilea quadrifolia	0.8	1.1	1.2	1.0±0.2	0.5	0.8	0.6	0.6±0.2	
10	Nymphaea alba	0.3	0.5	0.4	0.4±0.1	0.0	0.3	0.4	0.2±0.2	
11	Nymphaea mexicana	0.5	0.7	0.6	0.6±0.1	0.3	0.5	0.3	0.4±0.1	
12	Nymphaea pygmea	0.0	0.6	0.0	0.2±0.3	0.0	0.4	0.3	0.2±0.2	
13	Nymphoides peltatum	3.1	3.4	3.2	3.2±0.2	2.4	3.1	2.6	2.7±0.4	
14	Potamogeton natans	0.9	1.1	0.9	1.0 ± 0.1	0.7	1.0	0.6	0.8±0.2	
15	Trapa bispinosa	0.0	0.4	0.0	0.1±0.2	0.0	0.3	0.0	0.1±0.2	
16	Trapa natans	0.8	1.1	0.8	0.9±0.2	0.6	0.8	0.5	0.6±0.2	
				Free-float	ting type					
17	Azolla sp.	4.2	5.2	4.4	4.6±0.5	3.2	4.4	4.0	3.9±0.6	
18	Lemna minor	6.0	4.2	4.0	4.7±1.1	6.2	7.2	5.4	6.3±0.9	
19	Salvinia natans	3.0	3.8	3.0	3.3±0.5	2.6	3.2	2.6	2.8±0.3	
				Subme	rgeds					
20	Ceratophyllum demersum	1.8	2.6	2.1	2.2±0.4	1.6	2.0	1.7	1.8±0.2	
21	Potamogeton crispus	0.6	0.8	0.9	0.8±0.2	0.7	1.0	0.8	0.8±0.2	

Table 5.2.2.10. Seasonal variations in density (individuals/m²) of macrophytic species at Site III during the study period

Table 5.2.2.11. Seasonal variations in abundance of macrophytic species at Site III

	Sm ant an			2011		2012			
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD
	Emergents								
1	Eleocharis palustris	0.0	0.0	1.3	0.4±0.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
2	Myriophyllum verticillatum	3.0	3.0	2.6	2.9±0.2	2.5	3.5	4.0	3.3±0.8
3	Phragmites australis	2.3	3.0	3.0	2.8±0.4	2.3	2.3	2.0	2.2±0.2
4	Polygonum amphibium	2.7	3.3	2.3	2.8±0.5	2.0	2.0	1.5	1.8±0.3
5	Polygonum hydropiper	1.7	2.7	2.0	2.1±0.5	1.5	2.0	2.0	1.8±0.3
6	Typha angustata	2.5	4.5	2.3	3.1±1.2	1.5	1.7	1.5	1.6±0.1
7	Typha latifolia	0.0	1.5	0.0	0.5±0.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
			R	ooted-floati	ng leaf type				
8	Hydrocharis dubia	2.0	2.7	2.0	2.2±0.4	1.7	2.3	2.5	2.2±0.4
9	Marsilea quadrifolia	2.7	3.7	3.0	3.1±0.5	1.7	2.7	2.0	2.1±0.5
10	Nymphaea alba	1.5	2.5	2.0	2.0±0.5	0.0	1.5	2.0	1.2 ± 1.0
11	Nymphaea mexicana	1.7	2.3	2.0	2.0±0.3	1.5	1.7	1.5	1.6±0.1
12	Nymphaea pygmea	0.0	2.0	0.0	0.7±1.2	0.0	1.3	1.0	0.8±0.7
13	Nymphoides peltatum	6.2	6.8	6.4	6.5±0.3	4.8	5.2	6.5	5.5±0.9
14	Potamogeton natans	3.0	3.7	3.0	3.2±0.4	2.3	3.3	3.0	2.9±0.5
15	Trapa bispinosa	0.0	1.3	0.0	0.4±0.8	0.0	1.5	0.0	0.5±0.9
16	Trapa natans	2.7	2.2	2.7	2.5±0.3	2.0	2.7	2.5	2.4±0.3
				Free-float	ting type				
17	Azolla sp.	10.5	13.0	14.7	12.7±2.1	16.0	22.0	20.0	19.3±3.1
18	Lemna minor	15.0	21.0	13.3	16.4±4.0	20.7	24.0	27.0	23.9±3.2
19	Salvinia natans	10.0	9.5	10.0	9.8±0.3	13.0	16.0	13.0	14.0±1.7
				Subme	rgeds				
20	Ceratophyllum demersum	6.0	6.5	7.0	6.5±0.5	5.3	6.7	5.7	5.9±0.7
21	Potamogeton crispus	2.0	2.7	4.5	3.1±1.3	2.3	3.3	4.0	3.2±0.8

during the study period

	Species			2011		2012					
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD		
				Em	ergents						
1	Eleocharis palustris	0.0	0.0	7.8	2.6±4.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
2	Myriophyllum verticillatum	0.0	0.0	7.8	2.6±4.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
3	Phragmites australis	16.2	14.7	14.2	15.0±1.0	17.2	14.7	15.9	15.9±1.2		
4	Polygonum amphibium	14.1	13.8	13.2	13.7±0.5	13.2	11.8	11.4	12.1±0.9		
5	Polygonum hydropiper	12.3	10.7	11.6	11.6±0.8	9.0	8.9	7.3	8.4±1.0		
6	Typha angustata	9.9	9.4	10.9	10.0±0.8	8.0	8.9	8.2	8.4±0.5		
7	Typha latifolia	9.1	11.6	11.6	10.8±1.5	8.0	8.3	7.3	7.9±0.5		
	Rooted-floating leaf type										
8	Hydrocharis dubia	0.0	3.9	0.0	1.3±2.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
9	Marsilea quadrifolia	8.8	10.8	10.9	10.1±1.2	9.1	11.2	9.2	9.8±1.2		
10	Nymphaea alba	10.4	11.3	15.9	12.5±2.9	11.5	8.5	13.7	11.2±2.6		
11	Nymphaea mexicana	7.0	8.3	7.0	7.4±0.8	0.0	5.8	8.2	4.7±4.2		
12	Nymphaea pygmea	9.9	10.1	9.3	9.8±0.4	8.0	8.3	7.3	7.9±0.5		
13	Nymphoides peltatum	0.0	8.1	0.0	2.7±4.7	0.0	7.6	9.1	5.6±4.9		
14	Potamogeton natans	27.6	27.3	27.4	27.4±0.2	28.7	25.3	26.7	26.9±1.7		
15	Trapa bispinosa	13.2	12.7	11.6	12.5±0.8	13.2	11.5	10.1	11.6±1.6		
16	Trapa natans	0.0	6.8	0.0	2.3±3.9	0.0	5.8	0.0	1.9±3.3		
				Free-fl	oating type						
17	Azolla sp.	12.3	12.6	10.8	11.9±1.0	10.0	11.9	9.2	10.3±1.4		
18	Lemna minor	37.5	35.1	38.6	37.1±1.8	41.4	39.0	41.5	40.6±1.4		
19	Salvinia natans	50.3	37.4	35.5	41.1±8.0	58.4	53.7	54.5	55.5±2.5		
				Sub	mergeds						
20	Ceratophyllum demersum	30.4	27.1	27.8	28.4±1.7	30.2	30.9	28.6	29.9±1.2		
21	Potamogeton crispus	22.5	18.9	20.9	20.8±1.8	23.4	16.4	19.7	19.8±3.5		

Table 5.2.2.12. Seasonal variations in IVI of macrophytic species at Site III during the study period
Table 5.2.2.13. Seasonal variations in frequency ((%) of macrophytic species at Site
IV during the study period	

	Species		2	2011		2012					
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD		
				Emerg	gents						
1	Myriophyllum verticillatum	20.0	30.0	30.0	26.7±5.8	30.0	30.0	20.0	26.7±5.8		
2	Polygonum amphibium	10.0	30.0	40.0	26.7±15.3	20.0	30.0	20.0	23.3±5.8		
3	Polygonum hydropiper	30.0	40.0	30.0	33.3±5.8	20.0	30.0	30.0	26.7±5.8		
4	Typha angustata	20.0	10.0	30.0	20.0 ± 10.0	0.0	20.0	20.0	13.3±11.5		
	Rooted-floating leaf type										
5	Hydrocharis dubia	40.0	20.0	30.0	30.0±10.0	30.0	20.0	40.0	30.0±10.0		
6	Marsilea quadrifolia	10.0	20.0	30.0	20.0 ± 10.0	20.0	30.0	30.0	26.7±5.8		
7	Nymphoides peltatum	50.0	60.0	50.0	53.3±5.8	30.0	50.0	50.0	43.3±11.5		
8	Potamogeton natans	20.0	40.0	20.0	26.7±11.5	30.0	40.0	30.0	33.3±5.8		
9	Trapa natans	30.0	40.0	30.0	33.3±5.8	20.0	30.0	30.0	26.7±5.8		
				Free-float	ting type						
10	Azolla sp.	40.0	50.0	40.0	43.3±5.8	0.0	30.0	20.0	16.7±15.3		
11	Lemna major	0.0	30.0	30.0	20.0±17.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
12	Lemna minor	30.0	40.0	30.0	33.3±5.8	20.0	10.0	30.0	20.0±10.0		
13	Spirodela polyrhiza	0.0	30.0	0.0	10.0±17.3	0.0	20.0	0.0	6.7±11.5		
14	Salvinia natans	30.0	40.0	30.0	33.3±5.8	0.0	30.0	20.0	16.7±15.3		
				Subme	rgeds						
15	Ceratophyllum demersum	40.0	50.0	50.0	46.7±5.8	40.0	50.0	40.0	43.3±5.8		
16	Hydrilla verticillata	0.0	40.0	20.0	$20.0{\pm}20.0$	30.0	30.0	20.0	26.7±5.8		
17	Potamogeton crispus	10.0	20.0	30.0	$20.0{\pm}10.0$	30.0	40.0	40.0	36.7±5.8		
18	Potamogeton lucens	30.0	0.0	30.0	20.0±17.3	30.0	30.0	20.0	26.7±5.8		

	Spagios			2011				2012		
S.No	species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	
			-	Eme	ergents	_	-			
1	Myriophyllum verticillatum	0.8	1.3	1	1.0±0.3	0.6	0.8	0.6	0.7±0.1	
2	Polygonum amphibium	0.8	1	0.8	0.9±0.1	0.6	0.8	0.5	0.6±0.2	
3	Polygonum hydropiper	0.6	0.9	0.7	0.7±0.2	0.5	0.7	0.6	0.6±0.1	
4	Typha angustata	0.4	0.6	0.5	0.5±0.1	0.0	0.4	0.3	0.2±0.2	
	Rooted-floating leaf type									
5	Hydrocharis dubia	0.5	0.7	0.6	0.6±0.1	0.5	0.7	0.6	0.6±0.1	
6	Marsilea quadrifolia	0.7	0.8	0.5	0.7±0.2	0.5	0.7	0.5	0.6±0.1	
7	Nymphoides peltatum	2.1	3.2	2.8	2.7±0.6	1.9	2.3	2	2.1±0.2	
8	Potamogeton natans	1.2	1.2	0.8	1.1±0.2	0.8	1.0	0.9	0.9±0.1	
9	Trapa natans	0.8	1.2	0.8	0.9±0.2	0.6	0.7	0.5	0.6±0.1	
				Free-flo	ating type					
10	Azolla sp.	4.0	6.6	5.6	5.4±1.3	0.0	5.0	4.2	3.1±2.7	
11	Lemna major	0.0	4.0	0.0	1.3±2.3	0.0	0.0	0	0.0±0.0	
12	Lemna minor	5.0	6.0	5.0	5.3±0.6	4.4	5.6	4.2	4.7±0.8	
13	Spirodela polyrhiza	0.0	1.1	0.0	0.4±0.6	0.0	0.9	0	0.3±0.5	
14	Salvinia natans	1.8	2.8	2.4	2.3±0.5	0.0	2.4	2	1.5±1.3	
				Subn	nergeds					
15	Ceratophyllum demersum	2.1	3.5	2.9	2.8±0.7	2.6	3.4	2.7	2.9±0.4	
16	Hydrilla verticillata	0.0	1.6	1.3	1.0±0.9	1.3	1.5	0.6	1.1±0.5	
17	Potamogeton crispus	0.6	0.9	0.6	0.7±0.2	1.0	1.3	0.9	1.1±0.2	
18	Potamogeton lucens	0.5	0.0	0.6	0.4±0.3	0.6	0.9	0.5	0.7±0.2	

Table 5.2.2.14. Seasonal variations in density (individuals/m²) of macrophytic species at Site IV during the study period

Table 5.2.2.15. Seasonal variations in abundance of macrophytic species at Site IV

	Spacios		2	2011				2012	
S.No	species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD
				Emer	gents				
1	Myriophyllum verticillatum	4.0	4.3	3.3	3.9±0.5	2.0	2.7	3.0	2.6±0.5
2	Polygonum amphibium	2.7	3.3	2.7	2.9±0.4	3.0	2.7	2.5	2.7±0.3
3	Polygonum hydropiper	2.0	2.3	2.3	2.2±0.2	2.5	2.3	2.0	2.3±0.3
4	Typha angustata	2.0	3.0	2.5	2.5±0.5	0.0	2.0	1.5	1.2±1.0
			R	ooted-floati	ng leaf type				
5	Hydrocharis dubia	2.5	2.3	2.0	2.3±0.3	1.7	2.3	2.0	2.0±0.3
6	Marsilea quadrifolia	3.5	4.0	2.5	3.3±0.8	2.5	2.3	1.7	2.2±0.4
7	Nymphoides peltatum	4.2	5.3	5.6	5.0±0.7	4.8	5.8	4.0	4.8±0.9
8	Potamogeton natans	4.0	4.0	2.7	3.6±0.8	2.7	2.5	3.0	2.7±0.3
9	Trapa natans	2.7	3.0	2.7	2.8±0.2	2.0	2.3	1.7	2.0±0.3
				Free-float	ting type				
10	Azolla sp.	10.0	13.2	14.0	12.4±2.1	0.0	16.7	21.0	12.6±11.1
11	Lemna major	0.0	13.3	0.0	4.4±7.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
12	Lemna minor	16.7	15.0	16.7	16.1±1.0	22.0	28.0	21.0	23.7±3.8
13	Spirodela polyrhiza	0.0	3.7	0.0	1.2 ± 2.1	0.0	4.5	0.0	1.5 ± 2.6
14	Salvinia natans	6.0	7.0	8.0	7.0±1.0	0.0	8.0	10.0	6.0±5.3
				Subme	rgeds				
15	Ceratophyllum demersum	5.3	7.0	5.8	6.0±0.9	6.5	6.8	6.8	6.7±0.2
16	Hydrilla verticillata	0.0	4.0	3.3	2.4±2.1	3.3	5.0	3.0	3.8±1.1
17	Potamogeton crispus	3.0	4.5	3.0	3.5±0.9	3.3	3.3	2.3	2.9±0.6
18	Potamogeton lucens	1.7	0.0	2.0	1.2±1.1	2.0	3.0	2.5	2.5±0.5

during the study period

Table 5.2.2.16. Seasonal variations in IVI of macrophytic species at Site IV during

	Spacing			2011				2012	
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD
				Em	ergents				
1	Myriophyllum verticillatum	14.2	12.9	13.4	13.5±0.7	13.0	9.8	6.2	9.6±3.4
2	Polygonum amphibium	9.9	11.1	13.6	11.5±1.9	14.7	9.8	5.2	9.9±4.8
3	Polygonum hydropiper	12.9	11.5	11.0	11.8±1.0	13.2	11.3	5.1	9.8±4.3
4	Typha angustata	9.6	6.3	10.5	8.8±2.2	3.8	7.7	3.1	4.9±2.5
	Rooted-floating leaf type								
5	Hydrocharis dubia	15.6	7.6	10.2	11.1±4.1	9.8	13.4	5.1	9.4±4.2
6	Marsilea quadrifolia	10.6	9.6	10.5	10.2±0.6	13.2	11.3	4.2	9.6±4.7
7	Nymphoides peltatum	27.8	24.1	26.6	26.2±1.9	29.7	24.5	13.8	22.7±8.1
8	Potamogeton natans	16.1	14.0	10.0	13.4±3.1	17.3	12.5	7.6	12.4±4.9
9	Trapa natans	14.8	13.0	11.8	13.2±1.5	13.0	11.3	4.2	9.5±4.6
				Free-flo	oating type				
10	Azolla sp.	42.3	39.4	45.8	42.5±3.2	5.8	38.2	43.4	29.1±20.4
11	Lemna major	0.0	29.2	5.5	11.6±15.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
12	Lemna minor	53.9	37.9	45.1	45.7±8.0	67.4	53.7	43.4	54.8±12.1
13	Spirodela polyrhiza	0.0	11.7	0.0	3.9±6.8	3.8	7.6	0.0	3.8±3.8
14	Salvinia natans	24.1	21.3	24.5	23.3±1.7	5.8	20.6	20.6	15.7±8.6
				Subr	nergeds				
15	Ceratophyllum demersum	26.8	24.9	27.2	26.3±1.3	37.1	27.2	20.2	28.2±8.5
16	Hydrilla verticillata	0.0	15.1	12.6	9.2±8.1	19.5	14.5	6.2	13.4±6.7
17	Potamogeton crispus	9.5	10.3	11.5	10.4±1.0	19.7	16.4	6.7	14.3±6.7
18	Potamogeton lucens	12.0	0.0	10.2	7.4±6.5	13.0	10.4	5.2	9.5±4.0

the study period

Table 5.2.2.17. Seasonal variations in frequency (%) of macrophytic species at Site

V during the study period

	Emocioa			2011		2012					
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD		
				Emerg	ents						
1	Alisma lanceolatum	0.0	30.0	0.0	10.0±17.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
2	Alisma plantago-aquatica	0.0	30.0	20.0	16.7±15.3	0.0	20.0	10.0	10.0±10.0		
3	Bidens cernua	0.0	20.0	20.0	13.3±11.5	0.0	10.0	0.0	3.3±5.8		
4	Juncus buffonius	10.0	20.0	10.0	13.3±5.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
5	Mentha arvensis	30.0	30.0	20.0	26.7±5.8	20.0	30.0	20.0	23.3±5.8		
6	Menyanthes trifoliata	10.0	30.0	0.0	13.3±15.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
7	Myriophyllum verticillatum	30.0	40.0	30.0	33.3±5.8	20.0	30.0	30.0	26.7±5.8		
8	Phragmites australis	30.0	40.0	30.0	33.3±5.8	30.0	35.0	40.0	35.0±5.0		
9	Polygonum amphibium	20.0	40.0	50.0	36.7±15.3	30.0	35.0	20.0	28.3±7.6		
10	Polygonum hydropiper	30.0	40.0	30.0	33.3±5.8	30.0	40.0	20.0	30.0±10.0		
11	Ranunculus muricatus	0.0	20.0	20.0	13.3±11.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
12	Ranunculus sceleratus	20.0	0.0	20.0	13.3±11.5	0.0	20.0	20.0	13.3±11.5		
13	Typha angustata	20.0	30.0	30.0	26.7±5.8	20.0	30.0	20.0	23.3±5.8		
	Rooted-floating leaf type										
14	Hydrocharis dubia	40.0	30.0	30.0	33.3±5.8	20.0	30.0	30.0	26.7±5.8		
15	Marsilea quadrifolia	20.0	30.0	30.0	26.7±5.8	30.0	40.0	30.0	33.3±5.8		
16	Nelumbo nucifera	0.0	30.0	20.0	16.7±15.3	0.0	20.0	20.0	13.3±11.5		
17	Nymphaea alba	20.0	30.0	20.0	23.3±5.8	0.0	20.0	10.0	10.0±10.0		
18	Nymphaea mexicana	20.0	30.0	20.0	23.3±5.8	20.0	30.0	20.0	23.3±5.8		
19	Nymphoides peltatum	50.0	60.0	50.0	53.3±5.8	40.0	50.0	40.0	43.3±5.8		
20	Potamogeton natans	40.0	50.0	30.0	40.0±10.0	30.0	40.0	20.0	30.0±10.0		
21	Trapa bispinosa	0.0	30.0	0.0	10.0±17.3	0.0	20.0	0.0	6.7±11.5		
22	Trapa natans	30.0	40.0	40.0	36.7±5.8	30.0	40.0	30.0	33.3±5.8		
				Free-float	ing type						
23	Azolla sp.	40.0	30.0	50.0	40.0±10.0	30.0	35.0	20.0	28.3±7.6		
24	Lemna major	0.0	40.0	0.0	13.3±23.1	0.0	30.0	0.0	10.0±17.3		
25	Lemna minor	40.0	30.0	40.0	36.7±5.8	40.0	30.0	20.0	30.0±10.0		
26	Lemna trisulca	0.0	30.0	0.0	10.0±17.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
27	Salvinia natans	30.0	20.0	40.0	30.0±10.0	30.0	40.0	20.0	30.0±10.0		
				Subme	geds						
28	Ceratophyllum demersum	50.0	40.0	50.0	46.7±5.8	40.0	30.0	40.0	36.7±5.8		
29	Potamogeton crispus	30.0	20.0	30.0	26.7±5.8	30.0	20.0	40.0	30.0±10.0		

Table 5.2.2.18. Seasonal variations in density (individuals/m²) of macrophytic

species at Site V	/ during the study period
-------------------	---------------------------

	Smaataa		2	2011				2012	
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD
				Emer	gents	•			
1	Alisma lanceolatum	0.0	0.6	0.0	0.6±0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
2	Alisma plantago-aquatica	0.0	0.8	0.5	0.4±0.4	0.0	0.4	0.2	0.2±0.2
3	Bidens cernua	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.2±0.2	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.1±0.1
4	Juncus buffonius	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.2±0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
5	Mentha arvensis	0.4	0.6	0.3	0.4±0.2	0.2	0.4	0.3	0.3±0.1
6	Menyanthes trifoliata	0.3	0.7	0.0	0.3±0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
7	Myriophyllum								
/	verticillatum	1.1	1.6	1.2	1.3±0.3	0.6	0.7	0.5	0.6±0.1
8	Phragmites australis	1.0	1.2	0.8	1.0±0.2	0.7	0.9	0.7	0.8±0.1
9	Polygonum amphibium	0.9	1.2	1.0	1.0±0.2	0.6	0.8	0.5	0.6±0.2
10	Polygonum hydropiper	0.7	1.0	0.7	0.8±0.2	0.5	0.8	0.6	0.6±0.2
11	Ranunculus muricatus	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.2±0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
12	Ranunculus sceleratus	0.4	0.0	0.3	0.2±0.2	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.2±0.2
13	Typha angustata	0.4	0.7	0.5	0.5±0.2	0.6	0.7	0.5	0.6±0.1
			R	ooted-float	ing leaf type	•			
14	Hydrocharis dubia	0.6	0.9	0.7	0.7±0.2	0.5	0.8	0.6	0.6±0.2
15	Marsilea quadrifolia	0.5	0.8	0.5	0.6±0.2	0.5	0.8	0.6	0.6±0.2
16	Nelumbo nucifera	0.0	0.5	0.3	0.3±0.3	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.2±0.2
17	Nymphaea alba	0.3	0.5	0.3	0.4±0.1	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.2±0.2
18	Nymphaea mexicana	0.4	0.6	0.5	0.5±0.1	0.5	0.6	0.4	0.5±0.1
19	Nymphoides peltatum	2.7	3.2	2.6	2.8±0.3	2.5	3.3	2.4	2.7±0.5
20	Potamogeton natans	1.1	1.4	1.0	1.2±0.2	0.9	1.2	1.0	1.0±0.2
21	Trapa bispinosa	0.0	0.6	0.0	0.2±0.3	0.0	0.4	0.0	0.1±0.2
22	Trapa natans	1.1	1.4	1.0	1.2±0.2	0.9	1.1	0.7	0.9±0.2
		•		Free-floa	ting type	•			
23	Azolla sp.	5.0	5.6	4.8	5.1±0.4	4.8	6.6	5.0	5.5±1.0
24	Lemna major	0.0	4.0	0.0	1.3±2.3	0.0	3.5	0.0	1.2±2.0
25	Lemna minor	7.0	9.2	7.2	7.8±1.2	6.6	7.8	6.0	6.8±0.9
26	Lemna trisulca	0.0	1.3	0.0	0.4±0.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
27	Salvinia natans	2.8	3.4	3.0	3.1±0.3	3.4	5.0	4.0	4.1±0.8
		•		Subme	ergeds				L
28	Ceratophyllum demersum	2.8	3.3	2.4	2.8±0.5	2.9	2.5	2.6	2.7±0.2
29	Potamogeton crispus	0.8	1.2	0.7	0.9±0.3	1.0	1.3	0.9	1.1±0.2

	Species			2011		2012				
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	
				Emerge	ents					
1	Alisma lanceolatum	0.0	2.0	0.0	0.6±1.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
2	Alisma plantago-aquatica	0.0	2.7	2.5	1.7±1.5	0.0	2.0	2.0	1.3±1.2	
3	Bidens cernua	0.0	1.5	1.0	0.8±0.8	0.0	2.0	0.0	0.7±1.2	
4	Juncus buffonius	1.0	1.5	1.0	1.2±0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
5	Mentha arvensis	1.3	2.0	1.5	1.6±0.3	1.0	1.3	1.5	1.3±0.3	
6	Menyanthes trifoliata	3.0	2.3	0.0	1.8±1.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
7	Myriophyllum verticillatum	3.7	4.0	3.0	3.6±0.5	3.0	2.3	1.7	2.3±0.7	
8	Phragmites australis	3.3	3.0	2.7	3.0±0.3	2.3	3.0	2.3	2.6±0.4	
9	Polygonum amphibium	3.0	3.0	2.5	2.8±0.3	2.0	2.7	2.5	2.4±0.3	
10	Polygonum hydropiper	2.3	2.5	2.3	2.4±0.1	1.7	2.0	3.0	2.2±0.7	
11	Ranunculus muricatus	0.0	1.5	1.0	0.8±0.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
12	Ranunculus sceleratus	2.0	0.0	2.5	1.5±1.3	0.0	1.5	1.0	0.8±0.8	
13	Typha angustata	2.0	3.5	1.7	2.4±1.0	3.0	2.3	2.5	2.6±0.3	
	Rooted-floating leaf type									
14	Hydrocharis dubia	2.0	3.0	2.3	2.4±0.5	2.5	2.7	2.0	2.4±0.3	
15	Marsilea quadrifolia	2.5	2.7	1.7	2.3±0.5	1.7	2.7	2.0	2.1±0.5	
16	Nelumbo nucifera	0.0	1.7	1.5	1.1±0.9	0.0	1.5	1.0	0.8±0.8	
17	Nymphaea alba	1.5	2.5	1.5	1.8±0.6	0.0	1.5	2.0	1.2±1.0	
18	Nymphaea mexicana	1.3	2.0	1.7	1.7±0.3	2.5	2.0	2.0	2.2±0.3	
19	Nymphoides peltatum	5.4	5.3	5.2	5.3±0.1	6.3	6.6	6.0	6.3±0.3	
20	Potamogeton natans	2.8	2.8	3.3	3.0±0.3	3.0	4.0	3.3	3.4±0.5	
21	Trapa bispinosa	0.0	2.0	0.0	0.7±1.2	0.0	2.0	0.0	0.7±1.2	
22	Trapa natans	3.7	3.5	2.5	3.2±0.6	3.0	2.8	2.3	2.7±0.3	
		•	•	Free-floati	ng type					
23	Azolla sp.	12.5	14.0	12.0	12.8±1.0	16.0	22.0	25.0	21.0±4.6	
24	Lemna major	0.0	10.0	0.0	3.3±5.8	0.0	11.7	0.0	3.9±6.7	
25	Lemna minor	17.5	23.0	18.0	19.5±3.0	16.5	26.0	30.0	24.2±6.9	
26	Lemna trisulca	0.0	4.3	0.0	1.4±2.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
27	Salvinia natans	9.3	11.3	10.0	10.2±1.0	11.3	12.5	20.0	14.6±4.7	
		·		Submer	geds		•	•		
28	Ceratophyllum demersum	5.6	6.6	4.8	5.7±0.9	7.3	8.3	6.5	7.4±0.9	
29	Potamogeton crispus	2.7	4.0	2.3	3.0±0.9	3.3	4.3	3.0	3.6±0.7	

 Table 5.2.2.19. Seasonal variations in abundance of macrophytic species at Site V during the study period

		1		2011		2012					
G M	Species	Gui	G	2011	Maria	G	C	2012	Maria		
S.No	-	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD		
	4.11 1 1	0.0		Emer	gents	0.0	0.0	0.0			
1	Alisma lanceolatum	0.0	7.7	0.0	0.6±4.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
2	Alisma plantago-aquatica	0.0	8.7	7.7	5.5±4.8	0.0	6.6	25.9	10.8±13.5		
3	Bidens cernua	0.0	5.1	5.1	3.4±2.9	0.0	4.1	0.0	1.4±2.4		
4	Juncus buffonius	3.1	5.1	3.1	3.8±1.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
5	Mentha arvensis	7.7	7.7	5.9	7.1±1.0	6.0	8.1	38.6	17.6±18.3		
6	Menyanthes trifoliata	6.0	8.2	0.0	4.7±4.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
7	Myriophyllum verticillatum	12.7	13.1	12.2	12.6±0.4	9.7	9.6	63.0	27.5±30.8		
8	Phragmites australis	12.0	11.4	10.5	11.3±0.7	11.3	11.7	87.9	37.0±44.1		
9	Polygonum amphibium	9.6	11.4	14.3	11.8±2.3	10.6	11.2	61.7	27.8±29.3		
10	Polygonum hydropiper	9.9	10.6	9.8	10.1±0.5	9.9	11.7	73.2	31.6±36.1		
11	Ranunculus muricatus	0.0	5.1	5.1	3.4±2.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
12	Ranunculus sceleratus	6.9	0.0	7.1	4.6±4.0	0.0	6.0	27.1	11.0±14.3		
13	Typha angustata	6.9	9.1	8.4	8.1±1.2	9.7	9.6	61.7	27.0±30.0		
	Rooted-floating leaf type										
14	Hydrocharis dubia	10.8	9.2	9.8	9.9±0.8	8.8	10.1	74.4	31.1±37.5		
15	Marsilea quadrifolia	7.8	8.7	8.4	8.3±0.5	9.9	12.2	74.4	32.2±36.6		
16	Nelumbo nucifera	0.0	7.3	5.9	4.4±3.9	0.0	6.0	27.1	11.0±14.3		
17	Nymphaea alba	6.0	7.9	5.9	6.6±1.1	0.0	6.0	25.9	10.6±13.6		
18	Nymphaea mexicana	6.1	7.7	6.8	6.9±0.8	8.8	9.1	50.2	22.7±23.8		
19	Nymphoides peltatum	23.2	20.8	22.5	22.2±1.2	24.4	23.4	279.8	109.2±147.7		
20	Potamogeton natans	13.3	13.3	11.9	12.9±0.8	12.8	14.2	117.9	48.3±60.3		
21	Trapa bispinosa	0.0	7.7	0.0	2.6±4.5	0.0	6.6	0.0	2.2±3.8		
22	Trapa natans	12.7	12.3	12.6	12.5±0.2	12.8	13.0	85.8	37.2±42.1		
				Free-floa	ting type						
23	Azolla sp.	37.1	27.7	37.3	34.1±5.5	42.0	40.3	580.2	220.8±311.2		
24	Lemna major	0.0	22.8	0.0	7.6±13.2	0.0	23.7	0.0	7.9±13.7		
25	Lemna minor	49.4	42.4	50.3	47.3±4.3	51.1	45.3	695.4	264.0±373.7		
26	Lemna trisulca	0.0	11.0	0.0	3.7±6.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
27	Salvinia natans	24.7	19.3	27.6	23.9±4.2	31.5	30.1	465.0	175.5±250.7		
				Subm	ergeds				000		
28	Ceratophyllum demersum	23.7	18.7	21.4	21.3±2.5	27.0	18.7	302.4	116.0±161.4		
29	Potamogeton crispus	10.6	8.9	9.8	9.8+0.8	13.6	10.6	110.6	44.9+56.9		
	1 oranio geroni erispus	10.0	0.7	2.0	2.0-0.0	15.0	10.0	110.0	1717 - 0017		

 Table 5.2.2.20. Seasonal variations in IVI of macrophytic species at Site V during the study period

	Spagiog		<i>,</i>	2011				2012	
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD
				Emerg	gents				
1	Alisma lanceolatum	0.0	30.0	0.0	10.0±17.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
2	Alternanthera philoxeroides	0.0	40.0	35.0	25.0±21.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
3	Bidens cernua	0.0	20.0	20.0	13.3±11.5	0.0	10.0	10.0	6.7±5.8
4	Butomus umbellatus	0.0	20.0	10.0	10.0±10.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
5	Carex sp.	0.0	20.0	20.0	13.3±11.5	0.0	15.0	5.0	6.7±7.6
6	Cyperus serotinus	0.0	30.0	20.0	16.7±15.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
7	Echinocloa crus-galli	0.0	30.0	0.0	10.0±17.3	0.0	20.0	0.0	6.7±11.5
8	Hippuris vulgaris	40.0	0.0	20.0	20.0±20.0	0.0	0.0	30.0	10.0±17.3
9	Mentha arvensis	30.0	0.0	30.0	20.0±17.3	20.0	25.0	15.0	20.0±5.0
10	Myriophyllum verticillatum	40.0	50.0	60.0	50.0±10.0	40.0	45.0	30.0	38.3±7.6
11	Phragmites australis	40.0	45.0	50.0	45.0±5.0	30.0	25.0	30.0	28.3±2.9
12	Polygonum hydropiper	40.0	40.0	50.0	43.3±5.8	30.0	35.0	25.0	30.0±5.0
13	Ranunculus lingua	20.0	30.0	0.0	16.7±15.3	0.0	15.0	0.0	5.0±8.7
14	Ranunculus muricatus	0.0	10.0	0.0	3.3±5.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
15	Ranunculus sceleratus	20.0	30.0	20.0	23.3±5.8	0.0	20.0	0.0	6.7±11.5
16	Scirpus palustris	0.0	10.0	0.0	3.3±5.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
17	Sium latijugam	10.0	20.0	20.0	16.7±5.8	0.0	5.0	0.0	1.7±2.9
18	Sparganium ramosum	20.0	30.0	0.0	16.7±15.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
19	Typha angustata	30.0	40.0	35.0	35.0±5.0	30.0	25.0	30.0	28.3±2.9
			R	ooted-floati	ng leaf type				
20	Hydrocharis dubia	30.0	40.0	30.0	33.3±5.8	20.0	30.0	35.0	28.3±7.6
21	Marsilea quadrifolia	30.0	35.0	30.0	31.7±2.9	20.0	30.0	25.0	25.0±5.0
22	Nymphaea mexicana	20.0	30.0	30.0	26.7±5.8	20.0	30.0	25.0	25.0±5.0
23	Nymphoides peltatum	50.0	60.0	50.0	53.3±5.8	50.0	55.0	40.0	48.3±7.6
24	Potamogeton natans	30.0	35.0	30.0	31.7±2.9	20.0	30.0	15.0	21.7±7.6
25	Trapa natans	20.0	30.0	30.0	26.7±5.8	20.0	30.0	25.0	25.0±5.0
				Free-float	ing type				
26	Azolla sp.	40.0	30.0	40.0	36.7±5.8	25.0	40.0	30.0	31.7±7.6
27	Lemna minor	20.0	30.0	20.0	23.3±5.8	15.0	30.0	25.0	23.3±7.6
28	Salvinia natans	0.0	30.0	30.0	20.0±17.3	0.0	20.0	15.0	11.7±10.4
				Subme	rgeds				
29	Ceratophyllum demersum	30.0	40.0	30.0	33.3±5.8	15.0	30.0	40.0	28.3±12.6

Table 5.2.2.21. Seasonal variations in frequency (%) of macrophytic species at SiteVI during the study period

	Spacios		,	2011			2	2012		
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	
				Emerge	nts					
1	Alisma lanceolatum	0.0	7.8	0.0	2.6±4.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
2	Alternanthera philoxeroides	0.0	17.1	20.3	12.5±10.9	0.0	8.3	0.0	2.8±4.8	
3	Bidens cernua	0.0	4.7	4.8	3.2±2.7	0.0	5.1	4.1	3.1±2.7	
4	Butomus umbellatus	0.0	4.7	3.0	2.6±2.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
5	<i>Carex</i> sp.	0.0	5.5	4.8	3.4±3.0	0.0	4.7	4.8	3.2±2.7	
6	Cyperus serotinus	0.0	6.0	5.8	3.9±3.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
7	Echinocloa crus-galli	0.0	7.2	0.0	2.4±4.2	0.0	6.7	0.0	2.2±3.8	
8	Hippuris vulgaris	10.9	0.0	6.8	5.9±5.5	0.0	0.0	13.6	4.5±7.9	
9	Mentha arvensis	9.6	0.0	8.2	5.9±5.2	11.3	8.6	6.8	8.9±2.2	
10	Myriophyllum verticillatum	19.1	16.1	19.2	18.1±1.7	22.4	18.1	17.9	19.5±2.5	
11	Phragmites australis	16.9	14.4	16.0	15.8±1.2	17.6	11.9	12.3	13.9±3.2	
12	Polygonum hydropiper	16.9	12.8	15.3	15.0±2.1	21.0	17.0	11.2	16.4±5.0	
13	Ranunculus lingua	7.9	8.5	0.0	5.4±4.7	0.0	5.8	0.0	1.9±3.3	
14	Ranunculus muricatus	0.0	3.7	0.0	1.2 ± 2.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
15	Ranunculus sceleratus	8.9	8.2	6.8	8.0±1.1	0.0	7.7	0.0	2.6±4.4	
16	Scirpus palustris	0.0	3.7	0.0	1.2 ± 2.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
17	Sium latijugam	5.2	5.5	4.8	5.2±0.3	0.0	4.2	0.0	1.4±2.4	
18	Sparganium ramosum	7.9	7.2	0.0	5.0±4.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
19	Typha angustata	12.1	11.5	11.2	11.6±0.4	15.3	10.2	10.4	12.0±2.9	
			Rooted	-floating lea	if type					
20	Hydrocharis dubia	0.4	0.6	0.5	0.5±0.1	0.5	0.7	0.4	0.5±0.2	
21	Marsilea quadrifolia	0.6	0.8	0.5	0.6±0.2	0.4	0.7	0.6	0.6±0.2	
22	Nymphaea mexicana	0.4	0.6	0.5	0.5±0.1	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.4±0.1	
23	Nymphoides peltatum	2.8	3.2	2.3	2.8±0.5	1.9	2.2	1.8	2.0±0.2	
24	Potamogeton natans	0.9	1.1	0.7	0.9±0.2	0.5	0.7	0.5	0.6±0.1	
25	Trapa natans	0.5	0.8	0.5	0.6±0.2	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.4±0.1	
	Free-floating type									
26	Azolla sp.	4.2	4.8	4.4	4.5±0.3	3	4.4	3.8	3.7±0.7	
27	Lemna minor	4.2	5.2	4.6	4.7±0.5	4	6	5.6	5.2±1.1	
28	Salvinia natans	0.0	2.4	2.2	1.5±1.3	0	1.4	2	1.1±1.0	
			S	ubmergeds						
29	Ceratophyllum demersum	1.9	2.3	1.8	2.0±0.3	1.1	1.3	1.2	1.2±0.1	

 Table 5.2.2.22. Seasonal variations in density (individuals/m²) of macrophytic species at Site VI during the study period

	Spacios			2011		2012				
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	
				Emerg	ents					
1	Alisma lanceolatum	0.0	2.3	0.0	0.8±1.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
2	Bidens cernua	0.0	1.5	1.0	0.8±0.8	0.0	2.0	1.0	1.0±1.0	
3	Alternanthera philoxeroides	0.0	5.8	6.0	3.9±3.4	0.0	3.3	0.0	1.1±1.9	
4	Butomus umbellatus	0.0	1.5	1.0	0.8±0.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
5	<i>Carex</i> sp.	0.0	2.0	1.0	$1.0{\pm}1.0$	0.0	1.0	2.0	1.0±1.0	
6	Cyperus serotinus	0.0	1.3	1.5	0.9±0.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
7	Echinocloa crus-galli	0.0	2.0	0.0	0.7±1.2	0.0	1.5	0.0	0.5±0.9	
8	Hippuris vulgaris	1.3	0.0	2.0	1.1±1.0	0.0	0.0	3.0	1.0±1.7	
9	Mentha arvensis	1.7	0.0	1.7	1.1±1.0	2.0	1.7	1.5	1.7±0.3	
10	Myriophyllum verticillatum	4.0	4.2	3.4	3.9±0.4	2.8	3.5	4.0	3.4±0.6	
11	Phragmites australis	3.3	4.3	3.3	3.6±0.6	2.7	3.0	2.0	2.6±0.5	
12	Polygonum hydropiper	3.3	3.8	3.0	3.3±0.4	3.7	4.3	2.0	3.3±1.2	
13	Ranunculus lingua	2.0	2.7	0.0	1.6±1.4	0.0	1.5	0.0	0.5±0.9	
14	Ranunculus muricatus	0.0	2.0	0.0	0.7±1.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
15	Ranunculus sceleratus	2.5	3.0	2.0	2.5±0.5	0.0	2.0	0.0	0.7±1.2	
16	Scirpus palustris	0.0	2.0	0.0	0.7±1.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
17	Sium latijugam	2.0	2.0	1.0	1.7±0.6	0.0	2.0	0.0	0.7±1.2	
18	Sparganium ramosum	2.0	2.0	0.0	1.3±1.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
19	Typha angustata	2.3	3.7	2.7	2.9±0.7	2.0	2.3	1.3	1.9±0.5	
			Roote	d-floating le	af type					
20	Hydrocharis dubia	1.3	2.0	1.7	1.7±0.3	2.5	2.3	1.3	2.1±0.6	
21	Marsilea quadrifolia	2.0	2.7	1.7	2.1±0.5	2.0	2.3	2.0	2.1±0.2	
22	Nymphaea mexicana	2.0	2.0	1.7	1.9±0.2	2.0	1.7	1.3	1.7±0.3	
23	Nymphoides peltatum	4.7	5.3	4.6	4.9±0.4	3.8	4.4	4.5	4.2±0.4	
24	Potamogeton natans	3.0	3.7	2.3	3.0±0.7	2.5	2.3	2.5	2.4±0.1	
25	Trapa natans	2.5	2.7	1.7	2.3±0.5	2.0	1.3	1.5	1.6±0.3	
			Fre	ee-floating t	уре					
26	Azolla sp.	10.5	12.0	11.0	11.2±0.8	10.0	11.0	12.7	11.2±1.3	
27	Lemna minor	21.0	17.3	23.0	20.4±2.9	20.0	20.0	18.7	19.6±0.8	
28	Salvinia natans	0.0	8.0	7.3	5.1±4.4	0.0	7.0	10.0	5.7±5.1	
				Submerged	s					
29	Ceratophyllum demersum	6.3	7.7	6.0	6.7±0.9	5.5	1.3	3.0	3.3±2.1	

 Table 5.2.2.23. Seasonal variations in abundance of macrophytic species at Site VI during the study period

	Species		2	2011		2012				
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	
				Emerg	ents					
1	Alisma lanceolatum	0.0	7.8	0.0	2.6±4.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
2	Bidens cernua	0.0	17.1	20.3	12.5±10.9	0.0	8.3	0.0	2.8±4.8	
3	Alternanthera philoxeroides	0.0	4.7	4.8	3.2±2.7	0.0	5.1	4.1	3.1±2.7	
4	Butomus umbellatus	0.0	4.7	3.0	2.6±2.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
5	<i>Carex</i> sp.	0.0	5.5	4.8	3.4±3.0	0.0	4.7	4.8	3.2±2.7	
6	Cyperus serotinus	0.0	6.0	5.8	3.9±3.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
7	Echinocloa crus-galli	0.0	7.2	0.0	2.4±4.2	0.0	6.7	0.0	2.2±3.8	
8	Hippuris vulgaris	10.9	0.0	6.8	5.9±5.5	0.0	0.0	13.6	4.5±7.9	
9	Mentha arvensis	9.6	0.0	8.2	5.9±5.2	11.3	8.6	6.8	8.9±2.2	
10	Myriophyllum verticillatum	19.1	16.1	19.2	18.1±1.7	22.4	18.1	17.9	19.5±2.5	
11	Phragmites australis	16.9	14.4	16.0	15.8±1.2	17.6	11.9	12.3	13.9±3.2	
12	Polygonum hydropiper	16.9	12.8	15.3	15.0±2.1	21.0	17.0	11.2	16.4±5.0	
13	Ranunculus lingua	7.9	8.5	0.0	5.4±4.7	0.0	5.8	0.0	1.9±3.3	
14	Ranunculus muricatus	0.0	3.7	0.0	1.2±2.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
15	Ranunculus sceleratus	8.9	8.2	6.8	8.0±1.1	0.0	7.7	0.0	2.6±4.4	
16	Scirpus palustris	0.0	3.7	0.0	1.2±2.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
17	Sium latijugam	5.2	5.5	4.8	5.2±0.3	0.0	4.2	0.0	1.4±2.4	
18	Sparganium ramosum	7.9	7.2	0.0	5.0±4.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
19	Typha angustata	12.1	11.5	11.2	11.6±0.4	15.3	10.2	10.4	12.0±2.9	
			Roote	d-floating le	eaf type					
20	Hydrocharis dubia	8.8	8.4	8.2	8.4±0.3	12.7	11.1	11.5	11.8±0.8	
21	Marsilea quadrifolia	10.5	9.0	8.2	9.2±1.2	11.3	11.1	11.2	11.2±0.1	
22	Nymphaea mexicana	7.9	7.2	8.2	7.7±0.5	11.3	9.4	9.3	10.0±1.1	
23	Nymphoides peltatum	26.9	21.7	21.6	23.4±3.0	31.8	24.2	23.7	26.6±4.5	
24	Potamogeton natans	13.1	10.9	9.8	11.2±1.7	12.7	11.1	9.1	11.0±1.8	
25	Trapa natans	8.9	8.5	8.2	8.5±0.4	11.3	8.6	9.0	9.6±1.4	
	Free-floating type							•		
26	Azolla sp.	38.6	29.3	36.1	34.7±4.8	41.3	38.9	42.2	40.8±1.7	
27	Lemna minor	48.5	35.7	48.2	44.2±7.3	60.5	55.1	57.9	57.8±2.7	
28	Salvinia natans	0.0	18.4	21.6	13.3±11.7	0.0	18.1	26.5	14.9±13.5	
				Submerged	s					
29	Ceratophyllum demersum	21.6	18.9	18.4	19.7±1.7	19.7	12.2	18.8	16.9±4.1	

Table 5.2.2.24. Seasonal variations in IVI of macrophytic species at Site VI duringthe study period

	Spacies			2011		2012				
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	
		I		Em	ergents			[]		
1	Alisma plantago-aquatica	0.0	25.0	30.0	18.3±16.1	0.0	20.0	15.0	11.7±10.4	
2	Alternanthera philoxeroides	0.0	25.0	30.0	18.3±16.1	0.0	25.0	30.0	18.3±16.1	
3	Bidens cernua	0.0	15.0	20.0	11 7+10 4	0.0	20.0	15.0	11 7+10 4	
3	Lyconus europaeus	20.0	15.0	0.0	11.7 ± 10.4 11.7+10.4	0.0	15.0	5.0	67+76	
-	Montha arvensis	30.0	25.0	20.0	25 0+5 0	15.0	20.0	15.0	16 7+2 0	
5	Menunu ul vensis Menvanthes trifoliata	0.0	15.0	20.0	23.0±3.0 5.0±8.7	0.0	20.0	0.0		
	Meniganines ingonidia	40.0	25.0	40.0	29.2.2.0	20.0	40.0	25.0	25.0.5.0	
7	Myriophyllum verticillatum	40.0	35.0	40.0	38.3±2.9	30.0	40.0	35.0	35.0±5.0	
8	Nasturtium officinalis	0.0	25.0	30.0	18.3±16.1	0.0	25.0	15.0	13.3±12.6	
9	Phragmites australis	25.0	35.0	40.0	33.3±7.6	25.0	30.0	35.0	30.0±5.0	
10	Polygonum amphibium	25.0	30.0	20.0	25.0±5.0	15.0	30.0	35.0	26.7±10.4	
11	Polygonum hydropiper	25.0	30.0	40.0	31.7±7.6	25.0	30.0	45.0	33.3±10.4	
12	Sagittaria sagittifolia	0.0	25.0	0.0	8.3±14.4	0.0	20.0	0.0	6.7±11.5	
13	Sium latijugam	20.0	0.0	30.0	16.7±15.3	0.0	5.0	15.0	6.7±7.6	
14	Sparganium ramosum	25.0	30.0	20.0	25.0±5.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
15	Typha angustata	20.0	30.0	35.0	28.3±7.6	20.0	30.0	25.0	25.0±5.0	
16	Hydrocharis dubia	25.0	35.0	40.0	33.3±7.6	25.0	30.0	40.0	31.7±7.6	
17	Marsilea quadrifolia	25.0	30.0	40.0	31.7±7.6	15.0	30.0	25.0	23.3±7.6	
18	Nymphaea mexicana	20.0	30.0	20.0	23.3±5.8	15.0	30.0	20.0	21.7±7.6	
19	Nymphoides peltatum	70.0	75.0	60.0	68.3±7.6	55.0	55.0	45.0	51.7±5.8	
20	Potamogeton natans	40.0	50.0	35.0	41.7±7.6	25.0	40.0	35.0	33.3±7.6	
21	Trapa natans	30.0	40.0	45.0	38.3±7.6	25.0	35.0	25.0	28.3±5.8	
				Free-flo	oating type					
22	Azolla sp.	40.0	35.0	45.0	40.0±5.0	25.0	30.0	15.0	23.3±7.6	
23	Lemna major	0.0	30.0	25.0	18.3±16.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
24	Lemna minor	30.0	25.0	20.0	25.0±5.0	15.0	30.0	25.0	23.3±7.6	
25	Lemna trisulca	30.0	25.0	0.0	18.3±16.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
26	Spirodela polyrhiza	0.0	30.0	25.0	18.3±16.1	0.0	20.0	0.0	6.7±11.5	
27	Salvinia natans	30.0	25.0	35.0	30.0±5.0	20.0	30.0	25.0	25.0±5.0	
		•		Subr	nergeds					
28	Ceratophyllum demersum	50.0	45.0	40.0	45.0±5.0	35.0	40.0	45.0	40.0±5.0	
29	Hydrilla verticillata	30.0	35.0	25.0	30.0±5.0	25.0	30.0	25.0	26.7±2.9	
30	Najas graminea	0.0	0.0	25.0	8.3±14.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
31	Myriophyllum spicatum	0.0	25.0	30.0	18.3±16.1	0.0	20.0	0.0	6.7±11.5	
32	Potamogeton crispus	30.0	25.0	35.0	30.0±5.0	25.0	40.0	35.0	33.3±7.6	
33	Potamogeton lucens	20.0	15.0	20.0	18.3±2.9	25.0	40.0	25.0	30.0±8.7	
34	Potamogeton pectinatus	20.0	20.0	15.0	18.3±2.9	15.0	0.0	0.0	5.0±8.7	
35	Potamogeton perfoliatus	30.0	20.0	0.0	16.7±15.3	15.0	30.0	25.0	23.3±7.6	

Table 5.2.2.25. Seasonal variations in frequency (%) of macrophytic species at SiteVII during the study period

-											
	Species	~ ·		2011		~ ·	2	2012			
S.No		Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD		
1	A 7 • 7 · · · · ·	0.0	0.0	Emer	gents	0.0	0.4	0.2	0.0.00		
1	Alisma plantago-aquatica	0.0	0.8	0.5	0.4±0.4	0.0	0.4	0.3	0.2±0.2		
2	Alternanthera philoxeroides	0.0	2.6	2.4	1.7±1.4	0.0	1.5	1.3	0.9±0.8		
3	Bidens cernua	0.0	0.5	0.3	0.3±0.3	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.2±0.2		
4	Lycopus europaeus	0.3	0.4	0.0	0.2±0.2	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.2±0.2		
5	Mentha arvensis	0.5	0.6	0.4	0.5±0.1	0.5	0.4	0.3	0.4±0.1		
6	Menyanthes trifoliata	0.0	0.5	0.0	0.2±0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
7	Myriophyllum verticillatum	1.1	1.4	0.8	1.1±0.3	0.8	1.0	0.7	0.8±0.2		
8	Nasturtium officinalis	0.0	0.8	0.5	0.4±0.4	0.0	0.6	0.4	0.3±0.3		
9	Phragmites australis	1.1	1.5	0.8	1.1±0.4	0.6	0.9	0.7	0.7±0.2		
10	Polygonum amphibium	0.7	0.9	0.6	0.7±0.2	0.5	0.7	0.6	0.6±0.1		
11	Polygonum hydropiper	0.6	1.0	0.7	0.8±0.2	0.5	0.7	0.7	0.6±0.1		
12	Sagittaria sagittifolia	0.0	1.0	0.0	0.3±0.6	0.0	0.5	0.0	0.2±0.3		
13	Sium latijugam	0.3	0.0	0.4	0.2±0.2	0.0	0.2	0.3	0.2±0.2		
14	Sparganium ramosum	0.5	0.7	0.4	0.5±0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
15	Typha angustata	0.5	0.8	0.6	0.6±0.2	0.3	0.5	0.4	0.4±0.1		
	Rooted-floating leaf type										
16	Hydrocharis dubia	0.7	0.9	0.6	0.7±0.2	0.5	0.8	0.5	0.6±0.2		
17	Marsilea quadrifolia	0.6	0.9	0.6	0.7±0.2	0.6	0.7	0.5	0.6±0.1		
18	Nymphaea mexicana	0.5	0.8	0.5	0.6±0.2	0.4	0.5	0.3	0.4±0.1		
19	Nymphoides peltatum	4.3	4.8	4.1	4.4±0.4	3.8	4.2	3.3	3.8±0.5		
20	Potamogeton natans	1.2	1.6	1.1	1.3±0.3	1.0	1.2	0.8	1.0±0.2		
21	Trapa natans	0.8	1.1	0.7	0.9±0.2	0.6	0.8	0.5	0.6±0.2		
	-	•		Free-floa	ting type		•	•	•		
22	Azolla sp.	5.4	6.0	4.6	5.3±0.7	4.4	5.6	5.0	5.0±0.6		
23	Lemna major	0.0	2.2	1.7	1.3±1.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
24	Lemna minor	5.8	6.8	6.0	6.2±0.5	4.4	5.8	4.6	4.9±0.8		
25	Lemna trisulca	0.9	1.2	0.0	0.7±0.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
26	Spirodela polyrhiza	0.0	0.7	0.6	0.4±0.4	0.0	1.4	0.0	0.5±0.8		
27	Salvinia natans	3.0	4.0	3.2	3.4±0.5	2.2	3.4	3.0	2.9±0.6		
				Subm	ergeds		•				
28	Ceratophyllum demersum	3.5	3.7	2.6	3.3±0.6	3.7	3.4	2.9	3.3±0.4		
29	Hydrilla verticillata	0.7	1.1	0.8	0.9±0.2	1.3	0.7	1.0	1.0±0.3		
30	Najas graminea	0.0	0.0	1.1	0.4±0.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
31	Myriophyllum spicatum	0.0	0.8	0.5	0.4±0.4	0.0	0.6	0.0	0.2±0.3		
32	Potamogeton crispus	0.8	1.0	0.6	0.8±0.2	0.7	0.8	0.6	0.7±0.1		
33	Potamogeton lucens	0.6	0.8	0.5	0.6±0.2	0.7	0.7	0.5	0.6±0.1		
34	Potamogeton pectinatus	0.5	0.6	0.3	0.5±0.2	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.1±0.2		
35	Potamogeton perfoliatus	0.5	0.7	0.0	0.4±0.4	0.6	0.8	0.5	0.6±0.2		

Table 5.2.2.26. Seasonal variations in density (individuals/m²) of macrophytic species at Site VII during the study period

Table 5.2.2.27.	Seasonal	variations in	abundance	of macro	phytic	species	at Si	ite
	VII duri	ng the study p	period					

	Species			2011		2012						
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD			
				Emer	gents							
1	Alisma plantago-aquatica	0.0	2.7	1.7	1.4±1.3	0.0	2.0	1.5	1.2±1.0			
2	Alternanthera philoxeroides	0.0	2.5	1.5	1.3±1.3	0.0	1.5	1.0	0.8±0.8			
3	Bidens cernua	0.0	10.4	8.0	6.1±5.4	0.0	6.0	4.3	3.4±3.1			
4	Lycopus europaeus	1.5	2.0	0.0	1.2±1.0	0.0	1.5	2.0	1.2 ± 1.0			
5	Mentha arvensis	1.7	2.0	2.0	1.9±0.2	2.5	2.0	1.5	2.0±0.5			
6	Menyanthes trifoliata	0.0	2.5	0.0	0.8±1.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0			
7	Myriophyllum verticillatum	2.8	3.5	2.0	2.8±0.8	2.7	2.5	1.8	2.3±0.5			
8	Nasturtium officinalis	0.0	2.7	1.7	1.4±1.3	0.0	2.0	2.0	1.3±1.2			
9	Phragmites australis	3.7	3.8	2.0	3.1±1.0	2.0	3.0	1.8	2.3±0.7			
10	Polygonum amphibium	2.3	3.0	3.0	2.8±0.4	2.5	2.3	1.5	2.1±0.5			
11	Polygonum hydropiper	2.0	3.3	1.8	2.4±0.8	1.7	2.3	1.8	1.9±0.4			
12	Sagittaria sagittifolia	0.0	3.3	0.0	1.1±1.9	0.0	2.5	0.0	0.8±1.4			
13	Sium latijugam	1.5	0.0	1.3	0.9±0.8	0.0	2.0	1.5	1.2±1.0			
14	Sparganium ramosum	1.7	2.3	2.0	2.0±0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0			
15	Typha angustata	2.5	2.7	2.0	2.4±0.3	1.5	1.7	1.3	1.5±0.2			
			R	ooted-float	ing leaf type							
16	Hydrocharis dubia	2.3	3.0	1.5	2.3±0.8	1.7	2.7	1.3	1.9±0.7			
17	Marsilea quadrifolia	2.0	3.0	1.5	2.2±0.8	3.0	2.3	1.7	2.3±0.7			
18	Nymphaea mexicana	2.5	2.7	2.5	2.6±0.1	2.0	1.7	1.5	1.7±0.3			
19	Nymphoides peltatum	6.1	6.9	6.8	6.6±0.4	6.3	7.0	6.6	6.6±0.3			
20	Potamogeton natans	3.0	3.2	2.8	3.0±0.2	3.3	3.0	2.0	2.8±0.7			
21	Trapa natans	2.7	2.8	1.8	2.4±0.6	2.0	2.7	1.7	2.1±0.5			
				Free-floa	ting type	•	•					
22	Azolla sp.	13.5	15.0	11.5	13.3±1.8	14.7	18.7	25.0	19.4±5.2			
23	Lemna major	0.0	7.3	5.7	4.3±3.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0			
24	Lemna minor	19.3	22.7	30.0	24.0±5.5	22.0	19.3	23.0	21.4±1.9			
25	Lemna trisulca	3.0	4.0	0.0	2.3±2.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0			
26	Spirodela polyrhiza	0.0	2.3	2.0	1.4±1.3	0.0	7.0	0.0	2.3±4.0			
27	Salvinia natans	10.0	13.3	10.7	11.3±1.8	11.0	11.3	15.0	12.4±2.2			
				Subme	ergeds							
28	Ceratophyllum demersum	7.0	7.4	6.5	7.0±0.5	9.3	8.5	5.8	7.9±1.8			
29	Hydrilla verticillata	2.3	2.8	2.7	2.6±0.2	4.3	2.3	3.3	3.3±1.0			
30	Najas graminea	0.0	0.0	3.7	1.2±2.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0			
31	Myriophyllum spicatum	0.0	2.7	1.7	1.4±1.3	0.0	3.0	0.0	1.0±1.7			
32	Potamogeton crispus	2.7	3.3	1.5	2.5±0.9	2.3	2.0	1.5	1.9±0.4			
33	Potamogeton lucens	3.0	4.0	2.5	3.2±0.8	2.3	1.8	1.7	1.9±0.4			
34	Potamogeton pectinatus	1.7	3.0	1.5	2.1±0.8	2.0	0.0	0.0	0.7±1.2			
35	Potamogeton perfoliatus	1.7	3.5	0.0	1.7±1.8	3.0	2.7	1.7	2.4±0.7			

Table 5.2.2.28. Seasonal variations in IVI of macrophytic species at Site VII during the study period

	Emocios	2011				2012			
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD
				Emerge	ents				
1	Alisma plantago-aquatica	0.0	3.4	2.8	2.1±1.8	0.0	2.7	2.4	1.7±1.5
2	Alternanthera philoxeroides	0.0	12.1	13.5	8.5±7.4	0.0	8.9	8.5	5.8±5.0
3	Bidens cernua	0.0	2.7	2.1	1.6±1.4	0.0	2.0	1.6	1.2±1.1
4	Lycopus europaeus	2.3	2.1	0.0	1.5±1.3	0.0	2.0	2.5	1.5±1.3
5	Mentha arvensis	3.0	2.5	2.8	2.8±0.3	4.2	2.7	2.4	3.1±1.0
6	Menyanthes trifoliata	0.0	2.7	0.0	0.9±1.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
7	Myriophyllum verticillatum	5.8	5.1	3.9	4.9±1.0	5.4	4.7	4.0	4.7±0.7
8	Nasturtium officinalis	0.0	3.4	2.8	2.1±1.8	0.0	3.2	3.2	2.2±1.9
9	Phragmites australis	6.7	5.5	3.9	5.4±1.4	4.1	4.8	4.0	4.3±0.5
10	Polygonum amphibium	4.3	3.8	4.2	4.1±0.3	4.2	3.8	3.5	3.8±0.4
11	Polygonum hydropiper	3.7	4.2	3.4	3.8±0.4	3.4	3.8	4.0	3.7±0.3
12	Sagittaria sagittifolia	0.0	4.2	0.0	1.4 ± 2.4	0.0	3.4	0.0	1.1±2.0
13	Sium latijugam	2.3	0.0	2.2	1.5±1.3	0.0	2.2	2.4	1.5±1.3
14	Sparganium ramosum	3.0	2.9	2.8	2.9±0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
15	Typha angustata	3.9	3.4	3.4	3.5±0.3	2.5	2.7	2.6	2.6±0.1
	Rooted-floating leaf type								
16	Hydrocharis dubia	4.3	3.8	2.9	3.7±0.7	3.4	4.3	2.9	3.5±0.7
17	Marsilea quadrifolia	3.7	3.8	2.9	3.5±0.5	5.0	3.8	3.3	4.0±0.9
18	Nymphaea mexicana	3.9	3.4	3.5	3.6±0.3	3.4	2.7	2.4	2.8±0.5
19	Nymphoides peltatum	18.2	14.1	17.2	16.5±2.1	19.6	16.9	17.5	18.0±1.4
20	Potamogeton natans	6.3	5.3	5.4	5.7±0.6	6.8	5.6	4.6	5.7±1.1
21	Trapa natans	4.9	4.0	3.4	4.1±0.7	4.1	4.3	3.3	3.9±0.5
				Free-floati	ng type				
22	Azolla sp.	28.5	21.9	22.5	24.3±3.6	29.8	30.2	40.3	33.4±5.9
23	Lemna major	0.0	9.3	9.5	6.3±5.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
24	Lemna minor	35.3	28.7	42.2	35.4±6.7	37.1	31.3	37.1	35.1±3.4
25	Lemna trisulca	5.5	5.1	0.0	3.5±3.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
26	Spirodela polyrhiza	0.0	2.9	3.4	2.1±1.8	0.0	9.5	0.0	3.2±5.5
27	Salvinia natans	18.3	16.9	17.9	17.7±0.7	18.5	18.3	24.2	20.3±3.3
				Submer	geds				
28	Ceratophyllum demersum	16.7	12.3	12.7	13.9±2.5	22.1	16.0	15.4	17.8±3.7
29	Hydrilla verticillata	4.3	4.0	4.5	4.3±0.2	8.8	3.8	6.5	6.4±2.5
30	Najas graminea	0.0	0.0	6.2	2.1±3.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
31	Myriophyllum spicatum	0.0	3.4	2.8	2.1±1.8	0.0	4.1	0.0	1.4±2.3
32	Potamogeton crispus	4.9	4.2	2.9	4.0±1.0	4.7	3.8	3.5	4.0±0.7
33	Potamogeton lucens	4.6	4.3	3.5	4.1±0.6	4.7	3.3	3.3	3.8±0.8
34	Potamogeton pectinatus	3.0	3.2	2.1	2.8±0.6	3.4	0.0	0.0	1.1±1.9
35	Potamogeton perfoliatus	3.0	3.7	0.0	2.3±2.0	5.0	4.3	3.3	4.2±0.9

Fable 5.2.2.29. Seasonal variations in frequency (%) of macrophytic species at S	ite
VIII during the study period	

S.No	Encolog			2011		2012				
	species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	
		-	-	Emerg	gents					
1	Myriophyllum verticillatum	30.0	35.0	40.0	35.0±5.0	25.0	30.0	35.0	30.0±5.0	
2	Phragmites australis	20.0	25.0	30.0	25.0±5.0	0.0	30.0	35.0	21.7±18.9	
3	Polygonum hydropiper	30.0	35.0	30.0	31.7±2.9	20.0	30.0	25.0	25.0±5.0	
4	Typha angustata	20.0	25.0	30.0	25.0±5.0	15.0	30.0	20.0	21.7±7.6	
			Roote	d-floating le	eaf type					
5	Hydrocharis dubia	20.0	30.0	40.0	30.0±10.0	20.0	30.0	40.0	30.0±10.0	
6	Nymphoides peltatum	50.0	55.0	45.0	50.0±5.0	35.0	40.0	35.0	36.7±2.9	
7	Potamogeton natans	30.0	25.0	20.0	25.0±5.0	20.0	30.0	25.0	25.0±5.0	
8	Trapa natans	30.0	35.0	20.0	28.3±7.6	25.0	35.0	40.0	33.3±7.6	
			Fr	ee-floating	type					
9	Azolla sp.	40.0	35.0	30.0	35.0±5.0	25.0	30.0	40.0	31.7±7.6	
10	Lemna minor	30.0	25.0	30.0	28.3±2.9	15.0	25.0	30.0	23.3±7.6	
11	Lemna trisulca	30.0	25.0	0.0	18.3±16.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
12	Spirodela polyrhiza	30.0	25.0	40.0	31.7±7.6	0.0	25.0	20.0	15.0±13.2	
13	Salvinia natans	30.0	40.0	30.0	33.3±5.8	25.0	30.0	30.0	28.3±2.9	
				Submerged	S					
14	Batrachium trichophyllum	0.0	25.0	20.0	15.0±13.2	20.0	0.0	0.0	6.7±11.5	
15	Ceratophyllum demersum	50.0	45.0	40.0	45.0±5.0	40.0	35.0	50.0	41.7±7.6	
16	Hydrilla verticillata	30.0	0.0	0.0	10.0±17.3	25.0	0.0	0.0	8.3±14.4	
17	Najas graminea	0.0	0.0	30.0	10.0±17.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0	
18	Myriophyllum spicatum	0.0	30.0	0.0	10.0±17.3	0.0	20.0	0.0	6.7±11.5	
19	Potamogeton crispus	20.0	15.0	30.0	21.7±7.6	15.0	25.0	30.0	23.3±7.6	
20	Potamogeton lucens	20.0	15.0	20.0	18.3±2.9	15.0	25.0	30.0	23.3±7.6	
21	Potamogeton pectinatus	30.0	0.0	25.0	18.3±16.1	20.0	15.0	20.0	18.3±2.9	
22	Potamogeton perfoliatus	0.0	15.0	0.0	5.0±8.7	0.0	15.0	20.0	11.7±10.4	

	Snecies			2011		2012				
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	
				Emerg	gents					
1	Myriophyllum verticillatum	0.8	1.2	0.9	1.0±0.2	0.5	0.7	0.6	0.6±0.1	
2	Phragmites australis	0.7	0.8	0.5	0.7±0.2	0	0.5	0.4	0.3±0.3	
3	Polygonum hydropiper	0.5	0.7	0.5	0.6±0.1	0.5	0.7	0.5	0.6±0.1	
4	Typha angustata	0.3	0.5	0.4	0.4±0.1	0.2	0.4	0.3	0.3±0.1	
	·		Roote	d-floating le	eaf type					
5	Hydrocharis dubia	0.5	0.8	0.6	0.6±0.2	0.4	0.7	0.6	0.6±0.2	
6	Nymphoides peltatum	2.3	2.7	1.8	2.3±0.5	1.9	2.3	1.5	1.9±0.4	
7	Potamogeton natans	0.8	1.1	0.5	0.8±0.3	0.6	0.8	0.5	0.6±0.2	
8	Trapa natans	0.8	1.0	0.7	0.8±0.2	0.6	0.8	0.6	0.7±0.1	
	·		Fr	ee-floating	type					
9	Azolla sp.	4.6	5.0	4.0	4.5±0.5	3	4	4.2	3.7±0.6	
10	Lemna minor	5.4	6.4	6.2	6.0±0.5	4.6	6.4	5.8	5.6±0.9	
11	Lemna trisulca	0.6	0.9	0.0	0.5±0.5	0	0	0	0.0±0.0	
12	Spirodela polyrhiza	0.0	1.8	1.5	1.1±1.0	0	1.5	1.2	0.9±0.8	
13	Salvinia natans	3.6	4.8	4.0	4.1±0.6	3.2	3.8	2.4	3.1±0.7	
	·			Submerged	s					
14	Batrachium trichophyllum	0.0	0.4	0.3	0.2±0.2	0.4	0	0	0.1±0.2	
15	Ceratophyllum demersum	2.4	2.9	2.0	2.4±0.5	1.8	2.3	2.2	2.1±0.3	
16	Hydrilla verticillata	0.8	0.0	0.0	0.3±0.5	0.6	0	0	0.2±0.3	
17	Najas graminea	0.0	0.0	0.7	0.2±0.4	0	0	0	0.0±0.0	
18	Myriophyllum spicatum	0.0	0.6	0.0	0.2±0.3	0	0.4	0	0.1±0.2	
19	Potamogeton crispus	0.4	0.7	0.6	0.6±0.2	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.6±0.1	
20	Potamogeton lucens	0.5	0.7	0.4	0.5±0.2	0.4	0.6	0.5	0.5±0.1	
21	Potamogeton pectinatus	0.4	0.0	0.5	0.3±0.3	0.5	0.7	0.5	0.6±0.1	
22	Potamogeton perfoliatus	0.0	0.5	0.0	0.5±0.3	0	0.3	0.2	0.2±0.2	

Table 5.2.2.30. Seasonal variations in density (individuals/m²) of macrophyticspecies at Site VIII during the study period

	a i			2011				2012	
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD
		•		Emer	gents	•			
1	Myriophyllum verticillatum	2.7	4.0	2.3	3.0±0.9	1.7	2.3	2.0	2.0±0.3
2	Phragmites australis	3.5	4.0	1.7	3.1±1.2	0.0	1.7	1.3	1.0±0.9
3	Polygonum hydropiper	1.7	2.3	1.7	1.9±0.4	2.5	2.3	1.7	2.2±0.4
4	Typha angustata	1.5	2.5	1.3	1.8±0.6	1.0	1.3	1.5	1.3±0.3
			leaf type	•					
5	Hydrocharis dubia	2.5	2.7	1.5	2.2±0.6	2.0	2.3	1.5	1.9±0.4
6	Nymphoides peltatum	4.6	5.4	3.6	4.5±0.9	4.8	5.8	3.8	4.8±1.0
7	Potamogeton natans	2.7	3.7	2.5	2.9±0.6	2.0	2.7	1.7	2.1±0.5
8	Trapa natans	2.7	3.3	3.5	3.2±0.4	2.0	2.7	1.5	2.1±0.6
	Free-floating type								
9	Azolla sp.	11.5	12.5	13.3	12.4±0.9	10.0	13.3	10.5	11.3±1.8
10	Lemna minor	18.0	21.3	20.7	20.0±1.8	23.0	21.3	19.3	21.2±1.8
11	Lemna trisulca	2.0	3.0	0.0	1.7±1.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
12	Spirodela polyrhiza	0.0	6.0	3.8	3.3±3.0	0.0	5.0	6.0	3.7±3.2
13	Salvinia natans	12.0	12.0	13.3	12.4±0.8	10.7	12.7	8.0	10.4±2.3
				Submerge	ds				
14	Batrachium trichophyllum	0.0	1.3	1.5	0.9±0.8	2.0	0.0	0.0	0.7±1.2
15	Ceratophyllum demersum	4.8	5.8	5.0	5.2±0.5	4.5	5.8	4.4	4.9±0.8
16	Hydrilla verticillata	2.7	0.0	0.0	0.9±1.5	2.0	0.0	0.0	0.7±1.2
17	Najas graminea	0.0	0.0	2.3	0.8±1.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0
18	Myriophyllum spicatum	0.0	2.0	0.0	0.7±1.2	0.0	2.0	0.0	0.7±1.2
19	Potamogeton crispus	2.0	3.5	2.0	2.5±0.9	3.0	2.0	1.7	2.2±0.7
20	Potamogeton lucens	2.5	3.5	2.0	2.7±0.8	2.0	2.0	1.7	1.9±0.2
21	Potamogeton pectinatus	1.3	0.0	1.7	1.0±0.9	2.5	3.5	2.5	2.8±0.6
22	Potamogeton perfoliatus	0.0	2.5	0.0	0.5±1.4	0.0	1.5	1.0	0.8±0.8

Table 5.2.2.31. Seasonal variations in abundance of macrophytic species at Site VIII during the study period

during the study period	Table	5.2.2.32.	Seasonal	variations	in IVI	of	macrophytic	species	at	Site	VIII
			during th	ne study per	riod						

	Species		2	2011		2012					
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD		
				Emer	gents						
1	Myriophyllum verticillatum	12.1	13.8	13.5	13.1±0.9	11.7	13.5	15.2	13.5±1.8		
2	Phragmites australis	10.9	11.0	9.5	10.4±0.9	0.0	12.0	13.4	8.5±7.4		
3	Polygonum hydropiper	9.6	10.9	9.5	10.0±0.8	11.4	13.5	11.5	12.1±1.2		
4	Typha angustata	6.8	8.6	8.7	8.0±1.1	6.5	11.3	9.0	8.9±2.4		
	Rooted-floating leaf type										
5	Hydrocharis dubia	8.9	10.6	11.5	10.3±1.3	10.2	13.5	15.9	13.2±2.9		
6	Nymphoides peltatum	24.2	23.6	19.5	22.4±2.5	25.6	25.9	21.7	24.4±2.3		
7	Potamogeton natans	12.1	11.5	8.6	10.7±1.9	11.2	14.2	11.5	12.3±1.6		
8	Trapa natans	12.1	12.8	10.6	11.8±1.1	12.6	15.6	15.9	14.7±1.8		
Free-floating type											
9	Azolla sp.	40.2	33.7	36.8	36.9±3.2	35.3	37.7	44.8	39.3±4.9		
10	Lemna minor	49.7	44.8	54.0	49.5±4.6	57.8	53.9	61.7	57.8±3.9		
11	Lemna trisulca	10.5	10.3	0.0	6.9±6.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
12	Spirodela polyrhiza	5.6	15.9	17.6	13.0±6.5	0.0	17.9	19.5	12.5±10.8		
13	Salvinia natans	35.0	33.6	36.8	35.1±1.6	37.2	36.2	30.4	34.6±3.7		
				Submergeo	ls						
14	Batrachium trichophyllum	0.0	7.1	6.6	4.6±4.0	10.2	0.0	0.0	3.4±5.9		
15	Ceratophyllum demersum	24.8	22.7	21.1	22.9±1.9	26.2	24.5	30.0	26.9±2.8		
16	Hydrilla verticillata	12.1	0.0	0.0	4.0±7.0	12.6	0.0	0.0	4.2±7.3		
17	Najas graminea	0.0	0.0	11.0	3.7±6.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
18	Myriophyllum spicatum	0.0	9.3	0.0	3.1±5.4	0.0	9.2	0.0	3.1±5.3		
19	Potamogeton crispus	7.8	8.3	10.2	8.8±1.3	11.2	11.3	12.9	11.8±1.0		
20	Potamogeton lucens	8.9	8.3	7.6	8.3±0.6	8.8	11.3	12.9	11.0 ± 2.1		
21	Potamogeton pectinatus	8.8	0.0	8.5	5.8±5.0	11.4	10.6	11.3	11.1±0.4		
22	Potamogeton perfoliatus	0.0	6.7	0.0	0.5±3.9	0.0	6.9	7.9	4.9±4.3		

Table 5.2.2.33. Seasonal variations in frequency (%) of macrophytic species at Site

	Species		2	2011		2012						
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD			
				Emerg	gents							
1	Alisma lanceolatum	0.0	25.0	30.0	18.3±16.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0			
2	Alisma plantago-aquatica	20.0	15.0	20.0	18.3±2.9	0.0	20.0	0.0	6.7±11.5			
3	<i>Carex</i> sp.	0.0	15.0	0.0	5.0±8.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0			
4	Echinocloa crus-galli	0.0	20.0	0.0	6.7±11.5	0.0	20.0	0.0	6.7±11.5			
5	Myriophyllum verticillatum	30.0	35.0	40.0	35.0±5.0	25.0	30.0	40.0	31.7±7.6			
6	Phragmites australis	40.0	35.0	40.0	38.3±2.9	25.0	35.0	40.0	33.3±7.6			
7	Polygonum amphibium	30.0	30.0	40.0	33.3±5.8	20.0	25.0	30.0	25.0±5.0			
8	Polygonum hydropiper	30.0	35.0	20.0	28.3±7.6	20.0	30.0	35.0	28.3±7.6			
9	Ranunculus sceleratus	0.0	20.0	0.0	6.7±11.5	0.0	25.0	20.0	15.0±13.2			
10	Typha angustata	30.0	25.0	30.0	28.3±2.9	20.0	30.0	25.0	25.0±5.0			
	Rooted-floating leaf type											
11	Hydrocharis dubia	30.0	35.0	30.0	31.7±2.9	20.0	30.0	25.0	25.0±5.0			
12	Marsilea quadrifolia	40.0	25.0	35.0	33.3±7.6	25.0	35.0	35.0	31.7±5.8			
13	Nymphoides peltatum	40.0	40.0	35.0	38.3±2.9	35.0	45.0	40.0	40.0±5.0			
14	Potamogeton natans	20.0	30.0	15.0	21.7±7.6	15.0	30.0	20.0	21.7±7.6			
15	Trapa natans	20.0	30.0	20.0	23.3±5.8	15.0	30.0	35.0	26.7±10.4			
		•	F	ree-floating	type	•						
16	Azolla sp.	40.0	35.0	20.0	31.7±10.4	25.0	35.0	30.0	30.0±5.0			
17	Lemna minor	40.0	35.0	20.0	31.7±10.4	30.0	20.0	25.0	25.0±5.0			
18	Salvinia natans	40.0	45.0	30.0	38.3±7.6	30.0	35.0	35.0	33.3±2.9			
		•	•	Submerge	ls	•						
19	Ceratophyllum demersum	40.0	35.0	50.0	41.7±7.6	30.0	40.0	45.0	38.3±7.6			
20	Najas graminea	0.0	0.0	30.0	10.0±17.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0			
21	Potamogeton crispus	30.0	25.0	40.0	31.7±7.6	35.0	40.0	40.0	38.3±2.9			

IX during the study period

	Species		-	2011		2012						
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD			
				Emerg	ents							
1	Alisma lanceolatum	0.0	0.6	0.0	0.2±0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0			
2	Alisma plantago-aquatica	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.4±0.1	0.0	0.3	0.0	0.1±0.2			
3	Carex sp.	0.0	0.3	0.0	0.1±0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0			
4	Echinocloa crus-galli	0.0	0.3	0.0	0.1±0.2	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.1±0.1			
5	Myriophyllum verticillatum	0.9	1.2	0.8	1.0±0.2	0.7	1.0	0.7	0.8±0.2			
6	Phragmites australis	1.3	1.6	1.0	1.3±0.3	0.8	1.0	0.8	0.9±0.1			
7	Polygonum amphibium	0.5	0.7	0.6	0.6±0.1	0.6	0.7	0.5	0.6±0.1			
8	Polygonum hydropiper	0.7	0.9	0.7	0.8±0.1	0.5	0.8	0.6	0.6±0.2			
9	Ranunculus sceleratus	0.0	0.5	0.0	0.2±0.3	0.0	0.4	0.3	0.2±0.2			
10	Typha angustata	0.6	0.8	0.7	0.7±0.1	0.4	0.6	0.3	0.4±0.2			
	Rooted-floating leaf type											
11	Hydrocharis dubia	0.5	0.7	0.6	0.6±0.1	0.5	0.7	0.6	0.6±0.1			
12	Marsilea quadrifolia	0.8	1.1	0.9	0.9±0.2	0.6	0.9	0.7	0.7±0.2			
13	Nymphoides peltatum	2.8	2.9	2.3	2.7±0.3	2.1	2.9	2.4	2.5±0.4			
14	Potamogeton natans	0.7	1.1	0.6	0.8±0.3	0.6	0.8	0.5	0.6±0.2			
15	Trapa natans	0.7	1.0	0.6	0.8±0.2	0.4	0.6	0.4	0.5±0.1			
			Fre	ee-floating t	уре							
16	Azolla sp.	5.0	6.0	4.2	5.1±0.9	3.8	5.2	5.0	4.7±0.8			
17	Lemna minor	6.0	7.0	5.0	6.0±1.0	5.4	5.8	4.4	5.2±0.7			
18	Salvinia natans	3.6	5.0	0.0	2.9±2.6	3.2	5.0	3.4	3.9±1.0			
		•		Submerged	s	•	•		•			
19	Ceratophyllum demersum	3.0	3.3	2.3	2.9±0.5	2.5	3.3	2.6	2.8±0.4			
20	Najas graminea	0.0	0.0	0.5	0.2±0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0			
21	Potamogeton crispus	0.7	1.0	0.8	0.8±0.2	0.8	0.9	0.7	0.8±0.1			

Table 5.2.2.34. Seasonal variations in density (individuals/m²) of macrophyticspecies at Site IX during the study period

Table 5.2.2.35. Seaso	nal variations in abu	indance of ma	crophytic species	at Site IX
durin	ng the study period			
				_

	Species			2011		2012					
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD		
				Emerg	ents						
1	Alisma lanceolatum	0.0	2.0	0.0	0.7±1.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
2	Alisma plantago-aquatica	2.0	2.5	1.3	1.9±0.6	0.0	1.5	0.0	0.5±0.9		
3	Carex sp.	0.0	1.5	0.0	0.5±0.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
4	Echinocloa crus-galli	0.0	1.5	0.0	0.5±0.9	0.0	1.0	0.0	0.3±0.6		
5	Myriophyllum verticillatum	3.0	4.0	2.0	3.0±1.0	2.3	3.3	1.8	2.5±0.8		
6	Phragmites australis	3.3	4.0	2.5	3.3±0.8	2.7	2.5	2.0	2.4±0.3		
7	Polygonum amphibium	1.7	2.3	1.5	1.8±0.4	3.0	2.3	1.7	2.3±0.7		
8	Polygonum hydropiper	2.3	3.0	3.5	2.9±0.6	2.5	2.7	2.0	2.4±0.3		
9	Ranunculus sceleratus	0.0	2.5	0.0	0.8±1.4	0.0	1.3	1.5	0.9±0.8		
10	Typha angustata	2.0	2.7	2.3	2.3±0.3	2.0	2.0	1.5	1.8±0.3		
Rooted-floating leaf type											
11	Hydrocharis dubia	1.7	2.3	2.0	2.0±0.3	2.5	2.3	2.0	2.3±0.3		
12	Marsilea quadrifolia	2.0	3.7	2.3	2.6±0.9	2.0	2.3	2.3	2.2±0.2		
13	Nymphoides peltatum	7.0	7.3	5.8	6.7±0.8	5.3	5.8	6.0	5.7±0.4		
14	Potamogeton natans	3.5	3.7	3.0	3.4±0.3	3.0	2.7	2.5	2.7±0.3		
15	Trapa natans	3.5	3.3	3.0	3.3±0.3	2.0	2.0	1.3	1.8±0.4		
	·		Fre	e-floating t	уре						
16	Azolla sp.	12.5	15.0	21.0	16.2±4.4	12.7	13.0	16.7	14.1±2.2		
17	Lemna minor	15.0	17.5	25.0	19.2±5.2	18.0	29.0	22.0	23.0±5.6		
18	Salvinia natans	9.0	12.5	0.0	7.2±6.4	10.7	12.5	11.3	11.5±0.9		
	·			Submerged	5						
19	Ceratophyllum demersum	7.5	8.3	4.6	6.8±1.9	8.3	8.3	6.5	7.7±1.0		
20	Najas graminea	0.0	0.0	1.7	0.6±1.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0		
21	Potamogeton crispus	2.3	3.3	2.0	2.6±0.7	2.7	2.3	1.8	2.2±0.5		

Table 5.2.2.36. Seaso	onal variations in IVI of n	nacrophytic species at Site IX during
the s	study period	

	Species		20	011		2012						
S.No	Species	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±SD			
				Emerge	nts							
1	Alisma lanceolatum	0.0	8.4	5.8	4.7±4.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0			
2	Alisma plantago-aquatica	7.8	6.7	7.3	7.3±0.6	0.0	11.8	0.0	3.9±6.8			
3	Carex sp.	0.0	5.2	0.0	1.7±3.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0			
4	Echinocloa crus-galli	0.0	6.1	0.0	2.0±3.5	0.0	11.5	0.0	3.8±6.6			
5	Myriophyllum verticillatum	12.8	13.9	13.7	13.5±0.6	16.6	19.4	24.6	20.2±4.0			
6	Phragmites australis	16.5	15.0	15.2	15.6±0.8	17.0	22.1	25.0	21.4±4.0			
7	Polygonum amphibium	9.7	10.0	12.2	10.6±1.4	13.4	15.8	18.3	15.8±2.4			
8	Polygonum hydropiper	11.2	12.1	11.2	11.5±0.5	13.0	18.8	21.4	17.7±4.3			
9	Ranunculus sceleratus	0.0	7.6	0.0	2.5±4.4	0.0	14.8	12.1	9.0±7.9			
10	Typha angustata	10.5	9.6	11.7	10.6±1.1	12.6	18.1	14.8	15.2±2.8			
	Rooted-floating leaf type											
11	Hydrocharis dubia	9.7	10.9	10.9	10.5±0.7	13.0	18.5	16.0	15.8±2.7			
12	Marsilea quadrifolia	13.1	11.4	13.5	12.7±1.1	16.1	21.8	21.8	19.9±3.3			
13	Nymphoides peltatum	26.6	22.7	24.1	24.4±2.0	28.1	33.6	31.7	31.1±2.8			
14	Potamogeton natans	10.8	12.3	9.2	10.8±1.6	10.7	18.8	12.9	14.1±4.2			
15	Trapa natans	10.8	11.7	10.2	10.9±0.8	9.9	18.1	20.6	16.2±5.6			
			Free	-floating ty	ре							
16	Azolla sp.	41.4	37.8	48.1	42.4±5.3	30.1	35.6	37.1	34.3±3.7			
17	Lemna minor	48.2	42.9	56.5	49.2±6.9	39.8	29.5	31.9	33.7±5.4			
18	Salvinia natans	32.0	34.5	5.8	24.1±15.9	30.2	35.0	33.1	32.8±2.4			
			S	ubmergeds			•					
19	Ceratophyllum demersum	27.9	23.8	25.6	25.8±2.1	27.1	32.2	35.2	31.5±4.1			
20	Najas graminea	0.0	0.0	10.0	3.3±5.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0±0.0			
21	Potamogeton crispus	11.2	10.8	13.7	11.9±1.6	22.4	24.5	24.6	23.8±1.2			

5.2.3. Distribution of Macrophytes

In the present study a total of 55 species of macrophytes were recorded in Wular lake, of which 30 belonged to emergents, 10 to rooted floating-leaf types, 06 to free floating types and 09 to submergeds (Table 5.2.3.1). The maximum number of species in the lake were recorded at Site I (35) with 25 species of emergents, 06 rooted floating- leaf type, 01 submergeds and 03 free floating type as against the minimum number of 18 species, being registered at Site IV .The sites VII, VIII and IX were the intermediates between the two extremes supporting 34, 22 and 21 species of macrophytes respectively. The species showing restricted distribution to a particular site were *Scirpus lacustris* (Site I), *Nelumbo nucifera* (Site V), *Rununculus lingua* (Site VI) and *Batrachium trichophyllum* (Site VIII).

There were also considerable seasonal variations in the number of macrophytic species in Wular lake during the entire study period (Table 5.2.3.2). Seasonally, summer recorded the highest number of species while the lowest number of species was recorded in spring. At Site I, the highest number of 32 species was recorded in summer, 2012 while the lowest number of 12 species was recorded in spring, 2012. Site II depicted the minimum number of 18 species in spring, 2012 and the maximum number of 28 species in summer, 2011. Site III registered the highest number of 20 species in summer, 2011 as against the lowest number of 15 species being recorded in spring, 2012. At Site IV, the minimum number of 13 species was recorded in spring, 2012 and maximum number of 17species in summer and autumn 2011 and summer 2012. The number of species at Site V varied from a minimum of 17 species in spring, 2012 to a maximum of 28 species in summer, 2011. Site VI recorded the highest number of 27species in summer, 2011 while the lowest number of 14 species was recorded in spring, 2012. At Site VII, the maximum number of 33 species was recorded in summer, 2011 and the minimum number of 21 species in spring, 2012. Site VIII registered the minimum number of 16 species in summer 2012 as against the maximum number of 19 species being recorded in spring, 2012. Site IX depicted the maximum number of 20 species in summer, 2011 and the minimum of 15 species in spring, 2012. During the entire growth period of macrophytes summer was distinctive in harbouring the highest number of 34 species and that too at Site I which comprised of 24 species of emergents, 06 species of rooted floating-leaf type, 03 species of free floating type and 01species of submergeds. It was followed by 33 species at Site VII,

28 species each at sites II and V and 27 species at Site VI in a decreasing order. The lowest number of 17 species was, however, noticed at Site IV during this season.

During the entire period of study, most of the recorded species belonged to the emergent class which contributed 55 % of the total number of species (Table 5.2.3.2). Significant spatial as well as temporal variations were noticeable in the number of emergent macrophytic species. Thus, Site VIII recorded comparatively lesser number of species (3 in spring, 2012). The highest number of 24 species was recorded at Site I during summer, 2012. The data clearly reveals the greater fluctuations during the first half of growing season and least fluctuations during the later half.

Rooted floating-leaf type species did not fluctuate much all through the growing period. A maximum of 09 species of this life-form class was recorded at sites III and V during summer season. The least number of 04 species was however, recorded at Site VIII throughout the entire growing period.

Free floating class of macrophytes was represented by six species namely *Azolla* sp., *Lemna major, Lemna minor, Lemna trisulca, Spirodela polyrhiza* and *Salvinia natans*. A maximum of 06 species of this life-form class, involving all the species, was recorded at sites II and VII during summer, 2011 and the number of species towards the second half of the growing period did not fluctuate at all.

Submerged class recorded a highest number of 07 species at Site VII during summer and autumn, 2011. The least number of 01 species was recorded at sites I and VI throughout the entire growing period. There were again very little fluctuations in the number of species belonging to this class at different sites.

An overall view of the entire Wular lake on the basis of the occurrence of species revealed that the number of species was at minimal in spring (Table 5.2.3.2). Thereafter the total number of species kept on increasing abruptly till the highest number of species was attained during summer, the peak season of growth and development of macrophytes. After summer a slight decline in the number of species was followed though very little fluctuations in the number of species were registered during the second half of the growing period.

All the life-form classes viz., emergents, rooted floating-leaf type, submergeds and free floating type constituting the macrophytic community of the wetland embraced a distinct assemblage of plant species which grew intermixed at places resulting in complex physiognomy. The different life-form classes, in general, do not exhibit great regularity. The distribution of various macrophytic species in Wular lake is shown in Figure 5.2.3.1. Typha angustata and Phragmites australis, the chief occupants of littoral zone, extended all along the eastern, north-western and parts of south-eastern side of the lake up to a depth of 2.0m, being accompanied by widespread stands of rooted floating-leaf type species (Nymphoides peltatum, Potamogetan natans and Trapa natans). Overall, almost 20-25 % of the lake area is occupied by emergent macrophytes (Table 5.2.3.3). At Site VIII, they were scattered towards the shoreline but form less dense stands at Site IV. These macrophytes formed small aggregations in between rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes at sites II, III and IX. The maximum area under emergents was seen at Site I where large aggregations of these plant species were found distributed throughout. The other emergent macropytic species viz., Myriophyllum verticillatum, Polygonum hydropiper and Polygonum amphibium formed a mosaic of several small scattered aggregations in Wular lake. However, at Site I these three species of emergents were mainly confined to the shallow protected areas. Certain emergents such as Nasturtium officinalis, Ranunculus sceleratus, Sparganium ramosum, Echinocloa crus-galli, Hippuris *vulgaris* and *Carex* sp. were found occasionally scattered in the shallower areas of the lake towards the shoreline. Besides these above species, there were a number of other emergent species which showed patchy distribution and were mostly confined towards the lake shore.

Rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes occupied near about 35-40 % of the total area of Wular lake and formed widespread dense beds at sites II, III, V and VII. Among these macrophytes *Trapa natans* was the chief constituent species and form large beds at sites III, V and VII. Its area has been purposefully extended in the Wular lake for its economic use by local inhabitants. However, *Nymphaea mexicana* and *Nymphaea alba* formed pure isolated stands of its own at sites III and V. On the other hand, *Nelumbo nucifera* formed small scattered aggregations towards the littoral zone only at Site V. *Nymphoides peltatum*, being widely distributed among rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes, formed dense stands of its own at sites II, III, V and VII. Among this life-form class *Hydrocharius dubia* was distributed within a network of channels in Wular lake and was often seen growing intermixed with other constituent species. *Potamogeton natans* as such did not form pure stands in the Wular lake but was seen intermixed with other rooted floating-leaf type species.

The free-floating species, being dispersed were confined mostly towards littorals and side water channels contributing only 5-10 % to the total area covered by aquatic macrophytes in the entire lake. In this life-form class *Azolla* sp., *Salvinia natans*, and *Lemna minor* were the dominant free-floating species. Among the free floating species *Azolla* sp., *Lemna minor*, *Spirodela polyrhiza* and *Salvinia natans* were seen forming a mosaic of several small scattered aggregations at sites I, VIII and IX. Amongst the free floating species, *Azolla* sp., *Salvinia natans*, and *Lemna minor* formed thick dense mats over extensive areas in the littorals at sites II, V and VI. However, at Site IV, the shoreline was mostly colonised by patchy free floating forms like *Azolla* sp., *Salvinia natans*, *Spirodela polyrhiza* and *Lemna minor*.

Submerged macrophytes, due to their high aggressive capacity, covered the maximum area all along the western side of the Wular lake. This life-form class dominated by *Ceratophyllum demersum*, *Potamogeton crispus* and *Potamogeton lucens* association formed dense meadows in the open water areas at sites VII, VIII and IV, occupying < 10 % of the total area of the Wular lake. However, at other sites submerged macrophytes showed patchy distribution and are seen growing intermixed mostly with rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes which resulted in complex physiognomy of the wetland. Other submerged macrophytic species like *Myriophyllum spicatum*, *Hydrilla verticillata* and *Potamogeton pectinatus*, however, formed small aggregations and occupied lesser area.

S.No	Life-form class	Site I	Site II	Site III	Site IV	Site V	Site VI	Site VII	Site VIII	Site IX
	(A) Emergents									
1.	Alisma lanceolatum	+	-	-	-	+	+	-	-	+
2.	Alisma plantago-aquatica	+	-	-	-	+	-	+	-	+
3.	Alternanthera philoxeroides	-	+	-	-	-	+	+	-	-
4.	Bidens cernua	+	-	-	-	+	+	+	-	-
5.	Butomus umbellatus	+	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-
6.	<i>Carex</i> sp.	+	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	+
7.	Cyperus serotinus	+	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-
8.	Echinocloa crus-galli	+	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	+
9.	Eleocharis palustris	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-
10.	Hippuris vulgaris	+	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-
11.	Juncus buffonius	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-
12.	Lycopus europaeus	+	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-
13.	Mentha arvensis	+	-	-	-	+	+	+	-	-
14.	Menyanthes trifoliata	-	-	-	-	+	-	+	-	-
15.	Myriophyllum aquaticum	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
16.	Myriophyllum verticillatum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
17.	Nasturtium officinalis	+	+	-	-	-	-	+	-	-
18.	Phragmites australis	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+
19.	Polygonum amphibium	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	-	+
20.	Polygonum hydropiper	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
21.	Ranunculus lingua	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-
22.	Ranunculus muricatus	+	+	-	-	+	+	-	-	-
23.	Ranunculus sceleratus	+	+	-	-	+	+	-	-	+
24.	Sagittaria sagittifolia	+	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-
25.	Scirpus lacustris	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
26	Scirpus palustris	+	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-
27.	Sium latijugam	+	+	-	-	-	+	+	-	-
28.	Sparganium ramosum	+	-	-	-	-	+	+	-	-
29.	Typha angustata	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+

 Table 5.2.3.1. Distribution pattern of macrophytes at nine sites in Wular lake during the study period

30.	Typha latifolia	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-
	(B) Rooted floating-leaf type							•	•	•
31.	Hydrocharis dubia	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
32.	Marsilea quadrifolia	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+
33.	Nelumbo nucifera	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-
34.	Nymphaea alba	-	-	+	-	+	-	-	-	-
35.	Nymphaea mexicana	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	-	-
36.	Nymphaea pygmea	-		+	-	-	-	-	-	-
37.	Nymphoides peltatum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
38.	Potamogeton natans	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
39.	Trapa bispinosa	-	-	+	-	+	-	-	-	-
40.	Trapa natans	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
	(C)Free-floating type									
41.	Azolla sp.	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
42.	Lemna major	-	+	-	+	+	-	+	-	-
43.	Lemna minor	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
44.	Lemna trisulca	-	+	-	-	+	-	+	+	-
45.	Spirodela polyrhiza	-	+	-	+	-	-	+	+	-
46.	Salvinia natans	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
	(D) Submergeds									
47.	Batrachium trichophyllum	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-
48.	Ceratophyllum demersum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
49.	Hydrilla verticillata	-	-	-	+	-	-	+	+	-
50.	Najas graminea	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+
51.	Myriophyllum spicatum	-	+	-	-	-	-	+	+	-
52.	Potamogeton crispus	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+
53.	Potamogeton lucens	-	+	-	+	-	-	+	+	-
54.	Potamogeton pectinatus	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	-
55.	Potamogeton perfoliatus	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	-

Table 5.2.3.1. Conti......

Where, + = Present, -- = Absent

Sito	Life-form class		2011		2012			
Site	Life-form class	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Spring	Summer	Autumn	
	Emergents	15	23	22	11	24	20	
т	Rooted floating-leaf type	6	6	6	6	6	6	
1	Free floating type	3	3	3	2	3	3	
	Submergeds	1	1	1	1	1	1	
	Emergents	9	12	11	6	12	9	
т	Rooted floating-leaf type	6	6	6	6	6	6	
11	Free floating type	5	6	4	3	4	4	
	Submergeds	3	4	4	3	4	3	
	Emergents	5	5	7	5	5	5	
тт	Rooted floating-leaf type	6	9	6	5	8	7	
111	Free floating type	3	3	3	3	3	3	
	Submergeds	2	2	2	2	2	2	
	Emergents	4	4	4	4	4	4	
TV/	Rooted floating-leaf type	5	5	5	5	5	5	
1V	Free floating type	3	5	4	4	4	3	
	Submergeds	3	3	4	4	4	4	
	Emergents	9	12	11	6	9	8	
v	Rooted floating-leaf type	7	9	8	6	9	8	
v	Free floating type	3	5	3	3	4	3	
	Submergeds	2	2	2	2	2	2	
	Emergents	10	17	13	5	12	8	
VI	Rooted floating-leaf type	6	6	6	6	6	6	
VI.	Free floating type	2	3	3	2	3	3	
	Submergeds	1	1	1	1	1	1	
	Emergents	9	14	12	6	13	12	
VII	Rooted floating-leaf type	6	6	6	6	6	6	
V 11	Free floating type	4	6	5	3	4	3	
	Submergeds	6	7	7	6	6	5	
	Emergents	4	4	4	3	4	4	
VIII	Rooted floating-leaf type	4	4	4	4	4	4	
V 111	Free floating type	5	5	4	3	4	4	
	Submergeds	5	6	6	6	6	5	
	Emergents	6	10	7	5	8	6	
IX	Rooted floating-leaf type	5	5	5	5	5	5	
121	Free floating type	3	3	3	3	3	3	
	Submergeds	2	2	3	2	2	2	

Table 5.2.3.2. Seasonal fluctuations in the number of macrophyte species at different sites in Wular lake

		Coverage of differen	nt life-form classes	5
Site	Emergents	Rooted floating- leaf type	Free-floating type	Submergeds
Ι	Dense	Sparse	Sparse	Sparse
II	Moderate	Dense	Sparse	Sparse
III	II Sparse Dense		Sparse	Sparse
IV	Sparse	Sparse	Sparse	Sparse
V	Sparse	Dense	Moderate	Sparse
VI	Dense	Sparse	Sparse	Sparse
VII	Sparse	Moderate	Sparse	Moderate
VIII	VIII Sparse Sparse		Sparse	Sparse
IX	Sparse	Moderate	Sparse	Sparse

Table 5.2.3.3. Percentage (%) coverage of different life-form classes of
macrophytes at different sites in Wular lake

Where,

Sparse = 0 to 25 % cover Moderate = >25 to 50 % cover Dense = >50 to 75 % cover



Fig. 5.2.3.1. Distribution patterns of macrophytes in Wular lake

5.2.4. Zonation of Macrophytes

In the wetland under study, unlike lakes, no typical macrophytic zonation was distinguishable except at Site VII (Watlab); instead various macrophytic species either grow intermixed with one another which result in the complex physiognomy of the wetland vegetation or grow in pure communities to form a characteristic type of vegetation which differs qualitatively and quantitatively from the lake vegetation (Fig. 5.2.3.1). The macrophyte dominant lake has well developed littoral zone. Extended littorals in general, were dominated by (i) emergents like *Phragmites* australis, Typha angustata, Myriophyllum verticillatum, Polygonum amphibium and Polygonum hydropiper, (ii) rooted floating-leaf types like Hydrocharis dubia, Nymphoides peltatum, Nymphaea mexicana, Marsilea quadrifolia, Potamogetan natans and Trapa natans, (iii) free-floating types dominated by Azolla sp., Salvinia natans, and Lemna minor, all growing together intermixed and forming a complex physiognomy. The slightly deeper zone has abundant growth of submergeds like Ceratophyllum demersum and Potamogeton crispus forming meadows at various places. The littorals towards the north-eastern side are densely populated with *Salix* plantation which is eating the vitals of the lake. However, at Site VII, the open water site, macrophytes depicted slight zonation with water depth forming three distinguishable vegetational zones viz., (i) emergents, (ii) rooted floating-leaf type, and (iii) submergeds. The zone of emergent vegetation was narrow and extended from the waterlogged margins upto the depth of 1 m. It was represented by 16 species of both short growing and tall growing species. Except Alisma plantigoaquatica, Alternanthera philoxeroides, Bidens cernua, Lycopus europaeus, Mentha arvensis, Menyanthes trifoliata, Nasturtium officinalis, Ranunculus sceleratus, Sagittaria sagittifolia, Sium latijugam and Sparganium ramosum most of the other including *Phragmites* australis, Typha Myriophyllum species angustata, verticillatum, Polygonum amphibium and Polygonum hydropiper depicted significant abundance. Phragmites australis was the deep colonizer with its stands extending up to the depth of 2 m. The zone of rooted floating-leaf type vegetation was the broadest vegetational zone and extended from almost inundated margins upto the depth of 4.0 m. Hydrocharis dubia, Marsilea quadrifolia, Nymphaea mexicana, Nymphoides peltatum, Potamogetan natans and Trapa natans were the dominant species of this zone. While Hydrocharis dubia and Nymphoides peltatum colonized shallow water zone, *Potamogetan natans* and *Trapa natans* were seen extending upto the depth of 4.0 m.The zone of submerged vegetation was comparatively broader extending upto the depth of 5.0 m.The zone was colonized by the species like *Ceratophyllum demersum*, *Potamogeton crispus*, *Myriophyllum spicatum*, *Hydrilla verticillata*, *Potamogeton lucens* and *Potamogeton pectinatus* with the former two species forming dense meadows. The zone of submerged vegetation covered the central portion of the lake exclusively upto the profundal zone but the individuals were also sparsely dispersed in the less dense stands of rooted floating-leaf type and emergent vegetation. The free-floating species did not form any distinct zone and were dispersed and confined mostly towards littorals and side water channels. *Azolla* sp., *Salvinia natans*, and *Lemna minor* were the dominant free-floating species.

5.2.5. Relationships between physico-chemical characteristics of water and density of macrophytes

Correlation coefficients worked out between the physico-chemical parameters of water and density of different life-form classes of macrophytes depicted highly significant positive as well negative correlations (Table 5.2.5.1).

The most significant positive correlations of density (individuals/m²) in emergents were recorded with ammonical-nitrogen (p<0.01, r = 0.733), orthophosphate-phosphorus (p<0.01, r = 0.721) and water temperature (p<0.01, r = 0.667), its most significant negative correlations were maintained only with depth (p<0.05, r = -0.712).

The parameters depicting strong positive correlations with density of rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes were depth (p<0.01, r = 0.711), water temperature (p<0.05, r = 0.672) and ammonical-nitrogen (p<0.01, r = 0.668). Density of rooted floating-leaf types also did not show strong negative correlations with any of the parameters.

Among free floating macrophytes, density of species (individuals/m²) revealed highly significant positive correlations with ammonical-nitrogen (p<0.05, r = 0.673), orthophosphate-phosphorus (p<0.05, r = 0.668) and water temperature (p<0.05, r = 0. 702). Density of free floating macrophytes, however, did not depict highly significant negative correlations with any of the parameters.

The density of submerged macrophytes (individuals/m²) depicted highly significant positive correlations with transparency (p<0.01, r = 0.891), depth (p<0.01, r = 0.806), ammonical-nitrogen (p<0.01, r = 0.787), orthophosphate-phosphorus (p<0.01, r = 0.765) and water temperature (p<0.01, r = 0.645). Density (individuals/m²) of submergeds, however, did not depict highly significant negative correlations with any of the parameters.
	DEP	TRAN	WT	pH	CON	TDS	FC	DO	ТН	CC	ТА	AN	NN	OP	ТР	DS	EM	RF	FF	SUB
EMER	-0.712(*)	-0.109	0.667(**)	0.35	-0.24	-0.254	-0.01	-0.07	-0.2	-0.135	-0.2	0.733(**)	-0.26	0.721(**)	-0.114	-0.404	1			
RF	.711(**)	0.85	0.672(*)	-0.042	0.033	0.03	0.091	0.431	0.04	-0.068	0.05	0.668(**)	0.046	-0.08	0.063	0.454	-0.22	1		
FF	-0.482	-0.318	0.702(*)	0.014	0.106	0.099	0.309	-0.4	0.11	0.175	0.29	0.673(*)	-0.159	0.668(*)	0.225	-0.168	0.71	-0.2	1	
SUB	0.806(**)	0.891(**)	0.645(**)	-0.307	0.334	0.331	0.4	0.081	0.41	0.392	0.23	0.787(**)	0.26	0.765(**)	0.217	-0.247	0.275	-0	-0.259	1

Table 5.2.5.1. Correlation coefficient between various physico-chemical parameters of water and density of macrophytes in Wular lake

The marked correlations are significant at P = <0.05 (1- tailed) and P = <0.01 (2-tailed).

Where, WT - Water temperature, TDS – Total dissolved solids, CON - Specific conductivity, pH - pH, FC - Free carbon dioxide, DO - Dissolved oxygen, TH - Total hardness, CC - Calcium content, AN - Ammonical-nitrogen, NN - Nitrate-nitrogen, TP - Total phosphorus, OP - Ortho-phosphate phosphorus, DS - Dissolved silica, EMER - Emergents, RF - Rooted floating-leaf type, FF - Free-floating type, SUB - Submergeds.

5.2.6. Diversity Indices

The Shannon-Weiner index was computed to analyse the species diversity at nine different sites for a period of two years to ascertain the structural features of the community. The index values at different sites are given in figure 5.2.6.1. A perusal of the data showed the highest index value of species diversity for Site VII (3.06), followed by Site I (2.86), Site VI (2.84) and Site II (2.80) and decreasing to minimum of 2.38 at Site IX.

A perusal of data on the Simpson's diversity index revealed that the maximum value of 0.989 was recorded at Site V as against the minimum value of 0.939 being recorded at Site I. The other sites showed values intermediate between the two extremes (Fig. 5.2.6.2).

There were clear variations in the distribution of various species of macrophytes in Wular lake. The Sorenson's similarity index based on species composition generally showed good similarity between all sites (Table 5.2.6.3). On the basis of Sorensen's similarity index, the sites that showed close similarity were sites I and VI (81. 3 %), followed by sites VII and VIII (76.9 %), IV and VIII (75.0 %), II and VI (73.8%) and V and IX (72.0 %). On the other hand, least value for Sorensen's similarity coefficient was observed for sites I and IV (45.3 %) and VI and VIII (47.1 %).

5.2.7. Cluster Analysis

The relationship among the sites was obtained through cluster analysis using Bray-Curtis method (linkage between groups). Spatial data set analysis resulted in a dendrogram, grouping all the nine sites in to four meaning full clusters (Fig. 5.2.7.1). Cluster I included Site I and VI that resemble to almost one another with a similarity of 78% in terms of macrophyte presence. Sites VIII and IV fall under cluster II with an 81% similarity in terms of macrophytes. Another cluster was made up of Sites IX and III with a similarity of 90 % and simultaneously having 84 % similarity with Site V, while Site II and VII made up the other group with 78 % similarity in terms of presence of macrophytes.



Fig. 5.2.6.1. Site-wise variations in Shannon –Weiner index during the two years of study period



Fig. 5.2.6.2. Site-wise variations in Simpson diversity index during the two years of study period

	S-I	S-II	S-III	S-IV	S-V	S-VI	S-VII	S-VIII
S-II	64.6							
S-III	57.1	70.6						
S-IV	45.3	70.8	71.8					
S-V	62.5	67.8	68.0	63.8				
S-VI	81.3	61.0	56.0	59.6	69.0			
S-VII	60.0	73.8	57.1	67.9	68.8	64.6		
S-VIII	42.1	65.4	60.5	75.0	58.8	47.1	76.9	
S-IX	64.3	66.7	71.4	71.8	72.0	68.0	57.1	60.5

 Table 5.2.6.3. Sorenson similarity coefficient (%) between different selected sites on the basis of macrophytes



Fig. 5.2.7.1. Bray-Curtis cluster analysis of macrophytes at nine study sites

5.2.8. Primary productivity

Wular lake, a Ramsar Site in Kashmir Himalaya, has a complex physiognomy of macro-vegetation and is colonized by all the four life-form classes of macrophytes viz. emergent type, rooted floating-leaf type, free-floating type and submerged type. Among these, emergent (reeds and cattails) and rooted floating-leaf type classes, being the dominant and sub-dominant classes respectively, contribute much towards the primary productivity of the lake.

Production estimates in Wular lake were undertaken for a total of 16 species of macrophytes comprising 05 emergents, 06 rooted floating- leaf types, 03 free floating type and 02 submergeds (Table 5.2.8.1 and 5.2.8.2). The production of dominant macrophytes, calculated on the basis of dry weight biomass, depicted emergents and rooted-floating leaf types to accumulate more biomass during the entire study period. During the year 2011 the maximum production was recorded for *Typha angustata* (1,800 g dwt. m⁻²) and minimum for *Lemna minor* (22 g dwt. m⁻²).

Among the emergents, the highest production was exhibited by *Typha angustata* (1,800 g dwt. m⁻²), followed by *Phragmites australis* (1,450 g dwt. m⁻²), *Myriophyllum verticillatum* (380 g dwt. m⁻²), *Polygonum hydropiper* (225 g dwt. m⁻²) and decreasing to the lowest of 210 g dwt. m⁻² for *Polygonum amphibium*.

Trapa natans, with a production value of 450 g dwt. m^{-2} was recorded to be the most productive species among the rooted floating - leaf type class, followed by *Nymphaea mexicana* (340 g dwt. m^{-2}) and *Nymphoides peltatum* (310 g dwt. m^{-2}). The lowest productive species, among rooted floating-leaf type class, was *Marsilea quadrifolia* recording the production of 60 g dwt. m^{-2} .

Three free floating species were estimated for primary productivity and among these the maximum production was recorded for *Salvinia natans* (33 g dwt. m⁻²) and minimum for *Lemna minor* (22 g dwt. m⁻²). *Azolla* sp. ranked second in terms of production among the free-floating class with the value of 26 g dwt. m⁻².

In the submerged class, *Ceratophyllum demersum* registered the highest production of 170 g dwt. m⁻² as against the lowest of 110 g dwt. m⁻² being recorded for *Potamogetan crispus*.

The net primary productivity in Wular lake during 2011 fluctuated between a minimum of 0.10 g dwt. $m^{-2} day^{-1}$ for *Azolla* sp. and a maximum of 6.94 g dwt. $m^{-2} day^{-1}$ for *Typha angustata*. *Phragmites australis* was the second most productive species with

net primary productivity of 5.59 g dwt. $m^{-2} day^{-1}$ (Table 5.2.8.1). *Trapa natans* dominated among rooted floating leaf-types with net primary productivity of 1.73 g dwt. $m^{-2} day^{-1}$, followed by *Nymphaea mexicana* and *Nymphoides peltatum* recording net primary productivity value of 1.35 g dwt. $m^{-2} day^{-1}$ each. Among the free floating species, *Salvinia natans* with a value of 0.28 g dwt. $m^{-2} day^{-1}$ depicted highest net primary productivity. It was followed by *Lemna minor* (0.12 g dwt. $m^{-2} day^{-1}$) and *Azolla* sp. (0.10 g dwt. $m^{-2} day^{-1}$). In the submerged class, *Ceratophyllum demersum* depicted highest net primary productivity recording a value of 0.65 g dwt. $m^{-2} day^{-1}$ against the lowest value of 0.42 g dwt. $m^{-2} day^{-1}$ being recorded for *Potamogetan crispus*.

A perusal of data on the production values of dominant macrophytes in Wular lake shows that during 2012 the maximum production was again recorded for *Typha angustata* (1,390 g dwt. m⁻²) and minimum for *Lemna minor* (16 g dwt. m⁻²). *Phragmites australis* ranked second in terms of production with the value of 905 g dwt. m⁻². *Trapa natans* and *Nymphoides peltatum* were the two most productive species among rooted floating-leaf types recording production values of 445 g dwt. m⁻² and 280 g dwt. m⁻² respectively (Table 5.2.8.2).The production of free-floating species varied from 16 g dwt. m⁻² (*Lemna minor*) to 32 g dwt. m⁻² (*Salvinia natans*). Among submergeds, *Ceratophyllum demersum* depicted highest production with a value of 151 g dwt. m⁻² against the lowest value of 83 g dwt. m⁻² being recorded for *Potamogetan crispus*.

During 2012 the net primary productivity in Wular lake varied from a minimum of 0.09 g dwt. $m^{-2} day^{-1}$ each for *Lemna minor* and *Azolla* sp. to a maximum of 5.36 g dwt. $m^{-2} day^{-1}$ for *Typha angustata*. The other species with significant net primary productivity were: *Phragmites australis* (3.49 g dwt. $m^{-2} day^{-1}$), *Trapa natans* (1.71 g dwt. $m^{-2} day^{-1}$), *Myriophyllum verticillatum* (1.38 g dwt. $m^{-2} day^{-1}$) and *Nymphoides peltatum* (1.22 g dwt. $m^{-2} day^{-1}$). Among the free-floating species, *Azolla* sp. and *Lemna minor* were found to be equally productive species with net primary productivity value of 0.09 g dwt. $m^{-2} day^{-1}$ each. However, *Salvinia natans*, among the free-floating species depicted the maximum net primary productivity was recorded for *Ceratophyllum demersum* (0.57 g dwt. $m^{-2} day^{-1}$) and minimum for *Potamogetan crispus* (0.31 g dwt. $m^{-2} day^{-1}$).

In general, among the 16 species of macrophytes estimated for the primary production in Wular lake, *Typha angustata* depicted the maximum productivity, followed by *Phragmites australis* and *Trapa natans* in a decreasing order. The lowest production was recorded for free floating *Lemna minor*. It is clear from the data that most of the emergent macrophytic species are highly productive contributing much towards the total primary productivity of the lake, being followed by the rooted floating-leaf type species especially *Trapa natans*, *Nymphaea mexicana* and *Nymphoides peltatum*.

The overall percentage contributions of various life-form classes of macrophytes towards the total production of the Wular lake are presented in figure 5.2.8.1 and 5.2.8.2. The emergent class of macrophytes contributed a maximum of about 69 %, followed by rooted floating- leaf type (24.5 %), submergeds (5 %) and decreasing to the minimum of 1.5 % by the free-floating type. The dominance pattern of emergent macrophytes is thus well established in Wular lake which is supported by the fact that cummulative productivity of all the other life-form classes is even much less than half of the primary productivity of emergent class. Even if all the species are taken into account for the estimation of productivity in the lake, the emergents alone contributed almost 90 % to the overall production as there are proportionally more than one half of the species belonging to this class of macrophytes recorded during the present study in the Wular lake.

A perusal of data on the annual production values of dominant macrophytes in Wular lake during the two years of study period revealed that the production values of macrophytes were significantly higher in the year 2011 as compared to the year 2012 (Table 5.2.8.1 and 5.2.8.2). It is clear from the data that during the year 2012 a significant decrease in the productivity values was recorded for almost all the macrophytic species. However, insignificant differences in the productivity values of certain macrophytes such as *Potamogeton natans*, *Hydrocharis dubia*, *Lemna minor*, and *Salvinia natans* were noticeable during the two years of study period.

S.No	Species	Plant nart	Production*	NPP (g dwt.
D+110+	openes	i iuni part	$(g dwt. m^{-2})$	m ⁻² day ⁻¹)
		Emergents		
1	Phragmites australis	Whole plant	1450.0	5.59
2	Typha angustata	Whole plant	1800.0	6.94
3	Myriophyllum verticillatum	Whole plant	380.0	1.46
4	Pologonum amphibium	Whole plant	210.0	0.80
5	Polygonum hydropiper	Whole plant	225.0	0.86
		Rooted floating-leaf	f type	
6	Trapa natans	Whole plant	450.0	1.73
7	Potamogeton natans	Whole plant	64.0	0.26
8	Nymphaea mexicana	Leaf lamina	340.0	1.35
9	Hydrocharis dubia	Whole plant	95.0	0.36
10	Nymphoides peltatum	Leaf lamina	310.0	1.35
11	Marselia quadrifolia	Whole plant	60.0	0.23
		Free-floating ty	ре	
12	Azolla sp.	Whole plant	26.0	0.10
13	Lemna minor	Whole plant	22.0	0.12
14	Salvinia natans	Whole plant	33.0	0.28
		Submergeds		
15	Potamogeton crispus	Whole plant	110.0	0.42
16	Ceratophyllum demersum	Whole plant	170.0	0.65

Table 5.2.8.1. Average production (g dwt. m⁻²) and net primary production (g dwt. m⁻²day ⁻¹) of dominant macrophytes in Wular lake during 2011

* Sum of positive increments in biomass of species; NPP= Net Primary Productivity



Fig. 5.2.8.1. Percentage contribution of various life-form classes of macrophytes towards (i) production and (ii) net primary productivity in Wular lake during 2011

S.No	Species	Plant part	Production* (g dwt. m ⁻²)	NPP(g dwt. m ⁻² day ⁻¹)								
		Emergents	-									
1	Phragmites australis	Whole plant	905.0	3.49								
2	Typha angustata	Whole plant	1390.0	5.36								
3	Myriophyllum verticillatum	Whole plant	360.0	1.38								
4	Pologonum amphibium	Whole plant	197.0	0.75								
5	Polygonum hydropiper	Whole plant	208.0	0.79								
	Rooted	l floating-leaf type										
6	Trapa natans	Whole plant	445.0	1.71								
7	Potamogeton natans	Whole plant	66.0	0.27								
8	Nymphaea mexicana	Leaf lamina	275.0	1.09								
9	Hydrocharis dubia	Whole plant	92.0	0.34								
10	Nymphoides peltatum	Leaf lamina	280.0	1.22								
11	Marselia quadrifolia	Whole plant	55.0	0.21								
	Fre	ee-floating type										
12	Azolla sp.	Whole plant	24.0	0.09								
13	Lemna minor	Whole plant	16.0	0.09								
14	Salvinia natans	Whole plant	32.0	0.27								
	(Submergeds										
15	Potamogeton crispus	Whole plant	83.0	0.31								
16	Ceratophyllum demersum	Whole plant	151.0	0.57								

Table 5.2.8.2. Average production (g dwt. m-2) and net primary production (g dwt. m-2day -1) of dominant macrophytes in Wular lake during 2012

* Sum of positive increments in biomass of species; NPP= Net Primary Productivity



Fig. 5.2.8.2. Percentage contribution of various life-form classes of macrophytes towards (i) production and (ii) net primary productivity in Wular lake during 2012

5.2.9. Biochemical Composition of Macrophytes

In all, sixteen macrophytic species, including 05 emergent, 06 rooted floating-leaf type species, 03 free-floating and 02 submerged species, were analysed, on seasonal basis, for various biochemical constituents viz. total lipids, total carbohydrates, total proteins and chlorophyll content. The concentration of various biochemical constituents varied not only between different species but also depicted temporal variations within the same species.

5.2.9.1. Protein Content (% fresh weight)

The concentration of proteins (on % fresh wt, basis) depicted discernable seasonal variations in different macrophytic species during the two years of study period. In general, on temporal scale, the maximum concentrations of proteins in various plant tissues were recorded during autumn, followed by summer and spring and decreasing to the minimum in winter. However, there were significant differences in the concentration of proteins in different species. Thus, during the year 2011 the maximum concentration of proteins was recorded for Azolla sp. (23.8 %) in autumn against the minimum for Nymphoides peltatum (5.2 %) in winter. Further, among emergents, the highest concentration of proteins was recorded during autumn for Typha angustata (15.6 %), followed by *Phragmites australis* and *Polygonum amphibium* with 14.2 % each and Polygonum hydropiper (13.2 %) in a decreasing order. In contrast, the lowest concentration of proteins (4.5 %) was registered for *Myriophyllum verticillatum* during winter. Except Marsilea quadrifolia recording a low of 11.0 %, rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes recorded comparatively higher values as evinced by Nymphaea mexicana (20.2 %), Hydrocharis dubia (19.7 %) and Potamogeton natans (18.2 %) again during autumn. Submergeds maintained slightly higher concentration of proteins compared to emergents with Potamogeton crispus registering 19.2 %, followed by Ceratophyllum demersum (14.4 %) during autumn. Among all the four life-form classes, the freefloating species registered the highest concentrations of proteins with Azolla sp. recording a highest of 23.8 % as against the lowest of 14.8 %, being recorded for Salvinia natans (Table 5.2.9.1a). However, irrespective of life-form classes, the highest annual mean concentration of proteins (17.2 ±6.2 %) was recorded for Azolla sp., followed by Lemna minor (15.0±6.1%), Hydrocharis dubia (12.1±6.1%) as against the lowest of 5.9 ± 2.0 %, being obtained for *Myriophyllum verticillatum* (Fig. 5.2.9.1a). It is clear from the data that during the year 2011 the concentration of total proteins depicted

greater variations in different periods, though significant increases for *Azolla* sp., *Lemna minor* and *Salvinia natans* were evinced in the early autumn season.

A perusal of the data on the total protein concentrations of dominant macrophytes in Wular lake during the two years of study period revealed that the total protein concentrations of macrophytes were slightly higher in the year 2011 as compared to the year 2012 (Table 5.2.9.1a and 5.2.9.1b). During 2012 the concentration of total proteins of dominant macrophytes in Wular lake fluctuated between a minimum of 3.2 % for Polygonum amphibium during winter and a maximum of 21.7 % each for Azolla sp. during autumn. For emergents, the highest concentration, being recorded during autumn, was noted for Typha angustata (13.9 %), followed by Phragmites australis (12.8 %), Polygonum amphibium (12.4 %), Polygonum hydropiper (10.4 %) and Myriophyllum verticillatum (8.6 %) in a decreasing order. However, among the rooted floating-leaf type species, the maximum concentration of total proteins (18.2 %) was obtained for Hydrocharis dubia in autumn, which was followed by Nymphaea mexicana (17.3 %), Potamogeton natans (16.0 %) and Nymphoides peltatum (12.8 %) again in autumn. Among the free-floating species, *Azolla* sp. with a value of 21.7 % recorded the highest total protein concentration during autumn, followed by 19.4 % for Lemna minor and 13.7 % for Salvinia natans during the same season. Among submergeds, Potamogeton crispus registered the highest percentage of 16.6 during autumn as against the lowest of 5.2 % being recorded for *Ceratophyllum demersum* during winter.

During 2012 the highest annual mean concentration of total proteins of $15.2 \pm 4.8 \%$ was obtained for *Azolla* sp., followed by $13.2 \pm 4.4 \%$ for *Lemna minor* and $12.0 \pm 4.7 \%$ for *Potamogeton crispus*. However, the lowest annual mean concentration ($5.1 \pm 1.8 \%$) was obtained for *Myriophyllum verticillatum* (Fig. 5.2.9.1b).

Correlation coefficients worked out between the physico-chemical parameters of water and protein content (% fresh weight) in different life-form classes of macrophytes depicted highly significant positive as well negative correlations between the various parameters (Table 5.2.9.1c). Free-floating species were the only exception which could not depict strong correlation with any of the parameters.

In emergents, the concentration of proteins (% fresh weight) depicted a strong positive correlation with dissolved oxygen (p<0.05, r = 0.930). It, however, did not show any significant negative correlations with any of the other parameters.

In rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes, the concentration of proteins (% fresh weight) could not depict strong positive correlation with any of the parameters. Protein content (% fresh weight) in rooted floating-leaf types, however, depicted highly significant negative correlations with ammonical-nitrogen (p<0.01, r = -0.855) and dissolved silica (p<0.01, r = -0.889).

The concentration of proteins (% fresh weight) in submergeds depicted highly significant positive correlations with transparency (p<0.01, r = 0.773), conductivity (p<0.01, r = 0.856), total alkalinity (p<0.01, r = 0.873), ammonical-nitrogen (p<0.01, r = 0.831), total phosphorus (p<0.01, r = 0.813) and dissolved silica (p<0.01, r = 0.723) and its most significant negative correlations were noticeable with nitrate-nitrogen (p<0.01, r = -0.755) and orthophosphate-phosphorus (p<0.01, r = -0.722).

S.No.	Species	Plant part	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Winter	Mean±S.D		
		En	nergents						
1	Myriophyllum verticillatum	AGP	7.3	8.4	9.8	4.5	5.9±2.0		
2	Phragmites australis	AGP	10.6	13.5	14.2	5.8	8.2±3.4		
3	Polygonum amphibium	AGP	10.7	11.6	14.2	6.9	8.8±2.7		
4	Polygonum hydropiper	AGP	9.5	10.8	13.2	5.8	7.7±2.6		
5	Typha angustata	AGP	12.0	14.4	15.6	7.4	9.7±3.3		
		Rooted flo	oating-leaf	type					
6	Trapa natans	AGP	9.3	10.8	13.6	6.3	7.8±2.1		
7	Potamogeton natans	AGP	14.4	16.6	18.2	8.7	11.6±4.0		
8	Nymphaea mexicana	Leaf lamina	15.1	17.2	20.2	8.3	11.7±4.8		
9	Hydrocharis dubia	AGP	16.4	18.6	19.7	7.8	12.1±6.1		
10	Marsilea quadrifolia	AGP	7.8	9.4	11.0	5.4	6.6±1.7		
11	Nymphoides peltatum	Leaf lamina	9.8	12.6	14.8	5.2	7.5±3.3		
		Sub	mergeds						
12	Potamogeton crispus	Whole plant	14.6	16.4	19.2	8.2	11.4±4.5		
13	Ceratophyllum demersum	Whole plant	9.3	11.4	14.4	5.6	7.5±2.6		
	Free-floating type								
14	Azolla sp.	Whole plant	16.3	21.1	23.8	11.4	17.2±6.2		
15	Lemna minor	Whole plant	14.4	17.6	21.4	9.2	15.0±6.1		
16	Salvinia natans	Whole plant	10.1	12.8	14.8	6.1	10.3±4.4		

Table 5.2.9.1a. Seasonal variations in the protein content (% on fresh wt. basis) of
dominant macrophytes in Wular lake during 2011

ABP=Above ground part



Fig. 5.2.9.1a. Average concentration of proteins (% on fresh wt. basis) in dominant macrophytic species of Wular lake during 2011

			8					
S.No.	Species	Plant part	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Winter	Mean±S.D	
		E	mergents					
1	Myriophyllum verticillatum	ABP	6.4	7.2	8.6	3.8	5.1±1.8	
2	Phragmites australis	ABP	9.2	11.3	12.8	3.6	6.4±4.0	
3	Polygonum amphibium	ABP	8.8	11.2	12.4	3.2	6.0 ± 4.0	
4	Polygonum hydropiper	ABP	7.2	9.0	10.4	3.3	5.3±2.8	
5	Typha angustata	ABP	10.2	12.8	13.9	5.2	7.7±3.5	
		Rooted f	loating-lea	f type				
6	Trapa natans	ABP	8.4	9.6	12.4	4.5	6.5±2.8	
7	Potamogeton natans	ABP	12.6	14.8	16.0	6.2	9.4±4.5	
8	Nymphaea mexicana	Leaf lamina	13.3	15.4	17.3	7.1	10.2 ± 4.4	
9	Hydrocharis dubia	ABP	13.2	16.1	18.2	7.7	10.5 ± 3.9	
10	Marsilea quadrifolia	ABP	6.8	8.4	11.2	4.2	5.5 ± 1.8	
11	Nymphoides peltatum	Leaf lamina	8.6	9.8	12.8	5.3	7.0±2.3	
		Su	bmergeds					
12	Potamogeton crispus	Whole plant	12.2	14.4	16.6	7.3	12.0±4.7	
13	Ceratophyllum demersum	Whole plant	9.6	11.3	12.8	5.2	9.2 ± 3.8	
	Free-floating type							
14	Azolla sp.	Whole plant	16.2	19.5	21.7	10.0	15.2±4.8	
15	Lemna minor	Whole plant	13.8	17.3	19.4	8.6	13.2±4.4	
16	Salvinia natans	Whole plant	9.7	11.4	13.7	6.2	9.1±2.7	

Table 5.2.9.1b. Seasonal variations in the protein content (% on fresh wt. basis) of dominant macrophytes in Wular lake during 2012

ABP=Above ground part



Fig. 5.2.9.1b. Average concentration of proteins (% on fresh wt. basis) in dominant macrophytic species of Wular lake during 2012

	TR	WT	pH	CON	DO	TA	TH	CC	AN	NN	OP	ТР	DS	TI
TR	1													
WT	678(*)	1												
pН	0.135	0.156	1											
CON	-0.328	0.288	862(**)	1										
DO	.814(**)	792(*)	0.202	-0.531	1									
TA	-0.309	0.314	816(**)	.953(**)	-0.587	1								
TH	-0.275	0.174	918(**)	.978(**)	-0.451	.940(**)	1							
CC	-0.351	0.187	922(**)	.964(**)	-0.483	.941(**)	.991(**)	1						
AN	-0.287	0.632	-0.199	0.498	-0.335	0.514	0.392	0.397	1					
NN	-0.182	0.569	-0.304	0.503	-0.275	0.532	0.438	0.438	.903(**)	1				
OP	-0.351	0.459	704(*)	.857(**)	-0.547	.818(**)	.806(**)	.802(**)	0.575	.721(*)	1			
TP	-0.214	0.547	-0.436	0.654	-0.392	.719(*)	0.591	0.603	.893(**)	.943(**)	.792(*)	1		
DS	0.152	0.507	0.185	0.16	-0.073	0.196	0.036	-0.018	.803(**)	.718(*)	0.256	0.645	1	
TI	0.103	0.522	0.658	-0.323	-0.152	-0.318	-0.412	-0.467	0.073	0.124	-0.037	0.031	0.452	1
EM	0.866	-0.795	0.404	-0.628	.930(*)	-0.681	-0.643	-0.628	0.072	0.263	-0.362	0.001	0.195	-0.175
RF	0.265	-0.372	0.178	-0.284	0.227	-0.369	-0.157	-0.183	-0.855(*)	-0.631	-0.269	-0.634	-0.889(*)	0.651
SUB	0.773(**)	0.651(**)	0.684(**)	0.856(**)	-0.657(**)	0.873(**)	0.678(**)	0.740(**)	0.831(**)	-0.755(**)	-0.722(**)	0.813(**)	0.723(**)	0.633(**)
FF	-0.826	0.822	-0.691	0.948	-0.825	0.99	0.889	0.898	0.979	0.666	0.741	0.963	0.9	-0.763

 Table 5.2.9.1c. Correlation coefficients between various physico-chemical parameters of water and protein content in different life- form classes of macrophytes in Wular lake

The marked correlations are significant at P = <0.05 (1- tailed) and P = <0.01 (2-tailed).

Where, TR- Transparency, WT- Water temperature, TDS – Total dissolved solids, CON - Specific conductivity, pH - pH, DO - Dissolved oxygen, TH - Total hardness, CC- Calcium content, AN - Ammonical-nitrogen, NN - Nitrate-nitrogen, TP - Total phosphorus, OP - Ortho-phosphate phosphorus, DS - Dissolved silica, TI - Total iron, EM - Emergents, RF - Rooted floating-leaf type, FF - Free-floating type, SUB - Submergeds.

5.2.9.2. Carbohydrate Content (% fresh weight)

A perusal of data on the carbohydrate content (on % fresh wt. basis) of dominant macrophytes in Wular lake revealed distinct seasonal variations during the two years of study period. In general, on temporal scale, the maximum concentrations of carbohydrates in various plant tissues were recorded during summer, followed by spring and autumn and decreasing to the minimum in winter. Significant differences were observed in the carbohydrate concentration of different species. It is clear from the data that the carbohydrate content of macrophytes was slightly higher in the year 2011 as compared to the year 2012 (Table 5.2.9.2a and 5.2.9.2b).

During the year 2011 the maximum concentration of carbohydrates was recorded for Phragmites australis (27.0 %) in summer against the minimum for Ceratophyllum demersum (1.6 %) in winter. Further, among emergents, the highest concentration of carbohydrates was obtained for *Phragmites australis* (27.0 %), followed by Typha angustata (26.4 %), Polygonium amphibium (12.5 %) and Myriophyllum verticillatum (10.9 %), being recorded during summer. In contrast, the lowest concentration of carbohydrates (3.0 %) was registered for Polygonum hydropiper during winter. Among all the four life-form classes, the rooted floatingleaf type macrophytes registered the highest concentration of carbohydrates as evinced by Potamogeton natans (26.0 %), Marsilea quadrifolia (21.9 %), Nymphaea mexicana (20.4 %) and Hydrocharis dubia (17.8 %) again during summer. However, compared to rooted floating-leaf type and emergent macrophytes, free-floating species maintained slightly lower concentration of carbohydrates with Lemna minor registering 13.3 %, followed by Salvinia natans (12.4 %) and Azolla sp. (6.5 %) during summer. The submergeds registered the lowest concentration of carbohydrates with Potamogeton crispus recording a highest of 9.5 % during summer as against the lowest of 1.4 %, being recorded for Ceratophyllum demersum during autumn (Table 5.2.9.2a).. However, irrespective of life-form classes, the highest annual mean concentration of carbohydrates (16.4±8.1 %) was recorded for Typha angustata, followed by *Phragmites australis* (15.6±8.7 %), *Marsilea quadrifolia* (14.9 ±6.3 %), Nymphaea mexicana (14.7 \pm 5.4 %) as against the lowest of 3.6 \pm 2.9 %, being obtained for Ceratophyllum demersum (Fig. 5.2.9.2a).

A different scenario was noticed during the year 2012 in which the carbohydrate concentration of dominant macrophytes fluctuated between a minimum of 2.8 % for *Myriophyllum verticillatum* during winter and a maximum of 23.4 % for

Typha angustata during summer (Table 5.2.9.2b). For emergents, the highest concentration being recorded during summer was noted for *Typha angustata* (23.4 %), followed by *Phragmites australis* (22.2 %), *Polygonum amphibium* (11.9 %), *Myriophyllum verticillatum* (10.1 %) and *Polygonum hydropiper* (9.0 %) in a decreasing order. However, among the rooted floating-leaf type species, the maximum concentration of carbohydrates (20.5 %) was obtained for *Marsilea quadrifolia* in summer, which was followed by *Nymphaea mexicana* (19.7 %), *Potamogeton natans* (19.1 %) and *Hydrocharis dubia* (17.9 %) again in summer. Among the free-floating species, *Lemna minor* with a value of 11.3 % recorded the highest carbohydrate concentration during summer, followed by 10.6 % for *Salvinia natans* and 5.1 % for *Azolla* sp. during the same season. Among submergeds, *Potamogeton crispus* registered the highest value of 9.3 % during summer as against the lowest of 2.8 % being recorded for *Ceratophyllum demersum* during winter.

During 2012 the highest annual mean concentration of carbohydrates of 15.0 \pm 7.3 % was again obtained for *Typha angustata*, followed by 14.9±4.0 % for *Nymphaea mexicana* and 13.7±6.1 % for *Marsilea quadrifolia*. However, the lowest annual mean concentration (4.0±0.8 %) was obtained for *Azolla* sp. (Fig. 5.2.9.2b).

Correlation coefficients worked out between the physico-chemical parameters of water and carbohydrate content (% on fresh weight basis) in different life-form classes of macrophytes depicted highly significant positive as well negative correlations only in case of rooted floating-leaf type and submerged macrophytes (Table 5.2.9.2c).

In rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes, the concentration of carbohydrates (% on fresh weight basis) depicted a strong positive correlations with transparency (p<0.01, r = 0.941) and dissolved oxygen (p<0.05, r = 0.898). Carbohydrate content (% on fresh weight basis) in rooted floating-leaf types, however, depicted highly significant negative correlations only with water temperature (p<0.01, r = -0.949).

The concentration of carbohydrates (% on fresh weight basis) in submergeds depicted highly significant positive correlations with transparency (p<0.01, r = 0.785), water temperature (p<0.01, r = 0.853), pH (p<0.01, r = 0.811) and dissolved silica (p<0.01, r = 0.712) and its most significant negative correlations were noticeable with total phosphorus (p<0.01, r = -0.833), nitrate-nitrogen (p<0.01, r = -0.867) and orthophosphate-phosphorus (p<0.01, r = -0.833).

S.No.	Species	Plant part	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Winter	Mean±S.D			
		Eme	rgents							
1	Myriophyllum verticillatum	AGP	7.0	10.9	5.2	3.0	6.5±3.4			
2	Phragmites australis	AGP	15.2	27.0	13.7	6.2	15.6±8.7			
3	Polygonum amphibium	AGP	8.7	12.5	7.1	3.5	7.9±3.8			
4	Polygonum hydropiper	AGP	6.2	9.5	5.2	3.0	6.0±2.7			
5	Typha angustata	AGP	17.4	26.4	15.3	6.7	16.4±8.1			
	Rooted floating-leaf type									
6	Trapa natans	AGP	6.4	10.5	4.5	2.8	6.0±3.3			
7	Potamogeton natans	AGP	14.0	26.0	10.7	5.2	14.0±8.8			
8	Nymphaea mexicana	Leaf lamina	17.0	20.4	13.8	7.6	14.7±5.4			
9	Hydrocharis dubia	AGP	11.9	17.8	9.1	4.4	10.8±5.6			
10	Marsilea quadrifolia	AGP	17.4	21.9	13.4	7.1	14.9±6.3			
11	Nymphoides peltatum	Leaf lamina	11.6	15.8	7.9	4.3	9.9±4.9			
		Subm	ergeds							
12	Potamogeton crispus	Whole plant	6.6	9.5	5.6	3.2	6.2±2.6			
13	Ceratophyllum demersum	Whole plant	4.0	7.6	1.4	1.6	3.6±2.9			
	Free-floating type									
14	<i>Azolla</i> sp.	Whole plant	4.3	6.5	3.6	2.0	4.1±1.9			
15	Lemna minor	Whole plant	10.6	13.3	9.5	4.5	9.5±3.7			
16	Salvinia natans	Whole plant	8.4	12.4	7.6	3.7	8.0±3.6			

Table 5.2.9.2a. Seasonal variations in the carbohydrate content (% on fresh wt.basis) of dominant macrophytes in Wular lake during 2011

ABP=Above ground part



Fig. 5.2.9.2a. Average concentration of carbohydrates (% on fresh wt. basis) in dominant macrophytic species of Wular lake during 2011

S.No.	Species	Plant part	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Winter	Mean+S.D
512 101		Eme	rgents	50			1.100011_012
1	Myriophyllum verticillatum	AGP	6.0	10.1	4.8	2.2	5.8±3.3
2	Phragmites australis	AGP	14.5	22.2	12.0	5.5	13.5±6.9
3	Polygonum amphibium	AGP	8.1	11.9	6.5	2.9	7.3±3.7
4	Polygonum hydropiper	AGP	5.4	9.0	4.5	2.6	5.3±2.7
5	Typha angustata	AGP	16.6	23.3	14.4	5.5	15.0±7.3
		Rooted float	ing-leaf t	уре			
6	Trapa natans	AGP	5.8	10.4	4.0	2.5	5.7±3.4
7	Potamogeton natans	AGP	13.3	19.1	10.6	4.6	11.9±6.0
8	Nymphaea mexicana	Leaf lamina	16.3	19.7	13.2	10.3	14.9±4.0
9	Hydrocharis dubia	AGP	11.2	17.9	7.6	4.0	10.2±5.9
10	Marsilea quadrifolia	AGP	16.2	20.5	11.8	6.2	13.7±6.1
11	Nymphoides peltatum	Leaf lamina	11.1	14.3	7.3	3.3	9.0±4.8
	· · · ·	Subm	ergeds				
12	Potamogeton crispus	Whole plant	6.7	9.3	6.4	3.1	6.4±2.6
13	Ceratophyllum demersum	Whole plant	4.1	7.0	4.3	2.8	4.5±1.8
		Free-floa	ting type				
14	Azolla sp.	Whole plant	3.9	5.1	4.2	3.0	4.0±0.8
15	Lemna minor	Whole plant	9.8	11.3	8.4	4.4	8.5±3.0
16	Salvinia natans	Whole plant	8.1	10.6	6.8	3.2	7.2±3.1

Table 5.2.9.2b. Seasonal variations in the carbohydrate content (% on fresh wt.basis) of dominant macrophytes in Wular lake during 2012

AGP=Above ground part





	TR	WT	pН	CON	DO	TA	TH	CC	AN	NN	OP	TP	DS	TI
TR	1													
WT	678(*)	1												
рН	0.135	0.156	1											
CON	-0.328	0.288	862(**)	1										
DO	.814(**)	792(*)	0.202	-0.531	1									
ТА	-0.309	0.314	816(**)	.953(**)	-0.587	1								
TH	-0.275	0.174	918(**)	.978(**)	-0.451	.940(**)	1							
CC	-0.351	0.187	922(**)	.964(**)	-0.483	.941(**)	.991(**)	1						
AN	-0.287	0.632	-0.199	0.498	-0.335	0.514	0.392	0.397	1					
NN	-0.182	0.569	-0.304	0.503	-0.275	0.532	0.438	0.438	.903(**)	1				
OP	-0.351	0.459	704(*)	.857(**)	-0.547	.818(**)	.806(**)	.802(**)	0.575	.721(*)	1			
ТР	-0.214	0.547	-0.436	0.654	-0.392	.719(*)	0.591	0.603	.893(**)	.943(**)	.792(*)	1		
DS	0.152	0.507	0.185	0.16	-0.073	0.196	0.036	-0.018	.803(**)	.718(*)	0.256	0.645	1	
TI	0.103	0.522	0.658	-0.323	-0.152	-0.318	-0.412	-0.467	0.073	0.124	-0.037	0.031	0.452	1
EM	0.804	-0.723	-0.388	0.097	0.819	-0.047	0.103	0.096	0.41	0.816	0.417	0.508	0.309	-0.743
RF	.941(**)	949(**)	0.434	-0.703	.898(*)	-0.696	-0.652	-0.632	-0.352	-0.115	-0.435	-0.29	-0.266	0.208
SUB	-0.785(**)	0.853(**)	0.811(**)	0.616(**)	-0.741(**)	0.567(**)	0.645(**)	0.678(**)	0.693(**)	-0.867(**)	-0.833(**)	0.654(**)	0.712(**)	0.546(**)
FF	0.988	-0.989	0.009	-0.475	0.988	-0.624	-0.336	-0.354	-0.853	0.025	-0.08	-0.517	-0.955	0.114

 Table 5.2.9.2c. Correlation coefficients between various physico-chemical parameters of water and carbohydrate content in different life- form classes of macrophytes in Wular lake

The marked correlations are significant at P = <0.05 (1- tailed) and P = <0.01 (2-tailed).

Where, TR- Transparency, WT- Water temperature, TDS – Total dissolved solids, CON - Specific conductivity, pH - pH, DO - Dissolved oxygen, TH - Total hardness, CC - Calcium content, AN - Ammonical-nitrogen, NN - Nitrate-nitrogen, TP - Total phosphorus, OP - Ortho-phosphate phosphorus, DS - Dissolved silica, TI - Total iron, EM - Emergents, RF - Rooted floating-leaf type, FF - Free-floating type, SUB - Submergeds.

Results

186

5.2.9.3. Total lipids (% fresh weight)

The concentration of total lipids (on % fresh wt. basis) depicted clear seasonal variations in different macrophytic species during the two years of study period. In general, on temporal scale, the maximum concentrations of total lipids in various plant tissues were recorded during autumn, followed by summer and spring and decreasing to the minimum in winter. However, there were significant differences in the concentration of biomolecules in different species. Thus, during the year 2011 the maximum concentration of total lipids was recorded for *Potamogeton crispus* (7.6 %) in autumn and minimum for Polygonum hydropiper (0.7 %) in winter. Further, among emergents, the highest concentration of total lipids was obtained for *Myriophyllum* verticillatum (7.2 %), followed by Phragmites australis (6.6 %), Typha angustata (6.0 %) and Polygonum amphibium (3.6 %), being recorded during autumn. In contrast, the lowest concentration of total lipids (0.7 %) was registered for Polygonum hydropiper during winter. Excepting Trapa natans recording a high of 6.3 %, rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes recorded comparatively lower values as evinced by Marsilea quadrifolia (5.0 %), Nymphaea mexicana (4.5 %) and Potamogeton natans (4.4 %) during autumn. Free-floating species maintained slightly higher concentration of total lipids compared to rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes with Azolla sp. registering 5.6 %, followed by Lemna minor (5.2 %) and Salvinia natans (4.2 %) during autumn. Among submergeds, Potamogeton crispus registered the highest concentration of total lipids with a value of 7.6 % as against the lowest of 7.1 %, being recorded for Ceratophyllum demersum (Table 5.2.9.3a). However, irrespective of life-form classes, the highest annual mean concentration of total lipids $(4.7 \pm 2.3 \%)$ was recorded for Myriophyllum verticillatum, followed by Phragmites australis (4.2±2.1 %), Trapa natans (4.0±1.9 %) as against the lowest of 1.3±0.7 %, being obtained for *Polygonum hydropiper* (Fig. 5.2.9.3a). It is clear from the data that during the year 2011 the concentration of total lipids depicted greater variations in different periods, though significant increases for Ceratophyllum demersum and Potamogeton crispus (about 4 times each) were evinced in the early autumn season experiencing frequent rains.

A perusal of data on the total lipid concentrations of dominant macrophytes in Wular lake during the two years of study period revealed that the total lipid concentrations of macrophytes were slightly higher in the year 2012 as compared to the year 2011 (Table 5.2.9.3a and 5.2.9.3b). During 2012 the concentration of total lipids of dominant macrophytes in Wular lake fluctuated between a minimum of 0.4 % for *Polygonum hydropiper* during winter against a maximum of 7.4 % each for *Myriophyllum verticillatum* and *Phragmites australis* during autumn. For emergents, the highest concentration of 7.4 % was noted each for *Myriophyllum verticillatum* and *Phragmites australis* during autumn. For emergents, the highest concentration of 7.4 % was noted each for *Myriophyllum verticillatum* and *Phragmites australis*, followed by 6.8 % for *Typha angustata*, 4.0 % for *Polygonum amphibium* and 2.5 % for *Polygonum hydropiper* during autumn. However, among the rooted floating-leaf type species, the maximum concentration of total lipids (6.8 %) was recorded for *Trapa natans* in autumn, which was followed by *Nymphaea mexicana* (5.2 %), *Marsilea quadrifolia* (5.0 %) and *Potamogeton natans* (4.6 %) again in autumn. Among the free-floating species, *Lemna minor* with a value of 5.8 % recorded the highest total lipid concentration during autumn as against the lowest of 1.3 % being recorded for *Azolla* sp. during winter. Among submergeds, *Potamogeton crispus* registered the highest percentage of 6.8 during autumn, followed by 6.6 % recorded for *Ceratophyllum demersum* during the same season.

During 2012 the highest annual mean concentration of total lipids of 4.8 ± 2.6 % was obtained for *Myriophyllum verticillatum*, followed by 4.5 ± 2.2 % for *Trapa natans* and 4.3 ± 2.5 % for *Phragmites australis*. However, the lowest annual mean concentration (1.4 ± 0.9 %) was obtained for *Polygonum hydropiper* (Fig. 5.2.9.3b).

Correlation coefficients worked out between the physico-chemical parameters of water and total lipid concentration (% fresh weight) in different life-form classes of macrophytes depicted highly significant positive as well negative correlations between the various parameters (Table 5.2.9.3c).

The concentration of total lipids (% fresh weight) in emergents depicted highly significant positive correlations with conductivity (p<0.05, r = 0.856), free carbon dioxide (p<0.05, r = 0.890), nitrate-nitrogen (p<0.05, r = 0.814), total phosphorus (p<0.01, r = 0.977) and orthophosphate-phosphorus (p<0.05, r = 0.901) and its most significant negative correlation was noted with pH (p<0.05, r = -0.922) and total iron (p<0.05, r = -0.889).

In rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes, the concentration of total lipids (% fresh weight) maintained highly significant positive correlations with water temperature (p<0.05, r = 0.996), ammonical-nitrogen (p<0.01, r = 0.962) and dissolved silica (p<0.01, r = 0.990). The concentration of total lipids (% fresh weight) in rooted

floating-leaf types, however, showed highly significant negative correlation with dissolved oxygen (p<0.01, r = -0.993) only.

The most significant positive correlations of total lipids (% fresh weight) in freefloating macrophytes was recorded with calcium content (p<0.05, r = 0.999), free carbon dioxide (p<0.05, r = 0.990) and orthophosphate-phosphorus (p<0.01, r = 0.948) and its most significant negative correlations was noted with pH (p<0.05, r = -0.988) and total iron (p<0.05, r = 0.958).

In submergeds, the concentration of total lipids (% fresh weight) was found to exhibit highly significant positive correlations with total dissolved solid (p<0.05, r = 0.984), free carbon dioxide (p<0.05, r = 0.971), calcium content (p<0.01, r = 0.980), nitrate-nitrogen (p<0.05, r = 0.957) and orthophosphate-phosphorus (p<0.05, r = 0.981). Total lipids (% fresh weight) in submergeds, however, depicted highly significant negative correlations with conductivity (p<0.05, r = -0.982), pH (p<0.01, r = -0.998) and total iron (p<0.05, r = -0.965).

The present study revealed highly significant variations in the total lipid content (% fresh weight) among different life-form classes of macrophytes (t= 14.373, p= 0.0001; t=14.189, p=0.0001).

S.No.	Species	Plant part	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Winter	Mean±S.D
	-	E	mergents				
1	Myriophyllum verticillatum	AGP	3.6	5.9	7.2	2.1	4.7±2.3
2	Phragmites australis	AGP	3.2	5.2	6.6	1.8	4.2±2.1
3	Polygonum amphibium	AGP	2.0	3.2	3.6	1.7	2.6±0.9
4	Polygonum hydropiper	AGP	1.0	1.2	2.2	0.7	1.3±0.7
5	Typha angustata	AGP	2.8	4.0	6.0	1.4	3.6±1.9
		Rooted f	loating-leaf	type			
6	Trapa natans	AGP	2.9	4.9	6.3	2.0	4.0±1.9
7	Potamogeton natans	AGP	2.2	3.0	4.4	1.6	2.8±1.2
8	Nymphaea mexicana	Leaf lamina	2.0	3.2	4.5	1.4	2.8±1.4
9	Hydrocharis dubia	AGP	1.8	2.2	3.7	1.2	2.2±1.1
10	Marsilea quadrifolia	AGP	2.6	3.6	5.0	2.0	3.3±1.3
11	Nymphoides peltatum	Leaf lamina	1.4	1.8	3.3	1.2	1.9±1.0
		Su	bmergeds				
12	Potamogeton crispus	Whole plant	2.0	3.2	7.6	1.2	3.5±2.9
13	Ceratophyllum demersum	Whole plant	1.8	2.8	7.1	1.4	3.3±2.6
		Free	floating typ	e			
14	Azolla sp.	Whole plant	2.2	4.2	5.6	1.4	3.4±1.9
15	Lemna minor	Whole plant	2.0	4.0	5.2	1.8	3.3±1.6
16	Salvinia natans	Whole plant	2.1	3.6	4.2	1.1	2.8±1.4

Table 5.2.9.3a. Seasonal variations in the total lipid content (% on fresh wt. basis) of
dominant macrophytes in Wular lake during 2011

AGP=Above ground part



Fig. 5.2.9.3a. Average concentration of total lipids (% on fresh wt. basis) in dominant macrophytic species of Wular lake during 2011

S.No.	Species	Plant part	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Winter	Mean±S.D			
		En	nergents							
1	Myriophyllum verticillatum	AGP	4.3	6.2	7.4	1.4	4.8±2.6			
2	Phragmites australis	AGP	2.8	5.0	7.4	1.8	4.3±2.5			
3	Polygonum amphibium	AGP	2.0	3.5	4.0	1.0	2.6±1.4			
4	Polygonum hydropiper	AGP	1.0	1.6	2.5	0.4	1.4±0.9			
5	Typha angustata	AGP	2.7	4.4	6.8	1.5	3.9±2.3			
		Rooted flo	oating-leaf t	уре						
6	Trapa natans	AGP	3.4	5.9	6.8	2.0	4.5±2.2			
7	Potamogeton natans	AGP	2.1	3.0	4.6	1.5	2.8±1.3			
8	Nymphaea mexicana	Leaf lamina	2.1	3.3	5.2	1.4	3.0±1.7			
9	Hydrocharis dubia	AGP	1.7	2.4	3.7	1.1	2.2±1.1			
10	Marsilea quadrifolia	AGP	2.4	3.4	5.0	1.9	3.2±1.3			
11	Nymphoides peltatum	Leaf lamina	1.5	2.1	3.6	1.2	2.1±1.1			
		Sub	mergeds							
12	Potamogeton crispus	Whole plant	2.1	3.6	6.8	1.3	3.4±2.5			
13	Ceratophyllum demersum	Whole plant	1.6	3.0	6.6	0.6	3.0±2.6			
	Free-floating type									
14	Azolla sp.	Whole plant	2.3	3.9	5.4	1.3	3.2±1.8			
15	Lemna minor	Whole plant	1.9	4.1	5.8	1.4	3.3±2.0			
16	Salvinia natans	Whole plant	2.4	4.0	4.6	1.4	3.1±1.5			

Table 5.2.9.3b. Seasonal variations in the total lipid content (% on fresh wt. basis) ofdominant macrophytes in Wular lake during 2012

ABP=Above ground part



Fig. 5.2.9.3b. Average concentration of total lipids (% on fresh wt. basis) in dominant macrophytic species of Wular lake during 2012

	WT	CON	TDS	pН	FC	DO	TH	CC	MC	AN	NN	ТР	OP	DS	TI
WT	1														
CON	0.302	1													
TDS	0.274	.999(**)	1												
pH	0.118	858(**)	875(**)	1											
FC	0.04	.874(**)	.877(**)	754(*)	1										
DO	781(*)	-0.525	-0.507	0.121	-0.401	1									
TH	0.186	.978(**)	.981(**)	907(**)	.873(**)	-0.441	1								
CC	0.198	.964(**)	.969(**)	907(**)	.870(**)	-0.47	.991(**)	1							
MC	0.193	.980(**)	.982(**)	888(**)	.874(**)	-0.436	.996(**)	.975(**)	1						
СН	-0.018	0.428	0.446	-0.623	0.345	0.063	0.482	0.513	0.446						
AN	0.635	0.498	0.491	-0.358	0.236	-0.321	0.392	0.398	0.392	1					
NN	0.572	0.503	0.496	-0.363	0.331	-0.243	0.438	0.437	0.44	.903(**)	1				
TP	0.553	0.654	0.647	-0.487	0.545	-0.358	0.591	0.603	0.588	.893(**)	.942(**)	1			
OP	0.472	.857(**)	.848(**)	-0.616	.795(*)	-0.52	.806(**)	.802(**)	.807(**)	0.576	.722(*)	.792(*)	1		
DS	0.514	0.152	0.138	0.034	-0.041	-0.075	0.027	-0.025	0.073	.807(**)	.726(*)	0.65	0.257	1	
TI	0.527	-0.323	-0.355	.697(*)	-0.356	-0.149	-0.413	-0.468	-0.359	0.072	0.123	0.03	-0.038	0.452	1
EMER	0.175	0.856(*)	0.86	922(*)	.890(*)	-0.1	0.824	0.846	0.808	0.766	0.814(*)	.977(**)	.901(*)	0.406	889(*)
RF	0.996(*)	0.697(*)	0.69	-0.5	0.61	-0.993(**)	0.58	0.597	0.589	0.962(**)	0.249	0.732	0.348	0.990(**)	-0.38
FF	0.555	0.996	0.997	-0.988(*)	0.990(*)	-0.535	.998	.999(*)	.999	0.816	0.910	0.990	0.948(**)	0.629	-0.958(*)
SUB	0.298	-0.982(*)	.984(*)	998(**)	.971(*)	-0.287	.996	0.980(**)	.991	0.852	.957(*)	0.902	.981(*)	0.532	965(*)

Table 5.2.9.3c. Correlation coefficients between various physico-chemical parameters of water and total lipid content in different lifeform classes of macrophytes in Wular lake

The marked correlations are significant at P = <0.05 (1- tailed) and P = <0.01 (2-tailed).

Where, WT- Water temperature, TDS – Total dissolved solids, CON – Specific conductivity, pH – pH, FC –Free carbon dioxide, DO – Dissolved oxygen, TH – Total hardness, CC – Calcium content, MC – Magnesium content, AN – Ammonical-nitrogen, NN – Nitrate-nitrogen, TP – Total phosphorus, OP – Ortho-phosphate phosphorus, DS – Dissolved silica, TI – Total iron, EMER – Emergents, RF – Rooted floating-leaf type, FF – Free-floating type, SUB – Submergeds

5.2.9.4. Chlorophyll Content (mg/g fresh weight)

A perusal of data on the chlorophyll content (mg/g on fresh wt. basis) of dominant macrophytes in Wular lake revealed distinct seasonal variations during the two years of study period. In general, on temporal scale, the maximum pigment content was recorded during the period of active growth in summer. The autumn and spring season registered almost equal concentration of Chlorophyll-a and Chlorophyll-b and the values peaked during summer. However, relative content of total chlorophyll in the macrophytes under study was notably lower in spring season than in autumn. Significant differences were observed in the chlorophyll concentration of different species except that of *Ceratophyllum demersum* and *Potamogeton crispus* where slight fluctuations were noticed. It is clear from the data that the pigment content of macrophytes was slightly higher in the year 2011 as compared to the year 2012 (Tables 5.2.9.4a, 5.2.9.4b and 5.2.9.4c).

Among emergents, *Polygonum amphibium* with a value of 4.3 mg/g recorded the highest concentration of Chlorophyll-a during summer 2011 as against the lowest of 1.3 mg/g being recorded for *Polygonum hydropiper* during spring 2012. Rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes maintained slightly higher concentration of Chlorophyll-a compared to emergents with Hydrocharis dubia and Marsilea quadrifolia registering 3.6 mg/g each, followed by Trapa ntans (3.5 mg/g) and Nymphaea mexicana (3.4 mg/g) during summer 2011. Free-floating species recorded comparatively lower values as evinced by Lemna minor (2.6 mg/g), Salvinia natans (0.9 mg/g) and Azolla sp. (0.8 mg/g) during spring 2012. Among all the four life-form classes, the submergeds registered the highest concentration of Chlorophyll-a with Ceratophyllum demersum recording a highest of 3.7 mg/g as against the lowest of 3.1 mg/g, being recorded for Potamogeton crispus. However, irrespective of life-form classes, the highest annual mean concentration of Chlorophyll-a (3.7±0.6 mg/g) was recorded for Ceratophyllum demersum, followed by Polygonum amphibium (3.5±0.7 mg/g), Potamogeton crispus (3.1±0.7 mg/g) as against the lowest of 1.8±1.0 mg/g, being obtained for Azolla sp. (Fig. 5.2.9.4a and 5.2.9.4d).

The concentration of Chlorophyll-b in different species of macrophytes fluctuated between a minimum of 0.1 mg/g each for *Azolla* sp. and *Lemna minor* during spring 2012 against a maximum of 2.6 mg/g for *Ceratophyllum demersum* during summer of the same year (Table 5.2.9.4b and 5.2.9.4e). For emergents, the highest concentration of 2.3 mg/g was noted for *Typha angustata*, followed by 2.1

mg/g for *Polygonum amphibium*, 1.7 mg/g for *Myriophyllum verticillatum*, 1.2 mg/g for *Phragmites australis* and 0.6 mg/g for *Polygonum hydropiper* during summer 2011. However, among the rooted floating-leaf type species, the maximum concentration of Chlorophyll-b was recorded for *Nymphaea mexicana* (1.9 mg/g) in summer, which was followed by 1.1 mg/g each for *Trapa natans and Marsilea quadrifolia* and 1.0 mg/g for *Hydrocharis dubia* during summer 2011. Among the free-floating species, *Lemna minor* with a value of 2.2 mg/g recorded the highest concentration of Chlorophyll-b during summer 2011 as against the lowest of 0.1 mg/g being recorded for *Azolla* sp. during springs of 2011 and 2012. Among submergeds, *Ceratophyllum demersum* registered the highest concentration of 2.6 mg/g during summer 2012, followed by 2.2 mg/g being recorded for *Potamogeton crispus* during summers of 2011 and 2012.

In general, the highest annual mean concentration of Chlorophyll-b of 1.8 ± 0.7 mg/g was obtained for *Ceratophyllum demersum*, followed by 1.7 ± 0.6 mg/g for *Typha angustata* and 1.5 ± 0.8 mg/g for *Potamogeton crispus*. However, the lowest annual mean concentration (0.2 ± 0.2 mg/g) was obtained for *Azolla* sp. (Fig. 5.2.9.4b and 5.2.9.4e).

A perusal of the data on the total chlorophyll content (mg/g fresh wt. basis) of dominant macrophytes in Wular lake during the two years of study period revealed that the total chlorophyll concentrations of macrophytes depicted summer maxima for most of the species in the lake. However, clear temporal variations were found among the species inhabiting the lake. The maximum value for total chlorophyll content was recorded for *Polygonum amphibium* (5.0 mg/g) in summer 2012 while as the minimum value (0.4mg/g) was obtained for Azolla sp. in spring of the same year. Further, among emergents, the highest concentration of total chlorophyll was obtained for Polygonum amphibium (5.0 mg/g), followed by Typha angustata (4.1 mg/g) and Myriophyllum verticillatum (3.4 mg/g), being recorded during summer 2011. In contrast, the lowest concentration of total chlorophyll (1.1 mg/g) was registered for Phragmites australis during spring 2012. On the other hand, rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes recorded slightly higher values as evinced by Nymphaea mexicana (4.9 mg/g), Marsilea quadrifolia (3.9 mg/g) and Hydrocharis dubia (3.7 mg/g) during summer 2011. Free-floating species maintained lower concentration of total chlorophyll compared to rooted floating-leaf type and emergent macrophytes with *Lemna minor* registering 4.8 mg/g, followed by *Salvinia natans* (3.5 mg/g) and

Azolla sp. (1.6 mg/g) during summer 2012. The submergeds registered the highest concentrations of Total Chlorophyll with *Ceratophyllum demersum* recording a highest of 4.5 mg/g as against the lowest of 4.3 mg/g, being recorded for *Potamogeton crispus* (Table 5.2.9.4c and 5.2.9.4f). However, irrespective of life-form classes, the highest annual mean concentration of total chlorophyll (4.1±0.6 mg/g) was recorded for *Ceratophyllum demersum*, followed by *Lemna minor* (4.0±0.9 mg/g), *Polygonum* amphibium (3.9 ±0.9 mg/g) as against the lowest of 1.1±0.6 mg/g, being obtained for *Azolla* sp. (Fig. 5.2.9.4c and 5.2.9.4f).

Correlation coefficients worked out between the physico-chemical parameters of water and pigment content (mg/g fresh weight) in different life-form classes of macrophytes depicted highly significant positive as well negative correlations only in case of submerged macrophytes (Table 5.2.9.4g, 5.2.9.4h and 5.2.9.4i). The other life-form classes could not depict strong correlation with any of the parameters.

The concentration of Chlorophyll-a (mg/g fresh weight) in submergeds depicted highly significant positive correlations with orthophosphate-phosphorus (p<0.01, r = 0.834) and water temperature (p<0.01, r = 0.762) and its most significant negative correlations were noted with transparency (p<0.01, r = -0.922), pH (p<0.01, r = -0.839), total alkalinity (p<0.01, r = -0.912), ammonical-nitrogen (p<0.01, r = -0.789), total phosphorus (p<0.01, r = -0.812) and dissolved silica (p<0.01, r = -0.789).

The most significant positive correlations of Chlorophyll-b (mg/g fresh weight) in submergeds was recorded with water temperature (p<0.01, r = 0.798), orthophosphate-phosphorus (p<0.01, r = 0.786) and its most significant negative correlations were maintained with transparency (p<0.01, r = -0.866), ammonical-nitrogen (p<0.01, r = -0.765), total phosphorus (p<0.01, r = -0.843) and dissolved silica (p<0.01, r = -0.791).

In submergeds, the concentration of Total Chlorophyll content (mg/g fresh weight) depicted highly significant positive correlation only with water temperature (p<0.01, r = 0.888). Total Chlorophyll content (mg/g fresh weight) in submergeds, however, depicted highly significant negative correlations with transparency (p<0.01, r = -0.892), pH (p<0.01, r = -0.879), conductivity (p<0.01, r = -0.876), ammonical-nitrogen (p<0.01, r = -0.876), total phosphorus (p<0.01, r = -0.786) and dissolved silica (p<0.01, r = -0.721).

S.No.	Species	Plant part	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±S.D						
		Emergent	S									
1	Myriophyllum verticillatum	Leaf lamina	2.0	2.5	1.9	2.1±0.3						
2	Phragmites australis	Leaf lamina	2.2	2.6	1.9	2.2±0.3						
3	Polygonum amphibium	Leaf lamina	3.1	4.3	3.2	3.5±0.7						
4	Polygonum hydropiper	Leaf lamina	1.4	2.7	2.0	2.0±0.7						
5	Typha angustata	Leaf lamina	2.2	2.7	2.1	2.3±0.3						
	Rooted floating-leaf type											
6	Trapa natans	Leaf lamina	2.0	3.5	2.4	2.6±0.8						
7	Potamogeton natans	Leaf lamina	1.5	3.2	2.5	2.4±0.9						
8	Nymphaea mexicana	Leaf lamina	2.6	3.4	2.4	2.8±0.5						
9	Hydrocharis dubia	Leaf lamina	1.7	3.6	2.2	2.5±1.0						
10	Marsilea quadrifolia	Leaf lamina	2.7	3.6	2.1	2.8±0.8						
11	Nymphoides peltatum	Leaf lamina	2.0	3.1	2.1	2.4±0.6						
		Submerge	ds									
12	Potamogeton crispus	Leaf lamina	3.9	2.7	2.6	3.1±0.7						
13	Ceratophyllum demersum	Leaf lamina	4.0	4.1	3.0	3.7±0.6						
		Free-floating	type									
14	Azolla sp.	Leaf lamina	1.0	3.2	2.1	2.1±1.1						
15	Lemna minor	Leaf lamina	2.8	3.4	2.3	2.8±0.6						
16	Salvinia natans	Leaf lamina	1.0	3.4	2.4	2.3±1.2						

Table 5.2.9.4a.	Seasonal	variations in	the Chlo	orophyll-a	content	(mg/g	on fresh	wt.
b	asis) of do	minant macro	ophytes in	Wular la	ke durin	g 2011		



Fig. 5.2.9.4a. Average concentration of Chlorophyll-a (mg/g on fresh wt. basis) in dominant macrophytic species of Wular lake during 2011

S.No.	Species	Plant part	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±S.D					
	-	Emerge	nts								
1	Myriophyllum verticillatum	Leaf lamina	1.3	1.7	1.1	1.4±0.3					
2	Phragmites australis	Leaf lamina	0.3	1.2	0.8	0.8±0.4					
3	Polygonum amphibium	Leaf lamina	1.1	2.1	1.2	1.4±0.5					
4	Polygonum hydropiper	Leaf lamina	0.2	0.6	0.3	0.4±0.2					
5	Typha angustata	Leaf lamina	1.0	2.3	1.7	1.7±0.6					
Rooted floating-leaf type											
6	Trapa natans	Leaf lamina	0.5	1.1	0.5	0.7±0.4					
7	Potamogeton natans	Leaf lamina	0.2	0.8	0.4	0.5±0.3					
8	Nymphaea mexicana	Leaf lamina	1.1	1.9	0.7	1.2±0.6					
9	Hydrocharis dubia	Leaf lamina	0.4	1.0	0.3	0.6±0.4					
10	Marsilea quadrifolia	Leaf lamina	0.6	1.1	0.3	0.6±0.4					
11	Nymphoides peltatum	Leaf lamina	0.3	0.8	0.4	0.5±0.3					
		Submerg	geds								
12	Potamogeton crispus	Leaf lamina	1.5	2.2	1.1	1.6±0.6					
13	Ceratophyllum demersum	Leaf lamina	1.5	2.5	1.3	1.7±0.6					
		Free-floatin	ig type								
14	Azolla sp.	Leaf lamina	0.1	0.5	0.4	0.3±0.2					
15	Lemna minor	Leaf lamina	1.3	2.2	0.8	1.4±0.7					
16	Salvinia natans	Leaf lamina	0.2	1.4	1.0	0.9 ± 0.6					

Table 5.2.9.4b.	Seasonal	variations in	the	Chlorophyll-b	content	(mg/g	on fresl	ı wt.
ba	usis) of dor	minant macro	phyt	tes in Wular la	ke during	g 2011		



Fig.5.2.9.4b. Average concentration of Chlorophyll-b (mg/g on fresh wt. basis) in dominant macrophytic species of Wular lake during 2011

S.No.	Species	Plant part	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±S.D					
		Emerge	ents								
1	Myriophyllum verticillatum	Leaf lamina	2.4	3.4	2.6	2.8±0.6					
2	Phragmites australis	Leaf lamina	1.3	3.0	3.0	2.4±1.0					
3	Polygonum amphibium	Leaf lamina	3.5	4.9	3.3	3.9±0.9					
4	Polygonum hydropiper	Leaf lamina	1.5	2.9	2.1	2.2±0.7					
5	Typha angustata	Leaf lamina	2.0	4.1	3.3	3.1±1.1					
	Rooted floating-leaf type										
6	Trapa natans	Leaf lamina	2.2	3.6	2.5	2.8±0.7					
7	Potamogeton natans	Leaf lamina	1.7	3.5	2.8	2.7±0.9					
8	Nymphaea mexicana	Leaf lamina	3.3	4.9	3.1	3.7±1.0					
9	Hydrocharis dubia	Leaf lamina	1.8	3.7	2.2	2.6±1.0					
10	Marsilea quadrifolia	Leaf lamina	2.8	3.9	2.3	3.0±0.8					
11	Nymphoides peltatum	Leaf lamina	1.5	3.3	2.2	2.4±0.9					
		Submer	geds								
12	Potamogeton crispus	Leaf lamina	4.3	3.1	3.0	3.5±0.7					
13	Ceratophyllum demersum	Leaf lamina	4.3	3.5	4.5	4.1±0.6					
		Free-floating	ng type								
14	Azolla sp.	Leaf lamina	0.5	1.7	1.5	1.2±0.7					
15	Lemna minor	Leaf lamina	3.7	4.9	3.3	4.0±0.9					
16	Salvinia natans	Leaf lamina	0.6	3.6	1.7	2.0±1.5					

Table 5.2.9.4c.	Seasonal	variations in	the Total	Chlorophyll	content	(mg/g on	fresh
	wt. basis)) of dominant	macrophy	ytes in Wular	lake dur	ing 2011	



Fig. 5.2.9.4c. Average concentration of Total Chlorophyll (mg/g on fresh wt. basis) in dominant macrophytic species of Wular lake during 2011

S.No.	Species	Plant part	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±S.D					
		Emerge	ents								
1	Myriophyllum verticillatum	Leaf lamina	1.9	2.4	1.7	2.0±0.4					
2	Phragmites australis	Leaf lamina	1.9	2.4	1.6	2.0±0.4					
3	Polygonum amphibium	Leaf lamina	2.7	4.1	2.8	3.2±0.8					
4	Polygonum hydropiper	Leaf lamina	1.3	2.5	1.8	1.9±0.6					
5	Typha angustata	Leaf lamina	2.0	2.5	1.8	2.1±0.4					
	Rooted floating-leaf type										
6	Trapa natans	Leaf lamina	1.7	3.2	2.3	2.4±0.7					
7	Potamogeton natans	Leaf lamina	1.4	2.8	2.2	2.1±0.7					
8	Nymphaea mexicana	Leaf lamina	2.4	3.1	2.1	2.6±0.5					
9	Hydrocharis dubia	Leaf lamina	1.5	3.3	2.0	2.3±0.9					
10	Marsilea quadrifolia	Leaf lamina	2.4	3.4	2.1	2.6±0.7					
11	Nymphoides peltatum	Leaf lamina	1.8	2.9	1.9	2.2±0.6					
		Submer	geds								
12	Potamogeton crispus	Leaf lamina	3.7	2.6	2.4	2.9±0.7					
13	Ceratophyllum demersum	Leaf lamina	3.9	3.8	2.8	3.5±0.6					
		Free-floating	ng type								
14	Azolla sp.	Leaf lamina	0.8	2.8	1.8	1.8±1.0					
15	Lemna minor	Leaf lamina	2.6	3.2	2.2	2.7±0.5					
16	Salvinia natans	Leaf lamina	0.9	3.3	2.3	2.2±1.2					

Table 5.2.9.4d. Seasonal variations in the Chlorophyll-a content (mg/g fresh wt.basis) of dominant macrophytes in Wular lake during 2012



Fig. 5.2.9.4d. Average concentration of Chlorophyll-a (mg/g on fresh wt. basis) in dominant macrophytic species of Wular lake during 2012

S.No.	Species	Plant part	Spring	Summer	Autumn	Mean±S.D					
		Emerg	ents								
1	Myriophyllum verticillatum	Leaf lamina	1.1	1.6	0.9	1.2±0.3					
2	Phragmites australis	Leaf lamina	0.3	1.0	0.7	0.6±0.4					
3	Polygonum amphibium	Leaf lamina	1.0	1.8	1.0	1.3±0.5					
4	Polygonum hydropiper	Leaf lamina	0.2	0.5	0.2	0.3±0.2					
5	Typha angustata	Leaf lamina	0.9	2.0	1.5	1.5±0.6					
Rooted floating-leaf type											
6	Trapa natans	Leaf lamina	0.4	1.0	0.4	0.6±0.3					
7	Potamogeton natans	Leaf lamina	0.2	0.7	0.3	0.4±0.2					
8	Nymphaea mexicana	Leaf lamina	0.9	1.7	0.7	1.1±0.6					
9	Hydrocharis dubia	Leaf lamina	0.3	0.9	0.2	0.5±0.3					
10	Marsilea quadrifolia	Leaf lamina	0.4	0.9	0.2	0.5±0.4					
11	Nymphoides peltatum	Leaf lamina	0.3	0.7	0.3	0.4±0.2					
		Submer	geds								
12	Potamogeton crispus	Leaf lamina	1.5	2.2	0.7	1.5±0.8					
13	Ceratophyllum demersum	Leaf lamina	1.7	2.6	1.2	1.8±0.7					
		Free-floati	ing type								
14	Azolla sp.	Leaf lamina	0.1	0.4	0.2	0.2±0.2					
15	Lemna minor	Leaf lamina	1.1	2.1	0.7	1.3±0.7					
16	Salvinia natans	Leaf lamina	0.3	1.2	0.9	0.8±0.5					

Table	5.2.9.4e.	Seasonal	variations	in	the	Chlorophyll-b	content	(mg/g	fresh	wt.
basis) of dominant macrophytes in Wular lake during 2012										



Fig. 5.2.9.4e. Average concentration of Chlorophyll-b (mg/g on fresh wt. basis) in dominant macrophytic species of Wular lake during 2012
S.No.	Species	Plant part Spring		Summer	Autumn	Mean±S.D						
Emergents												
1	Myriophyllum verticillatum	Leaf lamina	2.2	3.3	2.4	2.6±0.6						
2	Phragmites australis	Leaf lamina	1.1	2.8	2.7	2.2±0.9						
3	Polygonum amphibium	Leaf lamina	3.5	5.0	3.3	3.9±0.9						
4	Polygonum hydropiper	Leaf lamina	1.4	2.8	2.0	2.1±0.7						
5	Typha angustata	Leaf lamina	1.8	4.0	3.1	3.0±1.1±						
Rooted floating-leaf type												
6	Trapa natans	Leaf lamina	2.0	3.4	2.4	2.6±0.7						
7	Potamogeton natans	Leaf lamina	1.5	3.4	2.6	2.5±0.9						
8	Nymphaea mexicana	Leaf lamina	3.1	4.7	3.0	3.6±1.0						
9	Hydrocharis dubia	Leaf lamina	1.7	3.6	2.2	2.5±1.0						
10	Marsilea quadrifolia	Leaf lamina	2.7	3.7	2.1	2.8±0.8						
11	Nymphoides peltatum	Leaf lamina	1.5	3.3	2.1	2.3±0.9						
		Submer	geds									
12	Potamogeton crispus	Leaf lamina	4.3	3.2	2.9	3.5±0.7						
13	Ceratophyllum demersum	Leaf lamina	4.4	3.4	4.3	4.1±0.5						
Free-floating type												
14	Azolla sp.	Leaf lamina	0.4	1.6	1.3	1.1±0.6						
15	Lemna minor	Leaf lamina	3.6	4.8	3.1	3.8±0.8						
16	Salvinia natans	Leaf lamina	0.6	3.5	1.6	1.9±1.5						

Table 5.2.9.4f. Seasonal variations in the Total Chlorophyll content (mg/g fresh wt.basis) of dominant macrophytes in Wular lake during 2012



Fig. 5.2.9.4f. Average concentration of Total Chlorophyll (mg/g on fresh wt. basis) in dominant macrophytic species of Wular lake during 2012

	The count charges of marker of the count of													
	TR	WT	pH	CON	DO	TA	TH	CC	AN	NN	OP	TP	DS	TI
TR	1													
WT	678(*)	1												
pH	0.135	0.156	1											
CON	-0.328	0.288	862(**)	1										
DO	.814(**)	792(*)	0.202	-0.531	1									
ТА	-0.309	0.314	816(**)	.953(**)	-0.587	1								
ТН	-0.275	0.174	918(**)	.978(**)	-0.451	.940(**)	1							
CC	-0.351	0.187	922(**)	.964(**)	-0.483	.941(**)	.991(**)	1						
AN	-0.287	0.632	-0.199	0.498	-0.335	0.514	0.392	0.397	1					
NN	-0.182	0.569	-0.304	0.503	-0.275	0.532	0.438	0.438	.903(**)	1	.721(*)	.943(**)	.718(*)	
OP	-0.351	0.459	704(*)	.857(**)	-0.547	.818(**)	.806(**)	.802(**)	0.575	.721(*)	1	.792(*)	0.256	
ТР	-0.214	0.547	-0.436	0.654	-0.392	.719(*)	0.591	0.603	.893(**)	.943(**)	.792(*)	1	0.645	
DS	0.152	0.507	0.185	0.16	-0.073	0.196	0.036	-0.018	.803(**)	.718(*)	0.256	0.645	1	
TI	0.103	0.522	0.658	-0.323	-0.152	-0.318	-0.412	-0.467	0.073	0.124	-0.037	0.031	0.452	1
EM	0.367	-0.391	0.456	-0.534	0.233	-0.366	-0.486	-0.415	-0.331	-0.36	-0.44	-0.114	-0.39	0.314
RF	0.385	-0.257	0.678	-0.59	0.482	-0.57	-0.665	-0.641	0.082	-0.272	-0.619	-0.222	0.294	0.333
SUB	-0.922(**)	0.762(**)	-0.839(**)	-0.871(**)	0.568(**)	-0.912(**)	-0.689(**)	-0.823(**)	-0.875(**)	0.655(**)	0.834(**)	-0.812(**)	-0.789(**)	-0.678(**)
FF	0.799	-0.803	-0.463	-0.005	0.801	-0.183	0.147	0.128	-0.506	0.492	0.398	-0.054	-0.703	-0.367

Table 5.2.9.4g. Correlation coefficients between various physico-chemical parameters of water and Chlorophyll-a content in different life- form classes of macrophytes in Wular lake

The marked correlations are significant at P = <0.05 (1- tailed) and P = <0.01 (2-tailed).

Where, TR- Transparency, WT- Water temperature, TDS – Total dissolved solids, CON - Specific conductivity, pH - pH, DO - Dissolved oxygen, TH - Total hardness, CC - Calcium content, AN - Ammonical-nitrogen, NN - Nitrate-nitrogen, TP - Total phosphorus, OP - Ortho-phosphate phosphorus, DS - Dissolved silica, TI - Total iron, EM - Emergents, RF - Rooted floating-leaf type, FF - Free-floating type, SUB - Submergeds.

Results

	me tour employ of much open of the met and													
	TR	WT	pH	CON	DO	TA	TH	CC	AN	NN	OP	TP	DS	TI
TR	1													
WT	678(*)	1												
pН	0.135	0.156	1											
COND.	-0.328	0.288	862(**)	1										
DO	.814(**)	792(*)	0.202	-0.531	1									
ТА	-0.309	0.314	816(**)	.953(**)	-0.587	1								
ТН	-0.275	0.174	918(**)	.978(**)	-0.451	.940(**)	1							
СС	-0.351	0.187	922(**)	.964(**)	-0.483	.941(**)	.991(**)	1						
AN	-0.287	0.632	-0.199	0.498	-0.335	0.514	0.392	0.397	1					
NN	-0.182	0.569	-0.304	0.503	-0.275	0.532	0.438	0.438	.903(**)	1				
OP	-0.351	0.459	704(*)	.857(**)	-0.547	.818(**)	.806(**)	.802(**)	0.575	.721(*)	1			
ТР	-0.214	0.547	-0.436	0.654	-0.392	.719(*)	0.591	0.603	.893(**)	.943(**)	.792(*)	1		
DS	0.152	0.507	0.185	0.16	-0.073	0.196	0.036	-0.018	.803(**)	.718(*)	0.256	0.645	1	
TI	0.103	0.522	0.658	-0.323	-0.152	-0.318	-0.412	-0.467	0.073	0.124	-0.037	0.031	0.452	1
EM	0.229	-0.076	0.012	0.057	0.224	0.127	-0.042	0.007	0.709	0.499	0.091	0.656	0.622	-0.544
RF	0.189	-0.179	0.569	-0.525	0.135	-0.381	-0.513	-0.458	-0.326	-0.521	-0.547	-0.273	-0.312	0.464
SUB	-0.866(**)	0.798(**)	-0.644(**)	-0.675(**)	0.564(**)	-0.689(**)	-0.671(**)	-0.589(**)	-0.765(**)	0.675(**)	0.786(**)	-0.843(**)	-0.791(**)	-0.645(**)
FF	0.914	-0.917	-0.25	-0.231	0.916	-0.401	-0.081	-0.1	-0.688	0.282	0.18	-0.278	-0.846	-0.147

Table 5.2.9.4h. Correlation coefficients between various physico-chemical parameters of water and Chlorophyll-b content in different life- form classes of macrophytes in Wular lake

The marked correlations are significant at P = <0.05 (1- tailed) and P = <0.01 (2-tailed).

Where, TR- Transparency, WT- Water temperature, TDS – Total dissolved solids, CON - Specific conductivity, pH - pH, DO - Dissolved oxygen, TH - Total hardness, CC - Calcium content, AN - Ammonical-nitrogen, NN - Nitrate-nitrogen, TP - Total phosphorus, OP - Ortho-phosphate phosphorus, DS - Dissolved silica, TI - Total iron, EM - Emergents, RF - Rooted floating-leaf type, FF - Free-floating type, SUB - Submergeds.

	TR	WT	pH	CON	DO	TA	TH	CC	AN	NN	OP	ТР	DS	TI
TR	1													
WT	678(*)	1												
рН	0.135	0.156	1											
CON	-0.328	0.288	862(**)	1										
DO	.814(**)	792(*)	0.202	-0.531	1									
ТА	-0.309	0.314	816(**)	.953(**)	-0.587	1								
ТН	-0.275	0.174	918(**)	.978(**)	-0.451	.940(**)	1							
CC	-0.351	0.187	922(**)	.964(**)	-0.483	.941(**)	.991(**)	1						
AN	-0.287	0.632	-0.199	0.498	-0.335	0.514	0.392	0.397	1					
NN	-0.182	0.569	-0.304	0.503	-0.275	0.532	0.438	0.438	.903(**)	1				
OP	-0.351	0.459	704(*)	.857(**)	-0.547	.818(**)	.806(**)	.802(**)	0.575	.721(*)	1			
TP	-0.214	0.547	-0.436	0.654	-0.392	.719(*)	0.591	0.603	.893(**)	.943(**)	.792(*)	1		
DS	0.152	0.507	0.185	0.16	-0.073	0.196	0.036	-0.018	.803(**)	.718(*)	0.256	0.645	1	
TI	0.103	0.522	0.658	-0.323	-0.152	-0.318	-0.412	-0.467	0.073	0.124	-0.037	0.031	0.452	1
EM	0.321	-0.274	0.407	-0.41	0.233	-0.251	-0.424	-0.352	0.042	-0.109	-0.35	0.144	-0.01	0.057
RF	0.491	-0.445	0.604	-0.611	0.464	-0.545	-0.603	-0.56	-0.281	-0.452	-0.581	-0.3	-0.23	0.468
SUB	-0.892(**)	0.888(**)	-0.879(**)	-0.876(**)	0.675(**)	-0.668(**)	-0.656(**)	-0.679(**)	-0.876(**)	0.634(**)	0.628(**)	-0.786(**)	-0.721(**)	-0.675(**)
FF	0.799	-0.803	-0.463	-0.005	0.801	-0.183	0.147	0.128	-0.506	0.492	0.398	-0.054	-0.703	-0.367

 Table 5.2.9.4i. Correlation coefficients between various physico-chemical parameters of water and Total Chlorophyll content in different life- form classes of macrophytes in Wular lake

The marked correlations are significant at P=<0.05 (1- tailed) and P=<0.01 (2-tailed).

Where, TR- Transparency, WT- Water temperature, TDS – Total dissolved solids, CON - Specific conductivity, pH - pH, DO - Dissolved oxygen, TH - Total hardness, CC- Calcium content, AN - Ammonical-nitrogen, NN - Nitrate-nitrogen, TP - Total phosphorus, OP - Ortho-phosphate phosphorus, DS - Dissolved silica, TI - Total iron, EM - Emergents, RF - Rooted floating-leaf type, FF - Free-floating type, SUB - Submergeds.

5.2.10. Correlations between biomass and biochemical constituents of macrophytes

Correlation coefficients worked out between the biomass and various biochemical constituents of macrophytes depicted only significant positive correlations between the various parameters.

The biomass of macrophytes depicted highly significant positive correlations with the chlorophyll content (p<0.01, r = 0.866) as was highlighted in the observations recording a summer peak in their concentrations. Lower values for biomass as well as chlorophyll content were also corresponding to each other. Biomass of macrophytes also revealed significant positive correlations with the carbohydrate content (p<0.01, r = 0.800). However, biomass of macrophytes also depicted positive correlations with protein (p<0.01, r = 0.658) and lipid contents (p<0.01, r = 0.630).

The strong positive relationship between chlorophyll content and carbohydrate content of macrophytes was evident from the results which was proved statistically (p<0.01, r = 0.854). Protein content of macrophytes maintained highly significant perfect positive correlations with total lipid content (p<0.01, r = 0.997).

Table 5.2.10.1. Correlation coefficients between biomass and various biochemical constituents of macrophytes in Wular lake

	Biomass	Carbohydrates	Lipid content	Proteins	Chlorophyll content
Biomass	1				
Carbohydrates	0.800(**)	1			
Lipid content	0.630(**)	0.400	1		
Proteins	0.658(**)	0.400	0.997(**)	1	
Chlorophyll content	0.866(**)	0.854(**)	0.000	0.000	1

The marked correlations are significant at P=<0.01 (2-tailed).



Alisma lanceolatum



Alisma plantago-aquatica



Alternanthera philoxeroides



Azolla sp.



Batrachium trichophyllum



Bidens cernua

PLATE - IV



Butomus umbellatus



Ceratophyllum demersum



Cyperus serotinus



Echinocloa crus-galli



Eleocharis palustris



Hippuris vulgaris

PLATE - V



Hydrilla verticillata

Hydrocharis dubia



Juncus buffonius

Lemna major



Lemna minor

Lycopus europaeus

PLATE - VI



Marsilea quadrifolia



Menyanthes trifoliata



Myriophyllum aquaticum



Myriophyllum spicatum



Myriophyllum verticillatum



Nasturtium officinalis

PLATE - VII

Glimpses of Macrophytes



Nelumbo nucifera



Nymphaea alba



Nymphaea mexicana



Nymphaea pygmea



Nymphoides peltatum



Phragmites australis

PLATE - VIII



Polygonum amphibium



Polygonum hydropiper



Potamogeton crispus



Potamogeton lucens



Potamogeton natans



Potamogeton pectinatus

PLATE - IX



Potamogeton perfoliatus



Ranunculus muricatus



Ranunculus sceleratus



Sagittaria sagittifolia



Salvinia natans



Scirpus lacustris

PLATE - X



Sium latijugam



Sparganium ramosum



Trapa bispinosa



Trapa natans



Typha angustata

Typha latifolia

PLATE - XI

6.1. Physico-chemical characteristics of water

Limnological studies include the physico-chemical and biological parameters of fresh waters (Idowu *et al.*, 2013). The interaction of various physico-chemical variables of water not only reflect the productivity and quality of an aquatic ecosystem but also play important role in determining the distribution, composition, abundance and productivity of aquatic organisms (Bagenal, 1978; Boyd and Tucker, 1998; Ghavzan *et al.*, 2006; Tas and Gonulol, 2007). It also gives an insight in understanding the structure and function of a particular water body in relation to its inhabitants. The equilibrium between physico-chemical characteristics of water in shallow lakes and wetlands is an important factor for successful production of aquatic resources (Mustapha and Omotosho, 2005). As water is a binding element between different factors that play a significant role in wetland ecology, water quality and water management is a vital component of wetland conservation programs.

The Kashmir Himalayan lakes and wetlands acts as suitable niches for fish and habitat for a variety of waterfowl, migrating from neighbouring countries, besides being a very rich source of food, fodder and other economically important biological products. These shallow water bodies are undergoing trophic evolution under various natural and anthropogenic factors which makes them to exhibit considerable differences in their physical, chemical and biological set up. Of late, there has been a cry about deterioration of these water bodies and a subsequent decline in their area. The severe biotic interference coupled with cultural activities along the drainage basins are the factors responsible for their degradation. Hence, it becomes imperative to undergo a detailed study of these aquatic ecosystems, as such inventories are basic for management and sustainable development.

The present study carried out on Wular lake revealed appreciable variations in its physical and chemical milieu. Wular lake enjoys special status of being the largest freshwater body within Indian sub-continent and plays a major role in the hydrological regime of the Kashmir valley by acting as a huge absorption basin for floodwaters of Jhelum floodplain. The ox- bow type lake is mono- basined, elliptical in shape and is of fluviatile in origin, formed by the meandering of River Jhelum. Its depth on average is 3.6 m throughout length, reaching 5.8 m at its deepest point (Pandit, 2002). Like most of the Kashmir Himalayan lakes and wetlands, Wular lake is under the influence of varied anthropogenic pressures. The immediate catchment, comprising mostly of agricultural land and domestic households, has a direct impact on the water quality of Wular lake.

The depth of a water body is one of the major physical factors which act as a controlling factor for determining the water quality. Depth of a water body is determined by the hydrological factors like the amount of water brought in and sent out (Steward and Kantrud, 1971). The depth of the water body under study ranged between a mean maximum of 4.6 m (at Site VII) during spring 2011 as against the mean minimum depth of 0.3 m (at Site I), being recorded during winter 2012. Lower values of mean depth have been used as an important criterion to establish the trophic status of lakes (Hayes, 1957; Pandit, 2002). Further, on the basis of low water depth ranges making a large expanse of wetland zone, Wular lake was in 1990 recognized as Ramsar Site, along with other attributes. The greater water depth in Wular lake during spring is the result of more direct precipitation input than the evaporation output, thus serving as a source of water during spring and as a strong sink for other seasons (Kumar and Pandit, 2005). During summer the total output of water increased by virtue of evapotranspiration and surface water output for irrigation purposes of the adjoining fields which continued throughout the autumn as well. Wular lake, on the basis of low mean depth values (0.3-1.5 m) can be placed in shallow lake type of Buraschi et al. (2005). Depth and water volume are related factors that influences temperature of a water body (Atobatele and Ugumba, 2008). Wular lake, in general, having little depth, did not show any thermal stratification.

Secchi disc transparency, being a function of the amount of light reflected from the surface of water, is influenced by the absorption characteristics of water and the amount of dissolved and particulate matter contained in the water (Wetzel and Likens, 2000). The light in water is of paramount importance for its role in the photosynthetic processes of all chlorophyll bearing aquatic plants and thus for the primary production (Mahar, 2003). The secchi disc transparency showed slight insignificant spatial as well as temporal variations (F= 1.659, P= 0.195), though low transparency of water was found in lake invariably during the spring. The high biological activity particularly that of phytoplanktons and addition of silt-laiden runoff may explain the low values of water transparency recorded in spring (Hakanson and Boulion, 2002). In contrast, the high values of transparency observed during winter may be attributed to the low plankton population and to the reduction in allochthonous substances that find their way into the lake (Ikomi *et al.*, 2003; Mahar, 2003). Similar observations were made by Mustapha and Omotosho (2005) in Moro lake and Ayoade *et al.* (2006) in Asejire and Oyan lakes. In Wular lake the littoral macrophytes act as sinks and filter the nutrients and suspended particles, thus helping in maintaining relatively clear water in the limnetic areas (Lindholm *et al.*, 2008). Higher values of transparency at Site VII may be attributed to the presence of dense submerged macrophytic vegetation which acts as effective barrier for sediment resuspension, resulting in improving the transparency (De-Vicente *et al.*, 2006; Huang *et al.*, 2007).

Water temperature is an important factor that influences limnological phenomenon such as stratification, solubility of gases, pH, conductivity and occurrence, distribution and productivity of aquatic organisms as well (Nazneen, 1980; Singh, 1990; Lewis, 2000). It depends on the climate, sun light and depth (Akinyemi and Nwakwo, 2006; Atobatele and Ugumba, 2008). In the present study, the annual cycle of the surface water temperature showed a close relationship to that of air temperature. This type of observation for shallow water bodies is in conformity with the earlier findings of Ried and Wood (1976), Singhal et al. (1985) and Mahar (2003). In the lake under study the atmospheric temperature showed a difference of 27.2 °C (5.1-32.3 °C) while, the water temperature recorded a fluctuation of 22.2 °C (4.2-26.4 ⁰C), thereby showing that the former has a large influence on the latter. The temperature variations recorded during the study were optimal for normal growth and survival of aquatic organisms (Boyd, 1979). Increase in both air and water temperature from April to August is attributed to the increase in solar radiation due to comparatively longer day length. Similarly, a gradual reduction in solar radiation may explain fall in temperature from October to February and again it begins to increase from March onwards. A direct relationship of water temperature with bright sunshine and its duration has also been reported by Munawar (1970) and Harshey et al. (1982).

Specific conductivity, being principally a function of ions and an indication of total salt concentration, is often related with the trophic status of aquatic ecosystems (Berg *et al.*, 1958). Rainfall patterns, incoming waters, evaporation rates, drainage type and nutrient status are the major factors that influence conductivity of a lake (Kinnear and Garnett, 1999).Wular lake, witnessed a seasonal trend and depicted comparatively higher values of conductivity. The seasonal fluctuations in conductivity

of waters is mostly related with biological activity as the low value during summer months is due to uptake of ions by macrophytes and their attached microflora during their growing season along with precipitation of calcium carbonate which is the main contributor to conductivity (Otsuki and Wetzel, 1974; Vymazal, 2002; Mustapha and Omotosho, 2005). Absence of most of the vegetation during winter causes accumulation of nutrients in the water, hence higher specific conductivity was recorded during the winter evincing lowest biological activity (Kumar and Pandit, 2007; Bhat, 2010). The strongly significant positive correlation of conductivity with calcium (p<0.01, r = 0.964) and alkalinity (p<0.01, r = 0.953) suggests that these parameters have a major influence on the conductivity of the lake. Wular lake, on the basis of specific conductivity (200-500 μ Scm⁻¹), can be placed in β -mesotrophic category of Olson (1950).

Total dissolved solids (TDS) indicates the amount of organic and inorganic matter in the samples. Total dissolved solids are very useful parameters describing chemical constituents of the water and can be, in general, related to the edaphic factor that contributes to the productivity of the water body (Goher, 2002). Depending upon solubility of minerals the concentration of total dissolved solids (TDS) in water varies in different geological regions (Connolly et al., 1990). Total dissolved solids followed the same trend as that of specific conductivity, witnessing its peak amount during winter and then following a decline to reach the lowest value during summer where after an increasing trend was evinced towards the autumn. The highly significant perfect positive correlation between total dissolved solids and conductivity was evident from the results which was proved statistically (p<0.01, r = 0.999). The seasonal fluctuations in TDS values of waters is mostly related with biological activity as the low concentration during summer months is due to very high macrophytic cover in Wular lake which enhances sedimentation and counteracts resuspension of sediment particles, and therefore restricts the return of nutrients from sediments (Sondergaard et al., 1992; Kufel and Kufel, 2002; Bhat, 2010). Absence of most of the vegetation during winter causes accumulation of salts ions in the water, hence higher TDS values were recorded during the winter evincing lowest biological activity (Sondergaard et al., 2003).

The free CO_2 depicted well marked seasonal fluctuations at all the sites, registering a minimum values (5.7±0.6 mg/L at Site IV) in summer and a maximum

in winter (24.3 \pm 3.5 mg/L at Site VI). The lower values of free carbon dioxide in Wular lake during summer is due to removal of carbon dioxide from the water column by the photosynthetic activity of phytoplankton and macrophytes (Otsuki and Wetzel, 1972; Kaul and Trisal, 1984; Wetzel, 2001), as well as the important role of temperature in increasing photosynthetic activity (Aboul Kassim, 1987). In contrast, the higher values of free carbon dioxide during winter may be attributed to the higher CO_2 content produced as a result of algal degeneration, as well as the increased decomposition of organic matter under least water depth (Reimer *et al.*, 2008). The high value of the free carbon dioxide content is an indication of high degree of pollution (Todda, 1970; Cole, 1979). An inverse relation between carbon dioxide and pH was found which is in consonance with the observations made by Swarup and Singh (1979), Jhingran (1982) and Mahar (2003).

Dissolved oxygen is a parameter of immense importance in aquatic ecosystems and is considered to be the most reliable criterion in assessing the trophic status and magnitude of eutrophication of aquatic ecosystems (Edmondson, 1966; Wetzel, 2001). In aquatic ecosystems, the dissolved oxygen is the fundamental factor that reveals more about the metabolism of the aerobic aquatic organisms than any other single measurement and, therefore, its dynamics is important for the understanding of their distribution, behaviour and growth (Wetzel, 2001). Being required by producers, consumers and decomposers, dissolved oxygen, therefore, regulates nutrient availability and hence productivity of aquatic ecosystems (Wetzel, 2001). The dynamics of oxygen distribution in lakes is governed by balance between inputs from atmosphere and photosynthesis and losses by way of chemical and biological oxidation (Wetzel, 2001; Gupta and Gupta, 2006). The ability of water to hold oxygen is greatly affected by the temperature of the water body (Wetzel, 2001; Singh, 1990). The results of the present study showed that Wular lake had adequate dissolved oxygen with a mean concentration ranging from 6.7 mg l^{-1} to 9.6 mg l^{-1} . Contrary to the findings of Egborge (1994), dissolved oxygen showed inverse relationship with temperature in Wular lake. Lower levels of dissolved oxygen in summer than the other seasons could be due to the combined effect of the rise in temperature, increased biological activity, respiration of organisms and the increased rate of decomposition of organic matter (Lewis, 2000; Okbah and El-Gohary, 2002). In productive lakes and wetlands like Wular, during periods of maximum biotic activities, there is discernible oxygen deficit on account of respiration by organisms especially algae and the oxidation of organic humus (Wetzel, 2001; Mwaitega, 2003; Kumar and Pandit, 2007). Conversely, high dissolved oxygen concentration during winter can be attributed to low biological activity, under saturation of oxygen, low temperature and instability of water masses, caused by loss of sufficient heat (Serruya and Serruya, 1972; Idowu, 2013). At Site VII high concentration of dissolved oxygen is due to luxuriant growth of submerged macrophytes which act as main sources of aeration for the lake, thereby enhancing light penetration and hence photosynthesis (Kumar and Pandit, 2007; Srivastava *et al.*, 2008).The strong positive correlation between transparency and dissolved oxygen in the Wular lake also substantiate the fact that increased transparency increases dissolved oxygen content by enhancing photosynthetic input.

Wular waters were alkaline with pH ranging from 7.1 to 8.5 recorded over a period of two years. pH, principally a function of amounts of calcium, magnesium, carbonates and carbon dioxide in the water expresses the intensity of acidity or alkalinity of an aqueous solution (Wetzel, 2001). The interaction of both the H^+ generated by dissociation of H₂CO₃ and OH⁻ produced during the hydrolysis of HCO₃ governs the pH of natural waters to a large extent (Wetzel, 2001). Both spatial as well as temporal variations in pH were found to be statistically significant in Wular lake (F= 23.06, P< 0.01). The gradual increase in pH during summer is due to removal of carbon dioxide from the water column by the photosynthetic activity of phytoplankton and macrophytes (Otsuki and Wetzel, 1972; Nassar and Dutta-Munshi, 1975; Wetzel, 2001). Large pH changes of one unit or more have been reported under a combination of low to moderate alkalinity and high algal or submerged macrophyte biomass resulting in large daytime CO₂ and HCO₃⁻ withdrawal (depletion), thereby increasing pH (Boyd, 1990).On the other hand, lower pH during winter is because of the increased decomposition of organic matter under least water depth (Reimer et al., 2008). The pH variations recorded during the present study fall within the recommended range for the support of aquatic life (Boyd, 1979; Kamran et al., 2003).

In aquatic ecosystems the concentration of chloride is not only an index of eutrophication, but also of pollution caused by sewage and other waste waters (Munawar, 1970; Hasalan, 1991; Berzas-Nevado *et al.*, 2009). Dissolution of rock minerals, pollution and run off from catchment area are the major sources of chloride.

The concentration of chloride is generally low in natural waters and its higher amount always comes from the contamination of sewage. In general, the waters of Wular showed high amounts of chlorides ranging from 7.3 mg l^{-1} to 22.7 mg l^{-1} . Lake waters, during both the years of study, recorded very noticeable seasonal trend in the amounts of chloride, registering its highest during spring and lowest during winter at all the sites. However, clear spatial variations occurred in the lake with sites in the vicinity of human habitation (Site IX) receiving domestic sewage depicting higher concentration of the ion. The higher amount of chloride during spring season is attributed to inflow through direct precipitation and subsequent run-off from the catchment area. This view point further gains support from the recent studies of Bhat et al. (2001), Kumar et al. (2004), Kumar and Pandit (2007) and Bhat (2010), who opined that the high chloride content, an indicator of organic pollution, owes its origin to the influx of sewage from human settlement. Metabolic utilization of chlorides does not cause significant variations in spatial and seasonal variations within a water body and therefore, the variations observed in Wular lake can be associated with hydrological factors like inflow through direct precipitation and run-off reaching the lake through inflow channels.

In fresh water ecosystems the hardness of water is mostly governed by the carbonates and bicarbonates of calcium and magnesium (Cole, 1983). The type of minerals in the soil and watershed bedrock, and the amount of lake water coming into contact with these minerals are the major factors that influence hardness of a lake (Tepe *et al.*, 2005). The hardness was significantly higher in winter months as compared to summer months. This may be due to the high density of macrophytes and plankton in summer which use most of the salts for their growth and life processes, thereby increasing the pH of water and accelerating the de-calcification, resulting in decrease of hardness (Wetzel, 2001; Kufel and Kufel, 2002; Kumar and Pandit, 2007; Bhat, 2010). This is also substantiated by highly significant positive correlations of pH with total hardness (p<0.01, r = -0.907), calcium content (p<0.01, r = -0.907) and magnesium content (p<0.01, r = -0.888) in this lake.

Calcium is generally the dominant cation in Kashmir lakes on account of the predominance of lime rich bed rock in the catchment area (Zutshi *et al.*, 1980; Pandit, 1993). The amounts of Ca²⁺ depicted summer fall in Wular lake, a trend similar to that of alkalinity, due to uptake of CO₂ by photosynthetic activity especially by

submergeds and subsequent precipitation of calcium as calcium carbonate as a result of combination of elevated temperature in macrophytes beds and reduced $CaCO_3$ solubility (Kaul and Trisal, 1984; Wetzel, 2001; Kufel and Kufel, 2002; Kumar and Pandit, 2007). The deposition of calcite crystals is easily seen on submerged plants in the lake as white encrustations.

Like calcium, magnesium also varied seasonally in the lake with decrease in its concentration during summer months corresponding to peak growth of macrophytes. Low values of magnesium content in summer period is possibility due to its uptake by the plants in the formation of chlorophyll-porphyrin metal complexes and in enzymatic transformation (Wetzel, 1975). This is also substantiated by significant positive correlation of magnesium with calcium content (p<0.01, r = 0.975). The dominance of calcium over magnesium in Wular lake could be attributable to calcium rich lime rocks in the catchment (Zutshi, *et al.*, 1980; Pandit, 1993; Jeelani and Shah, 2006).

Alkalinity, the acid consuming capacity of water, is mainly imparted by the presence of HCO_3^{-2} and CO_3^{-2} . Most of the alkalinity present in water is due to dissolution of carbonates and aluminosilicates (Das and Dhiman, 2003). The formation of carbonic acid by the interaction of CO₂ and H₂O in soil play significant role in the dissolution of carbonate rocks in the catchment, producing calcium bicarbonate which is soluble in water and this increases the alkalinity of the water (Wetzel, 2001). In the present investigation, the alkalinity of water was exclusively due to bicarbonate ions. However, there was a predominance of bicarbonates and calcium over chloride and magnesium as is true for all fresh waterbodies (Rodhe, 1949). On the basis of total alkalinity values, Wular lake can be categorised as "hard water type "as per the classification of Moyle (1945). The total alkalinity depicted summer minima in Wular lake, a trend opposite to that of pH, due to removal of CO₂ and HCO_3^{-} by the photosynthetic activity of phytoplankton and macrophytes which exhibit luxuriant growth during this period. Thus, this increases pH and consequently shift the chemical equilibrium towards the formation of carbonate ions which then precipitate with calcium in the form of calcite that significantly leads to decline of alkalinity (Stumm and Morgan, 1996; Wetzel, 2001; Kufel and Kufel, 2002). The strongly significant negative correlation of alkalinity with pH (p < 0.01, r = -0.799) suggests that pH has a major influence on the alkalinity of Wular lake. In contrast, the higher values of total alkalinity during winter may be due to fall in water level. Researchers like Cook and Powers (1958) and Singhal *et al.* (1986) also reported that bicarbonates increase with the fall in water level.

The most abundant minerals in the earth's crust are aluminosilicate minerals (Schlesinger, 1997) but, due to their limited solubility, they are not the major dissolved ion in water (Stumm and Morgan, 1981). Lower silicate values were recorded in Wular lake during winter for all sites. This may be due to the slow rate of regeneration of silicate from the sediments as well as to the decreased decomposition of siliceous compounds under the influence of oxygen rich waters (Kinawy, 1974; Okbah and. El-Gohary, 2002). In contrast, the higher content of silicate in spring and summer months is a result of inflow through direct precipitation and subsequent runoff from the catchment and increased silt laden inflow from inlet channels into the lake. This view point further gains support from the studies of Okbah and. El-Gohary (2002) who opined that the high content of reactive silicate is directly proportional to drainage water discharged into a lake. Further, the solubility of silica is known to increase at higher pH values and higher temperatures (Willen, 1991) and, therefore, a combination of warm water and elevated pH values may have caused the observed enhanced silicate concentrations during spring and summer months. The slight higher values of silicate obtained in the present study suggest the dissolution of aluminium silicate minerals in the rocks that are found around the lake.

Phosphorous is the key nutrient which controls the reproduction and growth of aquatic organisms (Wetzel, 2001; Sondergaard *et al.*, 2003a, b; Mehner *et al.*, 2008). Many organisms utilize both organic and inorganic forms of phosphorous; however plants have been reported to preferentially take up the inorganic phosphorous than organic phosphorous (Riley and Chester, 1971). There was a general trend of decrease in the concentration of dissolved inorganic phosphorus during summer months owing to its utilization by primary producers and its precipitation induced by photosynthesis. The increased pH associated with high temperature and higher alkalinity are favourable for precipitation of calcium carbonate due to rapid carbon assimilation from dissolved bicarbonates and under such conditions phosphate ion is reported to co-precipitate with carbonate (Kaul and Trisal, 1984; Wetzel, 2001; Dittrich *et al.*, 2004). The high concentration of both the forms of phosphorous during winter months may be due to decay and subsequent mineralization of dead organic matter (Cole,

1975). The strong positive correlation between the two forms of phosphorus in Wular lake (p<0.05, r = 0.792) suggests their co-fluctuation. The concentration of total phosphate phosphorous was quite high as compared to the orthophosphate phosphorous. Thornton and Nduku (1982) suggested the values of dissolved inorganic phosphorus >30 µg/L as indicative of eutrophic status in temperate lakes. The average concentration of both total phosphorus and orthophosphate phosphorus, remained generally high placing the wetland in hypertrophic category according to Wetzel (1983).This is substantiated by the fact that almost the whole water body is infested by the macrophytes, which is possible only when this important nutrient is available in sufficient quantities (Shah and Pandit, 2012).

In aquatic ecosystems the rate of nitrification is regulated by factors like NH₄⁺ availability, pH, temperature, dissolved oxygen concentration and organic carbon availability (Triska et al., 1990; Verhagen and Laanbroek 1991; Jones et al., 1995; Strauss and Dodds, 1997; Strauss and Lamberti, 2000). On the other hand, the distribution of ammonia, the end-product of the breakdown of nitrogenous organic and inorganic matter in soil and water as well as excretion by biota and reduction of nitrogen gas by microbes (Wetzel 2001), is highly variable in lakes and depends upon the level of productivity, sewage inflow, decomposition, input of nitrogen fertilizers and organic loading (Heathwaite and Johnes, 1995; Ogato, 2007; Lumbreras, et al., 2009). The higher level of nitrate-nitrogen than ammonical-nitrogen is probably related to the fact that plants have been reported to preferentially take up the reduced NH_4^+ rather than oxidized NO_3^- , so that lower levels of ammonia occur in water (Kalff, 2002). The spatial and temporal variations within the lake were obvious for both the forms of nitrogen. The decrease in their concentration from spring till late summer is related to rapid uptake and assimilation by autotrophs i.e., phytoplankton and macrophytes which exhibit luxuriant growth during this period (Xie, et al., 2004; Shilla et al., 2006; Bhat, 2010). It has been emphasized that quick flushing away of nutrients during high water level periods (spring and summer) may also be the possible reason for low nitrogen content in waters which again seems to be true for Wular waters (Kaul, 1977; Mwaitega, 2003). The strong positive correlation between the two forms of nitrogen in Wular lake (p=<0.01, r= 0.903) suggests their cofluctuation. The increase in NO₃-N concentration during winter may be attributed to the fact that under high oxygen concentration, the nitrogen rich sediments add appreciable quantity of nitrate-nitrogen to the water (Kaul and Trisal, 1984; Kumar and Pandit, 2007). On the other hand, the winter increase in the concentration of ammonia may be due to decomposition of organic matter (Kaul and Trisal, 1984; Wetzel, 2001; Okbah and. El-Gohary, 2002) and bird droppings into the lake as it is visited by many aquatic birds (Zuber, 2007).

Iron is an important micronutrient of microflora, plants and animals as it plays an important role in many enzymatic transformations. The quantity of total iron in oxygenated surface waters of neutral or alkaline lakes ranges from about 50-200 µg/L and much higher levels may occur in certain alkaline and closed lakes rich in organic matter. A perusal of the data revealed that there was a summer fall in total iron content in the lake waters. The autumn and spring season registered modest amounts of total iron and the values peaked during winter. Similar observations were made by Kumar and Pandit (2007) in Hokersar wetland, Kashmir Himalaya and Ramesh and Selvanayagam (2013) in Kolavoi lake, India. On the other hand, the winter increase in the concentration of total iron may be due to the release of phosphorus bound iron compounds from the sediments at lower pH during mineralization (Golterman, 2001). Akram (1992) related higher iron content in lake waters to agricultural activities and increased diffusion of ferrous ion from the sediments at lower oxygen concentration near the sediment surface.

6.2. Vegetation

6.2.1. Species composition

Biotic communities are dynamic in nature changing more or less regularly in time and space. There exists direct relationship between environmental conditions and structure and function of biotic communities as any change in the environment is manifested by changes in the structure and function of the community. Macrophytes constituting ecologically dominant community of shallow lakes and wetlands, therefore, form an important tool for biomonitoring of such ecosystems (Wetzel, 2001; Lacoul and Freedman, 2006).

The present study on Wular lake revealed clear differences in the community structure of macrophytes. Even though all the life-form classes viz., emergents, rooted floating-leaf type, submergeds and free floating type constituted the macrophytic community of the wetland, their contribution to overall community structure varied considerably. The wetland not only depicted spatial variability in species composition but significant spatial differences were also observed regarding various community characteristics and, therefore, community architecture. This could be due to the presence of significant variations in physicochemical variables that determine the species composition and community architecture of macrophytes (Wetzel, 2001; Jafari *et al.*, 2003).

It is well known that aquatic plants show relatively little taxonomic differentiation compared with the terrestrial groups (Less, 1988; Cook, 1990). The amount of evolutionary diversification dwindles as one goes from amphibious and emergents groups to fully submerged hydrophytes. Since the wetland ecosystems, as in case of Wular lake, represent the transition between the two extreme diversifications, sustaining both amphibious as well as purely aquatic taxa, harbour a very complex taxonomic makeup of the macrophytic community (Smith, 1980). In Wular lake, unlike lakes, no typical macrophytic zonation was distinguishable; instead various macrophytic species either grow intermixed with one another which result in the complex physiognomy of the wetland vegetation or grow in pure communities to form a characteristic type of vegetation which differs qualitatively and quantitatively from the lake vegetation. According to Wilson and Keddy (1986) complex macrophytic physiognomy and multi-specific meadow formations in the wetlands is an example of mutualism, where neighbours help to protect other plants from the damage caused by waves. The study revealed that the wetland harbours the mixed vegetation comprised of families, both advanced (e.g., Asteraceae) as well as primitive (e.g., Alismataceae). Though the open water areas of Wular lake exhibited the growth of all the types of macrophytes growing intermixed, the emergents outnumbered all other life-form classes of macrophytes in the wetland which could be due to their ability to tolerate greater water-level fluctuations (Kumar and Pandit, 2008; Tamire and Mengistou, 2012). Moreover, emergents also depicted greater variations regarding species composition compared to other life-form classes.

6.2.2. Community features

Significant spatial and temporal and variations were found in the density and abundance of macrophytes in Wular lake during the two years of study period. This is in consonance with the results of many other workers who reported a definite seasonality in the density and diversity of macrophytes in their studies (Pompeo and Moschini-Carlos, 1996). According to Pompeo and Moschini-Carlos (1996), the seasonal variation in the density of macrophytes is attributable to seasonal fluctuations in water levels. The presence of significant difference in density and abundance of macrophytes in Wular lake could be due to the presence of significant seasonal variation in physicochemical variables that determine the density and abundance of macrophytes (Barko et al., 1991; Wetzel, 2001; Jafari et al., 2003). Further, the density and abundance of these macrophytes in the lake seems to be affected by differences in the nutrient levels among sites, and their ability to colonize these varied sites indicates their potential to adapt to diverse trophic conditions. Their density was higher at sites where nutrient concentrations were higher, which implies that increase in the concentration of nutrients particularly nitrogen and phosphorus in the lake to a certain level would further encourage infestation by these macrophytes (Heegaard et al., 2001; Murphy, 2002). The strong positive correlation between density and nutrients in the Wular lake also substantiate the fact that increased nutrient concentration increases the diversity of macrophytes. The study of IVI values revealed that Lemna-Salvinia complex dominated all the sites and was co-dominant at Site II indicating its absolute dominance over other species in the Wular lake. The dominance of Lemna-Salvinia weed complex over other species is attributed to its high aggressive capacity, colonization of sites rich in organic matter and also lake littorals (Pandit, 2008). The author further opined that there occurs a shift in the under-water vegetation by the development of Lemna-Salvinia association with excessive eutrophication resulting in the replacement of *Potamogeton lucens* by more eutrophic Ceratophyllum demersum. In the present study it was growing as free floating at all the sites indicating the high pollution load of Wular lake.

6.2.3. Species richness

Species richness in the wetland under study reflected a seasonal trend with maximum richness being recorded during summer and early autumn. Grime (1973) opined that perturbations increases the species richness by allowing new species to establish which seems to be a probable explanation for greater species richness in Wular lake where water draw-down during summer, the main growing season, results in the invasion of new species and the subsequent richer and diverse growth of emergents and rooted floating-leaf types. The study further gains support from the findings of Nurminen (2003), who reported that higher turbidity and fluctuations in water level limits the distribution of macrophytes to mainly turbidity tolerant species,

for example rooted floating-leaf types and emergents. Temperature can influence plant performance, especially photosynthetic rates and is considered to be the single environmental variable profoundly influencing the propagule germination and shoot elongation in many aquatic plants over the whole range of their occurrence (Gorham, 1974; Madsen and Adams, 1988; Pilon and Santamaria, 2002). In the present study it also seems that temperature have profound influence on the species richness and diversity of macrophytes. The diverse growth for most of the macrophytes corresponds to the period of maximum atmospheric temperature. Further, the species richness and diversity during spring were found to be lower which might be due to higher precipitation and comparative low temperatures during spring. There seems to be a greater correlation between species diversity and lake area as Wular lake depicted higher species diversity and species richness. A few studies have indicated that this relationship may be due to the habitat heterogeneity, as larger lakes encompass more microhabitats more species are able to find a suitable habitat with increasing area (Rorslett 1991; Jones et al., 2003; Heegaard, 2004; Capers et al., 2010). Further, greater diversity of macrophytes in Wular lake seems to be linked with its slightly eutrophic status (Heegaard et al., 2001; Lougheed et al., 2001; Murphy, 2002).

6.2.4. Distribution and zonation

Macrophytes play an important role in the structure and functioning of freshwater ecosystems (Wetzel, 2001; Hrivnak *et al.*, 2009). The function of macrophytes in these ecosystems is related to their structural attributes like species composition, distribution, abundance and diversity which in turn depend on a myriad of factors. Foremost, among these are light, depth and fluctuations in water levels, water temperature, water quality changes and nutrient enrichment and sediment composition (Kaul *et al.*, 1978; Pandit 1984, 1992; Barko and Smart, 1986; Wetzel, 2001; Hudon *et al.*, 2004). In Wular lake, unlike lakes, no typical macrophytic zonation was distinguishable; instead various macrophytic species either grow intermixed with one another which result in the complex physiognomy of the wetland vegetation or grow in pure communities to form a characteristic type of vegetation which differs qualitatively and quantitatively from the lake vegetation. However, the distribution patterns of macrophytes depicted considerable spatial variations in Wular lake. This is possibly due to the significant spatial difference in the physical and

chemical properties of Wular lake waters (Toivonen and Huttunen, 1995; Sraj-Krzic *et al.*, 2007).

Water depth is considered to be the major factor in affecting the distribution of macrophytes (Spence, 1982; Daniel *et al.*, 2006). In the present study it also seems that water depth acts as a major factor in affecting distribution patterns of emergent and submerged macrophytes. This is because the maximum area under emergents was present at the shallowest Site I where large aggregations of emergents plant species are found distributed throughout. Moreover, this site also harbours lesser number of submerged macrophytic species. Among emergent macrophytes *Typha angustata* and *Phragmites australis* were the dominant ones and were widely distributed over the entire littoral zone of the wetland. *Myriophyllum verticillatum, Polygonum hydropiper* and *Polygonum amphibium* were also seen scattered all over the emergent zone. The dense population of emergent vegetation in the littoral zone seems to be linked with the decreased depth of the wetland caused by increased siltation carried from the catchment area by its inlets. It is in agreement with the findings of Wetzel (1983) and Tamire and Mengistou (2012) who reported that decreasing water level indicates a succession towards a marsh.

Rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes (*Nymphoides peltatum* and *Trapa natans*) also form widespread dense beds in Wular lake. This is due to the higher turbidity and fluctuations in water level that limits the distribution of macrophytes to mainly turbidity tolerant species, for example rooted floating-leaf types and emergents (Nurminen, 2003). Moreover, the increased water depth at certain portions of the Wular lake results in the establishment of rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes which is further corroborated by the studies of Spence (1967, 1982) who suggested an adaptive connection between deep waters and broad-leaf species. As the floating-leaf species are capable of growing under permanently inundated conditions in Wular lake, it appears that they are capable of anaerobic metabolism (Kaul *et al.*, 1978).

It has been well emphasized that the distribution and growth of aquatic macrophytes is associated with nutrient rich environments particularly nitrate and phosphate which have been noted to favour macrophytes growth (Frankouich *et al.*, 2006). Several studies have established that the nutrient enrichment can cause significant changes in the density, species composition and richness of aquatic vegetation in lakes (Lougheed *et al.*, 2001; Rosset *et al.*, 2010; Alahuhta, 2011).

Greater species richness at Site I in Wular lake can also be linked to the increase in the concentration of nutrients particularly nitrogen and phosphorus at this site. This is due to the fact that increase in the concentration of nutrients particularly nitrogen and phosphorus in freshwater ecosystems to a certain level would encourage infestation by macrophytes (Heegaard *et al.*, 2001; Murphy, 2002). Further, emergent macrophytes have also been reported to be very efficient in the uptake of many plant nutrients from the sediments and thus helping in pollution abatement (Pandit, 1984, 1992). The strong positive correlation between density of macrophytes with ammonical-nitrogen (p<0.01, r = 0.733) and orthophosphate-phosphorus (p<0.01, r = 0.765) in the Wular lake suggests that nutrients can cause considerable changes in the density and distribution of macrophytes.

Among the varied environmental factors affecting the distribution of submerged macrophytes water depth and water transparency associated with light availability are of paramount importance (Spence, 1982; Chambers and Kalff, 1985; Daniel et al., 2006). It is well documented that the underwater light plays an important role in determining the depth distribution of different groups of aquatic macrophytes (Sculthorpe, 1971; Chambers and Kalff, 1985; Dale, 1986; Chambers and Prepas, 1988; Hrivnak et al., 2006). A number of reports indicate that certain species of aquatic macrophytes, mostly submerged ones, usually extend into the depths in order to maximize their absorption of the light and CO₂ needed for photosynthesis (Barko and Smart, 1981; Maberly and Madsen, 2002). Submerged macrophytes have also been reported to grow to a depth of two to three times the Secchi depth (Chambers and Kalff, 1985). In the present study it also seems that the distribution of submerged macrophytes is mainly dependent on water depth and transparency. This is because submerged macrophytes cover the maximum area at Site VII in Wular lake due to its greater depth and transparency. This observation is further confirmed by the significant positive correlation of density of submerged macrophytes with transparency (p<0.01, r = 0.891) and water depth (p<0.01, r =0.806). In Wular lake, despite moderate depth, submerged forms except a few did not show luxuriant growth because of greater water turbidity (Gasith and Hoyer, 1998) and dense growth of rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes which limit light penetration. Data on physico-chemical parameters of Wular lake reveals lower

transparency in the lake resulting in the suppression of this life form. However, the dominance of *Ceratophyllum demersum* among submergeds seems to be linked with its adaptation to the low irradiation conditions which are practically prevalent in Wular lake (Vander Valk and Bliss, 1971). On the other hand, Hernández *et al.* (1999) and Foroughi *et al.* (2010) further opined that the dominance of *Ceratophyllum demersum* is due to its high vegetative propagation, lack of true roots, and high surface area: volume ratio, which makes it a strong competitor for nutrients. A number of studies indicate that nutrient enrichment is responsible for the changes that occur in the species richness, composition, and density of aquatic vegetation in lakes (Bini *et al.*, 1999; Magee *et al.*, 1999). Our results confirm that diversity of submerged macrophytes in Wular lake declines with deterioration in water quality. This is in consistent with the study of Lougheed *et al.* (2001) who also found reduced species richness of submerged macrophytes with the deterioration in water quality.

Temperature can influence plant performance, especially photosynthetic rates and is considered to be the single environmental variable profoundly influencing the propagule germination and shoot elongation in many aquatic plants over the whole range of their occurrence (Gorham, 1974; Madsen and Adams, 1988; Pilon and Santamaria, 2002). In the present study it also seems that temperature have profound influence on the diversity and distribution of macrophytes. The diverse growth of most of the macrophytes corresponds to the period of maximum atmospheric temperature. The strong positive correlation between density of free floating macrophytes and water temperature (p<0.05, r = 0.702) in the Wular lake also validate the fact that the temperature can cause significant changes in the density and distribution of macrophytes. This is in consistency with the findings of other studies (Vilbaste *et al.*, 2008; Hrivnak *et al.*, 2009b).

6.2.5. Diversity indices and cluster analysis

The diversity indices, being more reliable, incorporate species richness, commonness and rarity in an integrated manner (Washington, 1984). Various diversity indices pointed towards the heterogeneous species composition and complexity of Wular lake. In the present study the Shannon's Diversity Index (H) showed high diversity of macrophytes at Site VII (3.06) and lowest at Site IX (2.38). The low diversity at Site IX may be related to high concentration of ammonia and low transparency (Kufel and Kufel, 2002). Gerritsen *et al.* (1998) reported that as the

number and distribution of taxa (biotic diversity) within the community increases, so does the value of "H". Moreover, the reasons for high diversity at Site VII may be due to slightly lower nitrate and phosphate concentration and relatively high transparency (Oertli et al., 2000). The Simpson's Diversity Index showed low variability with Site V recording the highest value of 0.989 while Site I recorded the lowest value of 0.939. According to Magurran (2004) Simpson Index is heavily weighted towards the most abundant species in the sample and being less sensitive to species richness. A greater value of Simpson Diversity Index at Site V is an indication of increase in the diversity and abundance of macrophytes at this site. The Sorenson's similarity index based on species composition indicate that Site I had high degree of similarity with Site VI (81.3 %), which may be due to their littoral nature and similarity in their water characteristics as was observed during the present study. Moreover, these sites have almost similar dominance pattern of macrophytes which may also have resulted in high similarity between the sites. Further Bray-curtis cluster analysis also showed greater similarity between Site I and Site VI (78 %) which is also an indication of similar dominance pattern of macrophytes between the sites.

6.2.6. Primary productivity of macrophytes

The productivity of an ecosystem is vital and indispensable for ecosystem analysis as the same integrates the cumulative effects of the various physiological processes and interactions occurring simultaneously within the ecosystem (Jordan, 1985). According to Odum and Barrett (2008) the primary productivity of an ecological system is the rate at which radiant energy is converted to organic substances by the photosynthetic and chemosynthetic activity of the producer organisms. The aquatic resources have been till date the potential source of organic production for the entire living organisms. Many ecologists of the world have laid emphasis on the importance of the primary productivity as an important functional attribute of the biosphere because of its controlling effects on the rate of multiplication and growth of the living organisms of the ecosystem (Westlake, 1963). The productivity of a lake is often reflection of its nutrient status and trophic level. On the other hand, the productivity of aquatic macrophytes is often related with the growth form strategy of the species.

The present study reveals that the emergent macrophytes contribute more than 50 % of total macrophytic production in Wular lake. Though these macrophytes

occupy lesser area as compared to rooted- floating leaf types and submergeds, they are unique in utilizing the available space and light with maximum efficiency and great economy because they are capable of regulating spatial patterns, particularly in leaf density and leaf inclinations, to distribute light evenly between the photosynthetic tissues and optimize light utilization efficiency as the terrestrials do (Wetzel, 2001). Besides, emergent macrophytes contain structural tissue whose cell walls are heavily thickened with cellulose, which is relatively refractory to rapid microbial decomposition (Atkinson and Cairns, 2001). The large underground stems and perennial roots and rhizomes of emergent macrophytes give them an edge over the other life-form classes in biomass accumulation (Wetzel, 1983, 2001). On the other hand, the other life-form classes, especially free-floating type and submergeds, on account of the strong drag and pull force generated by the moving water, cannot maintain their well defined three dimensional structures, do not trap much of the solar radiations, thus depicting lower rates of primary productivity (Westlake, 1965).

During the present investigation, emergent species of Typha angustata and Phragmites australis dominated the production in Wular lake whereas free-floating species were least productive with submerged and rooted floating-leaf types as intermediates. Dominance of emergents in terms of productivity has also been reported by Westlake (1969), Dykyjova (1971), Wetzel (1975, 2001), Kumar (2009), Rather (2009), Atkinson et al. (2010) and Khan and Shah (2010). The annual primary production of emergent stands is sometimes the highest of all the populations in the temperate zone and it is generally accepted that helophyte coenoses are the most productive of plant communities (Westlake, 1963, 1965; Wetzel, 2001). Net primary productivity for temperate areas ranges from 900 to 5500 gdwt. m⁻² yr⁻¹ (Mitsh and Gosselink, 1986). Shoot density also influences the primary production of aquatic macrophytes to a greater extent. The higher production of emergent macrophytes is directly related to highest shoot density. It is due to the fact that with the increasing water depth the shoot diversity decreases causing a decrease in productivity and most emergents also suffer significantly decreased growth in response to a large, sudden depth increase (Wetzel, 1983, 2001; Tamire and Mengistou, 2012). In accordance with the above mentioned attributes it is predictable that emergent macrophytes in Wular lake have greater shoot types for their greater productivity over others.

On the other hand, the macrophytes with floating leaves occupied an intermediate position between submergeds and emergents, being dependent on water for support and yet having some access to both gaseous as well as aqueous carbon dioxide sources (Kaul et al., 1978; Camargo and Florentino, 2000). The rooted floating-leaf type species such as Nymphoides peltata characterized by a long flowering period are often found to accumulate more biomass compared to the submergeds (Marion and Paillisson, 2003). The higher productivity of rooted floating leaf-type macrophytes compared to submergeds could also be attributed to the increased water depth of Wular lake that results in greater establishment of rooted floating-leaf type species (Kaul et al., 1978; Pandit, 2008). In addition to these factors, the biomass production dynamics is significantly affected by biotic factors such as the rate of colonization by epiphytic organisms, which is especially conspicuous in the case of species with large leaf area (Hopson and Zimba, 1993). The productivity values recorded in the present study for various rooted floating-leaf type species are somewhat similar to the values reported by Kaul et al. (1978), Brock et al. (1983) and Ravinder (2009). In Wular lake Trapa natans, Nymphoides peltatum and Nymphaea mexicana were, however, the main constituent species of rooted floating-leaf zone and contributed a great deal towards annual production.

The production of submerged macrophytes is mainly determined by light penetration contrary to the rooted floating-leaf types which not only get direct radiation but also hinder the rays to reach deep to the submergeds (Chambers and Kalff, 1985; Pandit, 1992; Hrivnak *et al.*, 2006).Therefore, transparency has a direct bearing on the production of submergeds. Submerged macrophytes usually extend into the depths in order to maximize their absorption of the light and CO₂ needed for photosynthesis (Barko and Smart, 1981; Maberly and Madsen, 2002).Light stress results in plants reallocating more resources towards shoots and leaves than to tubers (Madsen, 1991). Further, Pandit (2008) reported that in Wular lake, the growth of submerged vegetation is greatly restricted due to heavy turbidity brought about by the suspended silt, as is true for other wetlands of Kashmir also. Thus, in the present study the underwater light seems to play a major role in determining the production of submerged macrophytes.

In the present study, the free-floating macrophytes were found to be least productive. Which may be due to the fact that open water areas of the Wular lake are exposed more to wind and wave action which are colonized mostly by rooted floating-leaf type and free-floating class of macrophytes and not by the dominant emergents. The findings of the present study corroborates with those of other studies (Kaul, 1970; Hudon *et al.*, 2000; Rather, 2009; Kumar, 2009). But, the findings are in partial contrast to the findings of Thomaz and Bini (1998) who advocated that the open water areas lakes are rarely colonized by free-floating and emergent classes.

Temperature can influence plant performance, especially photosynthetic rates and is considered to be the single environmental variable profoundly influencing the standing crop of aquatic plants over the whole range of their occurrence (Gorham, 1974; Pilon and Santamaria, 2002). Temperature may also have an effect on propagule germination and shoot elongation in many aquatic plants (Madsen and Adams, 1988). Moreover, during periods of cooler temperatures plant production is generally less due to the lower photosynthetic rates (Scheffer, 1998). Numerous authors have emphasized that there is a direct relationship between the primary production dynamics of macrophytes and temperature (Hopson and Zimba, 1993; Vis et al., 2007; Shilla and Dativa, 2008). In the present study it also seems that temperature have profound influence on the standing crop values and biomass of macrophytes. The biomass peak for most of the macrophytes corresponds to the period of maximum atmospheric temperature. Further, the production values of macrophytes during the year 2012 were found to be lower as compared to the year 2011 which might be due to: (i) comparatively lower temperatures during the early growth and sprouting season of macrophytes, causing a delay in the flowering season of these plants, and (ii) early decomposition of macrophytes caused by rapid rise in temperature during the peak growth season. In the latter case it is likely that the higher temperature increased microbial activity and, therefore, oxygen consumption in the water, consequently affecting the pH and the rate of ion and nutrient liberation into the aquatic ecosystem and thus causing early decomposition of macrophytes (Carvalho et al., 2005). Esteves (1988) also advocated that in temperate regions, the seasonal variation of the biomass presented by aquatic macrophytes occurs mainly because of the seasonal variation of the temperature. The results of the present study corroborate with those of other studies (Esteves, 1998; Bini, 2001; Carvalho et al., 2005; Kumar, 2009).

6.2.7. Biochemical composition of macrophytes

In the present study, macrophytes of Wular lake, besides showing considerable temporal variations, were observed to exhibit interspecies and interclass variations in their biochemical compositions viz. total lipids, carbohydrate and protein contents. In most cases, proteins were found to make up the greatest proportions as compared to carbohydrates and lipids. However, there were only a few exceptions where carbohydrates made significant proportions. In all likelihood, lipids contributed relatively smallest proportions in all macrophytes.

From the present study, it is evident that the various biochemical constituents viz. total lipids, carbohydrate and protein content of macrophytes of Wular lake exhibited considerable seasonal variations. Numerous authors have emphasized that these variations may be due to the fact that the various biochemical constituents of macrophytes are primarily influenced by the environmental factors such as temperature, light available for photosynthesis, nutrient concentration in the ambient waters as well as the development stage of the macrophytes (Haroon *et al.*, 2000; Kalesh, 2003; Ortiz *et al.*, 2006).

6.2.7.1. Protein content

During the present investigation, total protein content of macrophytes varied from 3.2 to 23.8 % on fresh weight basis which is comparable with those of Pandit and Qadri, 1986 (6.87 to 21.8 %), Banerjee and Matai, 1990 (8.7 to 25.8 %) and Olele, 2012 (15.8 to 21.65 %) but lower than those reported by Boyd and Blackburn, 1970 (9.3 to 43.3 %) and Dewanji *et al.*, 1997 (32.9 to 62.7 %). Moreover, the comparative analysis of data showed significant interclass and interspecies variations in the protein content of macrophytes which may be attributed to the differential nutrient uptake potential of macrophytes especially that of nitrogen which in turn is influenced by various environmental and biological factors such as the type of tissue, the age of the plant part, its nutrient past history, interplant variability etc. (Lobban and Harrison, 1997; Kalesh, 2003). In the present study, it was observed that free floating-type macrophytes such as *Azolla* sp., *Lemna minor* and *Salvinia natans* contain more amounts of protein than other life-form classes. This is in consistency with the findings of other studies (NAS, 1984; Meyers, 1977; Edwards, 1980; Pandit, 1984; Pandit and Qadri, 1986; Banerjee and Matai, 1990; Dewanji *et al.*, 1997).

In general, on temporal scale, the maximum concentrations of proteins in various plant tissues were recorded during autumn, followed by summer and spring and decreasing to the minimum in winter. The higher concentration of proteins during autumn may be attributed to the fact that the accumulation and subsequent conversion of nitrogen into protein building in the mature tissues during the metabolic process is at its maximum during the peak growth of macrophytes (Sahyun, 2008; Ahmad *et al.*, 2011). This observation is further confirmed by the significant negative correlation of protein content of macrophytes with ammonical-nitrogen (P< 0.05, r= -0.855). The dependence of protein level in aquatic plants on available nitrogen was also pointed out by Lapointe (1981), Dawes (1998) and Banerjee *et al.* (2009). Edwards (1980) advocated that the crude protein content increases as the nutrient content of the water in which the plant is grown increases.

6.2.7.2. Carbohydrate content

Data revealed that the concentration of carbohydrates in various macrophytes of Wular lake varied in the range 1.6 - 27.0 % on fresh weight basis. An earlier study on the biochemical composition of aquatic plants of Dal lake in Kashmir Himalaya revealed carbohydrates including fibre making 46.41 – 85.74 % on dry weight basis (Pandit and Qadri, 1986). However, the carbohydrate content registered during the present study remained within the reported values of Mishra and Jha (1996), Prasannakumari et al. (2000), Mini (2003) and Arathy (2004) in various aquatic and riparian vegetation. Comparatively higher values than those reported in the present study were recorded by FAO (1993) and Prasannakumari and Gangadevi (2012) in different aquatic plants. Significant differences were observed in the carbohydrate content of macrophytes with a distinct pattern between the seasons. This may be due to the variation in the nature of synthetic efficiency as well as the environmental factors such as temperature, nutrients etc. which influence carbohydrate synthesis (Kalesh, 2003; Prasannakumari and Gangadevi, 2012). It is also believed that the vegetative growth as well as development also influence the fluctuations in the carbohydrate concentration in the macrophytes. In general, maximum seasonal mean values of carbohydrate in most of the macrophytic species were recorded during summer whereas carbohydrate content attained least value during winter season. The observed increase in the carbohydrate content of macrophytes during summer may be due to an increase in the growth rate of macrophytes resulting from the favourable
environmental conditions (Jayasankar, 1999; Banerjee *et al.*, 2009). The positive impact of temperature on the carbohydrate metabolism of aquatic plants has been supported by various authors (Rosenberg and Ramus, 1982; Rotem *et al.*, 1986; Banerjee *et al.*, 2009). This observation is further confirmed by the significant positive correlation of carbohydrate content of macrophytes with temperature (P< 0.01, r= 0.853). Thus, the active period of carbohydrate synthesis in macrophytes of Wular lake coincides with the increase in water temperature. On the other hand, the decrease in carbohydrate content during winter suggests that stored photosynthetic products are used for cold season maintenance (Terrados and Ros, 1992; Robledo and Freile-Pelegrin, 2005).

A perusal of data on the carbohydrate content of macrophytes in Wular lake revealed appreciable variations in the carbohydrate content among different groups of macrophytes which may be due to variation in the accumulation efficiency in terms of their phenology which is further corroborated by the studies of Mini (2003), Arathy (2004) and Prasannakumari and Gangadevi (2012) while working on aquatic and riparian vegetation. Among all the four life-form classes, the rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes registered the highest concentration of carbohydrates as evinced by *Potamogeton natans* (26.0 %), *Marsilea quadrifolia* (21.9 %), *Nymphaea mexicana* (20.4 %) and *Hydrocharis dubia* (17.8 %). The results of the present study also corroborate with those of other authors (Wikfort *et al.*, 1992).

6.2.7.3. Lipid content

The lipid content of macrophytes in the present study varied in the range of 0.4-7.6 on % fresh weight basis. These values are in tune with those reported in literature for some aquatic macrophytes (Banerjee and Matai, 1990). However, they are lower than those reported by Rozentsvet *et al.* (1995). This variability in the chemical composition of macrophytes is believed to depend upon the differences in the species, season and location (Annon, 1984). In the present study also significant differences were observed in the total lipid content of macrophytes with a distinct pattern between the seasons. Fluctuations noticed in the concentration of lipid in the different genera may be due to the changes in the environmental factors that might have influenced the vegetative growth and development including availability of nutrients, allochthonous materials as well as variation in the efficiency of lipid

accumulation among the plants (Prasannakumari and Gangadevi, 2012; Yasser and Samir, 2014).

A perusal of data on the lipid content of macrophytes in Wular lake revealed that, like proteins, the maximum concentration of total lipids in various plant tissues were recorded during autumn, followed by summer and spring and decreasing to the minimum in winter. The higher concentration of total lipids during autumn may be because of the reduction in the levels of carbohydrates (Haroon *et al.*, 2000; Nelson *et al.*, 2002). Under this condition, more photosynthetic intermediates can be utilized in the synthesis of lipid molecule. During autumn, most of the macrophytes in Wular lake complete their life cycle and start drying up. As lipids are the end products of metabolic reactions in mature and aged tissues, they are naturally higher at this stage (Akingbade *et al.*, 2001; Sahyun, 2008; Ahmad *et al.*, 2011).

From the study it is clear that the concentration of lipids depicted highly significant variations among different groups of macrophytes. The concentration of lipids was generally higher in emergent macrophytes such as Myriophyllum verticillatum, Phragmites australis and Typha angustata which gains further support from the studies of Banerjee and Matai (1990) and Rozentsvet et al. (1995) who also reported higher lipid content in emergent aquatic plants. It is clear from the data that during the year 2011 the concentration of total lipids depicted greater variations in different periods, though significant increases for Ceratophyllum demersum and Potamogeton crispus (about 4 times each) were evinced in the early autumn season experiencing frequent rains. These differences indicate an acceleration of productive metabolic activity during this period and/or higher consumption of this organic compound during the dry period (Esteves and Suzuki, 2010). The significant increases in the lipid content (about 5 times) have also been reported for Ceratophyllum demersum in the rainy season (Esteves and Suzuki, 2010). The tendency to accumulate higher concentration of total lipids in the tissues of submerged macrophytes in this period suggests that this period presents better conditions to the development of these macrophytes.

6.2.7.4. Chlorophyll content

Macrophytes and their parts are vertically stratified in different positions in the water body. The productive structures i.e. parts rich in chlorophyll in different plants are concentrated at different levels. The chlorophyll content per unit weight of plant parts is higher in leaf lamina than other green parts. The analysis of the data revealed distinct seasonal variations in the chlorophyll content of macrophytes during the two years of study period. In the present work, maximum pigment content of the macrophytes was obtained during summer season; the period characterized by optimum nutrient load and water temperature. Chlorophyll- a and chlorophyll-b contents were significantly lower in autumn, Total chlorophyll was the only exception. This trend may be attributed to the positive role of water temperature in promoting greater chlorophyll concentration and photosynthesis (Barko et al., 1982, 1986; Chambers, 1982; Nekrasova et al., 2003). The summer fall in the amounts of nutrients (ammonia, total phosphorus and dissolved silica) is attributed to the greater photosynthetic activity of macrophytes especially submergeds leaving very small quantities of such nutrients in water (Rich et al., 1971; Xie, et al., 2004; Shilla et al., 2006). This is confirmed from the significant positive correlations between Chlorophyll -b and total chlorophyll and water temperature and Chlorophyll-a, negative correlations with nutrients (ammonia, total phosphorus and dissolved silica). Lower concentration of chlorophyll-a obtained in autumn may be attributed to the fact that the values of chlorophyll-a decreases when the light transmission increases (Atici and Alas, 2012). The strong negative correlation between transparency and chlorophyll-a in the submerged macrophytes also substantiate the fact that increased transparency decreases chlorophyll-a content by reducing photosynthetic input. A relative Chlorophyll-b enrichment in spring in submerged species suggests that these species exhibit a sun shade adaptation similar to higher plants and green algae (Robledo and Freile-Pelegrin, 2005). It has been advocated by Yokohama (1983) and Robledo and Freile-Pelegrin (2005) that under low light transmission the concentration of Chlorophyll-b is favourable for growth based on the fact that Chlorophyll-b absorbs shortwave light more efficiently than Chlorophyll-a. The lower quantity of chlorophyll pigment in macrophytes in other seasons reflects their adaptation to decreased water temperature (Dembitsky, 1996). The results of the present study corroborate with those of other studies (Kizevetter, 1981; Goncharova, 2004). Thus, the active period of pigment synthesis in macrophytes coincides with the increase in water temperature and decrease in nutrient load.

The macrophytes, as a whole, were characterized by low chlorophyll pigment content (mg/g on fresh weight basis) in comparison to the terrestrial plants

(Popova et al., 1984). The comparative analysis of data showed appreciable variations in the pigment content among different groups of macrophytes with different degree of leaf submergence (emergent, rooted floating, free floating and submerged). In emergent and rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes, the low chlorophyll pigment content might have been due to their existence at high irradiance (Ronzhina et al., 2004). In rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes the leaves are perpendicular to incident radiation. As a consequence of which they contain lower pigment content compared to submerged aquatic plants. In submerged macrophytes, the leaves are almost vertically oriented (Ronzhina et al., 2004). As a result of which they do not shade each other, enabling the plants to accumulate higher pigment content in them. Moreover, in the submerged leaves, in contrast to the emergent and floating ones, an increase in the photosynthetic rate of a single chloroplast as well as their existence in water under low light conditions results in an increase in the pigment content in their chloroplast. Further, it is believed that submerged aquatic plants are characterised by specific features of the pigment complex, ensuring plant adaptation to light conditions in water stratum (Ronzhina et al., 2004). Our results further gain support from the findings of Ronzhina et al. (2004) and Nikolic et al. (2009) who also reported higher pigment content in submerged aquatic plants. The free floating macrophytes represented in our study by Azolla sp., Salvinia natans and Lemna minor were characterised by slightly lower pigment levels. This might have been due to their existence at high irradiance and presence of homogenous type of mesophyll structure in their leaves (Ronzhina et al., 2004). Barko et al. (1986) advocated that within individual plants, total chlorophyll can vary significantly in response to light, with greatest chlorophyll concentration at the basal (darkest) portion of the plant. The normal life activity is ensured by low pigment content in plants adapted to high radiation. This is because lower pigment content prevents the danger of cell damage caused due to photooxidation (Popova et al., 1984).

Temperature is considered to be the single environmental variable profoundly influencing the photosynthetic rates and standing crop of aquatic plants over the whole range of their occurrence (Gorham, 1974; Pilon and Santamaria, 2002).Temperature may also have an effect on propagule germination and shoot elongation in many aquatic plants (Madsen and Adams, 1988). Moreover, during periods of cooler temperatures plant production is generally less due to the lower photosynthetic rates (Scheffer, 1998). The positive impact of temperature on the photosynthetic rates of macrophytes has been supported by various authors (Hopson and Zimba, 1993; Vis et al., 2007; Shilla and Dativa, 2008). In the present study it also seems that temperature have profound influence on the photosynthetic pathway of macrophytes. The peak chlorophyll concentration for most of the macrophytes corresponds to the period of maximum atmospheric temperature. Further, the chlorophyll values of macrophytes during the year 2012 were found to be lower as compared to the year 2011 which might be due to: (i) comparatively lower temperatures during the early growth and sprouting season of macrophytes, causing a delay in the flowering season of these plants, and (ii) early decomposition of macrophytes caused by rapid rise in temperature during the peak growth season. In the latter case it is likely that the higher temperature increased microbial activity and, therefore, oxygen consumption in the water, consequently affecting the pH and the rate of ion and nutrient liberation into the aquatic ecosystem and thus causing early decomposition of macrophytes (Carvalho et al., 2005). The results of the present study corroborate with those of other studies (Barko et al., 1982, 1986; Chambers, 1982; Nekrasova et al., 2003).

7.1 Summary

the ethands are often described as "*nature's kidneys*" for their ability to filter waste and pollutants, as well as "*nature's supermarket*" for their high productivity and ability to act as a source of food to many organisms. The ecological significant services provided by the wetlands include climate regulation, turnover of organic matter, biomass accumulation, as well as substrate for phytophilous organisms and a source of food for aquatic as well as terrestrial organisms. These ecological services are often considered in anthropocentric terms, because of their ability to ameliorate floods, stabilize shoreline, prevent erosion, as well as removal of contaminants from the water. Wetlands also play significant role in the biogeochemical cycling of nutrients by acting as nutrient source, as well as sink of nutrients.

Macrophytes, as a component of shallow lakes and wetlands, have diverse roles to play in the functioning of these ecosystems. The macrophytes serve as a base of aquatic food-chains, besides they also actively contribute to the promotion and maintenance of food webs and services in freshwater ecosystems especially the macrophyte dominated ones. Aquatic macrophytes also act as important bioindicators of environmental conditions and long-term ecological changes in water quality. The function of macrophytes in these ecosystems is related to their structural attributes like species composition, distribution, abundance and diversity which in turn depend on various environmental factors. Because of their high rate of biomass production, macrophytes act as an important primary food resource for aquatic organisms. The complex tropic dynamics and primary productivity of wetlands is greatly influenced by the higher diversity and biomass of macrophytes. For the assessment of nutritional value and evaluation of food potential of aquatic plants, the knowledge of their ecological significance and chemical composition is essential. It is well known that seasonal variations in certain abiotic factors such as light, temperature, sediment composition and water chemistry can influence photosynthetic rates and biochemical

composition of macrophytes, thus necessitating the determination of their biochemical composition.

Among the fresh water bodies of the valley Wular lake enjoys special status for being the largest freshwater body within Indian sub-continent and a designated Ramsar Site (a Wetland of International Importance). It is spread over an area of 48-54 km², being situated at a surface elevation of 1580 m (a.m.s.l) and positioned between geographical coordinates of 34° 16′ 24.67″ N latitude and 74° 33′ 41.42″ longitude. It plays a major role in the hydrological regime of the Kashmir valley by acting as a huge absorption basin for floodwaters of Jhelum floodplain. Wular lake and its associated wetlands act as an important habitat for migratory water birds within Central Asian Flyway and supports rich biodiversity. It also supports a large population living along its fringes owing to its huge fishery potential.

Since the wetland is dominated by macrophytes, considerable efforts have gone into the field studies to correlate the spatial distribution pattern of aquatic plants with major physico-chemical environment of their habitat. There are only few reports regarding the distribution patterns and community characteristics of macrophytes including the studies pertaining to physiognomy of wetland vegetation in Kashmir. It is only very recently some work, yet to be published, has been conducted on the production and nutrient dynamics of macrophytes in Hokersar wetland which as such has remained untouched as far as the distribution patterns and biochemical composition of macrophytes is concerned (Kumar, 2009). In this backdrop the present study on "Distribution, production and biochemical status of dominant macrophytes in Wular lake, a Ramsar Site in Kashmir Himalaya" has been undertaken to work out a generalized relation between water and macro- vegetation distribution, production and biochemical composition. This study can latter on in future help in determining the pattern in which distribution, production and biochemical composition of macrophytes change as the water quality deteriorates.

Water depth in the Wular lake showed slight significant spatial as well as temporal variations. The maximum depth of water was recorded during spring as against the minimum being recorded during winter. The secchi disc transparency in the Wular waters revealed slight insignificant spatial as well as temporal variations. Wular waters, having the permanence of water all through the year remained, least turbid except during spring and early summer season when least transparency on account of increased silt laden inflows was noticed. Water temperature in Wular lake followed the general thermal cycle of the region with peak temperatures being recorded during summer and the lowest temperature registered in winter.

Total dissolved solids followed the same trend as that of specific conductivity, witnessing its peak amount during winter and then following a decline to reach the lowest value during summer where after an increasing trend was evinced towards the autumn. The overall absolute values for total dissolved solids fluctuated between a low of 64 mg/L (August) and a high of 320 mg/L (January).Water conductivity, reflecting total ionic concentration of salts, witnessed a seasonal trend and depicted comparatively higher values. Maximum specific conductivity (508.7±17.0 μ Scm⁻¹ at 25 ⁰C) was recorded during winter as against the minimum (115±10.0 μ Scm⁻¹ at 25 ⁰C), being recorded during summer.

Dissolved free carbon dioxide in Wular waters depicted an inverse trend to that of pH registering its higher concentration during winter and lowest during summer. The maximum and minimum concentrations of free carbon dioxide in water were 28 mg/L (December) and 5 mg/L (August) respectively. Dissolved oxygen, showing inverse relationship with temperature, witnessed a summer fall recording its maximum values in winter. The maximum amounts of dissolved oxygen (11 mg/L) were registered in November while as the minimum amounts (6.4 mg/L) were recorded during July, August and September respectively.

The alkaline waters of Wular lake registered the pH ranging between a low of 7.1 (December) and a high of 8.5 (June). Chloride content of water did not depict noticeable seasonal trend. However, the absolute values ranged between 6.0 mg/L (December and February) and 28.0 mg/L (April).

Total hardness recorded very noticeable temporal variations with greater amounts being recorded during winters as against the least being recorded during summers. The highest amount of total hardness (290 mg/L) was recorded in February as against the lowest of 55 mg/L being recorded during August and September. Calcium and magnesium concentrations in the lake waters revealed comparatively harder waters during winter and spring. The seasonal values of calcium ranged from a low of 34.6 ± 4.9 mg/L (summer) to a high of 106.4 ± 1.2 mg/L (winter) and that of magnesium content from 5.9 ± 1.4 mg/L (summer) to 43.1 ± 1.9 mg/L (winter). The alkalinity of Wular waters varied greatly with regard to time but experienced least spatial variations. The alkalinity of water was solely due to bicarbonates as the carbonates, were not recorded at any of the sites throughout the study. The highest value of bicarbonate alkalinity (245 mg/L) was recorded during January as against the lowest value of 55 mg/L, being recorded during August.

Greater amounts of dissolved silica were recorded during spring, followed by summer and autumn and decreasing to the lowest during the winter. The maximum amounts of silicate (18.4 mg/L) were noticed in April while as the minimum amounts (3.8 mg/L) were recorded during December. The amounts of orthophosphate-phosphorus in Wular waters depicted a peak concentration in winter, moderate in autumn and further experienced a fall in the concentration during summer. The minimum and maximum concentrations of orthophosphate-phosphorus in water were 9 μ g/L (June) and 118 μ g/L (January) respectively. Same was true for total phosphorus, depicting peak values in winter. The ranges of total phosphorus over the whole period of investigation were much wider and thus fluctuated from the lowest value (60 μ g/L) during September 2011 to the highest value (393 μ g/L) during February.

Ammonical-nitrogen and nitrate-nitrogen in water depicted the same trend as that of phosphorus registering their higher concentrations during winters and lowest during summers. The maximum and minimum seasonal amounts of 290.0 \pm 20.0 µg/L (winter) and 48.5 \pm 9.2 µg/L (summer) were obtained for ammonical-nitrogen and for nitrate-nitrogen such values were 1416.7 \pm 336.1 µg/L (winter) and 178.7 \pm 22.7 µg/L (summer) respectively.

Lake waters recorded the maximum amounts of iron in winter, moderate amounts in autumn and spring and the lowest amounts in summer. The overall absolute values for iron ranged from a low of 189 μ g/L (August) to a high of 413 μ g/L (February).

Wular lake, harbouring a complex physiognomy of macrophytes, was represented by 55 species belonging to 38 genera that are spread over 27 families. Greater variations in macrophytic distribution with regard to time and space were registered in the wetland. The first half of the growing season recorded the significant fluctuations but the later half did not reflect much change in the species make up. During the entire growing period the highest number of 24 species was recorded at Site I during summer, 2012. Spatially the highest number of species (35) was recorded at Site I with 25 species of emergents, 06 rooted floating- leaf type, 01 submergeds and 03 free floating type as against the lowest number of 18 species being registered at Site IV. However, among the various life-form classes the greater fluctuations were witnessed in the number of emergents. The macrophytic community of Wular lake was represented by all the four life form-classes belonging to emergents (42.6 %), rooted floating leaf type (24.7 %), submerged (15.4 %) and free floating (17.3 %) and each life-form class embraced a distinct assemblage of plant species. However, the rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes cover significant area of the lake, while as submergeds cover least area of the wetland. Typha angustata and Phragmites australis, the chief occupants of littoral zone, extend all along the eastern, northwestern and parts of south-eastern side of the lake upto a depth of 2.0 m accompanied by widespread stands of rooted floating-leaf type species (Nymphoides peltatum, Potamogetan natans and Trapa natans). The maximum area under emergents was seent at Site I where large aggregations of these plant species were found distributed throughout. Rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes formed widespread dense beds in Wular lake. Trapa natans was the chief constituent species among these macrophytes and formed large beds at sites V, VII and III. The free-floating species being dispersed were confined mostly towards littorals and side water channels. Amongst, the free floating species, Azolla sp., Salvinia natans, and Lemna minor formed thick dense mats over extensive areas in the littorals at sites II, V and VI. Submerged macrophytes, due to their high aggressive capacity, covered the maximum area all along the western side of the Wular lake. This life-form class dominated by Ceratophyllum demersum, Potamogeton crispus and Potamogeton lucens association formed dense meadows in the open water areas at sites VII, VIII and IV. Certain species of macrophytes showed restricted distribution to a particular site. These were Scirpus lacustris (Site I), Nelumbo nucifera (Site V), Rununculus lingua (Site VI) and Batrachium trichophyllum (Site VIII).

Various community characteristics again depicted noticeable variations in Wular lake. The Sorenson's similarity index based on species composition indicate that Site I had high degree of similarity with Site VI (81.3 %) which may be due to their littoral nature and similarity in their water characteristics as was observed during the present study. The study of IVI values revealed that *Lemna-Salvinia* complex dominated all the sites and was co-dominant at Site II indicating its absolute

dominance over other species in the Wular lake. The Shannon's Diversity Index showed high diversity of macrophytes at Site VII (3.06) and lowest at Site IX (2.38). On the other hand, Simpson's diversity index revealed its maximum value of 0.989 at Site V as against the minimum value of 0.939 being recorded at Site I on the basis of occurrence of macrophytes. Bray-Curtis cluster analysis revealed that the sites III, V and IX are very much similar in terms of their macrophytic composition.

Production estimates in Wular lake were undertaken for a total of 16 species of macrophytes comprising 05 emergents, 06 rooted floating- leaf types, 03 free floating type and 02 submergeds. Among the emergents Typha angustata registered the maximum primary productivity (1,800 g dwt. m⁻²), followed by *Phragmites australis* (1,450 g dwt. m⁻²). Among the rooted floating-leaf types, *Trapa natans* with a production value of 450 g dwt. m⁻² was the most productive species. Salvinia natans depicted the maximum productivity (33 g dwt. m⁻²) among the free-floating class. Among submergeds, Ceratophyllum demersum registered the highest productivity with a value of 170 g dwt. m⁻² against the lowest value of 83 g dwt. m⁻², being recorded for Potamogetan crispus. On the other hand, net primary productivity fluctuated between a minimum of 0.09 g dwt. m⁻² day⁻¹ for Lemna minor and a maximum of 6.94 g dwt. m^{-2} day⁻¹ for *Typha angustata*. *Phragmites australis* was the second most productive species with net primary productivity of 5.59 g dwt. $m^{-2} day^{-1}$. In general, among the dominant species of macrophytes estimated for the primary production in Wular lake, Typha angustata depicted the maximum productivity, followed by Phragmites australis and Trapa natans in a decreasing order. The lowest production was recorded for free floating Lemna minor. Emergents, contributing a maximum of about 69 % to the overall primary productivity, were followed by rooted floating-leaf type class (24.5 %), submergeds (5 %) and free-floating type (1.5 %).

In all, sixteen macrophytic species, including 05 emergent, 06 rooted floatingleaf type species, 03 free-floating and 02 submerged species, were analysed, on seasonal basis, for various biochemical constituents viz. total lipids, carbohydrate, protein and chlorophyll contents. Different macrophytic species besides showing considerable temporal variations were observed to exhibit interspecies and interclass variations in their biochemical compositions. Total lipids (on % fresh wt. basis) depicted the maximum concentrations in various plant tissues during autumn, followed by summer and spring and decreasing to the minimum in winter. For emergents, *Myriophyllum verticillatum* registered the maximum concentration of total lipids (4.8±2.6 %), followed by *Phragmites australis* (4.3±2.5 %) and *Typha angustata* (3.9±2.3 %). However, among the rooted floating-leaf type species, the maximum concentration of total lipids (4.5±2.2 %) was recorded for *Trapa natans*, followed by *Marsilea quadrifolia* (3.3±1.3 %). Among free-floating species, the maximum concentration of total lipids (3.4±1.9 %) was noted for *Azolla* sp. as against the minimum of 2.8±1.4 %, being recorded for *Salvinia natans*. *Potamogetan crispus* depicted the maximum concentration of total lipids (3.5 ± 2.9 %) among the submergeds. The concentration of total lipids depicted greater variations in different periods, though significant increases for *Ceratophyllum demersum* and *Potamogeton crispus* (about 4 times each) were evinced in the early autumn season.

Maximum concentrations of carbohydrates in various plant tissues were recorded during summer, followed by spring and autumn and decreasing to the minimum in winter. Among all the four life-form classes, the rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes registered the highest concentration of carbohydrates as evinced by *Marsilea quadrifolia* (14.9 \pm 6.3 %), *Nymphaea mexicana* (14.7 \pm 5.4 %), *Potamogeton natans* (14.0 \pm 8.8 %) and *Hydrocharis dubia* (10.8 \pm 5.6 %). The submergeds registered the lowest concentration of carbohydrates with *Potamogeton crispus* recording a highest of 6.4 \pm 2.6 %) as against the lowest of 3.6 \pm 2.9 %), being recorded for *Ceratophyllum demersum*.

Like lipids, the maximum concentration of proteins in various plant tissues were recorded during autumn, followed by summer and spring and decreasing to the minimum in winter. The free-floating species registered the highest concentrations of proteins with *Azolla* sp. recording a highest of 17.2 ± 6.2 % as against the lowest of 9.1 ± 2.7 %, being recorded for *Salvinia natans*. On the other hand, emergents recorded the lowest concentration of proteins as evinced by *Phragmites australis* (6.4±4.0 %), *Polygonum amphibium* (6.0±4.0 %), *Polygonum hydropiper* (5.3±2.8 %) and *Myriophyllum verticillatum* (5.1±1.8 %) in a decreasing order.

The maximum pigment content in different species of macrophytes was recorded during the period of active growth in summer. The autumn and spring season registered almost equal concentration of Chlorophyll-a and Chlorophyll-b and the values peaked during summer. However, relative content of Total Chlorophyll in the macrophytes was notably lower in spring season than in autumn. The concentration of Chlorophyll-a in different species of macrophytes fluctuated between a minimum of 0.8 mg/g for *Azolla* sp. and a maximum of 4.3 mg/g for *Ceratophyllum demersum*. The Chlorophyll-b content recorded its highest concentration in *Ceratophyllum demersum* (2.5 mg/g), followed closely by *Potamogeton crispus* (2.2 mg/g) The lowest Chlorophyll-b values were obtained in *Azolla* sp. (0.1 mg/g). Total Chlorophyll content recorded its highest concentration in *Polygonum amphibium* (5.0 mg/g), followed by *Nymphaea mexicana* having a value of 4.9 mg/g and decreasing to a lowest of 0.4 mg/g in *Azolla* sp. In general, among the different life-form classes of macrophytes, submergeds accumulated greater pigment content.

7.2 Conclusions and Suggestions

On the basis of present ecological study carried out on the Wular lake the following facts were revealed which gave rise to a number of conclusions:

- The data on water chemistry clearly revealed that there were significant spatial as well as temporal variations in most of the parameters while as few parameters fluctuated between the narrow ranges.
- > The alkaline and hard waters of the lake are nutrient rich.
- The dominance of calcium over magnesium in the lake is related with the calcium rich lime rocks in the catchment.
- The relatively high concentration of NH₄-N and NO₃-N of the lake is related to organic loading and high inputs of autochthonous organic matter from the macrophytic vegetation.
- The average concentration of both total phosphorus and orthophosphate phosphorus, remained generally high indicating the slightly higher trophic of the lake.
- The wetland harbours all the four life-form classes viz. emergents, rooted floating-leaf type, free floating and submergeds growing intermixed at places, giving it a physiognomy of the wetland.
- During the first half of the growing season, emergents and rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes dominated and, thereafter the dominance was shifted to the free-floating and submergeds.
- The emergents colonize the peripheral areas, landmasses within the open waters and shallower parts of the wetland, and there is no perfect zonation of vegetation as evinced in a typical lake.
- The open water areas are mainly colonized by rooted floating-leaf type, freefloating type and submergeds.
- The profuse and intermixed growth of various life-form classes add up large quantities of organic matter to the wetland.
- The diversity indices point towards the complex physiognomy of the macrophytes in Wular lake with higher diversity and richness of species.
- The higher species diversity and species richness in the wetland is reflected by its habitat heterogeneity- as larger lakes encompass more microhabitats more species are able to find a suitable habitat with increasing area.

- The distribution and diversity of macrophytes reflected significant temporal as well as spatial variability in the wetland.
- ➤ The temporal changes in the distribution of macrophytes were mostly associated with water level fluctuations.
- Changes during the vegetation period were strongly related to water temperature, depth, transparency and nutrient concentration.
- The availability of light and depth appears to be the most important factors in determining the macrophyte distribution (with depth and season), there by influencing productivity as well as species composition of submerged and emergent macrophytes. However, it is very difficult to assess the impact of various physico-chemical variables on overall distribution patterns of aquatic macrophytes. Therefore, future research should focus on the influence of potential environmental variables (land use patterns, climatic change) leading to change in the community structure and productivity of macrophytes.
- Emphasis should be given to the impact of eutrophication on distribution, diversity and density as well as productivity of macrophytes-making an important component of aquatic ecosystem.
- The net primary productivity values of macrophytes were found to be in the range of 0.10 to 6.94 g dwt. m⁻² day⁻¹ indicating that the lake at present study is approaching eutrophic state.
- It is evident from the study that the different groups of macrophytes showed distinct profile in their biochemical constituents. The concentration of total lipids depicted greater variations in different seasons with significant increases for *Ceratophyllum demersum* and *Potamogeton crispus* (about 4 times each) in the early autumn season. Among all the four life-form classes, the rooted floating-leaf type macrophytes registered the highest concentration of carbohydrates. The concentration of proteins depicted higher values in free-floating species. Whereas, submergeds accumulated greater pigment content.
- Significant correlation values computed among the environmental parameters and biochemical constituents of macrophytes suggest that the abiotic parameters seem to have potential role in biochemical pathways of macrophytes.

- Biochemical composition of the macrophytes points out to the fact that certain macrophytes such as Azolla sp., Hydrocharis dubia, Lemna sp., Nymphaea mexicana, Potamogeton crispus, Salvinia natans and Trapa natans were potentially, very rich sources of concentrated protein and lipids with higher levels in autumn and as such these plants can be used as potential food supplements for humans and animals. These plants need special attention as regards their exploitation and conservation.
- On the basis of overall ecological setup based on water and vegetation characteristics it can be inferred that Wular lake is enjoying a racing eutrophication as evinced by slightly higher concentration of most of the nutrients especially nitrogen and phosphorus in water column. The eutrophication of the wetland is also revealed from higher population density, production and biochemical constituents of macrophytes. Thus, the study of macrophytes becomes imperative for the future management of this ecologically important wetland ecosystem, being designated as a Ramsar Site.

- Abbasi, S.A. 1998. Water Quality Sampling and Analysis. 1st ed., Discovery Publishing House, New Delhi.
- Abbott, I. A. 1988 Food and food products from algae. Pp. 135–147. In: Algae and Human Affairs. (C. A. Lembi, and J. R. Waaland, eds.). Cambridge University Press, USA.
- Aboul Kassim, T.A. 1987. Cycles of carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus in the marine environments in the Alexandria region. M.Sc thesis, Alex. Univ., 233pp.
- Adeyemo, O. K., Adedokun, O.T., Yusuf, R. K., and Adeleye, E. A. 2008. Seasonal changes in physico- chemical parameters and nutrient load of river sediments in Ibadan city, Nigeria. *Global Nest Journal*, **10** (3):326-336.
- Ahmad, I., Ahmad, M.S.A., Ashraf, M., Hussain, M. and Ashraf, M.Y. 2011. Seasonal variations in some medicinal and biochemical ingredients in *Mentha longifolia* (L.) Huds. *Pakistan Journal of Botany*, 43: 69-77.
- Ahmed, N. and Ahmed, T. 2013. Problems of water resource management in Kashmir valley. *IOSR Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, **12**(2):76-82.
- Akingbade, A.A., Nsahlai, I.V. and Morris, C.D. 2001. Seasonal variation in forage quality and mimosine contents of two varieties of *Leucaena leucocephala*. *Afr. J. Range Forage Sci.*, **18**(2-3): 131-135.
- Akinyemi, S.A. and Nwankwo, D.I. 2006. Biological productivity of two reservoirs in Osun State, Nigeria. *Int. J. Sci. Technol. Res.*, **3**(2):16 22.
- Akram, S.M.M. 1992. *Physico-chemical environment of Wular lake, Kashmir*. M.Phil dissertation, University of Kashmir, India.
- Alahuhta, J. 2011. Patterns of Aquatic Macrophytes in the Boreal Region: Implications for Spatial Scale Issues and Ecological Assessment. M.Sc dissertation University of Oulu, Linnanmaa.

Aldenderfer, M.S. and Blashfield. R.K. 1984. Cluster Analysis. Sage, London, 88 pp.

- Ambasht, R. S. 1971. Ecosystem study of a tropical pond in relation to primary production of different vegetational zones. *Hydrobiologia Bucharest*, 12:57-61.
- Ambasht, R. S. and Ram, K. 1976. Stratified primary productive structure of certain macrophytes weeds in a large Indian lake. Pp. 147-156. In: *Aquatic Weeds in South East Asia*. (C. K. Varshvey, and J. Rzoska, eds.). Junk, The Hague, Netherlands.
- American Public Health Association (APHA), 2005. *Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Waste Waters*. American Public Health Association ed., Washington DC, USA. 1217 pp.
- Anderson, J. M 1982. Effect of nitrate concentration in lake water on phosphate release from the sediments. *Water Res.*, **16** (7):1119-1126.
- Annon. 1984. Making Aquatic Weeds Useful: Some Perspectives for Developing Countries. National Academy of Sciences, Washington, D.C., 175pp.
- Arathy, M.S. 2004. Biogeochemical studies of water locked ecosystems in Thiruvananthapuram District – Kerala – India. Ph.D thesis, University of Kerala.
- Armstrong, J., Afreen-Zobayed, F., Blyth, S. and Armstrong, W. 1999. *Phragmites australis*: effects and survival and radial oxygen loss from roots. *Aquat. Bot.*, 64:275-289.
- Arts, G.H.P. 2002. Deterioration of Atlantic soft water macrophyte communities by acidification, eutrophication and alkalinisation. *Aquatic Botany*, **73**:373– 393.
- Ashraf, M. and Harris, P. J. C. 2013. Photosynthesis under stressful environments: An overview. *Photosynthetica*, **51**(2):163-190.
- Asieh, M. 2008. Water quality characteristics of Mengkuang reservoir based on phytoplankton community structure and physico- chemical analysis. M.Sc. dissertation, University of Sains, Malaysia.

- Atıcı, T. and Alaş, A. 2012. A study on the trophic status and phytoplanktonic algae of Mamasin dam lake (Aksaray-Turkey).*Turkish Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, **12**:595-601.
- Atkinson, R. B., Perry, J. E., Noe, G. B., Daniels, W. L. and Cairns, J. (Jr). 2010. Primary productivity in 20-year old created wetlands in south-western Virginia. Wetlands, 30:200–210.
- Atkinson, R.B. and Cairns, J. (Jr). 2001. Plant decomposition and litter accumulation in depressional wetlands: functional performance of two wetland age classes that were created via excavation. *Wetlands*, 21:354–362.
- Atobatele, O.E. and Ugwumba, O.A. 2008.Seasonal variation in the physicochemistry of a small tropical reservoir (Aiba Reservoir, Iwo, Osun, Nigeria).*African Journal of Biotechnology*, 7(12):1962–1971.
- Ayoade, A.A., Fagade, S.O. and Adebisi, A.A. 2006. Dynamics of limnological features of two man-made lakes in relation to fish production. *African J. Biotechnol.*, 5(10):1013-21.
- Bagenal, T.B. 1978. Fecundity in eggs and early life history.Pp.166–178. In: *Methods for Assessment of Fish Production in Freshwaters*. (T.B. Bagenal, E. Braum, ed.). 3rd ed.
- Banerjee, A. and Matai, S. 1990. Composition of Indian aquatic plants in relation to utilization as animal forage. J. Aquat. Plant Manag., 28:69-73.
- Banerjee, K., Ghosh, R., Homechaudhuri, S. and Mitra, A. 2009. Seasonal variation in the biochemical composition of red seaweed (*Catenella repens*) from Gangetic delta, northeast coast of India. J. Earth Syst. Sci., 118(5):497–505.
- Banerjee, L. K. and Venu, P. 1994. Wetlands plant resources for conservation. E&VIS (Newsletter of Botanical Survey of India, Calcutta) 1:2-3.
- Baqai, I. U. and Rehana, I. 1973. Seasonal fluctuation of copepods of Keenjhar lake, Sindh and its correlation with physico-chemical factors. *Pakistan J. Zool.*, 5 (2):165-168.

- Barko, J. W., Adams, M. S. and Clesceri, N.L. 1986. Environmental factors and their consideration in the management of submerged aquatic vegetation: A review. J. Aquat. Plant Manage., 24:1-10.
- Barko, J. W., Hardin, D. G. and Mathews, M. S. 1982. Growth and morphology of submerged freshwater macrophytes in relation to light and temperature. *Can. J. Bot.*, 60:877-87.
- Barko, J.W. and Smart, R.M. 1981. Comparative influences of light and temperature on the growth and metabolism of selected submersed freshwater macrophytes. *Ecol. Monogr.*, **51**:219-236.
- Barko, J.W. and Smart, R.N. 1986. Sediment related mechanism of growth limitation in submerged macrophytes. *Ecology*, **67**:1328-1340.
- Barko, J.W., Gunnison, D. and Carpenter S.R. 1991. Sediment interactions with aquatic macrophytes in freshwater. *Hydrobiologia*, **595**:9-26.
- Barnabe, G. 1994. Aquaculture Biology and Ecology of Cultured Species. Ellis Horwood Ltd, England.
- Barnes, H. and Blackstock, J. 1973. Estimation of lipids in marine animals and tissues: Detailed investigation of the sulphophosphovanillin method for total lipids. J. Exp. Mar. Bioi. Ecol., 12:103-108.
- Barrat-Segretain, M.H. 1996. Strategies of reproduction, dispersion, and competition in river plants: A review. *Vegetatio*, **123**:13–37.
- Beck, M. W., Hatch, L. K., Vondracek, B. and Valley, R.D. 2010. Development of a macrophyte-based index of biotic integrity for Minnesota lakes. *Ecological Indicators*, 10:968-979.
- Beckett, D. C., Aartila, T. P. and.Miller, A. C. 1992. Contrasts in density of benthic invertebrates between macrophyte beds and open littoral patches in Eau Galle lake, Wisconsin. Am. Midl. Nat., 127:77-90.
- Beneberu, G. and Mengistou, S. 2010. Oligotrophication trend in Lake Ziway, Ethiopia. *SINET Ethiop. J. Sci.*, **32**:141–148.

- Berg, K., Anderson, K., Christene, T., Ebert, F., Lyshede, E.J.M., Mthiesen, H., Nygaard, G., Olsen, S., Roson, U., Otterson, C.V., Skadhauge, A. and Nielsen, R.S. 1958. Furresundergelezer, 1950-54 Limnologiske studies over Fure's Kultupavirkning. *Folia Limnol. Scand.*, **10**:189.
- Berzas-Nevado, J. J., Martín-Doimeadios, R. C. R., Bernardo, F. J. G., Moreno, M. J., Tardío, S. O., Fornieles, M. M. S., Ríos, M. N. and Pérez, A. D. 2009. Integrated pollution evaluation of the Tagus river in Central Spain. *Environ. Monit. Assess.*, 156:461–477.
- Bhat, A.A. 2010. *Geochemistry of three Kashmir Himalayan lakes and its impact on vegetation dynamics*. Ph.D thesis University of Kashmir, Srinagar, J&K.
- Bhat, S. A., Rather, S. A. and Pandit, A. K. 2001. Impact of effluents from SKIMS, Soura on Anchar Lake. J. Res. & Dev., 1:31-38.
- Bini, L.M., Thomaz, S.M., Murphy, K.J. and Camargo, A.F.M. 1999. Aquatic macrophyte distribution in relation to water and sediment conditions in the Itaipu reservoir, Brazil. *Hydrobiologia*, **415**:147-154.
- Birk, S. and Willby, N. 2010. Towards harmonization of ecological quality classification: establishing common grounds in European macrophyte assessment for rivers. *Hydrobiologia*, **652**:149–163.
- Bishop, M.J., Powers, S.P., Porter, H.J. and Peterson, C.H. 2006. Benthic biological effects of seasonal hypoxia in a eutrophic estuary predate rapid coastal development. *Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science*, **70**(3):415–422.
- Blackburn, G.A. 2007. Hyperspectral remote sensing of plant pigments. J. Exp. Bot., 58:55–867.
- Boedeltje, G., Smolders, A.J.P., Roelofs, J.G.M. and Groenendael, J.M.V. 2001. Constructed shallow zones along navigation canals: vegetation establishment and hange in relation to environmental characteristics. *Aquatic. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst.*, **11**:453–471.

- Bosserman, R.T.W. 1983. Dynamics of physical and chemical parameter in Okefenokee swamp, U.S.A. *Ecol.*, **2** (2):129-140.
- Boyd, C. E. and Blackburn, R. D. 1970. Seasonal changes in the proximate composition of some common aquatic weeds. *Hyacinth Continental Journal*, 42-44.
- Boyd, C.E. 1968. Fresh water plants: a potential source of protein. *Econ. Bot.*, **22**:359-368.
- Boyd, C.E. 1979. *Water Quality in Ponds for Aquaculture*. Auburn University Agricultural Experiment Station, Auburn, Alabama, USA, 482pp.
- Boyd, C.E. 1998. Water Quality for Pond Aquaculture. Research and development series No. 43. International centre for aquaculture and aquatic environments, Alabama Agricultural Experiment Station, Auburn University, Alabama.
- Boyd, C.E. and Tucker, C.S. 1998. *Pond Aquaculture Water Quality Management*.Kluwer Academic Publishers, London.
- Boylen , C.W., Eichler L.W. and Madsen, J.D. 1999. Loss of native aquatic plant species in a community dominated by Eurasian watermilfoil. *Hydrobiologia*, 415:207–211.
- Bray, W.J. 1977.The processing of leaf protein to obtain food grade products. In: Green crop fractionation (R.J.Wilkins, ed.). Proc. Occasional Sym. No 9. British Grassland Society.
- Brion, M. 1973. The influence of environmental factors of the distribution of fresh water algae on experimental study: The role of pH, carbon dioxide and bicarbonate system. J. Ecol., 6(1):157.
- Brock, Th. C.M., Arts, G.H.P., Goosen, I.L.M. and Rutenfrans, A.H.M. 1983. Structure and annual biomass production of *Nymphoides peltata* (Gmel.) O. Kuntze (Menyanthaceae). *Aquat. Bot.*, **17**:167-188.

- Brown, M.R. and Jeffrey, S.W. 1992. Biochemical composition of microalgae from the green algal classes, Chlorophyceae and Prasinophyceae. 1. Amino acids, sugars and pigments. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol., 161:91–113.
- Buraschi, E., Salerno, F., Monguzzi, C., Barbiero, G. and Tartari, G. 2005. Characterization of the Italian lake-types and identification of their reference sites using anthropogenic pressure factors. J. Limnol., 64(1):75-84.
- Camargo, A.F.M. and Florentino, E.R. 2000.Population dynamics and net primary production of the aquatic macrophyte Nymphaea rudgeana C.F. Mey in a lotic environment of the Itanhaem river basin (SP, Brazil). Rev. Brasil. Biol., 60:1-10.
- Capers, R.S. 2003. Macrophyte colonization in a freshwater tidal wetland (Lyme, CT, USA). *Aquatic Botany*, **77**:325-338.
- Capers, R.S., Selsky, R. and Bugbee, G.J. 2010. The relative importance of local conditions and regional processes in structuring aquatic plant communities. *Freshwater Biology*, 55:952–966.
- Carnigan, R. and Kalff, J. 1980. Phosphorus sources for aquatic weeds: water or sediments? *Science*, **207**:987–989.
- Carpenter, S. R. and Lodge, D. M. 1986. Effects of submerged macrophytes on ecosystem processes. *Aquatic Botany*, **26**:341-370.
- Carvalho, P., Thomaz, S. M. and Bini, L. M. 2005. Effects of temperature on decomposition of a potential nuisance species: the submerged aquatic macrophyte *Egeria najas* Planchon (Hydrocharitaceae). *Braz. J. Biol.*, 65(1):51-60.
- Chambers, P. A. and Prepas, E. E. 1990. Competition and coexistence in submerged aquatic plant communities: the effects of species interactions versus abiotic factors. *Freshwater Biology*, 23:541–550.

- Chambers, P. A., Hanson, J. M., Burke, J. M. and Prepas, E. E. 1990. The impact of the crayfish *Orconectes virilison* on aquatic macrophytes. *Freshwater Biol.*, 24:81-91.
- Chambers, P. A., Lacoul, P., Murphy, K. J. and Thomaz, S. M. 2008. Global diversity of aquatic macrophytes in freshwater. *Hydrobiologia*, **595**:9-26.
- Chambers, P.A. 1982. Light, temperature and the induction of dormancy in Potamogeton crispus and Potamogeton obtusifolius. Ph.D thesis, University of St. Andrews, Scotland.
- Chambers, P.A. 1987. Near shore occurrence of submerged aquatic macrophytes in relation to wave action. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, **44**:1666–1669.
- Chambers, P.A. and Kalff, J. 1985. Depth distribution and biomass of submerged aquatic macrophyte communities in relation to Secchi depth. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, **42**:701–709.
- Chambers, P.A. and Prepas, E.E. 1988. Underwater spectral attenuation and its effect on the maximum depth of angiosperm colonization. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, **45**:1010-1017.
- Chapman, D. and Kimstach V. 1992. The selection of water quality variables. An introduction to water quality. In: *Water Quality Assessments: A Guide to the Use of Biota, Sediments and Water in Environmental Monitoring*. (D. Chapman, ed.). Chapman and Hall Ltd., London.
- Chapman, V.J. and Chapman, D.J. 1980. Seaweeds and Their Uses. Chapman and Hall, London.
- Cherepanov, S.K. 1981. Vascular Plants of the USSR. Nauka, Leningrad 509 pp.
- Cole, G. A. 1975. *Textbook of Limnology*. The C. V. Moslbey Company, Saint Louise, France.
- Cole, G. A. 1983. Textbook of Limnology. Waveland Press, Prospect Heights, USA.

- Cole, G.R. 1979. A Text book of Limnology, 2nd ed., The Mosley Co. London, New York.
- Connolly, C. A., Walte, L. M., Baadsgaard, H. and Longstaffe, F. J. 1990. Origin and evolution of formation waters, Alberta basin, Western Canada sedimentary basin. I. Chemistry. *Applied Geochemistry*, 5: 375-395.
- Connors, L. M., Kiviat, E., Groffman, P. M. and Ostfeld, R. 2000. Muskrat (*Ondatra zibethicus*) disturbance to vegetation and potential net nitrogen mineralization and nitrification rates in a freshwater tidal marsh. *The American Midland Naturalist*, **143**:53–63.
- Cook, A. H. and Powers, C. F. 1958. Early biochemical changes in the soils and waters of artificially created marshes. Pp.9-65. In: N. Y. Fish, and J. J. Game (eds.).
- Cook, C.D.K. 1990. Aquatic Plant Book. SPB, Academic Publishing. The Hague, Netherlands.228pp.
- Cook, C.D.K. 1996. Aquatic and Wetland Plants of India. Oxford university press. New York, 285pp.
- Coops, H., Brink, F.W.B., Van den, V. and Van der, G. 1996. Growth and morphological responses of four helophyte species in an experimental water-depth gradient. *Aquatic Botany*, **54**:11-24.
- Coops, H., Van Nes, E. H., Van Den Berg, M. S. and Butijn, G. D. 2002. Promoting low-canopy macrophytes to compromise conservation and recreational navigation in a shallow lake. *Aquat. Ecol.*, **36**:483-492.
- Cox, K. W. 1993. *Wetlands a celebration of life:* A final report of the wetlands conservation task force. Environment, Canada.
- Croft, M. V. and Chow-Fraser, P. 2007. Development of the wetland macrophyte index to detect degree of water-quality impairment in Great Lakes coastal marshes (In press). *J.Great Lakes Res.*

- Cronk, J.K., and Fennessy, M.S. 2001. Wetland Plants: Biology and Ecology. CRC Press, Boca Raton, USA.
- Cyr, H. and Downing, J.A. 1988. The abundance of phytophilous invertebrates on different species of submerged macrophytes. *Freshwater Biol.*, **20**:365-374.
- Dale, H.M.1986. Temperature and light: the determining factor in maximum depth distribution of aquatic macrophytes in Ontario, Canada. *Hydrobiologia*, 133:73-77.
- Dallas, F.H., and Day, J.A. 2004. The Effect of Water Quality Variables on Aquatic Ecostems: A review. report to the Water Research Commission. WRC Report No. TT224/04.
- Daniel, H., Bernez, I. And Haury, J. 2006. Relationships between macrophytic vegetation and physical features of river habitats: The need for morphological approach. *Hydrobiologia*, 570:11-17.
- Danielsson, A., Cato, I., Carman, R. and Rahm, L. 1999. Spatial clustering of metals in the sediments of the Skagerrak/Kattegat. *Applied Geochemistry*, 14:689– 706.
- Danilov, R. A. and Ekelund, N. G.A. 2001. Effects of solar radiation, humic substances and nutrients on the phytoplankton biomass and distribution in lake Solumsojo, Sweden. *Hydrobiologia*, 444:203-212.
- Danvers, M.A. and Gorham, E. 1991. Northern peatlands–role in the carbon cycle and probable responses to climatic warming. *Ecological Applications*, 1:182-195.
- Dar, G.H., Bhagat, R.C. and Khan, M.A. 2002. *Biodiversity of the Kashmir Himalaya*. Valley Book House, Srinagar, Kashmir.
- Dar, N. A., Hamid, A., Ganai, B. A., Bhat, S. and Pandit, A. K. 2012. Primary production dynamics of two dominant macrophytes in Wular lake, a Ramsar Site in Kashmir Himalaya. *Ecologia Balkanica*, 4 (2):77-83.

- Dar, N.A., Pandit, A.K. and Ganai, B.A. 2013. Seasonal variation in the pigment content of dominant macrophytes from Wular lake, Kashmir Himalaya, India. *Biochemistry and Pharmacology*, 2(4):1-6.
- Dar, N.A., Pandit, A.K. and Ganai, B.A. 2014. Factors affecting the distribution patterns of aquatic macrophytes. *Limnol. Rev.*, **14**(2):75-81.
- Dare, P. J. and Edwards, D. B. 1975. Seasonal changes in flesh weight and biochemical composition of mussels (*Mytilus edulis* L.) in the Conwy Estuary, North Wales. J. Exp. Mar. Bioi. Ecol., 18:89-97.
- Das, B. K. and Dhiman, S. C. 2003. Water and sediment chemistry of higher Himalayan lakes in the Spiti Valley: Control on weathering, provenance and tectonic setting of the basin. *Environmental Geology*, 44:717-730.
- Das, R. R. and Gopal, B. 1969. Vegetative propagation in *Spirodella polyrrhiza*. *Tropical Ecology*, **10**:270-277.
- Dawes, C. J. 1998. Marine Botany. John Wiley and Sons, New York, 480pp.
- Dawes, C.J. and Lawrence, J.M. 1980. Seasonal changes in the proximate constituents of the Seagrasses, *Thalassia testudlnum*, *Halodule wrightii*, and *Syringodium filiforme*. Aquat. Bot., 8:371-380
- Dawes, C.J. and Guiry, M.D. 1992. Proximate constituents in the seagrasses, Zostera marina and Z. noltii in Ireland:Seasonal changes and the effect of blade removal. PSZN I: Mar. Ecol., 13:307-315.
- Dawson, F.H. and Krzysztof S. 1999. Relationships of some ecological factors with the associations of vegetation in British rivers. *Hydrobiologia*, **415**:117-122.
- Day, R.T., Keddy, P.A., McNeill, J. and Carleton, T. 1988. Fertility and disturbance gradients: a summary model for riverine marsh vegetation. *Ecology*, 69:1044–1054.
- Dembitsky, V.M.1996. Betaine ether linked glycerolipids: Chemistry and Biology. *Prog. Lipid Res.*, **35**:1–51.

- Dennison, W.C., Orth, R.J., Moore, K.A., Stevenson, J.C., Carter, V., Kollar, S., Bergstrom, P.W. and Batiuk, R.A. 1993. Assessing water with submersed aquatic vegetation. *BioSience*, 143:86–94.
- Deribessa, A. 2006. Groundwater and surface water interaction and geoenvironmental changes in the Ziway catchment. Ph.D thesis, Addis Ababa University, Ethiopia.
- De-Vicente, I., Amores, V. and Cruz-Pizarro, L. 2006. Instability of shallow lakes: A matter of the complexity of factors involved in sediment and water interaction. *Limnetica*, 25(1-2):253-270.
- Dewanji, A., Chanda, S., Si, L., Barik, S. and Matai, S. 1997. Extractability and nutritional value of leaf protein from tropical aquatic plants. *Plant Foods* for Human Nutrition, **50**:349-357.
- Dittrich, M., Kurz, P. and Wehrli, B. 2004. The role of autotrophic picocyanobacteria in\ calcite precipitation in an oligotrophic lake. *Journal Geomicrobiology*, 21:45-53.
- Drew, M. C. and Lynch, J. M. 1980. Soil anaerobiosis, microorganisms, and root function. Annual Review of Phytopathology, 18:37-66.
- Duarte, C. M. and Roff, D. A. 1991. Architectural and life history constraints to submersed macrophyte community structure: A simulation study. Aquat. Bot., 42:15-19.
- Duarte, C.M., Kalff, J. and Peters, R.H. 1986. Pattern in biomass and cover of aquatic macrophytes in lakes. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 43:1900–1908.
- Duarte. C. M. and Kalff, J. 1987. Weight-density relationship in submerged macrophytes. The importance of light and plant geometry. *Oecologia*, 72:612-617.

- Dubois, M., Gillies, K.A., Hamilton, J.K., Reebers, P.A. and Smith, F. 1956.
 Calorimetric methods for determination of sugars. *Analytical Chemistry*, 28: 350-356.
- Durako, M.J. and Moffler, M.D. 1985. Spatial influences on temporal variations in leaf growth and chemical composition of *Thalassia testudinum* Banks ex Konig in Tampa Bay.Florida. *Gulf Res. Rep.*, 8:43-49.
- Dutta, S., Mohanty, S., and Tripathy, B.C. 2009. Role of temperature stress on chloroplast biogenesis and protein import in pea. *Plant Physiol.*, **150**:1050-1061.
- Dykyjova, D. 1971. Production, vertical structure and light profiles in littoral stands of conenoses of *Sparganium erectum* L. *Preslia* , **45**:19-30.
- Edmondson, W. T. 1959. *Fresh Water Biology* 2nd ed., John Wiley and Sons, INC, New York. 1050-1056pp.
- Edmondson, W. T. 1966. Changes in the oxygen deficit of Lake Washington. Verh. Internat. Verein. Limnol., 16:153-158.
- Edmondson, W. T. and Hutchinson, G. E.1934. Yale north India expedition, article 9: Report on Rotatoria. *Mem. Conn. Acad. Sci.*, **91**:153-186.
- Edvardsen, A. and Okland, R.H. 2006. Variation in plant species composition in and adjacent to 64 ponds in south eastern Norwegian agricultural landscapes. *Aquatic Botany*, **85**:92–102.
- Edwards, P. 1980. *Food Potential of Aquatic Macrophytes*. International center for living aquatic resources management, Manila, Philippines.
- Egborge, A.B.M.1994. Water Pollution in Nigeria: Biodiversity and Chemistry of Warm River (1). Ben. Miller Books Limited, Nigeria, 331pp.
- El-Sarraf, W.M. 1995. Chemical analysis of some macrophytes in Mariut and Edku lakes, Egypt. *Alex. J. Agric. Res.*, **40**(1):255-271.

- Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), 2007. Final Survey of the Nation's lakes Field Operations Manual. Doc. EPA 841-B-07-004. Office of Water, Washington, D.C, 104pp.
- Esteves, B.D.S. and Suzuki, M.S. 2010. Limnological variables and nutritional content of submerged aquatic macrophytes in a tropical lagoon. *Acta. Limnol. Brasil.*, **22**(2):187-198.
- Esteves, F.A. 1988. Fundamentos de Limnologia Interciencia. Rio de Janeiro, 576pp.
- Esteves, F.A. 1998. Fundamentos de Limnologia. 2nd ed., Interciencia, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.
- FAO, 1993. Root and Tuber Crop Production. FAO Year Book, 47pp.
- Fasset, N.C. 1998. A Manual of Aquatic Plants. Agrobios, India.
- Feldmann, T. 2012. *The structuring role of lake conditions for aquatic macrophytes*.Ph.D thesis, Estonian University, Estonia.
- Fernández-Alaez, M., Fernández-Alaez, C. and Rodríguez, S. 2002. Seasonal changes in biomass of charophytes in shallow lakes in the northwest of Spain. *Aquatic Botany*, **72**:335-348.
- Findlay, C.S. and Houlahan, J. 1997. Anthropogenic correlates of species richness in southeastern Ontario wetlands. *Conserv. Biol.*, **11**:1000–1009.
- Fiorentini, R. and Galloppini, C. 1983. The protein from leaves. *Qual. Plant Foods Hum. Nutr.*, **32**:335-350.
- Forel, F. A. 1901. Hand Buch den Seckunde, Allgemeine Limnologie Stuttgart, 3:249.
- Foroughi, M., Najafi, P., Toghiani, A. and Honarjoo, N. 2010. Analysis of pollution removal from wastewater by *Ceratophyllum demersum*. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 9(14):2125-2128.
- Fourqurean, J.W. and Zieman, J.C. 1991. Photosynthesis, respiration and whole plant carbon budget of the seagrass, *Thalassia testudinum. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 69:161-170.

- Fox, S.E., Stieve, E., Valiela, I., Hauxwell, J. and McClelland, J. 2008. Macrophyte abundance in Waquoit Bay: effects of land-derived nitrogen loads on seasonal and multiyear biomass patterns. *Estuaries and Coasts*, **31**:532-541.
- Frankouich, T. A., Gainer, E. E., Zieman, J. C. and Wachnick, A.H .2006. Spatial and temporal distribution of epiphytic diatoms growing on *Thalassic testudinum* Banks ex Konigh. Relationship to waters quality. *Hydrobiology*, 560:259-271.
- Froend, R.H. and McComb, A.J. 1994. Distribution, productivity and reproductive phenology of emergent macrophytes in relation to water regimes at wetlands of south-western Australia. *Austalian Journal Marine Freshwater Research*, 45:1491-1508.
- Gangadevi, T. 1997. Environmental parameters on the growth of the iodine rich algae along south west coast of India. Ph.D thesis, University of Kerala.
- Gasith, A. and Hoyer, M.V. 1988. Structuring role of macrophytes in lakes.Pp. 381-392. In: *The Structuring Role of Submerged Macrophytes in Lakes*. (E. Jeppesen, Ma. Sondergaard, Mo. Sondergaard, and K. Christoffersen, eds.). Springer Verlag, New York, USA.
- Gecheva, G., Yurukova, L. and Cheshmedjiev, S. 2013. Patterns of aquatic macrophyte species composition and distribution in Bulgarian rivers 13. *Turkish Journal of Botany*, 37:99-110.
- Gerritsen, J., Carlson, R.E., Dycus, D.L., Faulkner, C., Gibson, G.R., Harcum, J. and Markowitz, S.A. 1998. *Lake and Reservoir Bioassessment and Biocriteria*. Technical guidance document. US Environmental Protection Agency, EPA 841-B-98-007. 10 chapters, appendices A-G.
- Ghavzan, N.J., Gunale, V.R. and Trivedy, R.K. 2006. Limnological evaluation of an urban fresh water river with special reference to phytoplankton. *Pollut. Res.* 25:259-268.
- Goher, M.E.M. 2002. *Chemical studies on the precipitation and dissolution of some chemical element in Lake Qarun.* Ph.D thesis, Al-Azhar University, Egypt.

- Goldman, C.R. and Horne, A. J. 1983. *Limnology*. International Student ed., McGrow-Hill. International Book Company, London, 197-220pp.
- Golterman, H. L. 2001. Phosphate release from anoxic sediments or 'What did Mortimer really write?' *Hydrobiologia*, **450**:99–106.
- Goncharova, S.N., Kostetsky, E.Y. and Sanina, N.M. 2004. The effect of seasonal shifts in temperature on the lipid composition of marine macrophytes. *Russ. J. Plant Physiol.*, **51**:169-175.
- Gopal, B. 1968. *Distribution and ecology of some Indian species of Marselia*. Ph.D thesis, Banarus Hindu University, Varanasi.
- Gopal, B.1987. Water Hyacinth: Biology, Ecology and Management. Elsevier, Amsterdam. 471pp.
- Gorham, E. 1974. The relationship between standing crop in sedge meadows and summer temperature. *J.Ecol.*, **62**:487-491.
- Grime, J.P. 1973. Competitive exclusion in herbaceous vegetation. *Nature*, **242**:344-347.
- Gupta, P.K. 1999. Soil, Plant, Water and Fertilizer Analysis. Agro Botanica, India 356-357pp.
- Gupta, S.K. and Gupta, R.C. 2006.*General and Applied Ichthyology (Fish and Fisheries)*. S. Chand and Campany Ltd. Ram Niger, New Delhi, 1130pp.
- Gustavo, G. C., Giselli Martins De, A. F. and Marina, S. S. 2012. Temporal variations in the primary productivity of *Eleocharis acutangula* (Cyperaceae) in a tropical wetland environment. *Brazilian Journal of Botany*, **35**(3):295-298.
- Håkanson, L. and Boulion, V.V. 2002. *The Lake Foodweb—Modelling Predation and Abiotic/Biotic Interactions*. Backhuys Publishers, Leiden, 344pp.
- Handoo, J. K. 1978. Ecological and production studies of some typical wetlands of Kashmir. Ph.D thesis, University of Kashmir, Srinagar.

- Handoo, J.K. and Kaul, V. 1982. Standing crop and nutrient dynamics in *Sparganium ramosum*. Huds in Kashmir. *Aquatic Botany*, **12**:375-387.
- Handoo, J.K. and Kaul, V. 1997. Factors affecting above ground production of macrophytes.In: *Recent Advances in Ecological Research of Kashmir*. (M.P. Sinha, ed.). A.P.H. Publishing Corporation, New Delhi.
- Hanson, J. M., Chambers, P. A. and Prepas, E. E. 1990. Selective foraging by the crayfish Orconectes virilise and its impact on macroinvertebrates. *Freshwater Biol.*, 24:69-80.
- Haroon, A.M., Szaniawska, A., Normant, M. and Janas, U. 2000. The biochemical composition of *Enteromorpha* spp. from the gulf of Gdansk coast on the southern Baltic Sea. *Ocean*, **42**:19-28.
- Harris, G.P. 1986. *Phytoplankton Ecology: Structure, Function and Fluctuations*. Chapman and Hall, London, 384pp.
- Harshley, D.K., Patil, S.G. and Singh, D.F. 1982. Limnological studies on a tropical fresh water fish tank of Jabalpur, India, I. *Geobios new reports*, 1 (2): 98-102.
- Hasalan, S. M. 1991. River Pollution-an Ecological Perspective. Great Britain, Belhaven.
- Hasan, M. R. and Chakrabarti, R. 2009. Use of algae and aquatic macrophytes as feed in small scale aquaculture: A review. *Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper* 531, FAO, Rome, 123 pp.
- Hawkins, S.J. and Hartnoll, R.G. 1983. Grazing of intertidal algae by marine herbivores. *Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. Ann. Rev.*, **21**:195-282.
- Hayes, F. R. 1957. On the variation in bottom fauna and fish yield in relation to trophic level and lake dimensions. *J. Fish. Res. Bd. Canada*, **14**(1):1-32.
- Heathwaite, A. L. and Johnes, P. J. 1995. Contribution of nitrogen species and phosphorus fractions to stream water quality in agricultural catchments. *Hydrol. Process.*, 10:971–983.

- Heegaard, E. 2004. Trends in aquatic macrophyte species turnover in Northern Ireland
 which factors determine the spatial distribution of local species turnover?
 Global *Ecology and Biogeography*, 13:397–408.
- Heegaard, E., Birks, H. H., Gibson, C. E., Smith, S. J. and Wolfe-Murphy, S. 2001. Species–environmental relationships of aquatic macrophytes in Northern Ireland. *Aquatic Botany*, **70**:175–223.
- Heikkinen, R.K., Leikola, N., Fronzek, S., Lampinen, R. and Toivonen, H. 2009. Predicting distribution patterns and recent northward range shift of an invasive aquatic plant *Elodea canadensis* in Europe. *BioRisk*, 2:1–32.
- Heino, J. and Toivonen, H. 2008. Aquatic plant biodiversity at high latitudes: patterns of richness and rarity in Finnish freshwater macrophytes. *Boreal Environmental Research*, 13:1–14.
- Henderson, R.J. and Sargent, J.R. 1989. Lipid composition and biosynthesis in ageing cultures of the marine cryptomonad, *Chroomonas salina*. *Phytochemistry*, 28:1355–1361.
- Hernandez, I., Andría, J. R., Christmas, M. and Whitton, B. A. 1999. Testing the allometric scaling of alkaline phosphatase activity to surface/volume ratio in benthic marine macrophytes. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol., 241:1-14.
- Hopson M, S., and Zimba, P. V. 2003. Temporal variations in biomass of submerged macrophytes in Okeechobee, Florida. *Journal of Aquatic Plant Management*, **31**:76-81.
- Horne, A.J. and Goldman, C.R. 1994. Aquatic macrophytes and littoral productivity. In: *Limnology*, 2nd ed., McGraw-Hill, New York, 1-627pp.
- Howarth, R.W. 1988. Nutrients limitation of net primary production in marine ecosystems. *Ann. Rev.Ecol.*, **19**:89-110.
- Hrivnak, R., Otahelova, H. and Gomory, D. 2009b. Seasonal dynamics of macrophyte abundance in two regulated streams. *Cent. Eur. J. Biol.*, **4**:241-249.

- Hrivnak, R., Otahelova, H. and Jarolimek, I. 2006. Diversity of aquatic macrophytes in relation to environmental factors in the Slatina river (Slovakia). *Biologia*, 61:156–168.
- Hrivnak, R., Otahelova, H. and Valachovic, M. 2009a. Macrophyte distribution and ecological status of the Turiec river (Slovakia): changes after seven years. *Arch. Biol. Sci.*, *Belgrade*, **61** (2):297-306.
- Huang, P., Han, B. and Liu, Z. 2007. Floating-leaved macrophyte (*Trapa quadrispinosa* Roxb) beds have significant effects on sediment resuspension in Lake Taihu, China *Hydrobiologia*, **581**:189-193.
- Hudee, I., Kosel, V. and Rozloznik, M. 1995. Human impacts on eutrophication and extinction of Jastericie lake. *Ekologia* (Brat-Islova), **14**(4): 459-466.
- Hudon, C. 2004. 'Shift in wetland plant composition and biomass following low-level episodes in the St. Lawrence river: Looking into the future'. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.*, **61**:603–617.
- Hudon, C., Lalonde, S. and Gagnon, P. 2000. Ranking the effects of site exposure, plant growth form, water depth, and transparency on aquatic plant biomass. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.*, **57**(Suppl.1):31–42.
- Hussain, M. 2000. Systematic Geography of Jammu and Kashmir. Rawat Publications Jaipur and New Delhi.
- Hutchison, G. E. 1967. *A Treatise on Limnology*. Ist ed., John Willy and Sons, New York, USA.
- Hwang, Y.H., Fan, C.W. and Yin, M.H. 1996. Primary production and chemical composition of emergent aquatic macrophytes, *Schenoplectus muconatus*, *S.robusts* and *Sparganium Fallax* in Lake Yuan Yang, Tiwan. *Bot.Bull.Acad.Sin.*, **37**(4):265-273.
- Idestam-Almquist, J. and Kautsky, L. 1995. Plastic responses in morphology of Potamogeton pectinatus L. to sediment and abovesediment conditions at two sites in the northern Baltic proper. *Aquatic Botany*, **52**:205-216.

- Idowu, E.O., Ugwumba, A.A.A., Edward, J.B. and Oso, J.A. 2013. Study of the seasonal variation in the physico-chemical parameters of a tropical reservoir. *Greener Journal of Physical Sciences*, 3 (4):142-148.
- Iqbal, M., Kazmi, A. and Shoukat, S. 1990. A multivariate analysis of seasonal variation in zooplankton composition of Hub Lake. *Pakistan J. Zool.*, 22 (2):123-131.
- Ishaq, M. and Kaul, V. 1988. Ca and Mg in Dal lake, a high altitude marl lake in Kashmir Himalayas. *Int.Revue. ges. Hydrobiol.*, **73**(4):434-439.
- Ishaq, M. and Kaul, V. 1989. Phosphorus load concentration relationship in Dal lake, a high altitude marl lake in the Kashmir Himalayas. *Int. Revue. ges. Hydrobiol.*, **74** (3):321-328.
- Jafari, M., Zare Chahouki, M.A., Tavili, A., Azamivand, H. and Zahedi, A.G. 2003. Effective environmental factors in the distribution of vegetation types in Poshtkouh rangelands of Yazd Province (Iran). J. Arid Environ., 56:627– 641.
- Jaikumar, M., Chellaiyan, D., Kanagu, L., Senthil Kumar, P. and Stella, C. 2011. Distribution and succession of aquatic macrophytes in Chilka Lake. *India Journal of Ecology and the Natural Environment*, 3(16):499-508.
- James, W. F. and Barko, J. W. 1990. Macrophyte influences on the zonation of sediment accretion and composition in a north-temperate reservoir. Arch. Hydrobiol., 2:129-142.
- Jayasankar, R. 1999. Seasonal varaiation in the biochemiocal constituents of *Gracilaria* sp. with reference to growth. *Indian Journal of Marine Sciences*, 28:464-66.
- Jeelani, G. and Shah, A.Q. 2006. Geochemical characteristics of water and sediment from the Dal lake, Kashmir Himalaya: constraints on weathering and anthropogenic activity. *Environ Geol.*, **50**:12–30.
- Jeppesen, E., Sondergaard, M. and Christoffersen, K. 1998. The structuring role of submerged macrophytes in lakes. *Ecological Series*, **131**:423pp.
- Jhingran, V.G. 1982. Fish and Fisheries of India. Hindustan Publ. Corp., India, 954pp.
- Jones, J. B., Fisher, S. G. and Grimm N. B. 1995. Nitrification in the hyporheic zone of a desert stream ecosystem. *J. N. Am. Benthol. Soc.*, **14**:249-258.
- Jones, J. L., Colins, A. L., Nada, P. S. and Sear, D. A. 2010. The relationship between fine sediment and macrophytes in Rivers. *Rivers Research and Applications*, **20**:111-125.
- Jones, J.I., Li, W. and Maberly, S.C. 2003. Area, altitude and aquatic plant diversity. *Ecography*, **26**:411–420.
- Jordan, C.F. 1985. Nutrient Cycling in Tropical Forest Ecosystems. John Willey & Sons, London.
- Joshi, G. 1987. Diurnal studies of physico-chemical properties of limnological importance. Ph. D thesis, Vidhyalaya, Sagar, India.
- Jylhä, K., Tuomenvirta, H. and Ruosteenoja, K. 2004. Climate change projections for Finland during 21st century. *Boreal Environment Research*, **9**:127–152.
- Kak, A.M. 1978. *Taxonomic studies of aquatic angiosperms of Kashmir*. Ph.D thesis, Kashmir University, Srinagar.
- Kak, A.M. 1981. Floristic composition, structure and ecology of some high altitude lakes of Kashmir Himalayas. Pp. 106-108. In: *Ecology and Resource Management in Tropics*. (R.S. Ambasht, and H.N. Pandey, eds.). *Proc. Silver Jubilee Symp. Trop. Ecol.*, Varanasi, U.P.
- Kak, A.M. 1990. Aquatic and wetland vegetation of Kashmir Himalaya. Journal of Economic and Taxanomic Botany, 4:1-14.

- Kalesh, N. S. 2003. Phycochemical distinctiveness of selected marine macrophytes of Kerala Coast. Ph.D thesis, Cochin University of Science and Technology, Kochi.
- Kalff, J. 2002. *Limnology: Inland Water Ecosystems*. Prentice Hall Publisher, California, 592pp.
- Kalita, P., Mukhopadhyay, P. K. and Mukherjee, A. K. 2007. Evaluation of the nutritional quality of four unexplored aquatic weeds from northeast India for the formulation of cost-effective fish feeds. *Food Chemistry*, 103(1):204-209.
- Kamran, T. M., Abdus, S., Muhammed, L. and Tasveer, Z. 2003. Study of the seasonal variations in the physicochemical and biological aspects of Indus River Pakistan. *Pakistan Journal of Biological Sciences*, 6 (21):1795–1801.
- Kaul, A.K 1987. A Geography of Jammu and Kashmir. Ambanju Publications, Srinagar, 1-12, 17-18, 63-64pp
- Kaul, S. 1982. Community architecture, biomass and production in some typical wetlands of Kashmir. *Indian J. Ecol.*, 9:320-329.
- Kaul, S. and Trisal, C.L.1984. Chemical and physical characteristics of some wetland waters Kashmir. Acta. Hydrochem. et. Hydrobiol., 12(2):137-144.
- Kaul, V. 1971.Production and ecology of some macrophytes of Kashmir lakes. *Hydrobiolgia*, **12**:63-69.
- Kaul, V. 1977. Limnological survey of Kashmir lakes with reference to tropic status and conservation. *Int. J. Ecol. Environ. Sci.*, **3:**29-44.
- Kaul, V. and Bakaya, U. 1976. The noxious floating Lemna-Savinia aquatic weed complex in Kashmir. Pp. 188-192. In: *Aquatic Weeds in South East Asia*. (C.K. Varshney, and J. Rzoska, eds.). Junk, The Hague, Netherlands.
- Kaul, V. and Handoo, J. K. 1980. Water characteristics of some freshwater bodies of Kashmir. *Current Trends in Life Science*, 9:221-246.

- Kaul, V. and Handoo, J.K. 1993. Ecology and management of some typical wetlands of Kashmir. Pp. 112-130. In: *Ecology and Pollution of Indian Lakes and Reservoirs*. (P.C. Mishra, and R.K. Trivedy, eds.). Ashish Publishing House, New Delhi.
- Kaul, V., Fotedar, D. N., Pandit, A. K. and Trisal, C. L. 1978. A comparative study of plankton populations of some typical freshwater bodies of Jammu and Kashmir. Pp. 249-269. In: *Environmental Physiology and Ecology of Plants*. (D. N. Sen, and R. Bansal, eds.). B. Singh & M. Pal Singh, Dehradun, India.
- Kaul, V., Isaac, M. and Pandita, S.N. 1985. Effects of flushing rate on phosphorus retension in an aquatic biome. *Environ. Congr.*, 360-382.
- Kaul, V., Trisal, C. L. and Kaul, S. 1980. Mineral removal potential of some macrophytes in two lakes of Kashmir. J. Indian Bot. Soc., 59:108-118.
- Kaul, V., Tristal, C. L. and Handoo, J. K. 1978. Distribution and production of macrophytes in some aquatic bodies of Kashmir. Pp. 313–334. In: *Glimpses* of Ecology. (J.S. Singh, and B. Gopal eds.). Prakash Publishers, Jaipur, India.
- Keeley, J.E. and Sandquist, D.R. 1991. Diurnal photosynthesis cycle in CAM and non-CAM seasonal-pool aquatic macrophytes. *Ecology*, **72**:716-727.
- Khaliq, R., Ali, S.A., Zafar, T., Farooq, M., Bilal A. and Kaur, P. 2012. Physicochemical status of Wular lake in Kashmir. *Journal of Chemical, Biological* and Physical Sciences, 3 (1):631-636.
- Khan, M. A. and Shah, M. A. 2010. Studies on biomass changes and nutrient lock-up efficiency in a Kashmir Himalayan wetland ecosystem, India. *Journal of Ecology and the Natural Environment*, 2(8):147-153.
- Khan, M. A. and Zutshi, D. P. 1980.Contribution to high altitude limnology of Himalayan system.I. Limnology and primary productivity of plant community in Nilnag lake Kashmir. *Hydrobiologia*, **75**:103-112.

- Khedr, A.H. and El-Demerdash, M.A. 1997. Distribution of aquatic plants in relation to environmental factors in the Nile Delta. *Aquat. Bot.*, **56**:75-86.
- Kinawy, S.M.A.1974. *Hydrography and nutrient salts in the water of Lake Edku, Egypt.* M. Sc dissertation, Alex, Univ., Egypt, 203pp.
- Kinnear, A. and Garnett, P. 1999. Water chemistry of the wetlands of the Yellagonga regional park, Western Australia. *Journal of the Royal Society of Western Australia*, 82:79-85.
- Kizevetter, I.V., Sukhoveeva, M.V. and Shmel'kova, L.P. 1981. Promyslovye morskie vodorosli i travy Dal'nevostochnykh morei (Legkaya i pishchevaya promyshlennost). Industrial Marine Algae and Grasses of Far East Seas, Moscow.
- Knight, J.A., Anderson, S and Rawle, J.M. 1972. Chemical basis of the sulfophosphovanillin reaction for estimating total serum lipids. *Clin. Chem.* 18(3):199-202.
- Kors, A., Vilbaste, S., Kairo, K., Pall, P., Piirsoo, K., Truu, J. and Viik, M. 2012. Temporal changes in the composition of macrophytes communities and environmental factors governing the distribution of aquatic plants in an unregulated lowland river (Emajogi, Estonia). *Boreal Environment Research*, 17:460-472.
- Koskimies, S.K. and Nyberg, H. 1987. Effects of temperature and light on the lipids of *Sphagnum magellanicum*. *Phytochemistry*, **26**:2213-21.
- Kraemer, G.P. and Alberte, R.S. 1993. Age-related patterns of metabolism and biomass in subterranean tissues of *Zostera marina* (eelgrass). *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, **95**:193-203.
- Kufel, L. and Kufel, I. 2002. Chara beds acting as nutrient sinks in shallow lakes-a review. *Aquat. Bot.*, **72**:249-260.

- Kumar, A. and Tripathi, S. 2004. Zooplanktonic diversity in relation to aquaculture in some ponds of Durgbilari city, Chattisgarh state. *Nat. Env. and Pollution Tech.*, 3(2):175-178.
- Kumar, M. and Singh, J. 1987. Environmental impacts of aquatic weeds and their classification. Proceedings of the Workshop on Management of Aquatic Weeds, Amritsar, Punjab, India.
- Kumar, R. 2009. Ecological diversity and nutrient dynamics of dominant macrophytes in Hokersar, wetland Kashmir. Ph.D thesis, University of Kashmir Srinagar.
- Kumar, R. and Pandit, A. K. 2008. Effect of water level fluctuations on distribution of emergent vegetation in Hokerser wetland, Kashmir. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.*, India, Sect B, **78**:227–233.
- Kumar, R. and Pandit, A.K. 2005. Community architecture of macrophytes in Hokersar wetland, Kashmir. *Indian J. Environ. and Ecoplan.*,10(3):565-573.
- Kumar, R. and Pandit, A.K. 2007. Physico-chemical features of water in Hokersar wetland reserve in Kashmir Himalaya. *Poll. Res.*, 26(4):649-654.
- Kundangar, M. R. D. and Abubakar, A. 2004. Thirty years of ecological research on Dal lake, Kashmir. J. Res. & Dev., 4:45-57.
- Kundangar, M. R. D. and Sarwar, S. G. 1997. Dal lake environment. Urban Environmental Engineering Deptt. Govt. of J & K, Srinagar, 37pp.
- Kvet, J. 1971. Growth analysis approach to the production ecology of reedswamp plant communities. *Hidrobiologia*, **12**:15-40.
- Kvet, J., Pokorny, J. and Cizkova, H. 2008. Carbon accumulation by macrophytes of aquatic and wetland habitats with standing water. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* India. B 78(spl):91-98.

- Lachavanne, J.B. 1985. The influence of accelerated eutrophication on the macrophytes of Swiss lakes: Abundance and distribution. *Verh. Internat. Verein. Limnol.*, 22:2950-2955.
- Lacoul, P. 2004. Aquatic macrophyte distribution in response to physical and chemical environment of the lakes along an altitudinal gradient in the Himalayas, Nepal. Ph.D. thesis, Dalhousie University, Halifax, Canada.
- Lacoul, P. and Freedman, B. 2006. Environmental influences on aquatic plants in freshwater ecosystems. *Environmental Reviews*, **14**:89–136.
- Lacoul, P. and Freedman, B. 2006a. Relationships between aquatic plants and environmental factors along a steep Himalayan altitudinal gradient. Aquat. Bot., 84:3-16.
- Lambert, S.J. 2007. The environmental range and tolerance limits of British *stoneworts* (Charophytes). Ph.D thesis, University of East Anglia, Norwich.
- Lapointe, B. E. 1981. The effects of light and nitrogen on growth, pigment content, and biochemical composition of *Gracilaria foliifera* v. *Angustissima* (Gigartinales, Rhodophyta). J. Phycol., **17**:90–95.
- Larcher, W. and Thomaser-Thin, W. 1988. Seasonal changes in energy content and storage patterns of Mediterranean sclerophylls in a northern-most habitat. *Acta Oecol. (Oecol. Plant.)*, 9:271-83.
- Larson, J.S. and Golet, F.C.1982. Model of freshwater wetland changes in south eastern New England. Pp. 181-185. In: Wetlands: Ecology and Management (B. Gopal, R.E. Turner, R.G. Wetzel, and D.F. Whigain, eds.). National Inst. Ecol. Jaipur, India.
- Less, D.H. 1988. Breeding systems, population structure and evaluation in hydrophilous angiosperms. *Ann.Mo.Bot.Gard.*, **75**:819-835.
- Lewis, W. M. 2000. Basis for the protection and management of tropical lakes. *Lakes Reserv. Res. Manage.*, **5**:35-48.

- Lichtentaler, H. K. and Wellburn, A. R. 1983. Determinations of total carotenoids and chlorophylls a and b of leaf extracts in different solvents. *Bioch. Soc. Trans.*, 603:591-592.
- Lindholm, T., Ronnholm, E. and Haggqvist, K. 2008. Changes due to invasion of Myriophyllum sibiricum in a shallow lake in Åland, SW Finland. Aquatic Invasions, 3(1):10-13.
- Lobban, C. S. and Harrison, P. J. 1997. *Seaweed Ecology and Physiology*.Cambridge\ University Press, Cambridge. 260pp.
- Lodge, D.M.1991. Herbivory on freshwater macrophytes. Aquatic botany, 41:195-224.
- Lorman, J. G. and Magnuson, J. J. 1978. The role of crayfishes in aquatic ecosystems. *Fisheries*, **3**:8-10.
- Lougheed, V.L., Crosbie, B. and Chow-Fraser, P. 2001. Primary determinants of macrophyte community structure in 62 marshes across the Great Lakes basin: latitude, land use, and water quality effects. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.*, 58:1603–1612.
- Lowry, O.H., Rosebrough, N.J., Farr, A.L. and Randall, R.J. 1951. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **193**:265–275.
- Lumbreras, A., Olives, A., Quintana, J. R., Pardo, C. and Molina, J. A. 2009. Ecology of aquatic *Ranunculus* communities under the Mediterranean climate. *Aquat. Bot.*, **90:5**9-66.
- Luoto, M., Virkkala, R. and Heikkinen, R.K. 2007 The role of land cover in bioclimatic models depends on spatial resolution. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 16:34–42.
- Luu, K.T. and Getsinger, K.D. 1990. Seasonal biomass and carbohydrate alocation in waterhyacinth. J. Aquat. Plant Manage., 28:3-10.
- Maberly, S.C. and Madsen, T.V. 2002. Freshwater angiosperm carbon concentrating mechanisms: processes and patterns. *Func. Plant Biol.*, **29**:393-405.

- Madsen, D. J., Wersal, M. R., Tyler, M. and Gerard P. 2006. The distribution and abundance of aquatic macrophytes in Swan lake and Middle lake, Minnesota. J. Freshwater Ecol., 21:421-429.
- Madsen, J.D. and Adams, M.S. 1988. The germination of *Potamogeton pectinatus* tubers: Environmental control by temperature and light. *Can. J. Botany*, 36:23-31.
- Magee, T.K., Ernst, T.L., Kentula, M.E., and Dwire, K.A. 1999. Floristic comparison of freshwater wetlands in an urbanizing environment. *Wetlands*, 19:477– 489.
- Magurran, A.E. 2004. Measuring Biological Diversity. Blackwell Publishers, Oxford, UK, 256pp.
- Mahar, M.A. 2003. *Ecology and taxonomy of plankton of Manchhar lake, Sindh, Pakistan.* Ph.D thesis, University of Sindh, Pakistan.
- Mahboob, S. and Sheri, A.N. 2001. Influence of fertilizers and artificial feed on the seasonal variation of planktonic life in fish pond. *Pakistan J. Biol. Sci.*, 8:125-32.
- Mahboob, S., Sheri, A.N., Sial, M.B., Javed, M. and Afzal, M. 1988. Seasonal changes in physico-chemistry and planktonic life of a commercial fish farm. *Pakistan J. Agri. Sci.*, 25:22-27.
- Maine, M. A., Sune, N., Hadad, H., Sanchez, G. and Bonetto, C. 2006. Nutrient and metal removal in a constructed wetland for wastewater treatment from a metallurgic industry. *Ecological Engineering*, 26:341-347.
- Makela, S., Huitu, E. and Arvola, L. 2004. Spatial patterns in aquatic vegetation composition and environmental covariates along chains of lakes in the Kokemäenjoki watershed (S. Finland). *Aquatic Botany*, 80:253–269.
- Margalef, R. 1958. Trophic typology versus biotic typology as exemplified in the regionallimnology of Northern Spain. Verh.Int. Verin Theor. Angew Limnol., 13:339-349.

Margalef, R. 1983. Limnología. Omega, Barcelona, Spain.

- Marion, L. and Paillisson, J.M. 2003. A mass balance assessment of the contribution of floating-leaved macrophytes in nutrient stocks in an eutrophic macrophyte-dominated lake. *Aquat. Bot.*, **75**:249-260.
- Mark, M. B. and Graham, J. D. 1976. Primary productivity and mineral cycling in aquatic macrophyte communities of the Chowan river, North Carolina. Project report Carolina University Greenville, North Carolina.
- McCarthy, J.J. 1981. Uptake of the major nutrients by estuarine plants. Pp.139-163.In: *Estruaries and Nutrient.* (B.J. Neilson, and L.E. Cronini, eds.). Humana press,USA.
- Mehner, T., Diekmann, M., Gonsiorczyk, T., Kasprzak, P., Koschel, R., Krienitz, L., Rumpf, Schulz, M. and Wauer, G. 2008. Rapid recovery from eutrophication of a stratified lake by disruption of internal nutrient load. *Ecosystems*, 11:1142-1156.
- Melanie V. C. 2007. Aids for the conservation of Great Lakes coastal marshes: Development of a macrophyte index and a novel macrophyte sampling protocol. M.Sc dissertation, McMaster University, Canada.
- Mills, E.L., Leach, J.H., Carlton, J.T. and Secor, C.L. 1993. Exotic species in the Great Lakes: a history of biotic crisis and anthropogenic introductions. *Journal of Great Lakes Research*, **19**(1):1-54.
- Milner, C. and Hyges, R.E.1968. *Methods for the Measurement of the Primary Production of Grassland*. IBP Handbook No. 6. Oxford Blackwell.
- Mini. 2003. Studies on bio organics and trace metals in the associated flora of a lotic ecosystem –Vamanapuram river. Ph.D thesis, University of Kerala.
- Ministry of Environment and Forests (MoEF), 1990. Wetlands of India: A Directory. MoEF, Government of India, New Delhi.
- Mir, A. A. 2009. Composition and distribution of macrophytes in Hokersar A wetland of international importance in Kashmir Himalaya. *The*

International Journal of Climate Change: Impacts and Responses, **1**(4):23-35.

- Mir, S. S. 2007. *Trophic status of Wular lake, Kashmir*. Ph.D thesis University of Kashmir Srinagar.
- Mir, S. S. and Pandit, A. K. 2008. Macrophytic features of Wular lake, a Ramsar Site in Kashmir. J. Res. & Dev., 8:1-12.
- Mishra, P.K. and Jha, S.K. 1996. Effect of water pollution on Biochemistry of Hydrophytes. *Pollution Research*, **15**(4):411-412.
- Misra, R. 1968. *Ecology Workbook*. Oxford and I.B.H Publishing Co., New Delhi, India.
- Mitsch, W. J. and Gosselink, J.G. 2000. *Wetlands* 3rd ed., John Wiley and Sons Inc, Danvers, USA.
- Mitsch, W. J., Wu, X., Nairn, R., Weihe, P., Wang, N., Deal, R. and Boucher, C. E.1998. 'Creating and Restoring Wetlands'. *BioScience*, 48 (12):1019– 1030.
- Mitsch, W.J. and Gosselink, J.G. 1986. Wetlands. Van Nostrand Reinhold. New York. 539pp.
- Mitsch, W.J. and Gosselink, J.G. 2007. Wetlands. John Wiley and Sons, New York, USA.
- Mohanty, S., Baishna, B.G. and Tripathy, C. 2006.Light and dark modulation of chlorophyll biosynthetic genes in response to temperature. *Planta*, **224**:692-699.
- Moore, J. W. 1980. Attached and planktonic algal communities in some inshore areas of Great Bear lake. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, **58**(21): 2294-2308.
- Mosello, R., Arisci, S. and Bruni, P. 2004. Lake Bolsena (Central Italy): An updating study on its water chemistry. *J. Limnol.*, **63**(1): 1-12.

- Moss, B., McGowan, S. and Carvalho, L. 1994. Determinations of phytoplankton crops by top-down and bottom-up mechanisms in a group of English lakes, the west Midland meres. *Limnol. Oceanogr.*, **39**:1020–1029.
- Moyle, J.B. 1945. Some chemical factors influencing the distribution of aquatic plants in Minnesota. *Amer. Midland Natt.*, **34**:402-426.
- Mukherjee, S. K. 1932. Bathymetric survey of Dal lake of Kashmir with special reference to the penetration of active rays to different depths of water and their effect on the incidence of vegetation. *Proc. 19th Indian Sci. Congr.*, Pt. III, Abstract, 328 pp.
- Mukherjee, S. K. 1934. The charophytes of the Dal lake, Kashmir. *Proc. Indian Sci. Congr.*, **21**:295.
- Munawar, M. 1970. Limnological studies on freshwater ponds at Hyderabad, India. The distribution of unicellular and colonial phytoplankton in the polluted and the unpolluted environments. *Hydrobiologia*, **36**:105-128.
- Murphy, K. J. 2002. Plant communities and plant diversity in soft water lakes of Northern Europe. *Aquat. Bot.*, **73:**287-324.
- Mustapha, M. K. and Omotosho, J.S. 2005. An assessment of the physico-chemical properties of Moro lake, Kwata State, Nigeria. *African Journal of Applied Zoology and Environmental Biology*, 7:73-77.
- Mwaitega, S.R. 2003. *Limnological studies of floodplain lakes Ruwe and Uba, Rufiji river, Tanzania.* M.Sc dissertation, University of Dar Es Salaam, Tanzania.
- Nandan, S.N and Patel, R. J. 1992. *Ecological studies of Algae: Aquatic Ecology*. Ashish House, Publishers, New Delhi, 69-99pp.
- Nassar, S.A.K. and Dutta-Munshi, J. 1975. Studies on primary production in a freshwater pond. *Jap. J. Ecol.*, **25**(1):21-23.
- National Academy of Sciences (NAS), 1984. Making Aquatic Weeds Useful: Some Perspectives for Developing Countries. National Academy of Sciences: Washington, DC,175pp.

- Nazneen, S. 1980. Influence of hydrological factors on the seasonal abundance of phytoplankton in Keenjhar lake. *Int. Rev. ges hydrobiol.*, **65** (20):269-282.
- Nekrasova, G.F., Ronzhina, D.A., Maleva, M.G. and P'yankov, V.I. 2003. Photosynthetic metabolism and activity of carboxylating enzymes in emergent, floating, and submerged leaves of hydrophytes. *Russian Journal* of Plant Physiology, **50**: 57-67.
- Nelson, M.M., Phleger, C.F. and Nichols, P.D. 2002. Seasonal lipid composition in macroalgae of the north-eastern Pacific Ocean. *Bot. Mar.*, **45**:58-65.
- Neue, H.U., Gaunt, J.L., Wang, Z.P., Becker-Heidmann, P. and Quijano, C. 1997. Carbon in tropical wetlands. *Geoderma*, **79**:163-185.
- Nichols, S.A. and Shaw, B.H. 1983. Physical, chemical and biological control of aquatic macrophytes. *Lake Restoration, Protection and Management*. Proc.2nd Ann. Conf. N. Amer. Lk. Manage. Soc., 1982.Vancouver, British Columbia, EPA 404/5-83-001.U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Washington, DC, 181-192pp.
- Nikolic, L. J., Cobanovic, K. and Lazic, D. 2007. N. Peltata (Gmel.) Kunt., M. spicatum L. and C. demersum L. Biomass dynamics in the Lake Provala (theVojvodina Province, Serbia), Cent. Eur. J. Biol., 2:156-168.
- Nikolic, L., Pajevic, S. and Ljevnaic, B. 2009. Primary production dynamics of dominant hydrophytes in Lake Provala (Serbia). - *Central European Journal of Biology*, 4(2):250–257.
- Nurminen, L. 2003. Macrophyte species composition reflecting water quality changes in adjacent water bodies of Lake Hiidenvesi, Finland. Ann. Bot. Fenn., 40:199–208.
- Oben, B.O. 2000. Limnological assessment of the impact of agricultural and domestic effluent on three manmade lakes in Ibadan, Nigeria. Ph.D thesis, University of Ibadan, Nigeria.

- Odum, E.P. 1984. *Fundamentals of Ecology*. 3rd ed., W.B. Sawnders Company Toronto, Canada.
- Odum, E.P. and Barrett, G.W. 2008. *Fundamentals of Ecology*. 5th ed., Thomson Brooks Australia and Affiliated East West Press Pvt. Ltd. New Delhi,424-432pp.
- Oertli, B., Joye, A. D., Castella, E., Juge, R. and J. B. Lachavanne, 2000. Diversite biologique et typologie ecologique des e tangs et petits lacs de Suisse. Universite de Geneve, office federalde l Environnement, des Forets et du Paysage (OFEFP), Geneve, Switzerland.
- Ogato, T. 2007. Dynamics of phytoplankton in relation to physico-chemical factors in Lake Bishoftu, Ethiopia. M.Sc. thesis, Addis Ababa University, Ethopia.
- Okbah, M. A. and El-Gohary, S. E. 2002. Physical and chemical characteristics of Lake Edku water, Egypt. *Mediterranean Marine Science*, **3**(2):27-39.
- Olele, N. F. 2012. Nutrient composition of macrophytes harvested from in Onah lake. *Nigerian Journal of Agriculture, Food and Environment*, **8**(2):18-20.
- Olson, S. 1950. Aquatic plants and hydrospheric factors.I. Aquatic plants in southwest Jutland, Denmark. *Svensk Botanisk Tidskriff*, **44**:1-34.
- Orduna- Rojas, J., Robledo, D. and Dawes, C.J. 2002. Studies on the tropical agarophyte *Gracilaria cornea* J. Agardh (Rhodophyte, Gracilariales) from Yucatan, Mexico.1. Seasonal physiological and biochemical responses. *Bot. Mar.*, **45**:453-458.
- Ortiz, J., Romero, N., Robert, P., Araya, J., Lopez-Hernández, J., Bozzo, C.E., Navarrete, C.E., Osorio, A. and Rios, A. 2006. Dietary fiber, amino acid, fatty acid and tocopherol contents of the edible macroalgaes *Ulva lactuca* and *Durvillaea antarctica*. *Food Chemistry*, **99**:98-104.
- Otsuki, A. and Wetzel, R. G. 1972. Co-precipitation of phosphate with carbonates in a marł lake. *Limnol. Oceanogr.*, **17:**763-767.

- Otsuki, A. and Wetzel, R.G. 1974. Calcium and total alkalinity budget and calcium carbonate precipitation of a small hardwater lake. *Arch. Hydrobiol.*, **73:**14-30.
- Paliwal, P.P. 1984. An ecological study of Fateh Sagar lake (Udaipur) with special reference to macrophytic vegetation. Ph.D thesis, University of Udaipur.
- Pandit, A. K. 1980. Biotic factor and food chain structure in some typical wetlands of Kashmir. Ph.D thesis, University of Kashmir, Srinagar-190006, J & K, India.
- Pandit, A. K. 1984. Role of macrophytes in the aquatic ecosystems and management of freshwater resources. *Journal of Environmental Management*, **18:**73-78.
- Pandit, A. K. 1992. Macrophytes as a component of Dal lake ecosystem. Pp. 45-67.In: Aquatic Ecology. (S. R. Mishra, and D. N. Saksena, eds.). AshishPublishing House, New Delhi, India.
- Pandit, A. K. 1993. Dal lake ecosystem in Kashmir Himalaya: Ecology and management. Pp. 131-202. In: *Ecology and Pollution of Indian Lakes and Reservoirs*. (P. C. Mishra, and R. K. Trivedy, eds.). Ashish Publishing House, New Delhi, India.
- Pandit, A. K. 1998. Plankton dynamics in freshwater wetlands of Kashmir. Pp. 22-68.
 In: *Ecology of Polluted Waters and Toxicology* (K. D. Mishra, ed.).
 Technoscience Publications, Jaipur, India.
- Pandit, A. K. 1999. *Freshwater Ecosystems of the Himalaya*. Parthenon Publishing, New York, London.
- Pandit, A. K. 2002. Freshwater biological resources of Kashmir Himalaya, Pp. 123-174. In: *Natural Resources of Western Himalaya* (A. K. Pandit, ed.).Valley Book House, Srinagar-190006, J and K.
- Pandit, A. K. 2008. Biodiversity of wetlands in Kashmir Himalaya. Proc. Nat.Acad. Sci., 78 (spl. Issue):29-51.

- Pandit, A. K. and Kaul, V. 1982. Trophic structure of some typical wetlands.Pp. 5582. In: Wetlands Ecology and Management, part (II). (B. Gopal, R.E. Turner, R.G. Wetzel and D.F. Whigam, eds.). Natn. Inst. Ecol. and Interm. Sci. Publ. Jaipur, India.
- Pandit, A. K. and Qadri, M.Y. 1986. Nutritive values of some aquatic life-forms of Kashmir. *Environ. Conserv.*, 13(3):260-262.
- Pandit, A. K. and Yousuf, A. R. 2002. Trophic status of Kashmir Himalayan lakes as depicted by water chemistry. J. Res. & Dev., 2:11-12.
- Pankhurst, H. 2005. Patterns in the distribution of aquatic macrophytes in Georgian Bay, Ontario. Final project report, McMaster University, Hamilton, New Zealand.
- Parashar, C., Dixit, S. and Shrivastava, R. 2006. Seasonal variations in physicochemical characteristics in Upper lake of Bhopal. Asian J. Exp. Sci., 20(2):297-302.
- Partanen, S., Luoto, M. and Hellsten, S. 2009. Habitat level determinants of emergent macrophyte occurrence, extension, change in two large boreal lakes in Finland. *Aquatic Botany*, **90**:261–268.
- Penha, J.M.F., Da Silva, C.J. and Bianchini, \I. (Jr).1999. Productivity of the aquatic macrophyte *Pontederia lanceolata* Nvtt. (Pontederiaceae) on floodplains of the Pantanal Mato-grossense, Brazil. *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, 7:155-163.
- Peters, J. A. and Lodge, D. M. 2009. Littoral zone. pp. 18- 27. In: Lake Ecosystem Ecology. (G. E. Likens, ed.). Elsevier, USA.
- Pilon, J. and Santamaria, L. 2002. Clonal variation in the thermal response of the submerged aquatic macrophyte *Potamogeton pectinatus*. *Ecology*, **90**:141-152.
- Pip, E.1979. Survey of the ecology of submerged aquatic macrophytes in central Canada. *Aquat. Bot.*, **7**:339-357.

- Pompeo, M.L.M. and Moschini-Carlos, V. 1996. Seasonal variation of the density of the macrophyte *Scirpus cubensis* (Poepp and Kunth) (Cyperaceae) in the Lagoa do Inferno, State of Sao Paulo, Brazil. *Limnetica*, 12:17–23.
- Popova, O.F., Slemnev, N.N., Popova, I.A., and Maslova, T.G. 1984. The content of plastid pigments in plants of the Gobi desert and the Karakums. *Bot. Zh.* (Leningrad), **69**:334–344.
- Prasannakumari, A.A. 2006. Studies on water, sediment and associated flora of Neyyar River. Ph. D Thesis, University of Kerala.
- Prasannakumari, A.A. and Gangadevi, T. 2012. Biochemical components of the selected macroflora associated with the Neyyar, Thiruvananthapuram, Kerala, India. *International Journal of Environmental Sciences* 2 (4):1998-2005.
- Prasannakumari, A.A., Arathy, M.S. and Ganga Devi, T. 2000. Bio-geo-chemical studies of a temple pond with reference to macroflora. *Pollution Research*, 19(4):623-631.
- Price, P. W., Bouton, C. E., Gross, P., McPheron, B. A., Thompson, J. N. and Weis, A. E. 1980. Interactions among three trophic levels: Influence of plants on interactions between insect herbivores and natural enemies. *Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst.*, **11**:41-65.
- Pridmore, R.D. and McBride, G. B. 1984. Prediction of chlorophyll-concentrations in impoundments of short hydraulic retention time. J. Environ. Manage., 19:343–350.
- Purohit, R. and Singh, S.P. 1987. Germination and growth of *Potamogeton pectinatus*(L.) at different water depths in Lake Nanital, U.P., India. *Int. Revue.ges.Hydrobiol.*, 72:251-256.
- Qadri, M. Y. and Yousuf, A. R. 1978. Physico-chemical factors of a subtropical lake of Kashmir. J. Inland Fish. Soc. India, 10:89-96.

Department of Environmental Science

- Qadri, M. Y. and Yousuf, A. R. 1980. Influence of some physico- chemical factors on the seasonality of cladocera in Lake Manasbal. *Geobios*, **7**:273-276.
- Qadri, M. Y., Naqash, S. A., Shah, G. M. and Yousuf, A. R. 1981. Limnology of two streams of Kashmir. *Journal of Indian Institute of Sciences*, 63:137-141.
- Rabemanolontsoa, H. and Saka, 2012. Characterization of Lake Biwa macrophytes in their chemical composition. *Journal of the Japan Institute of Energy*, 91:621-28.
- Rahman, A. H., Rafiul Islam, A. K., Naderuzzaman, A. K., Hossain, M. D. and Rowshatul, A. 2007. Studies on the aquatic angiosperms of the Rajshahi University campus. *Res. J. Agric. Biol. Sci.*, 3:474-480.
- Raina, A. N. 2002. Geography of Jammu and Kashmir State. Radha Krishan Anand & Co. Pacca Danga, Jammu.
- Rajasulochana, N., Baluswami, M., Parthasarathy, M.D.V. and Krishnamurthy, V. 2002. Chemical analysis of *Grateloupia lithophila* Boergesen. *Seaweed Res. Utiln.*, 24:79-82.
- Ramesh, B. K. and Selvanayagam, M. 2013. Seasonal variations in physico-chemical parameters and heavy metals concentration in water and sediment of Kolavoi lake, Chengalpet, India. *International Journal of Chem. Tech. Research*, 5(1):532-549.
- Rao, K. J 1986. Studies on the seasonal and diel variations in some physico-chemical condition of a pond under prawn culture. *Proc. Nat. Symp. Fish and Env.*, India, 96-102pp.
- Raspopov, I. M., Adamec, L. and Husak, S. 2002.Influence of aquatic macrophytes on the littoral zone habitats of the Lake Ladoga, north-west Russia. *Preslia*, 74:315–321.
- Rath, R. 1993. Freshwater Aquaculture. Scientific publishers, Jodpur, India.
- Rather, G.H. 2009. *Ecological studies on macrophytes in two rural Valley Lakes*. Ph.D thesis, University of Kashmir, Srinagar.

- Rather, G.H. and Pandit, A.K. 2006. Macrophytes and trophic evolution of Mansbal lake. *J. Curr. Sci.*, **9**(2):599-602.
- Raven, P.H., Evert, R.F. and Eichhorn, S.E 1992. *Biology of Plants*. W. H. Freemann and Company Press, New York, USA.
- Ravinder, K. Rather, G.H. and Pandit, A.K. 2007. Primary productivity of dominant macrophytes in Hokersar, a perennial wetland in Kashmir Himalaya. J. *Himalayan Ecol. Sustain. Dev.*, 2:33-36.
- Raza, M., Ahamd, A. and Mohammad, A. 1978. The Valley of Kashmir: A Geographical Interpretation, Vol.1:The Land. Vikas Publishing House Pvt. Ltd., New Delhi. 1-59pp.
- Rea, T. E., Karapatakis, D. J., Guy, K. K., Pinder, J. E. and Mackey, H. E. (Jr). 1998.
 The relative effects of water depth, fetch and other physical factors on the development of macrophytes in small southeastern US pond. *Aquatic Botany*, 61:289-299.
- Reda, F. and Mandoura, H. M. H. 2011.Response of enzymes activities, photosynthetic pigments, proline to low or high temperature stressed wheat plant (*Triticum aestivum* L.) in the presence or absence of exogenous proline or cysteine. *Int. J. Acad. Res.*, 3:108-115,
- Reeve, A.S., Siegel, D.I. and Glaser, P.H. 1996. Geochemical controls on peat land pore water from the Hudson Bay Lowland: A multivariate statistical approach, *Journal of Hydrology*, **181**(1–4):285–304.
- Reid, G.K. and Wood, R.D. 1976. Ecology of Inland Waters and Estuaries. D. Van. Norstrand Company, New York, 945pp.
- Reimer, A., Landmann, G. and Kempei, S. 2008. Lake Van, Eastern Anatolia, hydrochemistry and history. *Aquat Geochem.*, DOI 10.1007/s10498-008-9049-9.
- Reyaz, H. and Yousuf, A. R. 2005. Ecology of macarozoobenthic community in the Wular lake, Kashmir. J. Res. & Dev., 5:87-93.

- Rich, P.V., Wetzel, R.G. and Thuy, N.V. 1971. Distribution, production and role of aquatic macrophytes in a southern Michigam marl lake. *Freshwater Biology*, 1:3-21.
- Richey, J.E., Victoria, R.L., Salati, E. and Forsberg, B.R. 1990. Biogeochemistry of a major river system: the Amazon case study. Pp.57–74 In: *Biogeochemistry* of Major World Rivers. (E.T. Degens, ed.). Scope Wiley, New York, USA.
- Rien, A. and Hannie De, C. 1994. Nitrogen use efficiency of *Carex* species in relation to nitrogen supply. *Ecology, News publications*.
- Riis, T., Sand-Jensen, K., and Vestergaard, O. 2000. Plant communities in lowland Danish streams: Species composition and environmental factors. *Aquat. Bot.*, 66:255-272.
- Riley, J. P. and Chester, R., 1971. *Introduction to Marine Chemistry*. Acad. Press, London and New York, 465pp.
- Robledo, D. and Freile-pelegrin, Y. 2005. Seasonal variation in photosynthesis and biochemical composition of *Caulerpa* sp. (Bryopsidales, Chlorophyta) from the Gulf of Mexico. *Phycologia*, 44 (3):312–319.
- Rodhe, W.1949. The ionic composition of lake waters. Verh. Internat. Verein. Limnol., 10:377-386.
- Ronzhina, D.A., Nekrasova, G.F. and P'yankov, V.I. 2004. Comparative characterization of the pigment complex in emergent, floating, and submerged leaves of hydrophytes. *Russian Journal of Plant Physiology*, 51:21–27.
- Rorslett, B. 1991. Principal determinants of aquatic macrophyte richness in northern European lakes. *Aquatic Botany*, **39**:173–193.
- Rose, C. and Crumpton, W. G. 1996. Effects of emergent macrophytes on dissolved oxygen dynamics in a prairie pothole wetland. *Wetland Ecology*, **19**:105-115.

- Rosemberg, G. and Ramus, J. 1982. Ecological growth strategies in the seaweeds *Gracilaria follifera* (Rhodophyceae) and *Ulva* sp. (Chlorophyceae): Soluble nitrogen and reserve carbohydrates; *Mar. Biol.*, **66**:251–259.
- Roslin, A.S. 200I. Seasonal variations in the lipid content of some marine algae in relation to environmental parameters in the Arockiapuram coast. *Seaweed Res. Utiln.*, 23:119-127.
- Rosset, V., Lehmann, A. and Oertli, B. 2010. Warmer and richer? Predicting the impact of climate warming on species richness in small temperate waterbodies. *Global Change Biology*, 16:2376–2387.
- Rotem, A., Roth-Bejeranu, N. and Arad, S. M .1986. Effect of controlled environmental conditions on starch and agar contents of *Gracilaria* sp. (Rhodophyceae); J. Phycol. 22:117–121.
- Rozas, L. A. and Odum, W. E. 1988. Occupation of submerged aquatic vegetation by fishes: Testing the roles of food and refuge. *Oecologia*, 77:101-106.
- Rozentsvet, O.A., Dembitsky, N.M. and Zhuicova, V.S. 1995. Lipids from macrophytes of the middle Volga. *Phytochemistry*, **38**(5):1209-1213.
- Sahyun, M. 2008. *Protein and Amino Acids in Nutrition*. Richardson press, Toronto, Ontario, Canada.
- Sand-Jensen, K. 1989. Environmental variables and their effect on photosynthesis of aquatic plant communities. *Aquatic Botany*, **34**:5-26.
- Sand-Jensen, K. 1990. Epiphyte shading its role in resulting depth distribution of submerged aquatic macrophytes. *Folia Geobot. Phytotaxonomica*, 25:315-320.
- Sand-Jensen, K. 1998. Influence of submerged macrophytes on sediments composition and near-bed flow in lowland streams. *Freshwat. Biol.*, 39:663-679.

- Sand-Jensen, K. and Borum, J. 1991. Interactions among phytoplankton, periphyton and macrophytes in temperate freshwaters and estuaries. *Aquat. Bot.*, 41:137-176.
- Sand-Jensen, K., Riis, T., Vestergaard, O. and Larsen, S.E. 2000. Macrophyte decline in Danish lakes and streams over the past 100 years. *Journal of Ecology*, 88:1030–1040.
- Santamaria, L. 2002. Why are most aquatic plants widely distributed? Dispersal, clonal growth and small-scale heterogeneity in a stressful environment. *Acta Oecologica*, **23**:137–154.
- Santos, A.M. and Esteves, F. A. 2004. Influence of water level fluctuation on the mortality and aboveground biomass of the aquatic macrophyte *Eleocharis interstincta* (Vahl) Roemer et Schults. *Brazilian Archives of Biology and Technology*, 47:281-290.
- Sauter, J.J. and Kloth, S. 1987. Changes in carbohydrates and ultra-structure in xylem ray cells of Populus in response to chilling. *Protoplasma*, **137**:45-55.
- Saxsena, M.M., 1987. *Environmental Analysis of Water, Soil and Air*. Agro-botanical Publishers, India, 1-176 pp.
- Scheffer, M. 1998. *Ecology of Shallow Lakes*. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands.
- Scheffer, M. and Jeppesen, E. 2007. Regime shifts in shallow lakes. *Ecosystems*, **10**:1-3.
- Scheffer, M., De Redelijkheid, M.R. and Noppert, F. 1992. Distribution and dynamics of submerged vegetation in a chain of shallow Eutrophic lakes. *Aquatic Botany*, 42:199–216.
- Scheffer, M., Hosper, S. H., Meijer, M. L. and Moss, B. 1993. Alternative equilibria in shallow lakes. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 8:275–279.
- Schlesinger, W. H. 1991. *Biogeochemistry: An Analysis of Global Change*. Academic Press, Toronto, Canada.

Department of Environmental Science

- Schwarz, A.M. and Hawes, I. 1997. Effects of changing water clarity on characean biomass and species composition in a large oligotroophic lake. *Aquatic Botany*, 56:169-181.
- Sculthorpe, C.D. 1971. *The Biology of Aquatic Vascular Plants*. Edward Arnold Ltd., London, 601pp.
- Sculthorpe, C.D.1967. The Biology of Aquatic Vascular Plants. Arnold, London. 610pp.
- Serruya, C. and Serruya, S. 1972. Oxygen content in lake Kinverte: Physical and biological influences. Verh. Int. Verein. Theor. Angrew. Limnol., 18:580-587.
- Shah, J. A. and Pandit, A. K. 2012. Physico-chemical characteristics of water in Wular lake-A Ramsar Site in Kashmir Himalaya. *International Journal of Geology, Earth and Environmental Sciences*, 2(2):257-265.
- Shah, J. A., Pandit, A.K. and Shah, G. M. 2014. Spatial and temporal variations of nitrogen and phosphorus in Wular lake leading to eutrophication. *Ecologia*, 4(2): 45-55.
- Shah, J.A. and Pandit, A. K. 2013. Relation between physico-chemical limnology and crustacean community in Wular lake of Kashmir Himalaya. *Pakistan Journal of Biological Science*, **16** (19):976-983.
- Shah, K. A., Sumbul, S. and Andrabi S. A. 2010. A study on nutritional potential of aquatic plants. *Online Veterinary Journal*, 5(1):53.
- Shah, M. A. and Reshi, Z. A. 2014. Characterization of alien aquatic flora of Kashmir Himalaya: implications for invasion management. *Tropical Ecology*, 55(2):143-157.
- Shannon, E. H. and Weaver, W. 1947. *The Mathematical Theory of Communication*. University of Illinois Press, Urbana.

- Shardendu and Ambasht, R.S. 1991. Relationship of nutrients in water with biomass and nutrients accumulation of submerged macrophytes of a tropical wetland. *New Phytol.*, **117:**493-500.
- Sharma, K.P. and Pradhan, V.N. 1983. Study on growth and biomass of underground organs of *Typha angustata* Bory et chaub. *Hydrobiologia*, **98**:147-151.
- Shilla, D. and Dativa, J. 2008. Biomass dynamics of charophyte-dominated submerged macrophytes communities in Myall lake, NSW, Australia. *Chem. Ecol.*, 24:367-377.
- Shilla, D., Asaeda, T., Fujino, T. and Sanderson, B. 2006. Decomposition of dominant submerged macrophytes: implications for nutrient release in Myall lake, NSW, Australia. Wetlands Ecology and Management, 14:427–433.
- Shinde, S.E., Pathan, T.S., Raut, K.S. and Sonawane, D.L. 2011. Studies on the physico-chemical parameters and correlation coefficient of Harsool-savangi dam, Aurangabad, India. *Middle-East Journal of Scientific Research*, 8 (3):544-554.
- Sikora, L. J. and Keeney, D. R. 1983. Further aspects of soil chemistry under anaerobic conditions.Pp. 247-256. In: swamp, bog, fen, and moor (A. J. P. Gore, edi.). Mires Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands.
- Simpson, E.H. 1949. Measurement of diversity. *Nature*, 163:688.
- Singh, K. K. and Sharma, B. M. 2012. Ecological productivity studies of the macrophytes in Kharungpat lake, Manipur northeast India. *International Journal of Geology, Earth and Environmental Sciences*, 2 (2):58-71.
- Singhal, R.N., Swarn, J. and Davis, R.W. 1985. The relationship among physical, chemical and plankton characteristics of unregulated rural pounds in Haryana, India. *Trop. Ecol.*, 26:43-53.
- Singhal, R.N., Swarn, J. and Davis, R.W. 1986. The physico-chemical environment and the plankton of managed ponds in Haryana, India. *Proc. Indian. Acad. Sc.*, (*Anim. Sci.*), **95** (3):353-363.

- Siraj, S., Yousuf, A.R. and Parveen, M.2011 Spatio-temporal dynamics of macrophytes in relation to ecology of a Kashmir Himalayan Wetland. *International Research Journal of Biochemistry and Bioinformatics*, 1(4):84-88.
- Smith, J. E. 2011. Algae. Pp. 11-15 In: *Encyclopedia of Biological Invasions*. (D. Simberloff, and M. Rejmanek, eds.). University of California Press, Los Angeles, USA, 765 pp.
- Smith, R. I. 1980. *Ecology and Field Biology* 3rd edi., Harper and Row, New York, USA.
- Solimini, A.G., Cardoso, A.C. and Heiskanen, A. 2006. *Indicators and Method for Ecological Status Assessment*. Water Framework Development, EC, Italy.
- Sondergaard, M., Jensen, A. and Jeppesen, E. 2003a. Role of sediment and internal loading of phosphorus in shallow lakes. *Hydrobiologia*, **135**(45):506–509.
- Sondergaard, M., Jeppesen, E. and Jensen, J. P. 2003b. Internal phosphorous loading and the resilience of Danish Lakes. *Lake Line*, **23**(1):17-20.
- Sondergaard, M., Johansson, L. S., Lauridsen, T. L., Jorgensen, T. B., Liboriussen, L. and Jeppesen, E. 2010. Submerged macrophytes as indicators of the ecological quality of lakes. *Freshwater Biology*, 55:893-908.
- Sondergaard, M., Kristensen, P. and Jeppesen, E. 1992. Phosphorus release from resuspended sediment in the shallow and wind-exposed Lake Arreso, Denmark. *Hydrobiologia*, **228**:91-99.
- Sorensen, T. 1948. A method of establishing groups of equal amplitude in plant sociology based on similarity of species content and its application to analyses of the vegetation on Danish commons. *Kong. Danish. Vidensk. Selsk. Biol. Skr.* (Copehhagen), 5: 1-34.
- Sossey-Alaoui, K. and Rosillon, F. 2013. Macrophytic distribution and trophic state of some natural and impacted watercourses - Belgium Wallonia, *International Journal of Water Sciences*, 2(2):1-11.

- Spence, D. H. N. 1982. The zonation of plants in freshwater lakes. *Adv. Ecol. Res.*, **12**:37-125.
- Spence, D.H.N. 1967. Factors controlling the distribution of freshwater macrophytes with particular reference to the lochs of Scotland. *J. Ecol.*, **55**:147–170.
- Sraj-Krzic, N., Germ, M., Urban-Bercic, O., Kuhar, U., Janauer, G.A. and Gaberscik, A. 2007. The quality of the aquatic environment and macrophytes of karstic watercourses. *Plant Ecol.*, **192**:107-118.
- Srivastava, J., Gupta, A. and Chandra, H. 2008. Managing water quality with aquatic macrophytes. *Rev. Environ. Sci. Biotechnol.*, 7:255–266.
- Stable, H. 1977. Gebundene kohlen hydrate als stabile komponete in Schohsee und *Scenedesmus* kulture. *Archiv fur.Hydrobiol.*, **53**(1):159-254.
- Stanley, I. D., Shelley, E. A. and Kathryn, L. C. 2000. The relationship in lake communities between primary productivity and species richness. *Ecology*, 81(10):2662–2679.
- Stefanov, K., Konaklieva, M., Brechany, E.Y. and Christie, W. 1988. Fatty acid composition of some algae from the Black sea. *Phytochemistry*, 27:3495– 3497.
- Stein, M.A. 1961. A Chronicle of the Kings of Kashmir, Kalhana's Rajtarangi. Vol.II. M/SA Constable and Co., Ltd., London.
- Steward, R.E. and Kantrud, H.A. 1971. Classification of Natural Ponds and Lakes in Glaciated Prairie Region. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Resource Publication (92), 57pp.
- Strain, H.H., Cope, B.T. and Svec, W.A. 1971. Analytical procedures for the isolation, identification, estimation and investigation of the chlorophylls. *Methods Enzymol.*, 23:452–4.
- Strauss, E. A. and Dodds, W. K. 1997. Influence of protozoa and nutrient availability on nitrification rates in subsurface sediments. *Microb. Ecol.*, **34:**155-165.

- Strauss, E. A. and Lamberti, G. A. 2000. Regulation of nitrification in aquatic sediments by organic carbon. *Limnol. Oceanogr.*, 45(8):1854-1859.
- Stumm, W. and Morgan, J. 1981. Aquatic Chemistry. Wiley Inter Science, New York, USA.
- Swapna, M.M., Prakashkumar, R., Anoop, K.P., Manju, C.N. and Rajith, N.P. 2011. A review on the medicinal and edible aspects of aquatic and wetland plants of India. J. Med. Plants. Res., 5:7163-76.
- Swarup, K. and Singh, S.R. 1979. Limnology of Suraha lake (Ballia) I. Variations in the water quality. J.Inland. Fish.Soc. India, 11(1):22-33.
- Talling, J. F. and Talling, I. B. 1965. The chemical composition of African lake waters. *Int. Revue ges. Hydrobiol.*, 50(3):421-263.
- Tamire, G. and Mengistou, S. 2012. Macrophyte species composition, distribution and diversity in relation to some physicochemical factors in the littoral zone of Lake Ziway, Ethiopia. African *Journal of Ecology*, **51**:66–77.
- Tardio, J., Pascual, H. and Morales, R. 2005. Wild food plants traditionally used in the Province of Madrid, central Spain. *Econ. Bot.*, **59**:122-136.
- Tas, B. and Gonulol, A. 2007. An ecologic and taxonomic study on phytoplankton of a shallow lake, Turkey. J. Environ. Biol., 28:439-445.
- Tepe, Y., Turkmen, A., Mutlu, E. and Ate, A. 2005. Some physicochemical characteristics of Yarseli lake, Hatay, Turkey. *Turkish Journal of Fisheries* and Aquatic Sciences, 5:35-42.
- Terrados J. and Ros, J.D. 1992. The influence of temperature on seasonal variation of *Caulerpa prolifera* (Forsskal) Lamouroux photosynthesis and respiration, *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, **162**:199–212.
- Thomaz, S.M. and Bini, L.M. 1998. Ecologia e manejo de macrófitas aquáticas em reservatórios. *Acta Limnologica Brasiliensia*, **10**:103-116.

- Thornton, J. A. and Nduku, W. K. 1982. Water chemistry and nutrient budgets in Lake Mcllwaine. *Monogr. Biol.*, **49**:43-59.
- Todda, B.K. 1970. *Water Encyclopedia*. Water Information Centre, Port Washington, New York, USA.
- Toivonen, H. and Huttunen, P. 1995. Aquatic macrophytes and ecological gradients in 57 small lakes in southern Finland. *Aquatic Botany*, **51**:197–221.
- Trisal, C. L. 1987. Ecology and conservation of Dal lake, Srinagar, Kashmir. Water Resources Development. 3(1):44-54.
- Triska, F. J., Duff, J. H. and Avanzino, R. J. 1990. Influence of exchange flow between the channel and hyporheic zone on nitrate production in a small mountain stream. *Can. Fish. Aquat. Sci.*, 47:2099–2111.
- Turner, R.E. 1982. Protein yield from wetlands. Pp. In: Wetlands: Ecology and Management. (B. Gopal, R. E. Turner, D.F. Whigam, and R.G. Wetzel, eds.). Int. Sci. Publ. Jaipur and NIE.
- Uedeme-Naa, B., Gabriel, U. U. and Akinrotimi, O. A.2011. The relationship between aquatic macrophytes and water quality in Nta-wogba stream, Port Harcourt, Nigeria. *Continental Journal Fisheries and Aquatic Science*, 5 (2):6-16.
- Usha, K. 2002. *Macrophytes ecology of Poiroupat lake, Manipur*. Ph.D thesis, Manipur University, Manipur.
- Van der Valk, A.G. and Bliss, L.C. 1971. Hydrarch succession and net primary production of oxbow lakes in Central Alberta. *Can. J. Bot.*, **49**:1177-1199.
- Vass, K. K., Raina, H. S., Zutshi, D. P. and Khan, M. A. 1977. Hydrobiolgical studies on River Jhelum. *Geobios*, 4:238-242.
- Verhagen, F. J. M. and Laanbroek, H. J. 1991. Competition for ammonium between nitrifying and heterotrophic bacteria in dual energy-limited chemostats. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 57:3255-63.

- Verma, K.R. 1979. Phytosociology, productivity and energetics of macrophytes of Gujar lake (Khetasarai) Jaunpur. Ph.D thesis Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi.
- Verma, K.R., Pandey, D. and Ambasht, R.S. 1982. Productive status of marsh zone vegetation of Gujar lake (Khetasarai) Jaunpur, India. Pp. 29-34. In: *Wetlands Ecology and Management* part (II). (B. Gopal, R.E. Turner, R.G. Wetzel and D.F. Whigam, eds.). Natn. Inst. Ecol. and Interm. Sci. Publ. Jaipur, India.
- Vermaat, J.E. and De Bruyne, R.J. 1993.Factors limiting the distribution of submerged waterplants in the lowland River Vecht (The Netherlands). *Freshwater Biology*, **30**:147-157.
- Vilbaste, S., Kors, A., Feldmann, T., Kairo, K., Pall, P., Piirsoo, K., Trei, T., Tuvikene, A. and Viik, M. 2008. Macrophytes in relation to ecological factors in a lowland river in Estonia. (J. Jones, ed.). Verh. Internat. Verein. Limnol., 406 -408pp.
- Vis, C., Hudon, C., Carignan, R. and Gagnon, P. 2007. Spatial analysis of production by macrophytes, phytoplankton and epiphyton in a large river system under different water-level conditions. *Ecosystems*, **10**:293-310.
- Vymazal, J. 2002. The use of sub-surface constructed wetlands for wastewater treatment in the Czech Republic: 10 years experience. *Ecol. Eng.*, **18**:633-646.
- Washington, H.G. 1984. Diversity, biotic and similarity indices. A review with special relevance to aquatic ecosystems. *Water Research*, **18**(6):653–694.
- Werner, D. and Roth, R. 1983.Silica metabolism. Pp. 684-694. In: Inorganic Plant Nutrition. (A. Lauchli, and R.L. Bieleski, eds.). Springer-verlag, Berlin, Germany.

Westlake, D.F. 1963. Comparisons of plant productivity. Biol. Rev., 38:385-425.

Department of Environmental Science

- Westlake, D.F. 1969. Some basic data for investigation of the productivity of aquatic macrophytes. In: *Primary Productivity in Aquatic Environments* (C.R.Goldman, eds.). University of Carlifornia Press, Ltd. London England. 229-248pp.
- Westlake, D.F.1965. Theoritical aspects of comparability of productivity data. *Mem. Ist. Ital. Idrobiol.*, **18**(suppl.):313-322.
- Westlake, D.F.1975. Primary production of freshwater macrophytes. Pp.189-206. In: *Photosynthesis and Productivity in Different Environments*. (J.P. Cooper, ed.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge,USA.
- Wetzel, R. G. 1983. *Limnology*. 2nd ed., Philadelphia: Saunders College Publishing, U.S.A.
- Wetzel, R. G. 2001. *Limnology, Lake and River Ecosystems*, 3rd edi., Elsevier Academic Press, San Diego,USA.
- Wetzel, R.G. 1988.Water as an environment for plant life. Pp.1-30. In:Vegetation of Inland Waters. (J. J. Symoens, ed.). Kluwer Academic publishers, Norwell, USA.
- Wetzel, R.G. 1990. Detritus, macrophytes and nutrient cycling in lakes. *Mem. Ist. Ital. ldrobiol.*, **47**:233-49.
- Wetzel, R.G. and Likens, G.E. 2000. *Limnological Analyses*, 3rd ed., Springer Verlag, New York, 429pp.
- Wetzel, R.G. and Rich, P.H. 1973. Carbon in freshwater systems. Pp. 241-263. In: *Carbon and the Biosphere*. (G.M. Woodwell, and E.V. Pecan, eds.). Proc. Brookhanen Symp. In *Biol.*, 24. Broohhaven, N.Y.Tech. information centre, U.S.A. Atomic Energy Commission Conf., 720510.
- Wetzel, R.G. and Sondergaard, M. 1998. Role of submerged macrophytes for the microbialcommunity and dynamics of DOC in aquatic ecosytems. (E.f Jeppesen, Ma, Sondergaard, Mo Sondergaard, and K. Christoffersen, eds.).

The structuring role of submerged macrophytes in lakes. Springer, *Ecological Studies*, **131**:133-148.

- Whiitaker, R.H. and Likens, G.E. 1973. Carbion in biota. Pp. 281-302. In: Carbon in the Biosphere (G.M. Woodwell, and E.R. Peacan, eds.).Springfiled, VA: National Technical Information Service, USA.
- Whitemore, T.J. 1984. Florida diatom assemblages as indicators of trophic status and pH. *Limnol. Oceanogr.*, **43**:882-895.
- Wikfors, G.H., Ferris, G.E. and Smith, B.C. 1992. The relationship between gross biochemical composition of cultured algal foods and growth of the hard clam, *Mercenaria mercenaria* (L.). *Aquaculture*, **108**:135–154.
- Willen, E. 1991.Planktonic diatoms- an ecological review. Algological Studies, 62: 69-106.
- Williams, M. 1990. Understanding Wetlands. Pp.1-3. In:Wetlands: A Threatened Landscape. (M. Williams, ed.). Basil Blakewell Limited, Oxford, USA.
- Wilson, S.D. and Keddy, P.A.1986. Species competitive ability and position along a natural stress/disturbance gradient. *Ecology*, **67**:1236-1242.
- Winter, T.C. 1989. Hydrologic studies of wetlands in the northern prairie. Pp.16-54.In: *Northern Prairie Wetlands*. (A.G. Van der Valk, ed.). Iowa State University Press, Ames, USA.
- Xie, Y., Yu, D. and Ren, B. 2004. Effects of nitrogen and phosphorus availability on the decomposition of aquatic plants. *Aquat. Bot.*, **80**:29-37.
- Yasser, T.A. M. and Samir, M. S. 2014. Nutritional evaluation of green macroalgae, Ulva sp. and related water nutrients in the southern Mediterranean sea coast, Alexandria shore, Egypt. *Egypt. Acad. J. Biolog. Sci.*, 5(1):1–19.
- Yokohama, Y. 1983. A xanthophyll characteristic of deep water green algae lacking siphonaxanthin. *Botanica Marina*, **26**:45–48.

- Yousuf, A. R. 1995. Changing relationship between human society and aquatic ecosystems in Kashmir Himalaya. Pp 51-65. In: Society and Culture in the Himalaya (K. Warikoo, ed.). Har-Anand Publications, New Delhi.
- Zafar, A.R. 1964. On the ecology of algae in certain fish ponds of Hyderabad, India.1. Physicochemical complexes. *Hydrobiologia*, **23**:179-95.
- Zhu, C.J., Lee, Y.K. and Chao, T.M. 1997. Effects of temperature and growth phase on lipid and biochemical composition of *Isochrysis galbana* TK1. *J. Appl. Phycol.*, 9:451–457.
- Zuber, S. M. 2007. *Ecology and economic evaluation of Lake Mansar, Jammu*. Ph.D thesis, University of Jammu, India.
- Zutshi, D. P. and Vass, K. K. 1978. Limnological studies on Dal lake: Chemical features. *Ind. J. Ecol.*, 5:90-97.
- Zutshi, D. P. and Wanganeo, A. 1989. Nutrient dynamics and trophic status of Kashmir lakes.Pp. 205-212. In: *Perspectives in Plant Sciences in India*. (S.S. Bir, and M.I.S. Saggo, eds.). Today and Tomorrow's Publications, New Delhi.
- Zutshi, D. P. and Yousuf, A. R. 2004. Limnology in Kashmir: Progress, problems and future challenges. Pp.89-106. In: *Bioresources: Concerns and Conservation*. (A. N. Kamili, and A. R. Yousuf, eds.). University of Kashmir, Srinagar, India.
- Zutshi, D. P., Kaul, V and Vass, K. K. 1972. Limnology of high altitude Kashmir lakes. *Verh. Int. Verein. Limnol.*, **18**:599-604.
- Zutshi, D. P., Subla, B. A., Khan, M. A. and Wanganeo, A. 1980. Comparative limnology of nine lakes of Jammu and Kashmir Himalayas. *Hydrobiol.*, 72:101-112.